Federal-Mogul Friction Products Limited

Company Number 447826

Director’s Report for the Year Ended 3 1st December 2017

The directors present their report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.
Activities

The principal activity of the Company is the manufacture and sale of automotive and industrial friction
materials as agent for F-M Motorparts Limited. The result for the year was £nil (2016: £nil). The

directors do not recommend a dividend (2016: £nil).

In preparing this report, the directors have taken advantage of the small companies exemption
provided by s.415A of the Companies Act 2006.

Post year end announcement from Tenneco

On 10 April 2018, Tenneco Inc. announced that it had signed a definitive agreement to acquire
Federal-Mogul LLC, the lead company of the Federal-Mogul Group. The acquisition is expected to
close in the second half of 2018. At this point in time we cannot measure nor ascertain what effect
this acquisition will have on the Company or its subsidiaries.

Directors
The following served as Directors during (and, unless otherwise indicated, throughout) the year:-
M. A. Bagguley

T. L. Gibbons, resigned 14 May 2018

On behalf of the Board

I

M. A. Bagguley
Director

Date: 15 Seplambe(™018
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FEDERAIL-MOGUL FRICTION PRODUCTS LIMITED

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law),
including FRS102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’.
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the
Company for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
¢ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
» state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed;

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inapproprate to presume
that the Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties.



FEDERAI-MOGUL FRICTION PRODUCTS LIMITED

BAILLANCE SHEET

AS AT 31ST DECEMBER 2017
Notes 2017 2016
£ £
Fixed Assets
Investments 6 - -
Current Assets
Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year 7 29.071 29071
Net current assets 29,071 29071
Net Assets 29071 29071
Capital and Reserves
Called up Share Capital 8 6,620,000 6,620,000
Profit and loss account 9 (6,590,929 (6,590,929)
Shareholders’ funds — equity g 29,071 29,071

For the year ending 31 December 2017 the Company was entitled to exemption from audit under section 477 of the
Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies.

Directors’ responsibilities:

¢ the members have not required the Company to obtain an audit of its accounts for the year in question in
accordance with section 476

¢ the directors acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Act with respect
to accounting records and the preparation of accounts

e these accounts have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies subject to the
small companies’ regime.

The financial statements on pages 3 to 6 were approved by the Board on | 2> &pﬁ—mhm018 and were signed on

its behalf by:-

M. A. Bagguley
Director



FEDERAL-MOGUL FRICTION PRODUCTS LIMITED

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS

COMPANY INFORMATION

Federal-Mogul Friction Products Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in
England and Wales. Its registered office is at Manchester International Office Centre, Styal
Road, Manchester M22 5TN.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom accounting standards including Financial Reporting Standard 102, “The
Financiai Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland”
(*FRS102”) and with the Companies Act 2006. As the Company meets the Companies Act
definition of a dormant company it has taken transitional relief under FRS102 Para
35.10{m) and chosen to retain its accounting policies for reported assets, liabilities and
equity at the date of transition to this FRS until there is any change to those balances or the
Company undertakes any new transactions. The financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis.

The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£) (the Company’s functional currency).

The Company’s ultimate parent undertaking is Icahn Enterprises L.P.,, a company
incorporated in the USA and listed on the New York Stock Exchange. The Company is
included in the consolidated financial statements of Icahn Enterprises L.P., which are
available from Icahn Enterprises L.P., 767 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4700, New York, NY10153.
Consequently, the Company has taken advantage of the exemption from preparing a cash
flow statement under the terms of FRS102.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less provision for any impairment.

Impairment of assets

At each reporting date fixed assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is an indication of possible
impairment, the recoverable amount of any affected asset is estimated and compared with its
carrying amount. If the estimated recoverable amount is lower, the camrying amount is
reduced to its estimated recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but not in excess of the amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years, A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.



FEDERAL-MOGUL FRICTION PRODUCTS LIMITED

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS

The directors have not received any remuneration for services to the Company during the year
(2016: £nil).

EMPLOYEES

The average number of persons employed by the Company during the year was 433 (2016:

422). All costs relating to these employees are paid directly by the company, F-M Motorparts
Limited, on whose behalf they were employed.

INVESTMENTS
Subsidiary
Undertaking
Shares
£
At 3] December 2016 and 31 December 2017 -
The Company’s subsidiary is: Country of Nature of
Registration Business
Ferodo Limited England Dormant
2017 2016
DEBTORS: amounts falling due after more than one year £ £
Amounts owed by parent undertaking 29,071 29,071
2017 2016
CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL £ £
Authorised,
7,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 7,000,000 7,000,000
Issued and fully paid,
6,620,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 6,620,000 6,620,000
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FEDERAL-MOGUL FRICTION PRODUCTS LIMITED

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS (CONTINUED)

RESERVES

Called up share capital

This represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Profit and loss account

This includes all current and prior period retained profits and losses.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS102, para 33.1A, not to disclose
transactions with other group companies which meet the criteria that all subsidiary undertakings
which are party to the transactions are wholly owned.

PARENT AND ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The Company’s immediate parent company is F-M Motorparts Limited, a company registered in
England and Wales. The ultimate parent company and controlling party is Icahn Enterprises
L..P., registered in the USA. The group accounts of Icahn Enterprises L.P. are the largest group
accounts in which the Company is included. Accounts of this company may be obtained from
Icahn Enterprises L.P., 767 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4700, New York, NY 10153, USA

COMPOSITE CROSS-GUARANTEE

Contingent liabilities exist in respect of cross-guarantees given by the Company and certain of
its fellow UK subsidiaries to support some of the UK banking facilities. At the year-end these
facilities amounted to £nil (2016: £nil).



UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31,2017

{State or Other

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter) Jurisdiction of
{Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code) Incorporation or (IRS Employer
(Commussion File Number) (Telephone Number) Qrganization} Identification No )
00L-09516 ICAHN ENTERPRISES L.P. Delaware 13-3398766

767 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4700
New York, NY 10153
(212) 7024300

333-118021-01 ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.P. Delaware 13-3398767

767 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4700
New York, NY 10153
{212) 702-4300

Secunities registered pursuant to Section 12(b}) of the Act

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered

Depositary PIran of [cahn Enterprises L.P NASDAQ Global Select Market
Representing Limuted Partner Interests

Secuntes registered pursuant to Section 12{g) ot the Act. None
Indrcate by check mark of the registrant s a well-known seasoned 1ssuer, as defined by Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Icahn Enterprises L.P Yes & No O [cahn Enterpriscs Holdings L P. Yes O Ne
Indicate by check mark tf the registrant 15 not required to file reports pursuant te Section 13 or 15{d) of the Exchange Act.
Icahn Enterprises LP Yes OO No [cahn Enterprises Holdings L P Yes O No

Indtcate by check mark whether the regastrani (1) has filed all reports required 1 be filed by Section 13 or 15(d} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 durng the preceding 12
menths {or for such shorter period that the registrant was required o file such reports), and {2} has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days,

Icahn Enterprises L.P Yes & No O Tcahn Enterprises Holdmgs L P Yes 5 No [

[ndicate by check mark whether the regastrant has submtted electrontcally and pested en ats corporate Web site. if any, every Interactive Data Filc required to be submitted and posted
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation 8-T (§232 405 of this chapter) duning the preceding 12 months {or for such shorter pertod that the registrant was required to submit and post such

tiles)
Icahn Enterprises L P Yes (X No OO Icahn Enterprises Holdings L.P Yes Xl No O

Indicate by check mark of disclosure of delinquent ftilers pursuant to [tem 405 of Regulation S-K 1s not contained herein, and will net be contained, to the best of registrant's
knowledge, in definitive proxy or mformatien statements incorporated by reterence an Part 111 of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant 1s a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company See definttion of “large
aceelerated filer.” “accelerated filer” and “smalicr reporting company™ in Rule §2b-2 of the Exchange Act {Check One)

Icahp Enterprises L I Icahn Enterprises Holdings L.P,
Large Accelerated Filer & Accelerated Filer O Large Accelerated Filer O Accelerated Filer O
Non-accelerated Filer O Smaller Reporting Company O Non-accelerated Filer Smaller Reporting Company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has eleeted not to use the extended transition pertod for complying with any new or revised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act O

Indicate by check mark whether the registeant 1s a shell company (as defined m Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act),
Icahn Enterprises L P Yes O No leahn Enterprises Holdimgs L P Yes O No

The aggregate market vatue of [cahn Enterprises’ depositary umits held by non-affuiates of the registrant as of June 30, 2017, the last business day of the registrant's most recently
completed second fiscal quarter, based upon the closing price of depositary units on the Nasdaq Global Select Market ¢n such date was $839 million

As of March I, 2018, there were 173,576,769 of Icuhn Enterprises’ depositary units outstanding

THESE ACCOUNTS 7@
FORM PART OF THE'
GROUP ACCOUNTS

OF COMPANY
No... K26

.,..-......-...-....---...~ -

e it r—



Risk Factors -

ICAHN ENTERPRISES L.P,
ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.P.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Explanatory Note and Forward-Loaking Statements | C e 3 St o

L T PARTI
Business

Unregoived Statf Comments

Legal Proceedings
Mine Safety Diselosures

. . , ) " PART . N L
Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Secunty Holder Mateers and lssuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Selected Financial Data ) o

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

ntitalive a alitative Disclo u rket Ris
Emancial Statgments and Supplementary Data
7| and Di With Ace n Accounti Financial Disclos

Controls and Procedures

Other Information

PART 1II
Directon, Executive Officers and Corporale Govemance
tive C ti ’
Security Ownership ot Certain Benelicial Owners and Management and Related Secunty Holder Matieis

rtain Relati ips and Rel saqlions, a i dence

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

PART IV
Exhibits and Financial Statement Sc 1
Form 10-K Summary
i

B
J

__
o fou Jd B
&’Nimpﬁ'wimfc

g
3

EEEEE

—
Lo
gl

)



EXPLANATORY NOTE

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Report”) is a joint report being filed by Icahn Enterprises L P and Ieahn Enterprises Holdings L.P. Each
registrant hereto 1s filing on tts own behalfall of the information contained 1n this Report that relates to such registrant. Each registrant hereto is not filing
any information that does not relate to such registrant, and therefore makes no representation as to any such information.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report contains certain statements that are, or may be deemed to be, “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("the Exchange Act™), or by Public Law 104-67. All
statements included 1n this Repor, other than statements that relate solely to historieal fact, are “forward-looking statements.” Such statements include, but
arc not lumited to, any statement that may predict, forccast, indicate or imply future results, performance, achicvements or events, or any statement that may
relate to strategies, plans or objectives for, or potential results of, future operations, financial results, financial condition, business prospects, growth strategy
or liquidity, and are based upon management’s current plans and beliefs or current estimates of future results or trends. Ferward-leoking statements can
generally be 1dentified by phrases such as “believes,” “expects,” “potential,” “continues,” “may,” “should,” “seeks,” “predicts,” “anticipates,” “intends,”
“projects,” “estimates,” “plans,” “could,” “destgned,” “should be” and other similar expressions that denote expectations of future or conditional events
rather than statements of fact.
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Forward-looking statements include certain statements made under the caption, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” under Item 7 of this Report, but also forward-looking statements that appear in other parts of this Report. Forward-tooking statements
reftect our cmrent views with respect to future events and are based on certain assumptions and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause our
actual results to differ matenally from trends, plans, or expectations set forth 1n the forward-looking statements. These nsks and uncertainties may include the
nsks and uncertainties described elsewhere 1n this Report, including under the caption "Risk Factors," under Item | A of this Report. Additionally, there may
be other factors not presently known to us or which we currently consider to be immaterial that may cause our actual results to differ matenally from the
forward-looking statements




PART L
Item 1. Business.

Business Overview

Icahn Enterprises L.P. (“Icahn Enterprises™) is a master limited partnership formed in Delaware on February 17, 1987 Icahn Enterprises Holdings L.P.
{“Icahn Enterprises Holdings™)1s a limited partnership formed 1n Delaware on February 17,1987 Referencesto "we," "out” or "us" herein include both Icahn
Enterprises and [cahn Enterprises Holdings and their subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires.

Icahn Enterprises owns a 99% limited pattner interest 1n Icahn Enterprises Holdings. Icahn Enterprises G.P Inc. (“Tcahn Enterprises GP”), which is
indirectly owned and controlled by Mr Carl C. Icahn, owns a 1% general partner interest in each of [cahn Enterprises and Icahn Enterprises Holdings as of
December 31, 2017. Icahn Enterprises Holdings and its subsidianies own substantially all of our assets and liabilities and conduct substantiaily all of our
operations. Therefore, the financial results of [cahn Enterpnses and [cahn Enterpnises Holdings are substantially the same, with differences relating primarily
to debt, as discussed further in Note 10, "Debt," to the consolidated financial statements, and the allocation of the general partner interest, which is reflected
as an aggregate 1 99% genernl partner interest in the financial statements of lcahn Enterprises Mr. Icahn and his affiliates owned approximately 91.0% of
fcahn Enterpnses’ outstanding depositary units as of March 1, 2018,

We conduct our activities in a manner so as not to be deemed an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended
("Investment Company Act™). Generally, this means that we do not tnvest or intend to invest in secunties as our pnmary business and that ne more than 40%
of our total assets will be invested in investment sccunitics as such term ts defined in the Investment Company Act. In addition, we intend to structure cur
investments so as to continue to be taxed as a partnership rather than as a corporation under the applicable publicly traded parinership rules of the Intemal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Mr. Teahn's estate has been designed to assure the stability and continuation of Tcahn Enterprises with no need to monetize his interests for estate tax or
ather purposes. In the event of Mr. Icahn's death, control of Mr. [cahn's interests in Icahn Enterpnses and its general partner will be placed 1n charitable and
other trusts under the control of senior Icahn Enterpnses executives and family members.

We are a diversificd holding company owning subsidianes engaged i the following operating businesses. [Investiment, Automotive, Energy, Railear,
Gamang, Metals. Mining. Food Packaging, Real Estate and Home Fashion, us discussed further below.

Business Strategy and Core Strengths
The Icahn Strategy

Across all of our businesses. our success 1s based on a simple tormula, we seek to find undervalued companies 1n the Graham & Dodd tiadition, a
methodology for vaduing stocks that primanly looks tov deeply depressed pnces. However. while the typical Graham & Dodd value investor purchases
undervalued secunties and waits for iesults, we often become actively involved m the companies we target That activily nmay invelve a broad range of
approaches, from influencing the management of a target to take steps to improve sharcholder v alue, to acquning a controlling mterest or outright ownesship
of the target company 1n order to unplement changes that we believe are required to mmproyve its business, and then operating and expanding rhat business,
This activism has typically brought about very strong returs over the years.

Today, we a1e a div ersified holding company owning subsidiaries engaged in ten divessified reporting segments. As of December 31, 2017, through our
Investment segiment, we have significant positions m vanous investments, which wnclude Amencan [ntemational Group, Inc. (AlG). Cheniere Energy Inc.
(LNG), Herbalile Ltd. (HLF}. Freepon McMoRan Inc. (FCX), Xerox Corporation (XRX). Navistar Intemational Corp (NAV), Hettz Giobal Holdings. Inc
(2 and PayPal Holdings, Inc. (PYPL)

Several of our operating busingsses started out as 1nvestment positions 1n debt or equity secunues, held either directly by us or Mr lcahn, Those
positions ultimately resulted 10 control or complete ownership of the target company Forexample, in 2012, we acquired a contiothng interest in CVR
Energy, Inc (*"CVR Energy ™). which started out as a position m our Investment segment and a5 now an eperanng subsidiary that compnses our Energy
segment. The acqusition of CVR Energy. Iike our other operating subsidiaries, retlects our oppaortunistic approach to value creation, through which retums
may be obtained by. among other things, promoting change through minority positions at targeted companies tn ow lnvestment segment or by acquimng
contro} of those target companies that we believe we could run mote profitably ourseives.

During the next several years, we see a lavorable apportunity to follow an activist strategy that centers on the purchase of Larget stock and the
subsequent removal of any barriers that might interfere with a fiicndly puichase offer trom a stiong buyer.
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Alternatiely, n appropiate curcumstances, we or our subsidiancs may become the buyer of target companies. adding them to our portfolro of operating
subsidianes. thereby expanding our operations through such opportunistic acquisitions, We believe that the companies that we target forour activist
activaties are undervalued for many reasons, often mcluding inept management Unfortunately for the individualinvestor, in particular, and the economy. 1n
generad, many poor managemaent teams are often unaccountable and very difficult to remove.

Unlike the individual investor, we have the wherewithal 1o purchase compamies that we feel we can operate more effectively than incumbent
management In addition, through our [nvestment segment, we are in a position to pursue our activist strategy by purchasing stock or debt positions and
trying to promulgate change through a vanety of activist approaches, ranging from speaking and negotiating with Boards of Directors and Chief Executive
Officers ("CEQ") to proxy fights, tender offers and acquinng control We work diligently to enhance value for all shareholders and we believe that the best
way to do this is to make underperformung management teams and Boards of Directors accountable or to replace them.

The Chairman of the Beard of Directors of our general partner, Carl C Teahn, has been an activist mvestor since 1980, Mr. Icahn believes that the current
environment continues to be canducive to activism. Many major companies have substantial amounts of cash. We believe that they are hoarding cash, rather
than spending it, because they do not believe investments in their business will translate to earnings.

We believe that one of the best ways for many cash-rich companies to achieve tncreased earnings 18 to use their large amounts of excess cash, together
with advantageous botrowing opportunities, to purchase other companies in their industnies and take advantage of the meaningful synergies that could result.
[n our opimion, the CEOs and Boards of Directors of undervalued companies that would be acquisition targets are the major road blocks to this logical use of
assets to increase value, because we believe those CEOs and Boards of Directors are not willing te give up their power and perquisites, even if they have done
a poor job 1n administering the companies they have been running. In addition, acquirers are often unwilling to undertake the arduous task of launching a
hostile campaign. This 1s precisely the situation in which we believe a strong activist catalyst is necessary.

We believe that the activist catalyst adds value because, for companies with strong balance sheets, acquisitions of their weaker industry rivals is often
extremely compelling financially. We further believe that there are many transactions that make economuc sense. even at a large premium over market.
Acquirers can use their excess cash, that is earning a very low retum, and/or borrow at the advantageous interest rates now available, to acquire a target
company. In enther case, an acquirer can add the target company’s earnings and the income from synergies to the acquirer’s bottorn line, at a relatively low
cost. But for these potential acquirers to act, the target company must be willing to at least entertain an offer. We believe that often the activist can step in and
remove the obstacles that a target generally may seek to use to prevent an acquisition

[t 13 our belief that our strategy will continue to produce strong results into the future. We believe that the strong cash flow and asset coverage from our
operating subsidianies will allow us to maintain a strong balance sheet and ample Liquidity.

Core Strengths

We believe that our core strengths include. identifying and acquiring undervalued assets and businesses, often through the purchase of distressed
securities; increasing value through management. financial or other operational changes; and managing complex legal, regulatory or financial 1ssues, which
may tnclude bankrmptey or insolvency, environmental, zoning, permitting and licensing 1ssues

The key elements of our business strategy mclude the following:

Capttalize on Growth Opportunities in our Exisnng Businesses. We believe that we have developed a strong porifolio of businesses with experienced
management teams. We may expand our existing businesses 1f appropriate opportunities are identified, as well as use our established businesses as a platform
for additional acquisitions in the same or related areas.

Drive Accountability and Financial Disciphine in the Management of our Business Qur CEQO 1s accountable directly to our Board of Directors of our
general partner, including the Chairman, Carl C. Icahn, and has day-to-day responsibility, in consultation with our Chairman, for general oversight of our
business segments We continually evaluate our operating subsidianies with a view towards maximizing value and cost efficiencies, bringing an owner's
perspective to our operating businesses In each of these businesses, we assemble senior management teams with the expertise to run their businesses and
boards of directors to oversee the management of those businesses Each management team 1s responsible for the day-to-day operations of'1ts busincsses and
directly accountable to its board of directors.

Seek to Acquire Undervalned Assets. We intend to continue to make investments in businesses that we believe are undervalued and have potential for
growth. We also seek to capitalize on investment opportunities arising from market inefficiencies, economc or market trends that have not been identified
and reflected in market value, or complex or special situations. Certain epportunities may anse from companies that expenence disappointing financial
results, Liquidity or capital needs, lowered credit ratings, revised industry forecasts or legal complications, We may acquire businesses or assets directly or
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we may establish an ownership position through the purchase of debt or equity securities in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions.

Use Activism to Unlock Value. As described above, we become actively involved in companies in which we invest Such activism may involve a broad
range of activities, from trying to influence management 1n a proxy fight, to taking outright control of a2 company n order to bring about the change we think
is required to unlock value. The key is tlexibility, permanent capital and the willingness and ability to have a long-term investment horizon

Segment Information

Icahn Enterprises began as American Real Estate Partners L.P in {987 and has grown 1ts portfolio to ten diversified reporting segments, as discussed
above. We report segment information based on the various industnes in which our businesses operate and the strategies we use to manage them. With the |
exception of our Investment segment, our operating segments pnmanly comprise independently operated businesses that we have obtained a controlling
interest in through execution of our business strategy. Our [nvestment segment derives revenues from gains and losses from investment transactions. Cur
other operating segments derive revenues principally from net sales of various products, pnmarily within our Automotive and Energy segments, which
together accounted for more than 90% of our consolidated net sales for each of the three years ended December 31, 2017 Our other operating segments'
revenues are also derived through various other revenue streams which primarily consists of services, leasing and casino operations, Geographically, the
majonty of our consolidated revenues are denved from customers 1n the United States. Qur Automotive segment accounts for the significant majority of our
consolidated revenues denved from customers outside the United States,

Segment and geographic information for our reporting segments as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and tor each of the three years ended December 31,
2017 is presented 1n Note 13, “Segment and Geographic Reportng,” to the consolidated financial statements. Certain additional information with respect to
our segments is discussed below.

Investment |

Our Investment segment is comprised of vanous private investment funds ("Investment Funds™} in which we have general partner interests and through
which we invest our proprietary capital. We and certain of Mr Icahn's wholly owned affiliates are the sole investors in the Investment Funds As general
partner, we provide investment advisory and certatn administrative and back office services to the Investment Funds but do not previde such services to any
other entities. individuals or accounts. Interests in the Investment Funds are not offered to outside investors

Investment Strategy

The 1investment strategy of the Investment Funds 1s set and led by Mr, Icahn. The Investment Funds seek to acquire securities 1n companies that trade at
a discount to inherent value as determined by various metrics, including replacement cost, break-up value. cash flow and earnings power and hiqudation
value.

The Investment Funds utilize a process-oriented, research-intensive, value-based investment approach. This approach generally involves three cntical
steps: (1) fundamental credit, valuation and capital structure analysis; (i1) intense legal and tax analysis of fulcrum issues such as htigation and regulation that
often affect valuation; and (111} combined business valuation analysis and legal and tax review to establish a strategy for gaining an attractive nsk-adjusted
investment position. This approach focuses on exploiting market dislocations or misjudgments that may result from market euphoria, litigation, complex
contingent liabilities, corporate malfeasance and weak corporate govemance, general economic conditions or market cycies and complex and inappropnate
capital structures,

The Investment Funds are often activist investors ready (o take the steps necessary to seek to unlock value, including tender offers, proxy contests and
demands for management accountability. The Investment Funds may employ a number of strategies and are permitted to invest across a vanety of indusiries
and types of secunties, including long and short equities, long and short bonds, bank debt and other corporate obligations, options, swaps and other
derivative instruments thereof, risk arbitrage and capital structurc arbitrage and other special situations. The Investment Funds invest a matenal portion of
their capital in publicly traded equity and debt secunities of companies that they believe to be undervalued by the marketplace. The Investrient Funds often
take significant positions in the companies in which they invest.

fncome

Our Investment segment's income or loss 1s dnven by the amount of funds allocated to the Investment Funds and the performance of the underlying
investments in the Investment Funds. Funds allocated to the Investment Funds are based on the net contributions and redemptions by our Holding Company
and by Mr. Icahn and his affiliates.




Affiltate lnvestments

We and Mr. Icahn, along with the Investment Funds, have entered into a covered affiliate agreement, which was amended on March 31, 2011, pursuant
to which Mr. Icahn agreed (on behalf of himself and certain of his affiliates, excluding kahn Enterprises, Icahn Enterpnises Holdings and their subsidiaries) to
be bound by certain restnctions on their investiments in any asscts that we deem suitable for the Investment Funds, other than government and agency bonds
and cash equivalents, unless otherwise approved by our Audit Committee. In addition, Mr. Icahn and such affiliates continue to have the right to co-invest
with the Investment Funds We have no interest in, nor do we generate any income from, any such co-1nvestments, which have been and may continue to be
substantial.

Automotive

We conduct our Automotive segment through our wholly owned subsidiarnies Federal-Mogul LLC ("Federal-Mogul") and Icahn Automotive Group LLC
("leahn Automotive"). Currently, we operaic Federal-Mogul independently from Icahn Automotive, however, we generally discuss our automotive businesses
together due to the nature of the industry in which they operate and how we manage these businesses in accordance with our investment strategies.

Federal-Mogul

Federal-Mogul 1s a diversificd, global supplier of automotive products to a vanety of end markets. In order to improve management's focus for the
respective business units, Federal-Mogul 1s operated with two end-customer focused business units, Powertrain and Motorparts In January 2017, we
increased our ownership in Federal-Mogul from 82% to 100%. [n February 2017, Federal-Mogul was converted from a Delaware corporation to a Delaware
limited liability company. Prior to this, Federal-Mogul was a majornty owned substdiary of ours with publicly traded common stock.

Products, Services and Customers

Federal-Mogul is engaged 1n the manufacture and distribution of automotive parts. Federal-Mogul's Powertrain busiess unit focuses on original
equipment powerlrain products for automotive, heavy-duty and industrial applications, while its Motorparts business unit sells and distributes a broad
portfolio of products 1n the global vehicle afiermarket, while also serving original equipment manufacturers with vehicle products including brakes, wipers
and, to a lumited extent, chassis components.

Federal-Mogul's customers consist of autometive light vehicle, medium and heavy-duty commercial vehicle manufacturers as well as agricultural, otf-
highway, marine, railroad, aerospace. high-performance, power generation and industrial application manufacturers. Federal-Mogul's aftermarket customers
mclude independent warehouse distributors that redistribute products to local pans suppliers, distnbutors, engine rebuilders, retail parts stores, mass
merchants and service chains.

Competition

The global vchicular parts business is highly competitive Federal-Mogul competes with many independent manufacturcrs and distributers of
component parts globally In general, competition for sales is based on pnce, product quality, technology, delivery, customer service and the breadth of
products offered by a given supplier. Federal-Mogul 1s meeting these competitive challenges by developing leading technologies, etficiently integrating and
expanding 1ts manufactunng and dsstribution operations, widening 1ts product coverage within 1ts core businesses, restructuring its operations and
transfernng production to best cost countries, and utilizing 1ts worldwide technical centers to develop and provide valuc-added solutions to its customers

Research and Development

Federal-Mogul’s rescarch and development activities are conducted at 1ts technical centers located in the United States and intemationally. Each of
Federal-Mogul's business units 15 engaged in engineering and research and development efforts and works closely with customers to develop custom
solutions to meet their needs Total expenditures for research and development activities, including product engingering and validation costs, were $195
mullion, $192 million and $189 million for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Intellectual Property

Federal-Mogul holds in excess of 6,500 patents and patent applications on a worldwide basis, of which more than 1,200 have been filed in the United
States. Of the approximately 6,500 patents and patent applications, approximately 30% are 1n production use and/or are licensed to third parties, and the
remaming 70% are being considered for future production use or provide a strategic technelogical benefit to Federal- Mogul.

Federal-Mogul does not matenally rely on any single patent, nor will the expiration of any single patent materially affect its business. Federal-Mogul’s
current patents expire over varous penods into the year 2040. Federal-Mogul is actively introducing and patenting new technology to replace formerly
patented technology before the expiration of the existing patents In the aggregate,
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Federal-Mogul’s worldwide patent portfolio is materally important to its business because it enables it to achieve technological differentiation from its
competitors.

Federal-Mogul also maintains more than 6,600 active trademark registrations and applications worldwide.
Raw Materials and Suppliers

Federal-Mogul purchases various raw materials and component parts for use in its manufacturing processes, including ferrous and non-ferrous metals,
non-metallic mw materials, stampings, castings and forgings. Federal-Mogul has not experienced any significant shortages of raw matenals, components or
finished parts and normally does not carry inventones of raw materals or finished parts in excess of those reasonably required to meet its production and
shipping schedules. Federal-Mogul, along with [cahn Automotive, also purchases parts manufactured by other manufacturers for sale in the aftermarket.

Environmental Regulations

Federal-Mogul's operations, consistent wath those of the manufactunng scctor in general, are subject to numerous existing and proposed laws and
govemmental regulations designed to protect the environment, particularly regarding plant wastes and emissions and solid waste dispesat. Captial
expenditures for property, plant and equipment for environmental control activities did not have a matenal impact on Federal-Mogul's financial position or
cash flows in 2017 and are pot expected to have a material impact on 1ts financial position orcash flows 1n 2018,

Icahn Automotive

Icahn Automotive 15 a wholly owned subsidiary formed by us to invest in and operate businesses involved n automotive repair and mamtenance
services as well as the distnbution and sale of automotive afiermarket parts and accessones to end-user do-it-yourself customers, wholesale distnbutors, and
professional auto mechanics. Icahn Automotive acquired [EH Auto Parts Holding LLC ("lEH Auto"} 1n 2015, The Pep Boys - Manny, Mo¢ & Jack ("Pep
Boys") in 2016, the tranchise busincsses of Precision Tunc Auto Care ("Precision Tune") and American Driveline Systems, the franchisor of AAMCO and
Cottman Transmission service centers ("American Driveline"}, in 2017, and various other businesses in recent years.

Icahn Automotive operates in a highly competitive environment. Icahn Automotive's competstors for automotive service include natonal and regional
chains, automotive dealerships, and local independent service providers. Its competitors for distribution and sales of auto parts and accessories mnclude
general, full range and discount retailers, national and regional auto parts retailers, and online retailers which camry automotive parts and accessories. [cahn
Automotive believes that its operations in both do-it-for-me and do-t-yoursetf differentiates it from most of their competitors.

Energy

We conduct our Energy segment through our majonty ownership in CYR Energy. CVR Energy is a reporting company under the Exchange Act and files
annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the Sccunities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") that are publicly
available. As of December 31, 2017, we owned 82.0% ofthe total outstanding commeon stock ef CVR Energy

CVR Energy 1s a diversitied holding company priman!y engaged 1n the petroleum refining and nitrogen fertilizer mnanufacturing industries through its
holdings in CVR Refining, LP {(*CVR Refining”} and CVR Partners, LP {(“CVR Partners™), respectively. CVR Refining 1s an independent petroleum refiner
and marketer of high value transportation fuels. CVR Partners produces and markets nitrogen fertilizers in the form of urea ammonium nitrate ("UAN") and
ammonia. CVR Energy has a general partner interest in CVR Refining and CVR Partners and also owns approximately 66 0% ofthe outstanding common
units of CVR Refining and 34.0% of the outstanding common units of CVR Panners as of December 31, 2017, In addition, we dircctly owned approximatetly
3.9% of the total outstanding common units of CVR Refining as of December 31,2017,

On August 2,2016, we sold 250,000 common units of CVR Refining. As a result of this transaction, we and our affiliates collectively own 69 99% of
CVR Refining. Pursuant to CVR Refining’s partnership agreement, in certain circumstances, the general partner of CVR Refining has the nght to purchase
all, but not less than all, of CVR Refining's common units held by unaffiliated unit holders at a price not less than their then-current market price, as
calctilated pursuant to the terms of such partershup agreement (the “CVR Refining Call Right”). Pursuant to the terms of the partnership agreement, because
our heldings were reduced to less than 70.0%, the ownership threshold for the application of such CVR Retining Call Right was permanently reduced from
95% to 80%. Accordingly, if at any time the general partner of CVR Refining and its affiliates owns mere than 30% of CVR Refining’s commen units, it wall
have the nght, but not the obligation, to exercise such CVR Retining Call Right.

Products, Raw Materials and Supply

CVR Refining has the capability to process a variety of crude o1l blends. CVR Refining's 0il refinenes in Coffeyville. Kansas and Wynnewood,
Oklahoma have a combined capacity of approximately 185,000 bamels per calendar day, representing
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approximately 23% of the region's refining capacity. Crude o1l 1s supplied to 1ts refineries through a wholly-owned gathenng system and by owned, leased
and joint venture pipelines, Petroleum refiming product yield includes gasoline, diesel fuel, pet coke and other refined products such as natural gas liquids,
asphalt and jet fuel among other products.

CVR Partners produces and distributes nitrogen tertilizer products, which arc used pnmanly by farmers to improve the yield and quality of their crops.
The principal products are UAN and ammonia. CVR Partners' Coffeyville, Kansas facility uses pet coke to produce nitrogen fertilizer and 1s supplied
primarily by its adjacent crude oil refinery pursuant to a renewable long-term agreement with CVR Refining. Historically, the Coffeyville nitrogen fertilizer
plant has obtained the remainder of its pet coke requirements from third parties such as other Midwestem refinernes or pet coke brokers at spot-prices. CVR
Partners' East Dubuque, Illinois facility uses natural gas to produce nitrogen tertilizer. The East Dubuque facility is able to purchase natural gas at
competitive prices due to its connection to the Norther Natural Gas interstate pipeline system, which is within one muie of the facility, and the ANR Pipeline
Company pipeline.

Customers, Marketing and Distribution

Customers for CVR Refining’s products primarily include retailers, railroads, and farm cooperatives and other refiners/marketers in Group 3 of the PADD
[1region because of theirrelative proxinuty to the refinenes and pipeline access CVR Refining sells bulk produets to long-standing customers at spot market
prices based on a Group 3 bass differential to pnces quoted on the New York Mercantile Exchange, which are reported by wndustry market-related indices
such as Platts and Oil Price Information Service. CVR Refining's rack sales are at posted prices that are influenced by competitor pricing and Group 3 spot
market differentials. Additionally, CVR Refining supplies jet fuel to the U S. Department of Defense. For the year ended December 31,2017, one customer
accounted for approximately 19% of CVR Refining's net sales and approximately 52% of CVR Refining's net sales were made to its ten largest customers.

CVR Refining sells and distnbutes directly 1o its customers by tanker truck and railcar and also at throughput tenminals on the refined products
distribution systems of Magellan Midstream Partners, L.P. ("Magellan") and NuStar Energy, L.P {"NuStar”) CVR Refining focuses its marketing efforts in the
central oud-continent area because of 1ts relative proxinmty to 1ts refinertes and pipeline access and the southern portion of the Magellan system which covers
all of Oklahoma, parts of Arkansas as well as eastem Missourt, and al! other Magellan terminals. CVR Refining also has access to the Rocky Mountain area as
well as the Texas markets and some adjoining states with pipeline connections. CVR Refining also makes bulk sales (sales into third-party pipelines) nto the
midcontinent markets and other destinations utihzing the product pipeline networks owned by Magellan, Enterpnse Products Partners, L.P. and NuStar. The
outbound Enterprise Pipeline Red Line provides CVR Refining with access to the NuStar Refined Products Pipeline system. This allows gasoline and ultra-
low sulfur diesel product sales from Kansas up 1nto North Dakota.

CVR Partners sells UAN products to retailers and distnbuters. In addition, 1t sells ammonia to agnecultural and industnal customers CVR Partners’
primary markets for 1ts products are 1n Illinois, lowa, Kansas, Nebraska and Texas. Iis products are pnmanly distnbuted by truck or by railcar. Given the
nature of its business, and consistent with industry practice, CVR Partners does not have long-term minimum purchase contracts with most of its agricultural
customers.

Competition

CVR Energy's petroleum business competes primarily on the basis of price, reliability of supply, availability of multiple grades of products and
location. The pnncipal competitive factors affecting its refining operations are cost of crude oil and other feedstock costs, refinery complexity, refinery
efficiency, refinery product mix and preduct distnibution and transportation costs. The location of the refinenes provides the petroleum business with a
reliable supply of crude o1l and a transportation cost advantage over tts competitors. The petroleum business primanly competes against five retinenes
operated in the mid-continent region. In addition to these refineries, the refineries compete against trading companies, as well as other refinenes located
outside the region that are linked to the mid-continent market through an extensive product pipeline system These competitors include refineries located
near the Gulf Coast and the Texas panhandle region. The petroleum business refinery competition also includes branded, integrated and independent oil
refining companies, such as Phillips 66 Company, HollyFrontier Corporation, CHS Inc., Valero Energy Corporation and Flint Hills Resources LLC.

The nitrogen fertilizer business has expenenced, and expect to continue to meet, significant levels of compet:tion from current and potential
competitors, many of whom have sigmificantly greater financial and other resources Competition in the nitrogen fertilizer industry ts doenunated by pnce
considerations. However. during the spnng and fall application seasons. farming activities intensity and delivery capacity 1s a significant competitive factor.
Domestic competition 1s intense due to customers' sophisticated buying tendencies and competitor strategies that focus on cost and service. The nitrogen
fertilizer business also encounters competition from producers of fertilizer products manufactured 1n foreign countnes. In certain cases, foreign producers of
fertilizer who export to the United States may be subsidized by their respective governments.
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Environinental Regulations

CVR Energy's petroleum and nitrogen fertilizer businesses are subject to extensive and frequently changing federal, state and local, environmental,
health and safety laws and regulations goveming the emission and release of hazardous substances into the environment, the treatment and discharge of
waste watcr, and the storage, handling, use and transportation of petrolcum and nitrogen products, and the characteristics and composition of gasoline and
diesel fuels. These laws and regulations, their underlying regulatory requirements and the enforcement thereof impact the petroleum business and operations
and the nitrogen fertilizer business and operations by imposing:

» restrictions on operations or the need to install enhanced or additienal controls;
» the need to obtain and comply with permuts, licenses and authorizations;

« liability for the investigation and remediation of contaminated soil and groundwater at curmrent and former factlities (1f any) and for off-site waste
disposal locations; and

» specifications for the products marketed by the petroleum business and the nitrogen fertilizer business, pnmarily gasoline, diesel fuel, UAN and
ammonia.

CVR Energy's operations require numerous permits, licenses and authorizations. Failure to comply with these permits or environmental laws and
regulations could result in fines, penalties or other sanctions or a revocation of CVR Energy's permits, [n addition, the laws and regulations to which CVR
Energy is subject to are often evolving and many of them have become more stnngent or have become subject to more stringent interpretatton or enforcement
by federal or state agencies. These laws and regulations could result in increased capital, operating and compliance costs.

CVR Energy's businesses are also subject to, or impacted by, various other environmental laws and regulations such as the federal Clean Air Act, the
federal Clean Water Act, release reporting requirements relating to the release of hazardous substances into the environment, certain fuel regulations,
renewable fuel standards, as discussed below, and various other laws and regulations.

Renewable Fuel Standards

CVR Refining 1s subject to the Renewable Fuel Standard which requires refiners to either blend "renewable fuels” with their transportation fuels or
purchase renewable fuel credits, known as renewable identification numbers (“RINs"), in lieu of blending. See Item 1 A, "Risk Factors” and Note 17,
"Commitments and Contingencies,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion,

Safety, Health and Security Matters

CVR Energy is subject to a number of federal and state laws and regulanions related to safety, including the Occupational Safety and Health Act
("QOSHA") and comparable state statutes, the purpose of which are to protect the health and safety of workers. CVR Energy is also subject to OSHA Process
Safety Management regulations, which are designed to prevent or minimize the consequences of catastrophic releases of toxic, reactive, tlammable or
explosive chemicals.

CVR Encigy operates a comprehansive safcty, health and security program, with participation by employees at all levels of the organization. They have
developed comprehensive safety programs aimed at preventing OSHA recordable incidents. Despite CVR Energy's efforts to achieve excellence in its safety
and health performance, there can be no assurances that there will not be accidents resulting in injunes or even fatalities CVR Energy routinely audits iis
programs and considers improvements n 1ts management systems.

Railcar

We conduct our Railcar segment through our majority ownership interest in American Railcar Industries, Inc. ("ARI") and, priorto June 1,2017, our
wholly owned subsidiary Amernican Railcar Leasing, LLC ("ARL"). As of December 31, 2017, we owned approxumately 62.2% of the total outstanding
common stock of ARL ARIis a reporting company under the Exchange Act and files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other
information with the SEC that is publicly available. As discussed below, we sold ARL during 2017.

ARI is a prominent North Amenican designet and manutacturer of hopper and tank railcars that provides its railcar cusiomers with integrated solutions
through a comprehensive set of high-quality products and related setvices through its railcar manufagturing, railcar teasing and rmlcar repair operations

ARI sells and markets its products and services in North America. ARI's primary customers include those that use milcars for freight transport, or
shippers, leasing companies, industrial companies and Class I railroads. For the year ended December 31,2017, one customer accounted for approximately
15% of ARI's net sales and other revenues from operations and ARI's top ten customers accounted for approximately 59% of such revenues.
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During 2017, we sold ARL and 1ts fleet of more than 34,000 railcars toe SMBC Rail Services, LLC ("SMBC Rail") for cash based on a value of
approximately $3.3 bitlion, pnor to repaying, or assigning to SMBC Rail, apphicable indebtedness of ARL.

Regulations

The industries in which ARI operates are subject to extensive regulation by various governmental, regulatory and industry authorities and by federal,
state, local and foreign authonties. The primary regulatory and industry authorities involved 1n the regulation of the railcar industry in the U.S. and Canada
are the Federal Railroad Administration ("FRA™, the Association of American Railroads {"AAR"), U.S. Department of Transportation ("USDOT") and
Transport Canada ("TC™). The FRA administers and enforces U.S. Federal laws and regulations relating to railroad safety. These regulations govem equipment
and safety compliance standards for ratlcars and other rail equipment used 1n interstate commerce. The AAR promulgates a wide vanety of rules and
regulations governing safety and design of equipment, relationships among railroads with respect to railcars 1n interchange and other matters. The AAR also
certifies railcar manufacturers and component manufacturers that provide equipment for use on railroads in North America, New products must generally
undergo AAR testing and approval processes. In addition, their milcar and railcar component manufacturing facilities must be certified annually by the AAR,
and products that they sell must meet AAR and FRA standards. ARI must comply with the rules of the USDOT and they are subject to oversight by TC that
also requires compliance.

Future regulatory developments, such as ARI's failure to achieve, maintain or renew required certifications, new regulations or changes to existing
regulations, modified interpretations of existing regulations, enhanced regulatory investigation, stricter regulatory enforcement, or any determination that
our processes or products are not in compliance with applicable regulations, could result in increased compliance and other costs, govemmentali or
administrative fines, penalties, or proceedings, private litigation, product recalls, or plant shut-downs. any of which could have a matenal adverse effect on
ARI’s operations, reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

Gaming

We conduct our Gaming segment through our majority ownership in Tropicana Entertainment Inc. ("Tropicana"), and our wholly owned subsidiary,
Trump Entertainment Resorts Inc. ("TER") which we acquired out of bankruptcy in 2016. Tropicana 1s a reporting company under the Exchange Act and files
annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC that are publicly available. During August 2017, we increased our
ownership in Tropicana from 72.5% to 83 9% through a tender offer for additional shares of Tropicana commen stock not already owned by us.

Tropicana 1s an owner and operator of regional casino and entertaimment properties located in the United States and one hotel, timeshare and casino
resott focated on the island of Aruba. TER owned the Trump Taj Mahal Casino Resort, which closed and ceased its casino and hoetel operations 1z October
2016, and was subsequently sold on March 31,2017. TER also owns Trump Plaza Hotel ard Casino, which ceased eperations in September 2014, prior to our
obtaining a controlling 1nterest in TER.

Governmental and Gaming Regulations

The ownership and operation of our Gamung segment's facilities are subject to the laws and regulations of each of the six states in which it operates as
well as in Aruba where Tropicana operates a small casine Gaming laws generally are based upon declarations of public policy designed to protect gaming
censumers and the viability and integnty of the gamung industry Gaming laws also may be designed to protect and maximize state and local revenues
denved through taxes and licensing fees imposed on the gaming industry participants as well as to enhance economic development and tourism. To
accomplish these public policy goals, gammng laws establish procedures to ensure that participants in the gaming industry meet certain standards of character
and fitness, Typically, a junisdiction's regulatory environment 15 established by statute and 1s administered by a regulatory agency with bread discretion te
regulate, among other things, the affairs of owners, managers and persons with financial intercsts 1n gaming eperations.

Our Gaming segment is also subject to other laws and regulations including, but not limuted te, vanous licensing requirements, reporting and record
keeping requirements, findings of suitability, permits and review and approval of certain transactions by appropnate authorties. Changes to laws or
regulations, or changes to how laws or regulations are interpreted, may have a matenal adverse effect on our gaming operations.

Metals

We conduct our Metals segment through our indirect wholly ewned subsidiary, PSC Metals. Inc. (“PSC Metals™). PSC Metals is principally engaged in
the business of collecting, processing and selling ferrous and nen-ferrous metals, as well as the processing and distnibution of steel pipe and plate products.
PSC Mctals collects industnal and obsolete scrap metal, processes it into reusable forms, and supplies the recycled metals to 1ts customers.
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Mining
We conduct our Miring segment through our majonty ownership in Ferrous Rescurces Ltd ("Ferrous Resources™) We obtained control efand
consolidated the results of Ferrous Resources during the second quarterof 2015 As of December 31,2017, we owned approximately 77.2% ot the total

outstanding commen stock of Ferrous Resources. Ferrous Resources acquired certain rights to ron ore mingral resources in Brazil and develops mining
operations and related infrastructure to produce and sell 1ron ore products to the global steel industry.

Food Pachaging

We conduct our Food Packaging segment through our majonty ownership 1n Viskase Companies, Inc. ("Viskase”). As of December 31, 2017, we owned
approximately 74.6% of the total outstanding common stock of Viskase. Vlskase 15 a worldwide leaderm the production and sale of cellulosie, tibrous and

-plastic casings for the processed meat and poultry industry.

Real Estate

Our Real Estate operations consist of rental real estate, property development and associated club activities. Our rental real estate operations consist
primarily of office and industrial properties leased to single corporate tenants Cur property development operations are run primarity through a real estate
1nvestment, management and development subsidiary that focuses primanly on the construction and sale of single-family and multi-family hemes, lots in
subdivisions and planned communities and raw land for residential development. OQur property development locations also operate golf and club operations
as well.

Home Fashion

We conduct our Home Fashion segment through our wholly owned subsidiary, WestPoint Home LLC (“WPH™). We acquired a controlling interest in
WPH, previously known as WestPoint Intemational, Inc , out of bankruptcy during 2005 and became sole owner of WPH in 2011. WPH's business consists of
manufacturing, sourcing, marketing, distnbuting and selling home fashion consumer products, which primarily include bedding products and towels.

Holding Company

_We seek to invest our available cash and cash equivalents in liquid investments with a view to enhancing returns as we continue to assess further
acquisitions of, or investments in, opcrating busincsses. As of December 31, 2017, we had investments wath a fair market value of approximately $3.0 billion
in the Investment Funds. In addition, as of December 31, 2017, our Holding Company had vanous other investments with a fair market value of $384 million.

Employees

We have an aggregate of 34 employecs at our Holding Company and Investment segment Our other reporting segments ecmploy an aggregate of
approximately 89.000 employees, of which approximately 81% are employed within our Automotive segment. Approximately 51% of our employees are
employed intemationally, primarily within our Automotive segment.

Available Information

Icahn Enterpnses maintains a website at www.ielp.com We provide access to our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those repons free of charge through this websaite as soon as reasonably practicable after such materal is
electrontcally filed with the SEC. Paper copies of annual and periodic reports filed with the SEC may be obtained free of charge upon wniten request by
contacting our headquartcrs at the address focated on the front cover of this report or under Investor Relations on our website. In additien, our corporate
govemance guidelines, including Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Audit Commuttee Charter, are available on our website (under Corporate
Govemnance} and are available in print without charge to any stockholder requesting them You may obtain and copy any document we furnish or file with
the SEC at the SEC's public reference room at 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580, Washingten, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the
SEC's public reference facilities by calhing the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, information statements, and other
information regarding 1ssuers like us who file electronically with the SEC. The SEC's website 1s located at www sec.gov,
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Ttem 1 A. Risk Factors.

We and our subsidiaries are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which are described below. The nsks and uncertainties described below are not the
only risks that affect our businesses Additional risks and uncertainties that are unknown or not deemed significant may also have a negative impact on our
businesses.

Risks Relating to Our Structure
Our general partner, and its control person, has significant influence over us.

Mr leahn, through affiliates, owns 100% of Icahn Enterprises GP, the gencral partner of [cahn Enterprises and Icahn Enterprises Holdings, and
approximately 91.0% of Icahn Enterprises’ outstanding depositary units as of December 31,2017, and, as a result, has the ability to influence many aspects of
our operations and affairs.

Mr Icahn’s estate has been designed to assure the stability and continuation of lcahn Enterprises with no need to monetize his interests for estate tax or
other purposes. In the event o Mr. Icahn’s death, control of Mr. Icahn’s interests in Icahn Enterprises and 1ts general partner will be placed in chanrable and
other trusts under the control of semor [cahn Enterpnises’ executives and Icahn famuly members However, there can be no assurance that such planning will
be effective.

We have engaged, and in the future may engage, in transactions with our affiliates.

We have invested and may in the future mvest 1n entities in which Mr. Icahn also invests, We also have purchased and may in the future purchase
entities or investments from him or his atfiliates Although Icahn Enterprises GP has never reccived fecs in connection with our investients, our partnership
agreement allows for the payment of these fees. Mr. [cahn may pursue other business opportunities 1n industries in which we compete and there is no
requirement that any additional business opportunities be presented to us. We continuously identify, evaluate and engage in discussions concerning
potential investments and acquisitions, including potential investments in and acquisitions of affiliates of Mr. [cahn There cannot be any assurance that any
potential transactions that we consider will be completed.

We are subject to the risk of becoming an investment company.

Because we are a holding company and a significant pertion of our assets may, from time to time, consist of investments 1n companies 1n which we own
less than a 50% interest, we run the nsk of inadvertently becoming an investment company that is required to register under the Investment Company Act. In
addition, events beyond our control, including significant appreciation or depreciation in the market value of certain of our publicly traded holdings or
adverse developments with respect to our ownership of certain of our subsidiaries, could result in our mmadvertently becoming an investment company that is
required to registerunder the Investment Company Act.

Registered investment companies are subject to extensive, restrictive and potentially adverse regulations relating to, among other things, operating
methods, management, capital structure, dividends and transactions with affiliates Registered investment companies are not permitted to operate their
business in the manner in which we operate our business, nor are regtstered mvestment companies permitted to have many of the relationships that we have
with our affiliated companies.

If it were established that we were an investment company, there would be a nsk, among other matenal adverse consequences, that we could become
subject to monetary penalties or injunctive relief, or both, 1n an action brought by the SEC, that we would be unable to enforce contracts with third patties ot
thar third parties could seek to obtain rescission of transactions with us undertaken during the penod 1t was established that we were an unregistered
investment company.

We may structure transactions in a less advantageous manner to avoid becoming subject to the Investment Company Act.

In order not to become an investment company required to register under the Investment Company Act, we monitor the value of our investments and
structure transactions with an eye toward the Investment Company Act. As a result, we may structure transactions in a less advantageous manner than if we
did not have Investment Company Act concems, or we may avold otherwise economically desirable transactions due to those concerns.

We may become taxable as a corporation if we are no longer treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes.

We believe that we have been and are properly treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. This allows us to pass through our income and
deductions to our partners. However, the Intemal Revenue Service could challenge our partnership status and we could fail to qualify as a partnership for past
years as well as future years. Qualification as a partnership involves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Internal Revenue
Code, as amended. For example, a publicly traded partnership is generally taxable as a corporation unless 90% or more of its gross income 18 “qualifying”
income, which includes interest, dividends, o1l and gas revenues, real property rents, gains from the sale or other disposition of real property, gain from the
sale or other disposition of capital assets held for the production of interest or dividends, and centain other items. We believe that 1n all prior years of our
existence at least 90% of our gross income was “qualifying” income and we intend to structure our business in a manner such that at least 90% of our gross
income wall
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constitute “qualifying” income this year and 1n the future However, there can be no assurance that such structuring will be effective in all events to avoid the
receipt of more than 10% of non-qualifying income. If less than 90% of our gross income constitutes “quahifying” income, we may be subject to corporate tax
on our net income plus possible state taxes. Further, 1f less than 90% of our gross income constituted “qualifying” income for past years. we may be subject to
corporate level tax plus interest and possibly penalties. In addition, 1f we become required to register under the Investment Company Act, it 18 likely that we
would be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The cost of paying federal and possibly state income tax, etther for past years or going
forward could be a significant liability and would reduce our funds available to make distributions to holders of units, and to make nterest and principal
payments on our debt secuntics, To meet the “qualifying” income test, we may structure transactions in a manner which 1s less advantageous than 1f this were
not a consideration, or we may avoid otherwise economically desirable transactions.

We may be negatively impacted by the potential for changes in tax laws.

Our investment strategy considers various tax related impacts. Past or future legislative proposals have been or may be introduced that, 1f enacted, could
have a material and adverse effect on us. For example, past proposals have included taxing publicly traded partnerships, such as us, as corporations and
introdueing substantive changes to the definition of “qualifying” income, which could make it more difficult or impossible to for us to meet the exception
that allows publicly traded partnerships generating “qualifying” income to be treated as partnerships (rather than corporations) for U.S federal income tax
purposes. We currently cannot predict the outcome of such legislative proposals, including, if enacted, their impact on our operations and financial position.

We May Be Adversely Affected by Comprehensive Tax Reform.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Legislation) was signed into law. The Tax Legisiation contains signtficant changes to
cotporate taxation, including reduction of the corporate tax ratc from 35% to 21%, additional Limtations on the tax deductibility of interest. substantial
changes to the taxation of foreign eamings, a one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of cumulative foreign eamings, immediate
deductions for certain new investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense over time, and modification or repeal of many business deductions
and credits Notwithstanding the reduction in the corporate income tax rate, the overall impact of the Tax Legislation 1s uncertain, and our results of
operations, cash flows and financial conditions could be adversely affected.

Holders of depositary units may be required to pay tax on their share of our income even if they did not receive cash distributions from us.

Because we are treated as a partnership for income tax purposes, holders of units are generally requured to pay federal income tax, and, in some cases,
state or local income tax, on the portion of our taxable income allocated to them, whether or not such income is distributed. Accordingly, 1t 15 possible that
holders of depositary units may not receive cash distnbutions from us equal to their share of our taxable tncome, ar even equal to their tax liability on the
portion of our income allocated to them.

We may be subject to the pension liabilities of our affiliates.

Mr Icahn, through certain affiliates, owns 100% of Icahn Enterprises GP and approximately 91.0% of [cahn Enterpnses’ outstanding depositary units as
of December 31, 2017. Applicable pension and tax laws make each member of a “controlled group™ of entities, generally defined as entities in which there is
at least an 80% common ownership interest, jointly and severaliy liable for certain pension plan obligations of any member of the controlled group. These
pension obltigations include ongomng contributions te fund the plan, as well as hability for any unfunded liabilities that may exist at the time the plan 1s
terminated. In addition, the failure to pay these pensien obligations when duc may resuelt in the creation of hiens in favor ofthe pension plan or the Pension
Benefit Guaranty Cotporation {("PBGC") against the assets of each member of the controlled group.

As a result of the more than 80% ownership interest in us by Mr. Icahn’s affiliates and our ownership of more than 80% in certain of our subsadiaries, we
and certain of our subsidiaries are subject to the pension liabilities of entities in which Mr. Icahn has a direct or indirect ownership interest of at least 80%.
ACF Industries LLC {("ACF"}, a related party in which Mr. Icahn has a direct ownership interest exceeding 80%, and Federal-Mogul are the sponsors of several
pension plans in our controlled group. All the mmnimum funding requirements ot the Intemnal Revenue Code, as amended, and the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended by the Pension Protection Act of 2006, for these plans have been met as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. Ifthe
plans were voluntarily terminated, they would be underfunded by approximately $424 million and $613 million as of December 31,2017 and 2016,
respectively. These fesults are based on the most recent infoamation provided by the plans’ actuaries These liabilities could increase or decrease, depending
on a number of factors, including future changes 1n benefits, investment retums, and the assumptions used to calculate the liability. As members of the
controlled group, we would be liable for any failurc of ACF and Federal-Mogul to make ongoing pension contributions or to pay the unfunded liabilitics
upon a termination of the pension plans of ACF and Federal-Mogul. In addition, other entities now or in the future withan the controlled group in which we
are included may have pension plan obligations that are, or may become, underfunded
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and we would be liable for any failure of such entities to make ongoing pension contributions or to pay the unfunded tiabilities upon termunation of such
plans.

The current underfunded status of the penston plans of ACF and Federal-Mogul requires them to notify the PBGC of certain “reportable events,” such as
if we ccase to be a member of the ACF and Federal-Mogul controlled group, or if we make certain extraordinary dividends or stock redemptions. The
obligation to report could cause us to seek to delay or reconsider the occumence of such reportable events.

Starfire Holding Corporation ("Starfire™), which is 99.4% owned by Mr. Icahn, has undertaken to indemnify us and our subsidiaries from losses resulting
from any imposition of certain pension funding or termunation liabilities that may be imposed on us and our subsidiaries or our assets as a result of being a
member of the [cahn controlled group. The Starfire indemnity {which does not extend to pension liabilities of our subsidiaries that would be imposed on us as
a result of cur interest 1n these subsidianes and not as a result of Mr. [cahn and his affiliates holding more than an 80% ownership interest 1n us, and as such
would not extend to the unfunded pension termenation liability for Federal-Mogul) provides, among other things, that so long as such contingent liabilities
exist and could be imposed on us, Starfire will not make any distributions to its steckholders that would reduce 1ts net worth to below $250 million.
Nonetheless, Starfire may not be able to fund its indemnification obligations to us.

We are a limited partnership and a “‘controlled company’” within the meaning of the NASDAQ rules and as such are exempt from certain corporate
governance requirements.

We are a limited partnership and **controlled company ™ pursuant to Rule 5615(c) of the NASDAQ listing rules. As such we have elected, and ntend to
conlinue to elect, not to comply wath certatn corporate govermance requirements of the NASDAQ listing rules, including the requirements that a majonty of
the board of dircctors consist ot independent directors and that independent dircctors determine the cotnpensation of executive officers and the selection of
nominees to the board of directors. We do not maintain a compensation or nominating committee and do not have a majority of independent directors
Accordingly, while we remain a controlled company and during any transition period following a time when we are no longer a controlled company, the
NASDAQ listing rules do not provide the same corporate govemance protections applicable to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the
NASDAQ listing requirements.

Certain members of our management team may be involved in other business activities that may invelve conflicts of interest.

Certain individual members of our management team may, from time to tume, be 1nvolved 1n the management of other businesses, including those
owned or controlled by Mr. [cahn and his affiliates. Accordingly, these individuals may focus a portion of their time and attention on managing these other
businesses. Conflicts may arise 1n the future between our interests and the interests of the other entities and business activities in which such individuals are
involved

Holders of Icahn Enterprises’ depositary units have limited voting rights, including rights to participate in our management.

Our general partner manages and operates Icahn Enterprises. Unlike the holders of common stock 1n a corporation, holders of lcahn Enterprises’
outstanding depositary units have only limited voting rights on matters affecting our business. Holders of depositary units have no nght to elect the general
partner on an annual or other continuing basis, and our general partner generally may not be removed excepl pursuant to the vote of the holders of not less
than 75% of the outstanding depositary units. In addition, removal of the general partner may result 1n a default under the indentures goveming our senior
notes As a result, holders of our depositary umits have limited say 1n matters affecting our operations and others may find it difficult to aticmpt to gain
control or influence our activities

Holders of Icahn Enterprises’ depositary units may not have limited liability in certain circumstances and may be personally liable for the return of
distributions that cause our liabilities te exceed our assets.

We conduct our businesses through Icahn Enterpnses Holdings 1n several states. Maintenance of limited liability will require compliance with legal
requirements of those states. We are the sole limited partner of Icahn Enterprises Holdings. Limitations on the liability of a limited partner for the obligations
of a lumited partnership have not clearly been established in several states. If it were deterrmned that Icahn Enterprises Holdings has been conducting
business in any state without compliance with the applicable limited partnership statute or the possession or exercise of the night by the partnership, as
limited partner of Icahn Enterprises Holdings, to remove its general partner, to approve certain amendments to the lcahn Enterprises Holdings partnership
agreement or to take other action pursuant to the Icahn Enterprises Holdings partnership agreement, constituted “control” of Icahn Enterpnises Holdings'
business for the purposes of the statutes of any relevant state, Icahn Enterpnises and/or 1ts unitholders, under certain circumstances, might be held personally
liable for Icahn Enterprises Holdings' obligations to the same extent as our generzal partner. Further, under the laws of certain states, [cahn Enterprises might
be {iable for the amount of distributions made to Icahn Enterprises by Icahn Enterprises Holdings.

Holders of Icahn Enterpnses’ depositary units may also be required to repay [cahn Enterprises amounts wrongfully distributed to them. Under Delaware
law, we may not make a distnibution to holders of our depositary units 1f the distribution
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causes our habilities to exceed the fair value ofourassets Liabilities to partners on account of thetr partnership interests and nonrecourse liabilities are not
counted for purposes of determining whether a distribution 1s permitted. Delaware law provides that a limited partner who receives such a distzbution and
knew at the time of the distnibution that the distnbution violated Delaware law wall be liable to the limited partnership for the distribution amount for three
years from the distnbution date.

Additionally, under Delaware law an assignee who becomes a substituted limited partner of a limited partnership 1s liable for the obligations, 1f any, of
the assignor to make contributions to the partnership. However, such an assignee is not obligated for habilities unknown to him or her at the time he or she
became a limited partner if the habilities could not be determuned from the partnershup agreement.

Since we are a limited partnership, you may not be able to pursue legal claims against us in U.S, federal courts.

We are a limited partnership organized under the laws of the state of Delaware. Under the federal mules of civil procedure, you may not be able to sue us
1n federal court on claims other than those based solely on federal law, because of lack of complete diversity. Case law applying diversity junsdiction deems
us to have the citizenship of each ot our limited partners. Because we are a publicly traded limited partnership, it may not be possible for you to sue us in 2
federal court because we have citizenship in all 50 U.S. states and operations in many states. Accordingly, you will be limited to bringing any claims in state
court.

Risks Relating to Liquidity and Capital Requirements
We are a holding company and depend on the businesses of our subsidiaries to satisfy our obligatians,

We are a holding company. In addition to cash and cash equivalents, U S. govemment and agency obligations, marketable equity and debt securities
and other short-term investments, our assets consist pnmarily of investments in our subsidianes. Moreover, if we make significant tnvestments in new
operating businesses, it is likely that we will reduce our liquid assets and those of Icahn Enterprises Holdings in order to fund those investments and the
ongoing opetations of our subsidianes. Consequently, our cash flow and our ability to meet our debt service obligations and make distnbutions with respect
to depositary units likely will depend on the cash flow of cur subsidianes and the payment of funds to us by our subsidiaries in the fonn of dividends,
distributions, loans or otherwise.

The opemting results of our subsidianes may not be sufficient to make distnbutions to us In addition, cur subsidiaries are not obligated to make funds
available to us and distributions and intercompany transfers from our subsidiaries to us may be restnicted by applicable law or covenants contained 1n debt
agreements and other agreements to which these subsidiaries may be subject or enter into in the future.

The tenms of certain borrowing agreements of our subsidianes, or other entities in which we own equity, may restrict dividends, distributions or loans to
us. To the degree any distributions and transfers are impaired or prohibited, our ability to make payments on our debt and to make distnbutions on cur
depositary units will be limuted.

To service aur indebtedness, we will reqaire a significant amount of cash. Qur ability to maintain our current cash position or generate cash depeads on
many factors beyond ear control,

Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness, and to fund operations will depend on existing cash balances and ourability to
generate cash in the future. This, to a certain extent, 1s subject to general economic, financial, competitive, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our
centrol. Qur current businesses and businesses that we acquire may not generate sufficient cash to service our outstanding indebtedness. In addition, we may
not generate sufficient cash flow fiom operations or investments and future borrowings may not be avarlable to us in an amouni sufficient to enable us to '
service our outstanding indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs. We may need to refinance all or a portion of our outstanding indebtedness on or
before matunty. We cannot assure you that we will be able to retinance any of our cutstanding indebtedness on commerctally reasonable terms or at alt

Our failure to comply with the covenants contained under any of our debt instruments, including the Indentures (including our failure ta comply as a result
af events beyond our control}, could result in an event of default that would materially and adversely affect our financial condition,

Our failure to comply with the covenants under any of our debt instruments (including our faikure to comply as a result of events beyond our control)
may trigger a default or event of default under such instruments, If there were an event of default under one of our debt instruments, the holders of the
defaulted debt could cause all amounts outstanding with respect to that debt to be due and payable immediately. In addition, any event of default or
declaration of acceleration under one debt instrument could result 1n an event of default and declaration of acceleration under one or more of our other debt
instruments, including the exchange notes. It 15 possible that, if'the defaulted debt is accelerated, our assets and cash flow may not be
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sufficient to fully repay borrowings under our outstanding debt instruments and we cannot assure you that we would be able to refinance or restructure the
payments on those debt secunties.

We may not have sufficient funds necessary to finance a change of control offer that may be required by the indentures governing our senior notes.

If Mr. Icahn were to sell, or otherwise transfer, some or all of his interests 1n us to an unrelated party or group, a change of control could be deemed to
have occumred under the terms of the indentures goveming our senior notes, which would require us to offer to repurchase all outstanding sentor notes at
101% of their pnncipal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated damages, 1f any, to the date of repurchase. However, 1t is possible that we will
not have sufficient funds at the time of the change of control to make the required repurchase of notes.

We have made significant investments in the Investment Funds and negative performance of the Investment Funds may result in a significant decline in the
value af our investments.

As of December 31, 2017, we had investments 1n the Investment Funds with a fair market value of approximately $3.0 billion, which may be accessed on
short notice to satisfy our hiquidity needs. However, if the Investment Funds expenence negative performance, the value of these investments will be
negatively impacted, which could have a matenal adverse effect on our operating results, cash flows and financial position,

Future cash distributions to Icahn Enterprises’ unitholders, if any, can be affected by numerous factors.

While we made cash distributions to Icahn Enterprises’ unitholders in each of the four quarters of 2017, the payment of future distributions will be
detemmined by the board of directors of Icahn Enterprises GP, our general partner, quarterly, based on a review of a number of factors, including those
descnibed below and other factors that 1t deems relevant at the time that declaration of a distribution 1s considered.

Our ability to pay distibutions will depend on numerous factors, including the availability of adequate cash flow from operations; the proceeds. 1fany,
from divestitures, our capital requirements and other obligations; restrictions contained in our financing amangements, including the indentures governing
our senior notes; and our issuances of additional equity and debt secunties. The availability of cash flow in the future depends as well upon events and
circumstances outside our control, including prevailing economic and industry conditions and financial, business and similar factors. No assurance can be
given that we will be able to make distributions or as to the timing of any distnbution. Even if distributions are made, there can be no assurance that holders
of depositary units will not be required to recognize taxable income 1n excess of cash distributions made in respect of the period in which a distribution is
made.

Risks Relating to All of Qur Businesses
General

All of eur businesses are subject to the effects of the following.

+ the threat of'terrorism or war;

» loss ofany of our or our subsidiaries’ key personnel;

» theunavailability, as needed, of additional financing,

+ the unavailability of insurance at acceptable rates; and

+  litigation not 1in the ordmary course of business (sce Item 3, "Legal Proceedings," of this Report).

Global economic conditions may have adverse impacts on our businesses and financial condition.

Changes m economic conditions could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. A number of economic factors, including, but
not himited to, consumer interest rates, consumer confidence and debt levels, retail trends, housing starts, sales of existing homes, the level and availability of
mortgage refinancing, and commodity prices, may generally adversely affect our businesses, financial condition and results of operations. Recessionary
economic cyeles, higher and protracted unemployment rates, increased fuel and other energy and commodity cosis, nsing costs of transportation
and increased tax rates can have a material adverse impact on cur businesses, and may adversely affect demand for sales of our businesses’ products, or the
costs of matenals and services utilized in their operations. These factors conld have a matenal adverse effect on our revenues, income from operations and our
cash flows

We and our subsidiaries are subject to cybersecurity and other technological risks that could disrupt our information technology systents and adversely
affect our financial performance.

Threats to mformation technology systems associated with cybersecunty and other technological nsks and cyber incidents or attacks continue to grow.
We and our subsidiaries depend on the accuracy, capacity and secunty of our information technology systems and those used by our third-party service
providers. In addition, we and our subsidianes collect, process
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and retain sensitive and confidential information 1n the normai course of business, including information about our employees, customers and other third
parties Despite the secunty measures we have in place and any additional measures we may implement 1n the fature, our facilities, systems, and networks,
and those of our third-party service providers, could be vulnerable to secunty breaches, computer viruses, lost or misplaced data, programming errors, human
errors, employee misconduct, malicious attacks, acts of vandalism or other events. In addition, hardware, software or appheations we develop or obtain from
third parties may contain defects in design or manufacture or other problems that could result 1n security breaches or disruptions. These events or any other
disruption or compromse of our or our third-party service providers’ information technology systems could negatively impact our business operations or
result in the misappropriation, loss or other unauthonzed disclosure of sensitive and confidential information. Such cvents could damage our reputation,
expose us to the nisks of litigation and hability, disrupt our business or otherwise affect our results of operations, any of which could adversely affect our
financial performance.

We or our subsidiaries may pursue acquisitions or other gffiliations that invelve inherent risks, any of which may cause us not to realize anticipated
benefits, and we may have difficulty integrating the operations of any companies that may be acquired, which may adversely affect its operations.

We may expand our existing businesses 1f appropriate opportunities are 1dentified, as well as use our established businesses as a ptatform for additional
acquisitions in the same or rclated arcas. We and our operating subsidiaries havc at times grown through acquisitions and may make additional acquisitions
in the future as part of our business strategy. The full benefits ofthese acquisitions, however, require integration of manufacturing, administrative, financial,
sales, and marketing approaches and personnel. We may not realize the anticipated benefits of any such acquisition. If we or our operating subsidiaries are
unable to successfully integrate acquired businesses, we may not realize the benefits of the acquisitions, our financiat results may be negatively affected, and
additional cash may be required to integrate such operations. Additionally, any such acquisition, if consummated, could involve risks not presently faced by
us.

If we discever material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting or at any recently acquired entity, it may
adversely affect our ability to provide timely and reliable financial information and satisfy our reporting obligations under federal securities laws, which
also could affect the market price of our depositary units or our ability to remain listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, or NASDAQ,

Effective internal and disclosure controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud and to operate
successfully as a public company. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our reputation and operating results would be harmed.
A “matenal weakness” is a significant deficiency or combination of significant deficiencies in intemal control over financial reporting that results in a
reasonable possibility that a matenal nusstatement of the annual or intenim financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a imely
basis. A “significant deficiency™ 1s a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in intemal control over financial reporting that is less severe than a material
weakness, yet important enough to ment attention of those responsible for oversight of our financial reporting.

To the extent that any material weakness or significant deficiency exists in our consolidated subsidianes’ internal control over financral reporting, such
material weakness or significant deficiency may adversely affect our ability to provide timely and reliable financial information necessary for the conduct of
our bustness and satisfaction of our reporting ebligations under federal securities laws, that could affect our ability to remain listed on NASDAQ [neffective
internal and disclosure controls could cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the
trading price of our depositary units or the rating of our debt.

Risks Relating to the Investment Segment
Our investments may be subject to significant uncertainties.

Qur investments may not be successful for many reasons, including, but not limited to.
« fluctuations of interest rates;

+ lack of contrel in minonty investments;

« worsening of general economic and market conditions;

+ lack of diversification;

» lack of success of the Investment Funds' activist strategics;

+ fluctuations of U1.S. dollar exchange rates; and

+ adverse legal and regulatory developments that may affect particular businesses
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The historical financial information for the Investment Funds is not necessarily indicative of its futwre performance.

Qur Investment segment’s financial information is driven by the amount of funds allocated to the Investment Funds and the performance of the
underlying investments in the Investment Funds. Future funds allocated to the Investment Funds may 1increase or decrease based on the contributions and
redemptions by our Holding Company and by Mr. Icahn and his affiliates. Additionally, historical performance results of the Investment Funds are not
indicative of future results as past market conditions, investment opportunities and investment decisions may not occur in the future. Changes in general
market conditions coupled with changes in exposure to short and long positions have significant impact on our Investment segment's results of aperations
and the comparability of results of operations year over year and as such, future results of operations will be impacted by our future exposures and future
market conditions, which may not be consistent with prior trends. Additionally. future returns may be affected by additional risks, including risks of the
industries and businesses in which a particular fund invests

We may not be able to identify suitable investments, and our investments may not result in favorable returns or may resnit in losses.

Qur partnership agreement allows us to take advantage of investment opportunities we believe exist outside of our operating businesses. The equity
securities in which we may invest may include common stock, preferred stock and securities convertible into common stock, as well as warmrants to purchase
these securities. The debt securities in which we may invest may include bonds, debentures, notes or non-rated moertgage-retated secutities, municipal
obligations, bank debt and mezzanine loans. Certain of these secunties may include lower rated or non-rated secunties, which may provide the potential for
higher yields and therefore may entail higher risk and may include the secunties of bankrupt or distressed companies. In addition, we may engage 1n various
investment techniques, mncluding derivatives, options and futures transactions, foreign currency transactions, “short” sales and leveraging for esther hedging
or other purposes We may concentrate our activities by owning significant or controlling interest in certain investments, We may not be successful in finding
suitable opportunities to invest our cash and our strategy of investing in undervalued assets may expose us to numerous risks,

Successful execution of our activist investment activities involves many risks, certain of which are outside of our control.

The success of our investment strategy may require, among other things: (i) that we properly 1dentify companies whose securities prices can be improved
through corporate and/or strategic action or successful restructunng of their operations; (11} that we acquure sufficient secunties of such companies at a
sufficiently attractive price, (iii) that we avoid triggering anti-takeover and regulatory obstacles while aggregating our positions; (iv) that management of
portfolio companics and other security holders respond positively to our proposals; and (v} that the market pnce of portfolio companics' sccunties increascs
In Tesponse te any actions taken by the portfolio companies. We cannot assure you that any of the foregoing will succeed.

The success of the Investrent Funds depends upon the ability of our Investment segment to successfully develop and implement investment strategies
that achieve the Investment Funds' objectives. Subjective decisions made by employees of our [nvestment segment may cause the Investment Funds to incur
losses or to miss profit opportunities on which the Investment Funds would otherwise have capitalized. [n addition, in the event that Mr. Ieahn ceases to
participate in the management of the Investment Funds, the consequences to the Investment Funds and our interest in them could be matenal and adverse and
could lead to the premature termination of the Investment Funds

The Investment Funds make investments in companies we do net control.

Investments by the Investment Funds include mvestments i debt or equaty secunties of publicly traded companies that we do not control. Such
mvestments may be acquired by the Investment Funds through open market trading activities or through purchascs of secunties from the issuer. These
investments will be subject to the risk that the company in which the investment 1s made may make business, financial or management decisions with which
our Investment segment disagree or that the majonty of stakeholders or the management of the company may take nsks or etherwise act in a manner that does
not serve the best interests of the Investment Funds. [n addition, the [nvestment Funds may make investments 1n which it shares control over the investment
with co-investors, which may make it more difficult for it to implement its investment approach or exit the investment when it otherwise would. If any of the
foregoing were to occur, the values of the investments by the Investment Funds could decrease and our [nvestment segment revenues could suffer as a result.

The Investment Funds' investment strategy invelves numerous and significant risks, including the risk that we may lose some or all of our investments in
the Investment Funds. This risk may be magnified due te concentration of investments and investments in undervalued securities.

Our Investment segment'’s revenue depends on the investments made by the Investment Funds. There are numerous and sigmificant risks associated with
these mvestments, certain of which are descnbed in this risk factor and in other nisk factors set forth herein.
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Certain investment positions held by the Investment Funds may be illiquid. The Investment Funds may own restrcted or non-publicly traded secunities
and secunties traded on foreign exchanges These investments could prevent the Investment Funds from hquidating unfavorable pesitions promptly and
subject the Investment Funds to substantial losses.

At any given time, the Invostment Funds' assets may become highly concentrated within a particular company. industry, asset category, trading style or
financial or economic market. In that event, the investment Funds' investment portfolic will be more susceptible to fluctuations in value resuiting from
adverse economic conditions affecting the performance of that panicular company, industry, asset category, trading style or economic market than a less
concentrated portfolio would be As a result, the Investment Funds' investment portfolio could become concentrated and its aggregate retumn may be volatile
and may be affected substantially by the performance of only one or a few holdings.

The Investment Funds seek to invest in secunties that are undervalued. The identification of investment opportunities 1n undervalued secunties 1s
challenging, and there are no assurances that such oppertenities will be suecessfully recognized or acquired While investments in undervalued sceurities -
offer the opportunity for above-average capital appreciation, these investments involve a high degree of financial nsk and can result in substantial losses.
Retums generated from the Investment Funds' investments may not adequately compensate for the business and firancial risks assumed.

From time to time, the Investment Funds may invest in bonds or other fixed income securities, such as commercial paper and higher yielding (and,
therefore, higher risk) debt securities. It 15 likely that a major economic recession could severely distupt the market for such securities and may have a
material adverse impact on the value of such secunties. In addition, 1t is likely that any such economic dewntum could adversely affect the ability ofthe
1ssuers of such securities to repay principal and pay interest thereon and increase the incidence of default for such securities.

For rcasons not necessanly attnibutable to any of the nsks sct forth in this Report (¢.g., supply/demand imbalances or other market forces), the prices of
the securities in which the Investment Funds invest may decline substantially. In particular, purchasing assets at what may appear 16 be undervalued levels is
no guarantee that these assets will not be trading at even more undervalued ievels at a future time of valuation or at the time of sale.

The prices of financial instruments in which the Investment Funds may invest can be highly volatile, Price movements of forward and other derivative
contracts in which the investment Funds’ assets may be invested are influenced by, among other things. interest rates, changing supply and demand
relationships, trade, fiscal, monetary and exchange control programs and policies of governments, and national and intemational political and economic
events and policies. The Investment Funds arc subject to the nsk of failure of any of the exchanges on which their positions trade or of their clearinghouses.

The use of leverage in investments by the Investment Funds may pose a significant degree of risk and may enhance the possibility of significant loss in the
value ofthe inve ts in the In nt Funds,

The Investment Funds may leverage their capital 1f their general partners believe that the use of leverage may enable the Investment Funds to achieve a
higher rate of retum Accordingly. the Investment Funds may pledge its securities in order 1o borrow additional funds for investment purposes. The
Investment Funds may also leverage its investment return with options, short sales, swaps, forwards and other derivative instruments. The amount of
borrowings that the Investment Funds may have outstanding at any time may be substantial ir relation to their capital. While leverage may present
opportunities for increasing the Investment Funds' total retum, leverage may increase losses as well, Accordingly, any event that adversely atfects the value
of an investment by the Investment Funds would be magnified to the extent such fund 15 leveraged. The cunmlative effect of the use of leverage by the
Investment Funds in a market that moves adversely to the Investment Funds' investments could result in a substantial loss to the Investment Funds that would
be greater than if the Investment Funds were nat leveraged. There 1s no assurance that leverage will be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

In general, the use of short-term margin borrowings results in cerain additional risks to the Investment Funds. For example, should the securities
pledged to brokers to secure any Investment Fund’s margin accounts decline in value, the Investment Funds could be subject to a “margin call,” pursuant to
which it must either deposit additional funds or secuntics with the broker, or suffer mandatory liquidation of the pledged sccuritics to compensate for the
decline in value. In the event of a sudden drop tn the value of any of the Investment Funds' assets, the Investment Funds might not be able to liquidate assets
quickly enough to satisfy its margin requirements.

The Investment Funds may enter into repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements. When the Investment Funds enters into a repurchase agreement, it
“sells” securities 1ssued by the U.S. ora non-U.S. govemment, or agencies thereof, to a broker-dealer or financial institution, and agrees to repurchase such
securities for the price paid by the broker-dealer or financial institution, plus interest at a negotiated rate. In a reverse repurchase transaction, the Investment
Fund “buys” sccuntics 1ssued by the U S ora non-U.S. government, or agencies thereof, from a broker-dealer or financial institution, subject to the obligation
of the broker-dealer or financial institution to repurchase such securities at the price paid by the Investment Funds, plus interest at a negotiated rate. The use
ofrepurchase and reverse repurchase agreements by any ofthe Investment Funds involves certain risks. For example, if the sefler of secunties to the
investment Funds under a reverse repurchase agreement defaults on its
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obligation to repurchase the underlying secunties, as a result of 1ts bankruptcy or otherwise, the Investment Funds will seek to dispose of such secunties,
which action could involve costs or delays. If the seller becomes insolvent and subject to liguidation or reorganization under applicable bankruptcy or other
laws, the Investment Funds' ability to dispose of the underlying securities may be restricted. Finally, 1f a seller defaults on 1ts obligation to repurchase
secunties under a reverse repurchase agreement, the Investment Funds may suffer a loss to the extent it is forced to hquidate its position 1n the market, and
proceeds from the sale of the underlying secunties are less than the repurchase price agreed to by the defaulting seller

The financing used by the Investment Funds to leverage its portfolio will be extended by securities brokers and dealers in the marketplace in which the
Investment Funds invest. While the Investment Funds will attempt to negotiate the terms of these financing arrangements with such brokers and dealers, 1its
ability to do so will be limited. The Investment Funds are therefore subject to changes in the value that the broker-dealer ascribes to a given security or
position, the amount of margin required to support such security or position, the borrowing rate to finance such security or position and/or such broker-

_dealer's willingness to continue to provide any such credit to the Investment Funds. Because the Investment Funds currently have no altemative credit
facility which could be used to finance its portfolio in the absence of financing from broker-dealers, 1t could be forced to liquidate its portfolio on short
notice to meet its financing obligations. The forced liquidation of all or a portion of the Investment Funds' portfolios at distressed prices could result in
significant losses to the Investment Funds.

The possibility of increased regulation could result in additional burdens on our Investment segment.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Reform Act"), enacted into law in July 2010, resulted in regulations affecting
almost every part of the financial services industry.

The regulatory environment in which our Investment scgment operates is subject to furtherregulation in addition to the rules already promulgated,
mncluding the Reform Act. Our Investment segment may be adversely affected by the enactment of new orrevised regulations, or changes in the interpretation
or enforcement of rules and regulations imposed by the SEC, other U.S. or foreign govemmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that
supervise the financial markets, Such changes may limit the scope of investment activities that may be undertaken by the Investment Funds’ managers. Any
such changes could increase the cost of our Investment segment doing business and/or matenally adversely impact its profitability. Additionally, the
secunties and futures markets are subject to comprehensive statutes, regulations and margin requirements. The SEC, other regulators and self-regulatory
organizations and exchanges have taken and are authorized to take extraordinary actions in the event of market emergencies. The regulation of derivatives
transactions and funds that engage 1n such transactions 1s an evolving area of law and 1s subject to modification by government and judicial action. The
effect of any future regulatory change on the Investment Funds and the Investment segment could be substantial and adverse.

The ability to hedge investments successfully is subject to numerous risks.

The Investment Funds may utilize financial instruments, both for investment purposes and for nsk management purposes 1n order to (i} protect against
possible changes 1n the market value of the Investment Funds' investment portfolios resulting from fluctuations 1n the secunties markets and changes in
intcrest rates, {11) protect the Investment Funds' unrealized gains in the value of its investment portfolios; {111) facilitate the sale of any such investments: (1v)
enhance or preserve returns, spreads or gains on any mvestment n the Investment Funds' portfolio; (v} hedge the interest rate or curency exchange rate on
any of the Investment Funds' liabilities or assets; (vi) protect against any increase in the pnce ofany secunties our Investment segment anticipate purchasing
at a later date: or {v1i) for any other reason that our Investment segment deems appropnate

The success of any hedging activities will depend, in part, upon the degree of correlation between the performance of the instruments used in the
hedging strategy and the performance of the portfolio investments being hedged. However, hedging techniques may not always be possible or effective in
limiting potential nsks of loss. Since the charactenstics of many sccuntics change as markets change or time passcs, the success of our Investment segment's
hedging strategy will also be subject to the ability of our Investment segment to continually recalculate, readjust and execute hedges in an efficient and
timely manner. While the Investment Funds may enter into hedging transactions to seek to reduce nisk, such transactions may result in a poorer overall
performance for the Investment Funds than 1f 1t had not engaged in such hedging transactions. For a vanety of reasons, the Investment Funds may not seek to
cstablish a perfect correlation between the hedging instruments utilized and the portfolio holdings being hedged. Such an imperfect correlation may prevent
the Investment Funds from achieving the intended hedge or expose the Investment Funds to nsk of loss. The Investment Funds do not intend te seek to hedge
every position and may determine not to hedge against a particular nsk for various reasons, including, but not limited to, because they do not regard the
probability of the rsk occurnng to be suffictently high as to justify the cost of the hedge Our Investment segment may not foresee the occurmence of the nsk
and therefore may not hedge against ali msks.

The Investment Funds invest in distressed securities, as well as bank loans, asset backed securities and mortgage backed securities.

The Investment Funds may invest in secunties of U.5. and non-U S. 1ssuers 1n weak financial condition, expenencing poor operating results, having
substantal capital needs or negative net worth, facing special competiive or product obsolescence
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problems, or that are involved 1n bankruptey or reorganization proceedings. Investments of this type may involve substantial financial, legal and business
risks that can result in substantial, or at times even total, losses. The market prices of such secunties are subject to abrupt and ematic market movements and
above-average price volatility. It may take a number of years for the market pnce of such secunties to reflect their intrinsic value. In liquidation (both 1n and
out of bankruptcy) and other forms of corporate insolvency and reorganization, there exists the nsk that the reorganization either will be unsuccessful (due to,
for example, failure to obtain requisite approvals), will be delayed (for example, until various liabilities, actual or contingent, have been satisfied) or will
result 1n a distribution of cash, assets or a new secunty the value of which will be less than the purchase price to the Investment Funds of the secunty in
respect to which such distribution was made and the terms of which may render such security 1tliquid.

The Investment Funds may invest in companies that are based outside of the United States, which may expose the Investment Funds to additional risks not
typically associated with investing in companies that are based in the United States,

[nvestments in securities of non-U § issuers (including non-U S, governiments) and securitics denominated or whose prices are quoted in non-U S,
cumencies pose, to the extent not successfully hedged, cummency exchange risks (including blockage, devaluation and non-exchangeability), as well asa
range of other potential risks, which could include expropnation, confiscatory taxation, imposition of withholding or other taxes on dividends, interest,
capital gains or other income, political or social instability, 1lliquidity, pnice volatility and market manipulation. In addition, less information may be
available regarding secunties ot non-tJ $. issuers, and non-U.S. issuers may not be subject to accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards and
requirements comparable to, or as uniform as, those of U.S. issuers. Transaction costs of investing in non-U S. securities markets are generally higher than in
the United States. There is generally less government supervision and regulation of exchanges, brokers and issuers than there is in the United States The
Investment Funds may have greater difficulty taking appropnate legal action in non-U.S courts, Non-U.S. markets also have different clearance and
settlement procedures which in some markets have at times faled to keep pace with the volume of transactions, thereby creating substaatial delays and
settlement fatlures that could adversely atfect the Investment Funds' performance. Investments in non-U S. markets may result in imposition of non-U.S. taxes
ar withholding on income and gains recognized with respect to such secunties There can be no assurance that adverse developments with respect to such
nsks will not matenally adversely affect the Investment Funds' investments that are held 1n certain countries or the retums from these investments.

The Investment Funds' investments are subject to numerous additional risks including these described belaw.

» Generally, there are few linutations set forth in the governing documents of the Investment Funds on the execution of their investment activities,
which are subject to the sole discretion of our Investment segment.

* The Investment Funds may buy or sell (or write) both call options and put options, and when it writes options, it may do so on a covered oran
uncovered basis. When the Investment Funds sell (or write) an option, the nsk can be substantiaily greater than when 1t buys an eption. The seller of
an uncovered call option bears the risk of an increase in the market price of the underlying secunty above the exercise price. The nisk is theoretically
unlimited unless the option 1s covered. If 1t 1s covered, the Investment Funds would forego the opportunity for profit on the underlying security
should the market price of the security rise above the exercise pnce. Swaps and certain options and other custom instruments are subject to the nsk
of non-performance by the swap counterparty, including risks retating to the creditworthiness of the swap counterparty, market risk, liquidity risk
and operations nsk.

= The Investment Funds may engage in short-selling, which is subject to a theoretically unlimited risk of loss because there is no limit on how much
the price ot a secunty may apprcciate before the short position 1s closed out The Investment Funds may be subject to losses if a secunty lender
demands retumn of the borrowed secunties and an alternative lending source cannot be found or if the Investment Funds are otherwise unable to
borrow secunties that are necessary to hedge its positions There can be no assurance that the Investment Funds will be able to maintain the ability
to borrow securities sold short. There aiso can be no assurance that the secunties necessary to cover a short position will be available for purchase at
or near prices quoted in the market.

= The ability of the [nvestment Funds to execute a short selling strategy may be materially adversely impacted by temporary and/er new permanent
rules, interpretations, prohibitions and restnctions adopted 1n response to adverse market events. Regulatory authorities may from time-to-time
impose restrictions that adversely aifect the Investment Funds' ability to bomow certain secunties 1n connection with short sale transactions. In
addition, traditional lenders of securities might be less likely to lend securities under certain market conditions. As a result, the Investment Funds
may not be able to ctfectively pursue a short selling strategy due to a limited supply of securities available for borrowing.

= The Investment Funds may effect transactions through overthe-counter or inter-dealer markets. The participants in such markets are typically not
subject to credit evaluation and regulatory oversight as are members of exchange-based markets. This exposes the Investment Funds to the risk that a
counterparty will not settle a transaction 1n accordance with 1ts terms and conditions because of a dispute over the tertns of the contract (whether or
not bona fide) or because of a credit or liquidity problem, thus causing the Investment Fund to suffer a Joss. Such “counterparty risk™ is accentuated
for contracts with longer maturities where events may intervene to prevent settlement, or where the Investment Funds have concentrated 1ts
transactions with a single or small group of its counterparties The Investment

20




Funds are not restricted from dealing with any particular counterparty or from concentrating any or all ofthe Investment Funds' transactions with one
counterparty.

+  Credit nisk may anse through a default by one of several large institutions that are dependent on one another to meet their liquidity or operational
needs, so that a default by one institution causes a senes of defaults by other institutions. This systemic nsk may matenally adversely affect the
financial intermediaries (such as pnme brokers, cleanng agencies, cleanng houses, banks, secunties firms and exchanges) with which the Investment
Funds interact on a daily basis.

+  The efficacy of investment and trading strategies depeads largely on the ability to establish and maintain an overall market position 1n a
combination of financial instruments. The Investment Funds' trading orders may not be executed in a timely and efficient manner due to various
circumstances, including systems fatlures or human error. In such event, the Investment Funds might only be able to acquire some but not all of the
components of the position, or if the overall positions were to need adjustment, the Investment Funds might not be able to make such adjustment. As
a result, the Investment Funds may not be able to achieve the market position selected by our Investment segment and might incura loss n
liquidating their position

« The Investment Funds assets may be held in one or more accounts maintained for the Investment Fund by its prime brokers or at other brokers or
custodian banks, which may be located in various jurisdictions. The prime broker, other breokers (1ncluding those acting as sub—custodians) and
custodian banks are subject to vanous laws and regulations in the relevant junsdictions in the event of their insolvency. Accordingly, the practical
effect of these laws and their application to the Investment Funds’ assets may be subject to substantial vanations, limitations and uncertainties The
insolvency of any of the prime brokers, local brokers, custodian banks or clearing corporations may result in the loss of all or a substantial portion of
the Investment Funds' assets or in a significant delay 1n the Investment Funds having access to those assets.

*  The Investment Funds may invest 1n synthetic mstruments with various counterparties. In the event of the insolvency of any counterparty, the
Investment Funds' recourse will be limited to the collateral, 1f any, posted by the counterparty and, 1n the absence of collateral, the Investment Funds
will be treated as a general creditor of the counterparty. While the Investment Funds expect that retums on a synthetic financial instrument may
reflect those of each related reference secunty, as a result of the terms of the synthetic financial instrument and the assumption of the credit risk of
the counterparty, a synthetic financial instrument may have a different expected return The Investment Funds may also invest in credit default
swaps.

Risks Relating to our Consolidated Operating Subsidiaries
We need qualified personnel to manage and operate our various businesses.

In our decentralized business model, we need qualified and competent management to direct day-to-day business activities of our operating
subsidianes Qur operating subsidianes also need qualified and competent personnel 1n executing their business plans and serving their customers, suppliers
and other stakeholders. Changes in demographics, training requirements and the unavailability of qualified personnel could negatively impact one or more
of our significant operating subsidiaries ability to meet demands of customers to supply goods and services. Recruiting and retaining qualified personnel 1s
important to all of our operations Although we have adequate personnel for the current business environment, unpredictable increases in demand for goods
and services may exacerbate the nsk of not having sufficient numbers of trained personnel, which could have a negative impact on cur operating results,
financial condition and liquidity.

Changes in regulations and regulatory actions can adversely affect our operating results and our ability ta allocate capital.

In recent years, partially 1n response to financial markets cnises, global economc recessions, and social and environmental 1ssues, regulatory mitiatives
have accelerated in the United States and abroad. Such imtiatives address for example, the regulation of banks and other major financial insitutions,
environmental and global-wamming matters and health care reform These initiatives impact our operating subsidiancs, particularly those within our
Automotive, Energy and Railcar segments. Increased regulatory compliance costs could have a sigmficant negative impact on our financial results however,
we cannot predict whether such initiatives will have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Additionally, our Gaming segment 1s also subject to potential changes in legislation and regulations that may negatively impact 1ts business. From time to
time, legislators and special interest groups propose legislation that would expand, restrict, or prevent gaming operations in the junsdictions in which we
operate and in neighboring jurisdictions. Such changes may have a matenal adverse impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or
cash flows
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Environmental laws and regulations could require our operating subsidiaries to make substantial capital expenditures to remain in compliance or to
remediate current or future contamination that could give rise to material liabilities.

Several of our subsidiaries are subject 1o a varety of federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations relating to the protection of the
environment, including those goveming the emission or discharge ot pollutants into the environment, product specifications and the gencration, treatment,
storage, transportation, disposal and remediation of solid and hazardous wastes. Violations of these laws and regulations or permut conditions can result in
substantial penalties, injunctive orders compelling installation of additional controls, civil and criminal sanctions, permit revocations and/or facthity
shutdowns.

In addition, new environmental laws and regulations, new interpretations of existing laws and regulations, increased govemmental enforcement of laws
and regulations or other developments could require our businesses to make additional unforeseen expenditures. Many of these laws and regulations are
becoming increasingly stringent, and the cost ef compliance with thesc requirements can be expected to inerease over time, The requirements to be met, as
well as the technology and length of time available to meet those requirements, continue te develop and change. These expenditures or costs for
environmental compliance could have a material adverse effect on our operating subsidiaries’ results of operations, financial condition and profitability.
Certain of our subsidiaries' facilities opetate under a number of federal and state permits, licenses and approvals with terms and conditions containing a
significant number of prescniptive limits and performance standards in order to operate. These permits, licenses, approvals, limits and standards require a
significant amount of monitoring, record keeping and reporting in order to demonstrate compliance with the underlying permit, license, approval, limit or
standard. Non<ompliance or incomplete documentation of our subsidianes’ compliance status may result in the imposition of fines, penalties and injunctive
relief. Additionalty, there may be times when certain of our subsidianes are unable to meet the standards and terms and conditions of our permits, licenses and
approvals due to operational upsets or malfunctions, which may lead to the imposition ot fines and penalties or operating restrictions that may have a
material adverse effect on their ability to operate their facilities and accordingly on our conselidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Referto Note 17, "Commutments and Contingencies,” to the consolidated financial statements for additional discussion of environmental matters affecting
our businesses.

If sufficient Renewable Identification Numbers (RINs) are unavailable for purchase or if our Energy segment’s petroleum business has to pay «
significantly higher price for RINs, or if its petrolenum business is otherwise unable to meet Renewable Fuel Standard mandates, our financial condition
and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

The Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") has promulgated the Renewable Fuel Standards ("RFS"), which requires refiners to either blend
"renewable fuels,” such as cthanol and biodicscl, into their transportation fuels or purchase renewable fuel credits, known as RINs, in licu ofblending Under
the RFS, the volume of renewable fuels that refineries like Coffeyviile and Wynnewood are obligated to blend into their fimshed petroleum products s
adjusted annually by the EPA. The petroleum business is not able to blend the substantial majonty ofits transportation fuels, so it has to purchase RINs on
the open market as well as waiver credits for cellulosic biofuels from the EPA, 1n order to comply with the RFS. The pnce of RINs has been extremely volatile
as the EPA's proposed renewable fuel volume mandates approached and exceeded the "blend wall " The blend wall refers to the point at which the amount of
ethanol blended 1nto the transportation fuel supply exceeds the demand for transportation fiel containing such levels of ethanol. The blend wall 1s generally
considered to be reached when more than 10% ethanol by volume ("E10 gasoline”} is blended into transportation fuel.

In December 2015, 2016, and 2017, the EPA published in the Federal Register final rules establishing the renewable fuel volume mandates for 2016,
2017, and 2018, and the biomass-based diesel volume mandates for 2017, 2018, and 2019, respectively. The volumes included in the EPA's final rules
increased each year, but were lower, with the exception of the volumes for biomass-based diesel, than the volumes required by the Clean Air Act The EPA
uscd 1ts warver authorities to lower the volumes, but its decision to do so for the 2014-2016 compliance years was challenged in the U.S. Count of Appeals for
the District of Columbta Circuit. In July 2017, the court vacated the EPA’s decision to reduce the renewable volume obligation for 2016 under one ofits
waiver authorities, and remanded the rule to the EPA for further reconsideration. The EPA has not yet reproposed the 2016 renewable volume obligations.
The EPA also has articulated 2 policy that high RINs prices incentivize additional investments 1n renewable fuel blending and distnbution infrastructure.

The petroleum business cannot predict the future pnices of RINs or waiver credits. The price of RINs has been extremely volatile over the last year.
Addttionally, the cost of RINs is dependent upon a vanety of factors, which 1nclude the avaiiability of RINs for purchase, the price at which RINs can be
purchased, transportation fucl production levels, the mix of the petroleum business' petroleum products, as well as the fuel blending performed at the
refineries and downstream terminals, all of which can vary significantly from period to period. However, the costs to obtain the necessary number of RINs and
waiver credits could be material, if the pnce for RINs increases. Additionally, because the petroleum business does not produce renewable fuels, increasing
the volume of renewable fucls that must be blended into its products displaces an increasing volume of the refinenies' product pool, potentially resulting 1n
lower earnings and matenally adversely atfecting the petroleum business' cash flows. if the demand for the petroleum business' transportation fiel decreases
as a result of the use of increasing volumes of renewable fuels, increased fuel economy as a result of new EPA fuel economy standards, or other factors, the
impact on its
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business could be matenal. If sufficient RINs are unavailable for purchase, if the petroleum business has to pay a significantly higher price for RINs or 1f the
petroleum busmess 1s otherwise unable to meet the EPA's RFS mandates, 1ts busiess, financial condition and results of operations could be matemnally
adversely atfected.

The price volatility of crude oil and other feedstocks, refined products and utility services may have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Our Energy segment's petroleum business' financial results are primarily atfected by the relationship, or margin, between refined product prices and the
pnees for crude oil and other feedstocks. When the margin between refined product prices and crude o1 and other feedstock prices tightens, the petroleumn
business' eamings, profitability and cash flows are negatively affected. Refining margins historically have been volatile and are likely to continue to be
volatile, as a result of a vanety of factors including fluctuations in prices of crude o1l, other feedstocks and refined products. Continued future volatility in
refimng industry margins may cause a decline 1n the petroleum business’ results of operations, since the margin between refined product prices and crude ol
and other feedstock prices may decrease below the amount needed for the petroleum business to generate net cash flow sufficient for its needs. The effect of
changes in crude oil prices on the petroleum business' results of operations therefore depends in part on how quickly and how fully refined product prices
adjust to reflect these changes. A substantial or prelonged increase in crude o1l prices without a corresponding increase 1n refined product prices, ora
substantial or prolonged decrease 1n refined product prices without a corresponding decrease in crude oil prices, could have a significant negative impact on
our Energy segment's earnings, results of operations and cash flows,

Profitability is also impacted by the ability to purchase crude o1l at a discount to benchmark crude oils, such as WT], as the petroleum business does not
produce any crudc o1l and must purchase all of the crude o1l 1t refines. Crude o1l differentials can fluctuate significantly based upon overall economic and
crude o1l market conditions Adverse changes in crude oil differentials can adversely impact refining margins, eamings and cash flows. In addition, the
petroleum business' purchases of crude oil, although based on WTI prices, have historically been at a discount to WT1 because of the proximity of the
refineries to the sources, exasting logistics infiastructure and quality differences. Any change 1n the sources of crude o1l infrastructure or logistical
improvements or quality differences could result in a reduction of the petroleum business' historical discount to WTI and may result in a reduction of our
Energy segment's cost advantage.

Refining margins are also impacted by domestic and global refining capacity. Downturns in the economy reduce the demand for refined fuels and, 1n
tum, generate excess capacity. In addition, the expansion and construction of refineries domestically and globally can increase refined fuel production
capacity Excesscapacity can adversely impact refining margins, eamings and cash flows. The Arabian Gulf and Far East regions added refiming capacity in
2015,2016 and 2017.

The petreleum business 1s significantly affected by developments 1n the markets in which tt operates. For example, numerous pipeline projects 1n 2014
expanded the connectivity ot'the Cushing and Permuan Basin markets to the gulf coast, resulting 1n a decrease 1n the domestic crude advantage.

Velatile prices for natural gas and electricity also affect the petroleum business' manufacturing and operating costs. Natural gas and electneity prices
have been, and will continue to be, affected by supply and demand for fuel and utility services in both local and regional markets.

Comemodity derivative contracts, particularly with respect to our Energy segment, may limit our potential gains, exacerbate potential losses and involve
other risks.

Our Energy segment’s petroleum business imay cnter into commodity derivatives contracts to mitigate crack spread risk with respect to a portion of its
expected refined products production. However, 1ts hedging arrangements may fail to fully achieve these objectives for a variety of reasons, including its
failure to have adequate hedging contracts, 1f any, 1n effect at any particular time and the failure of its hedging arrangements to produce the anticipated
results. The petroleum business may not be able to procure adequate hedging arrangements due to a vanety of factors Moreover, such transactions may limit
1ts ability to benefit from favorable changes in margins. In addition, the petroleum business' hedging activities may expose 1t to the nisk of financial loss 1n
certain circumstances, imncluding instances in which:

+ the volumes of 1ts actual use of crude o1l or preduction of the applicable refined products 1s less than the volumes subject to the hedging
arrangement;

« accidents, interruptions in transportation, inclement weather or other events cause unscheduled shutdowns or otherwise adversely affect its refinery
orsuppliers or customers,

+ the counterparties to its futures contracts fail te perform under the contracts; or

+ asudden, unexpected event matenally impacts the commodity or crack spread subject to the hedging amangement.

As a result, the effectiveness of CVR Energy's risk mitigation strategy could have a matenal adverse impact on our Energy segment’s financial results
and cash flows.

23




Climate change laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our results of eperations, financial condition, and cash flows.

Chimate change is continuing to receive ever increasing attention worldwide. Many scientists, legislators and others attnbute climate change to
increased levels of greenhouse gases, including carbon dioxide, which could lead to additivnal legislative and regulatory etforts to limit greenhouse gas
cmussions. For example, the focus on emissions could increase costs associated with our Automotive segment's operations, including costs for raw matenals
and transportation.

The EPA regulates greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions under the Clean Aur Act. In October 2009, the EPA finalized a rule requiring certain large emitters
of GHGs to mventory and report their GHG emissions to the EPA. In accordance with the rule, CVR Energy has begun monitoring and reporting its GHG
emussions to the EPA, In May 2010, the EPA finalized the "Greenhouse Gas Tailoring Rule," which established new GHG emaussions thresholds that determine
when stationary sources, such as the refineries and the nitrogen fertilizer plant, must obtain permits under the New Source Review/Prevention of Significant
Deterioration ("PSD") and Title V programs of the tederal Clean Air Act. Under the rule, facilities already subject to PSD and Title V programs that increase
their emissions of GHGs by a significant amount are required to undergo PSD review and to evaluate and implement air pollution control technology, known
as "best available control technology," to reduce GHG emissions.

In the meantime, in December 2010, the EPA reached a settlement agreement with numerous parties under which 1t agreed to promulgate NSPS to
regulate GHG emissions from petroleum refineries and electnic utilities by November 2012, In September 2014, the EPA indicated that the petroleum refining
sector nsk rule, proposed in June 2014 to address air toxics and volatile organic compounds from refineries, may make it unnecessary for the EPA to regulate
GHG emussions from petroleum refineries at this time. The final rule, which was published in the Federal Register on December 1, 2015, places additional
emission control requirements and work practice standards on FCCUE5, storage tanks, flares, coking units and other equipment at petrolenm refineries.
Therefore, we expect that the EPA will not be 1ssuing NSPS standards to regulate GHG from the refineries at this time but that it may do so in the future.

The current administration has sought to implement a new or modified policy with respect to climate change. For example, the administration announced
its intention to withdraw the United States from the Paris Climate Agreement, though the earliest possible effective date of withdrawal for the United States is
November 2020. If efforts to address climate change resume, at the federal legislative level, this could mean Congressional passage of legislation adopting
some form of federal mandatory GHG emission reduction, such as a nationwide cap-and-trade program. It 1s also possible that Congress may pass altemative
climate change bills that do not mandate a nationwide cap-and-trade program and nstead focus on promoting renewable energy and energy efficiency.

In addition to potential federal legislation, a number of states have adopted regional greenhouse gas initiatives to reduce carbon dioxide and other GHG
enuissions In 2007, a group of Midwest states, including Kansas (where CVR Energy has a refinery and nitrogen ferulizer facility), formed the Midwestern
Greenhouse Gas Reduction Accord, which calls for the development of a cap-and-trade system to control GHG emissions and for the inventory of such
emussions. However, the individual states that have signed on to the accord must adopt laws or regulations that implement the trading scheme before it
becomes effective. To date, Kansas has taken no meaningful action to implement the accord, and it's unclear whether Kansas intends to do so in the future

Alternatively, the EPA may take further steps to regulate GHG emissions, although at this time it is unclear to what extent the EPA will pursue climate
change regulation. The implementation of EPA regulations and/or the passage of federal or state chmate change legislation may result in increased costs to
(t} operate and maintain certain of our subsidianes’ facilities, (i1) install new emission controls on certain of our subsidiaries' facilities and (1ii) administer and
manage any GHG emissions program. Increased costs associated with compliance with any current or future legislation or regulation of GHG emissions, 1fit
occurs, may have a matenal adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

In addition, climate change legislation and regulations may result in increased costs not only for our business but also users of our refined and fertihizer
products, thereby potentially decreasing demand for our products. Decreased demand for our products may have a material adverse effect on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows,

Because the scope of future laws in this area 15 uncertain, we cannot predict the potential effect of such laws on our future financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows,
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Certain of our subsidiaries, primarily Federal-Mogul and Viskase, have operations in foreign countries which expose them to risks related to economic
and political conditions, currency fluctuations, import/export restrictions, regulatory and other risks.

Certain of our subsidiaries are global businesses and have manufactuning and distribution facilities in many countries. International operations are
subjcct to certain nisks including:

= exposure to local economic conditions;

* exposure to local political cenditions (including the nsk of seizure of assets by foreign govemments),

» currency exchange rate fluctuations {including, but not limated to, material exchange rate fluctuations, such as devaluations) and curmrency controls;

« export and import restrnictions;

»  restrictions on ability to repatnate foreign earnings;

+ laborunrest; and . _

+ compliance with U.S laws such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and local laws prehibiting inappropnate payments,

The hkelihood of such occurrences and their potential effect on our businesses are unpredictable and vary from country-te-country

Certain of our businesses’' operating entities report their financial condition and results of operations in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. The
reported results of these entities are translated into U.S. Dollars at the applicable exchange rates for reporting 1n our consolidated financial statements. As a
result, fluctuations 1n the U.S. Dollar against foreign currencies will affect the value at which the results of these entities are included within our consolidated
results. Our businesses are exposed to a risk of loss from changes in foreign exchange rates whenever they, or one of their forcign subsidiaries, enters into a
purchase or sales agreement in a currency other than 1ts functional currency Such changes in exchange rates could affect our businesses' financial condition
or results of operations.

Certain of our businesses have substantial indebtedness, which could restrict their business activities and/or could subject them to significant interest rate

risk.

Our subsidiaries' inability 1o generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy their debt obligations, or to refinance their debt obligations on commercially
reasonable terms, would have a matenal adverse effect on their businesses, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, covenants in debt
instruments could limit their ability to engage in ccrtain transactions and pursuc their business strategies, which could adversely affect Liquidity,

Our subsidianes' indebtedness could.

+ Lt their ability to borrow money for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements or other corporate purposes, guarantee
additional debt or 1ssue redeemable, convertible of preferred equity,

+ limit their ability to make distributions or prepay 1ts debt, incur liens, enter into agreements that restnct distnbutions from restricted subsidiaries, sell
or otherwise dispose of assets (including capital stock of subsidianes), enter into transactions with affiliates and merger conschidate cor sell
substantially all of its assets;

+ require them to dedicate a substantial portion of its cash flow to payments on indebtedness, which would reduce the amount of cash flow available
to fund working capital, captal expenditures. product development, and other corporate requirements;

* 1increase thetr vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry condstions; and

+ limt therr ability to respond to business opportunities.

Certain of our subsidiaries' indebtedness accrue interest at vanable rates. To the extent market interest rates nise, the cost of their debt would 1ncrease,
adverscly atfecting their financial condition, results of operations and cash flows

Certain disruptions in supply of and changes in the competitive environment for raw materials could adversely affect the operating margins and cash flows
of certain of our businesses.

Certain of our subsidiarics purchase a broad range of matenals, components, and finished parts and may alse use a significant amount of energy, both
electricity and natural gas, in the production of its products. A significant disruption in the supply of these materials, supplies, and energy or the failure of a
supplier with whom our businesses have established a single source supply relationship could decrease production and shipping levels, materially increase
operating costs and matenally adversely affect profit margins Shortages of matenals or interruptions 1n transportation systems, labor strkes, work stoppages,
or other interruptions, or difficultics 1n the ecmployment of labor or transportation in the markets where our businesses purchase matenal, components, and
supplies for the production of products or where the products are produced, distibuted or sold, whether as a result of labor stnfe, war, farther acts of terrorism
or otherwise, in each case may adversely affect profitability.

In recent peniods there have been significant fluctuations in the prices of aluminum, copper, lead, nickel, platinum, resins, steel, other base metals and
energy which have had and may continue to have an unfavorable effect on certain of our
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businesses. Any continued fluctuations in the pnce or availability of energy and matenals may have an adverse effect on the results of operations or financial
condition. To address increased costs associated with these market forces, a number of suppliers have implemented surcharges on existing fixed price
contracts. Without the surcharge, some suppliers claim they will be unable to provide adequate supply. Competitive and marketing pressures may lumit our
subsidiaries' ability to pass some of the supply and matertal cost increases on to their customers and may prevent them from doing so 1n the future.
Furthermore, the customers are generally not obligated to accept price increases passed on to them. This inability to pass on price increases to customers
when matenal pnices increase rapidly or to significantly higher than historic levels could adversely atfect operating margins and cash flow, possibly resulting
in lower operating income and profitability.

A significant labor dispute involving any of our businesses or one or more of their customers or suppliers or that could otherwise affect our operations
could adversely affect our financial performance.

A substantial number of our operating subsidiaries’ employees and the employces of its largest customers and suppliers are represented by labor unions
under collective bargaining agreements. There can be no assurances that future negotiations with the unions will be resolved favorably or that our
subsidianies will not experience a work stoppage or disruption that could adversely affect its financial condition, operating results and cash flows. A labor
dispute involving any of our businesses, particularly within our Automotive and Energy segments, any of its customers or suppliers or any other suppliers to
1ts customers or that otherwise affects cur subsidianics” operations, or the inabifity by 1t, any of 1ts customers or suppliers or any other suppliers to its
customers to negotiate, upon the expiration of a labor agreement, an extension of such agreement or a new agreement on satisfactory terms could adversely
affect our financial condition, operating results and cash flows. [n addition, if any of our subsidiaries’ significant customers experience a material work
stoppage, the customer may halt or hmit the purchase of its products. This could require certain businesses to shut down or significantly reduce production at
facilities relating to such products, which could adversely aftect our business.

Federal-Mogul kas pension obligations and ather post-employment benefits that conld adversely affect its operating margins and cash flaws.

The automotive industry, like other industries, continues to be affected by the nsing cost of providing pension and other postemployment benefits. In
addition, Federal-Mogul sponsors certain defined benefit plans worldwide that are underfunded and will require cash payments. if the petrformance of the
assets 1n the pension plans does not meet our ¢xpectations, ot other actuarial assumptions are moditied, Federal-Mogul's required contributions may be
higher than it expects.

The highly cyclical nature of certain industries in which we operate, in particular the raifcar industry, may result in lower revenues during economic
downturns or due to other factors. - P e e

The North American railcar market has been, and our Railcar segment expects it to continue to be, mghly cyclical, resulting in volatility in demand for
1ts products and services. Many of our Railcar segment’s customers operate in cychical markets, such as the energy, chemical agricultural, food and
construction industries, which are susceptible to macroeconomic downtums. Weakness 1n certain sectors of the U.S. economy may make 1t more ditficult for
our Radcar scgtment to scll or lease certain types of railcars The cyclical nature of the railcar industry may result in lower revenues during economic or
industry downturns due to decreased demand for both new and replacement railcars and railcar products and lower demand for railcars on lease. Decreased
demand could result in lower new raitcar volumes for sale and lease, increased downtime, reduced sale prices and/or lease rates, fewer lease renewals and
decreased cash flow for our Railear segment.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
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Item 2. Properties.

Holding Company and Investment

Icahn Enterpnses, Icahn Enterpnses Holdings and our Investment segment operations are headquartered in New York, New York

Automotive
Federal-Mogul

Federal-Mogul's world headquarters is located in Southfield, Michigan, which 1s leased office space. Federal-Mogul's operations include 256
manufactunng facilities, technical centers, distribution and warehouse centers, and sales and administration office facilities worldwide. Approximately 58%
of the facilities are leased, the majonty of which are distrtbution centers and sales and administration offices. Federal-Mogul owns the remainder ofthe
facilities. Federal-Mogul has also invested globally in multiple joint ventures, which have manufacturing locations in Turkey and China. Federal-Mogul
belicves that substantially all of its facilities are in good condition and have sufficient capacity to meet 1ts current and expected manutacturing and
distribution needs.

Teahn Awtomotive

Icahn Automeotive 1s headquartered in Kennesaw, Georgia, which 1s leascd office space. Icahn Automotive's operations include 2,183 store locations and
27 distnbutions centers throughout the United States, of which approximately 50% are teased and 40% are franchised. Icahn Automotive owns the remainder
of 1ts factlities.

Energy

CVR Energy is headquartered in Sugar Land, Texas, which is leased office space. Additionally, other administrative office space is leased 1n Kansas
City, Kansas. CVR Energy's operations mciude owned pnincipal properties as follows:

Location Acres Use

Coffeyville, KS . 440 il refirery, fertilizer plant and office buildings
Wynnewood. OK 400 Onl refinery, refined o1l storage and office buildings
East Dubuque, IL ( 210 - Fetilizer plant and fertibizor storage

Cushing, OK 138 Crude o1l storage

Cowley County, KS 70 Crude oil storage

Montgomery County, KS 50 Crude o1l storage

CVR Energy also leases additional crude o1l storage facilities in Oklahoma.

CVR Energy's crude o1l storage facilities have a combined capacity of approximately 6.4 million barrels of crude o1l. [n addition to crude o1l storage,
CVR Energy owned over 4.6 multion barrels of combined refined products and feedstocks storage capacity. CVR Energy's nitrogen fertilhizer business has the
capacity to store approximately 160,000 tons of UAN and 80,000 tons of ammonia

CVR Energy believes that its owned and leased facilities are sufficient for its eperating needs.
Railear

ARI 1s headquartered in St. Charles, Missour, which is feased office space. ARI's operations include owned manufacturing facilities in Paragouid
Arkansas; Marmaduke, Arkansas; Jackson, Missoun; Kennett, Missoun; and Longview, Texas ARI's operations alse include eight railcar services facilities
and eleven mobitle repair and munt repair shop facilities where it provides railear repair and field services. Six ofthe railcar services facilities are owned and
the remaining two are leased.

Gaming

Tropicana 1s hcadquartered 1n Las Vegas, Nevada, which is leased office space Tropicana's operations include a diversified, multi-junsdictional
collection of casino gaming properties consisting of eight casino facilities featuring approximately 399,000 square feet of gaming space and 5 800 hotel
rooms. The eight casino facilities Tropicana operates include two casinos in Nevada and one 1n cach of Indiana, Louisiana, Mississippi, Missoun, New Jersey
and Aruba. In addition, TER owns an idled casino property in Atlantic City, New Jersey

27




Metals

PSC Metals 1s headquantered 1n Mayfield Heights, Ohio, which is leased oflice space PSC Metals has additional administrative offices located in
Nashville, Tennessee and North Olmsted, Ohio. PSC Metals' operations consist of 31 recyching yards, three secondary plate storage and distnbution centers,
two secondary pipe storage and distribution centers and two auto parts recycling warehouses located throughout the Midwestern and Southeastern United
States.

Mining

Ferrous Resources is headquartered 1n Belo Honzonte, Brazil, which 1s a leased office space. Ferrous Resources' operations consist of six iron mineral
resource properties in Brazil.

Food Packaging

Viskase 1s headguartered in Lombard, Illino1s. Viskasc's opetations include ¢leven manufacturing facilitics, six distribution centers and three service
centers throughout North Amenica. Europe, South Amenca and Asia

Real Estate

Our Real Estate segment 1s headquartered in New York, New York. Our Real Estate segment's operations consist of 12 commercial rental real estate
properties in the United States. Our Real Estate segment's operations also include development properties as well as golfand club eperations in Cape Cod,
Massachusetts and Vero Beach, Florida.

Home Fashion

WPH is headquartered in New York, New York WPH's operations include a manufactuning and distnbution facility in Chipley, Flonda and a
manufacturing facility in Bahrain. both of which are owned facilities. WPH also owns office and store space 1n Valley. Alabama and Lumberton, North
Carolina where 1t operates two outlet stores, and leases additional space for stores and office space primanly throughout the southemn United States.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are, and will continue to be, subject to litigation from time to time in the ordinary coursc of our business. We also incorporate by reference into this
Part [, [tem 3 of this Report. the information regarding the lawsuits and proceedings descnibed and referenced tn Note [ 7, "Commitments and Contingencies,”
to the consolidated financial statements as set forth in Item 8 of this Report.

Itemn 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART 11

Hem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Security Holder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information

Icahn Enterprises’ depositary units are traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market ("NASDAQ") under the symbol “IEP.” The range of high and low
sales pnices for our depositary units for cach quarter during 2017 and 2016 are as follows’

2017 High Low
First Quarter ’ - . $ 639 3 5047
Second Quarter 53 85 47 06
Third Quarter ' ‘ Co ’ o . 56.40- 49,13
Fourth Quarter 59.88 51.01
2016 7 High Low
First Quarter g : . . % 6763 % 4250
Sccond Quarter 63.83 51.01
Third Quaster - ‘ ( oo ' o : C 6050 . 4708 .
Fourth Quarter 64.80 4542
Holders of Record

As of December 31, 2017, there were approximately 2,094 record holders of Icahn Enterprises’ depositary umts including multiple beneficial holders at
depositories, banks and brokers listed as a single record holder in the street name of each respective depository, bank or broker.

There were no repurchases of Icahn Enterpnses’ depositary units dunng 2017 or 2016
Distributions

On February 27, 2018, the Board of Directors of the gencral partner of Ieahn Enterpnises declared a quarterly distnbution in the amount of $1.75 per
depositary unit, which will be paid on or about April 16, 2018 to depositary unitholders of record at the close of business on March 12, 2018. Depositary
unitholders will have until April 5, 2018 to make an election to receive erther cash or additional depositary units, 1f a holder does not make an election, it
will automatically be deemed to have elected to recerve the dividend 1n cash. Deposuary unitholders who elect to recetve additional depositary units will
recerve umits valued at the volume weighted average trading price of the units on NASDAQ dunng the 5 consecutive trading days ending Apnl 12, 2018. No
fractional depositary units will be issued pursuant to the distnbution payment. Icahn Enterprises will make a cash payment in lieu of 1ssuing fractional
depositary units to any holders electing to receive depositary units. Any holders that would only be eligible to receive a fraction of a depositary unit based
on the above calculation will recerve a cash payment.

Dunng each ¢f 2017 and 2016, we declared four quarterly distnbutions aggregating $6 00 per depositary unit. Depositary unitholders were given the
option to make an election to recerve the distnbutions 1n either cash or additional depositary unirs, 1f a holder did not make an election, it was automaucally
deemed to have clected to recerve the distnbutions in cash,

Dunng 2017 and 2016, Mr. Icahn and his affiliates elected to receive thewr proportionate share of these distributions in depositary units Mr. Icahn and
his affiliates owned approximately 91.0% of Icahn Enterprises' outstanding depositary units as of December 31, 2017 Mr. Icahn and his affiliates have
indicated that 1t 1s their present intention to elect to receive a majonty of their proportionate share of future distnbutions 1n depositary units,

The declaration and payment of distributions 1s reviewed quartetly by Icahn Enterprises GP's board of directors based upon a review of our balance sheet
and cash flow, the ratio of current assets to current liabilities, our expected capital and liquidity requirements, the provisions of our partnership agreement
and provisions 1n our financing arrangements governing distabutions, including the indentures governing the senior notes, and keeping 1n mind that hmited
pariners subject to U S federal income tax have recognized income on our camings even if they do not receive distnbutions that could be used to satisfy any
resulting tax obligations. The payment of future distributions will be determined by the beard of directors quarterly, based upon the factors described above
and other factors that it deems relevant at the time that declaration ofa distribution 1s considered. Payments of distributions are subject to certain restrictions,
including certain restrictions on our subsidiaries which limit their ability to distnbute dividends to us. There can be no assurance as to whether or 1n what
amounts any future distnbutions might be paid.
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Rights Offering

In January 2017, lcahn Enterpnises commenced a rights offering entitling holders of the nghts to acquire newly issued depository units of icahn
Enterpnses. The rights offermg, which expired on February 22, 2017, was fully subscribed with total basic subscription nghts and over-subscription nghts
being exercised resulting in a total of 11,171,104 depositary units issued on March 1, 2017 foraggregate proceeds of $600 mullion. Affihiates of Mr Icahn
fully exercised ali of the basic subscription rights and over-subscniption nights allocated to them in the rights offering aggregating 10,525,105 additional
depositary units.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

During the first quarter of 2017, the board of directors of the general partner of Icahn Enterprises unanimously approved and adopted the Icahn
Enterpnises L.P. 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan {the "2017 Incentive Plan™), which became effective during the first quarter of2017 subject to the approval
by holders of 2 majonty of Icahn Enterprises depositary units. The 2017 Incentive Plan permuts us to issue depositary units and grant options, restnicted units
ot other unit-based awards to all of our, and our aftiliates', cmployees, consultants, members and partners, as well as the three non-employee directors of our
general partner One million of Icahn Enterprises’ depositary units are initially available under the 2017 Incentive Plan. During the year ended December 31,
2017, lcahn Enterprises distnibuted 7,902 deposttary units with respect to the 2017 Incentive Plan.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following tables contain our setected histonical conselidated financial data, which should be read 1n conjunction with our conselidated financial
statements and the related notes thereto, and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained 11 this
Report. The selected financial data as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the years ended December 31, 2047,2016 and 2015 have been derived from
our audited consolidated financial statements at those dates and for those penods, contained ¢lsewhere in this Report. The histonical selected financial data as
of December 31,2015, 2014 and 2013 and for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 have been denved from cur audited consolidated financial
statements at those dates and for those periods, not contaned in this Report, The comparability of our selected financial data presented below is affected by,
among other factors, (i) the performance of the Investment Funds, (11) vanous acquisitions, primanly 1n our Automotive segment during 2017, 2016 and 2013,
{11i) dispositions, pnmarly 1n our Railcar, Gaming and Real Estate segments in 2017 (iv) impatrment charges and (v) the enactment of tax legislation n the
United States in 2017.

Icahn Enterprises Icahn Enterprises Holdings
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015 2914 2013 2017 2016 015 2014 013
{1n millions, except per unit data) (1n mulbions)
Statement of Operations Data:
Net safes o $ 17,303 0§ 531 0§ 14604 3 (8072 % 17,785 S 17303 0§ 1551 it § 604 F 18072 F 17,785
Other revenues from operations 1,827 1,958 1,386 1.250 988 1,827 1,058 1,386 1,250 988
Net gain (loss} from investment ‘ o ’ ) T . .
activities: 304 {£,373) 98Ty (564) 1,694 - 304 £1,373) 987y . (564) L6094
Gain (loss) on disposition of assets 2,166 14 40 23 (56) 2,166 14 40 25 (56)
Net income (foss) 2,591 (2,220} (2127 (329} 2,444 2,593 2,219} -~ (2,126} {528) 2.444
Less Net income (loss) atiributable
to non-controlling interests 161 (1.092) {933) {156) 1,419 161 (1,092} (933) (156) 1,416
Net income (loss) attributable to- ’ o o - s ; T :
Tcahn Enterprises/feabny Enterprises ’ .
Holdings $ 2430 % {128y 8§ (1,i1%4) 3 (373) $ 1025 0§ 2,432 % {1127 % (1,193) § {372) § 1,025
Nzt income (loss) atmibutable to
lcahn Enterprises’fcahn Enterprises
Holdings allocable to
Limited partners $ 2382 § (L106) & (I,170y § (366) $ 1,005 $ 2408 $ (1,116) § (§,I81y § (368} § 1.01F
General partner 48 (22) 24) (7N 20 24 (1 (12} {4} 10
$ 2430 § (1,128) $ (1,194} § (373 $ 025 0§ 2432 % (L12T) % (1193} §  (372)° § 1.025
Basic income (loss) per LP unit $ 1480 $ (807) $ (929) 3 (308) % 914
Basic weighted average LP units .
outstanding 161 137 £26 119 110

uluted income (loss) per LP unit % 14.80 $ (807) $ (929 § (3.08) % 9.07
Diluted weighted average LF units

autstanding 161 137 126 He 111
Cash distributions declared per LP
umt 3 600 3 & 00 5 6 00 3 6 00 ] 450
December 31, December 31,
2017 it 2615 2014 2013 017 2016 2018 2014 2013
(1n malbons) (in millions)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,682 3 1,833 £ 2,078 £ 2,908 $ 3257 S 1,682 3 1,833 $ 2078 £ 2,808 $ 3,257
Investments £0,369. . 9381 15,351 14,480 12261 10369 9,881 15,351 14,480 . 12,261 -
Property, plant and equipment, net 9,701 10,122 9,535 8,055 8,077 9,701 10,122 9,535 8,055 8,077
Taotal assets ‘ 30,801 33371 36,407 - 35,743 31,706 31,833 33,399 36.434 35,769 31,7237
Deferred tax hability 924 1613 1,201 1,255 1.394 924 L6t3 1,201 1,258 1.394
Due to brokers 1,057 3,725 7317 5197 2,203 1,657 3,725 7317 5197 - 2,203
Post-cmployment beaefit habiliey 1.159 1,180 1,224 1,391 1,111 1,159 1,180 1.224 1,391 1,111
Debt : [JAE.53 11,119 12,594 E1,541 9,256 11,19¢ 11,122 12,597 11,544 9.251

Equuty atiributable o Icahn

Enterprises/Icabn Enterprises
Holdings 5.106 2.154 3.987 5443 6.092 5,133 2,179 4,011 5,460 6.114
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Itera 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion is intended to assist you in understanding our present business and the results of operations together with our present
financial condition. This section should be read in conpunction with our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes contained in this
Report.

Executive Overview
Introduction

Icahn Enterprises L.P. (“Icahn Enterprises™) is a2 master limted pannership formed in Delaware on February 17, 1987, Icahn Entesprises Holdings L.P
(“Icahn Enterprises Holdings™) is a limited partnership formed in Delaware on February 17, 1987 References to "we,” "our" or "us" herein include both Icahn
Enterprises and {calin Enterprises Holdings and their subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires.

Tcahn Enterprises owns 2 99% limited partner interest in Icahn Enterpnises Holdings L.P. ("lcahn Enterpnses Holdings"). icahn Enterpnses Holdings and
1ts subsidianes own substantiaily ali ofthe assets and liabiiities of Icahn Enterprises and conduct substantially all of its operations. Therefore, the financial
results of Icahn Enterpnscs and Ieahn Enterprises Holdings are substantially the same, with differences relating primanly to allocations to the general and
Limited partners We do not discuss Icahn Enterprises and Icahn Enterprises Holdings separately unless we believe 1t is necessary to an undemstanding of the
businesses.

We are a diversified holding company owning subsidiaries cumrently engaged in the following continuing operating businesses: Investment,
Automotive, Energy, Railcar, Gaming, Metals, Mining, Food Packaging, Real Estate and Home Fashien. We also report the results of our Holding Company,
which includes the results of certain subsidiaries of Icahn Enterprises and Icahn Enterprises Holdings (unless otherwise noted), and investment activity and
cxpenscs associated with our Holding Company

Significant Transactions and Developments

Significant transactions and developments affecting our results of operations and liquidaty for the year ended December 31, 2017 are summanzed as
follows:

Duspasttions of Assets. During the year ended December 31,2017, we sold American Railcar Leasing, LLC ("ARL") and its lease fleet of more than 34.000
ratlcars. Aggregate net proceeds from these transactions were approximately $1.8 billion. resulting 1n an aggregate pretax gain on disposition of assets of
approximately $!.7 billion recorded by our Railcar segment. Additionally, during 20{7, our Real Estate segment sold 2 development property in Las Vegas
Nevada for $600 mdiion, including cash proceeds from the sale 0f$225 miilion and two tranches of seller finaacing totaling $375 million, and resulting in a
pretax gam on disposition of assets of $456 mullion recorded by our Real Estate segment. Our Real Estate segment also sold additional properties duning
2017, pnmanly within its rental operations, resulting 1n an additional pretax gain on disposition of assets aggregating $40 mullion.

Enactment of Tax Legisiation In December 2017 tax legislation was enacted in the United States, significantly revising certain U S. corporate mcome tax
provisions, including a reduction of the U.S. corporate tax rate from 35% to 21% and the imposition of a deemed repatriation tax on unremitted foreign
eamings, among other items.

Icahn Enterprises Rights Offering. In January 2017, Icahn Enterpnses commenced a rights offering entitling holders of the rights to acquire newly issued
depositary units ot {cahn Enterprises, resuluing in aggregate proceeds of $600 million,

Investment in Investment Funds. During the year ended December 31, 2017, our Holding Company invested an additional $1 3 billion in the Investment
Funds, net of redemptions.

Refinancing of Senior Unsecured Notes During the year ended December 31, 2017, we issued approximately $2.5 billion in aggregate principal amount of
senior unsecured notes to refinance our existing senior unsecured notes due 2017 and 2019,

32




Results of Operations

Consolidated Financial Results

Our operating businesses comprise consohidated subsidiaries which operate 1n various industries and are managed on a decentralized basis. Results of
operations for our operating businesses primarily consist of net sales of various products, services revenue, casino related operations and leasing of certain
assets. Due to the structure and nature of our business, we primanily discuss the results of operations by individual reporting segment in order to better
understand our conselidated operating performance. Certain other financial information 1s discussed on a consolidated basis following our segment
discussion. In addition to the summarized financial results below, refer to Note 13, "Segment and Geographic Reporting,” to the consolidated financial
statements for a reconciliation of each of our reporting segment's results of operations to our consolidated results

The comparability of our summanzed consolidated financial results presented below is affected by, among other factors, (1) the performance of the
Investment Funds, (i1) various acquisitions, primanly in our Autometive segment during 2017, 2016 and 2015, (1n} dispositions of assets, primanly in our
Railcar, Gaming and Real Estate segments 1 2017, (1v) impairment charges and (v) the enactment of tax legislation in the United States in 2017. Refer to our
respective segment discussions and "Other Consolidated Results of Operations,” below for further discussion.

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Ieahn

Revenues Net Income (Loss) Enterprises
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015
(in milhons)
Investment 3 297 8 1223y & (865} $- 18 % (1487 § (1665} & 8¢ §. (509 . 76y
Automotive 10,528 9928 7,853 626 77 (A52) 615 53 (299}
Encrgy ’ 5,918 4,764 5,442 275 (604} 7 229 (327 25
Railcar 2,300 962 9438 1,267 183 213 1,214 150 137
Gaming, - 360 948 g1t 52 {95) 38 39 (a9y . - 26 :
Metals 408 269 365 (44} 20) (51) {44) 20 51}
Mining ’ 93 63 28 16 24 {195) 9 19y - . (150):
Food Packaging 393 332 337 (6 8 (3) (5) 6 {3)
Real Estate 590 88 131 519 12 61 519 12 T8l
Home Fashion 183 196 194 (20) (12) 4} 20} (12} (4)
Halding Company 68 21 28 (206) (25%) {176} (206) (258) {176)

$ 21744 % 16348 § 15272 § 2591 % (2,220) % (2,127} § 2430 § (1,128) § (1,194)

Investment

We invest our propnetary capital through vanous private investment funds (the "lnvestment Funds"). As of December 31,2017 and 2016, we had
investments with a fair market value of approximately $3.0 billion and §1.7 billion, respectively, in the Investment Funds. As of December 31,2017 and
20186, the total fair market value of investments in the Investment Funds made by Mr Icahn and his affiliates (excluding us) was approximately $4.4 billion
and $3 7 billion, respectively.

Our Investment segment's results of operations are reflected 1n net income (loss) on the consolidated staterments of operations. Cur Investment segment's
net income {loss) is driven by the amount of funds allocated to the Investment Funds and the performance of the underlying investments in the Investment
Funds. Future funds allocated to the Investment Funds may increase or decrease based on the contributions and redemptions by cur Holding Company and
by Mr. [cahn and his affiliates. Additionally, historical performance results of the Investment Funds are not indicative of future results as past market
conditions, investment opportunities and investment decisions may not occur in the tuture, Changes in general market conditions coupled with changes in
exposure to short and long positions have significant impact on our Investment segment's results of operations and the comparability of results of operations
year over year and as such, future results of operations will be impacted by our future exposures and future market conditions, which may not be consistent
with prior trends. Refer to the "Investment Segment Liquidity" section of our "Liquidity and Capital Resources” discussion for additional informatien
regarding our Investment scgment’s exposure as of Decemnber 31, 2017,



For the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, our [nvestment Funds' returns were 2.1%, (20.3)% and (18.0)%, respectively Our [nvestment
Funds' retumns represent a weighted-average composite of the average returns, net of expenses. The following table sets forth the performance attribution for
the Investment Funds' retumns:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2016 2015
Long positions R ‘ T sA% . 163% . . (LB.D0%
Short positions (3.0)% (34.1)% 0.8 %
Other N 3% - R5% (0%
2.1% (20.3%% (18.0)%

The following table presents net income (loss) for our Investment segment for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 20135,

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
Long pesitions -~ . o s 2,035 '§ 552§ {1,585)
Short positions (1,787) (1,894) 5
Other < . o Co - > Casey (145 T (8sy
5 118 s (1487) 3 (1,665)

Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

For 2017, the Investment Funds' positive performance was driven by net gains in their long posttions, offset 1n part by net losses in their short positions
The positive performance of our Investment segment's long positions was driven by gans from two consumer, non-cyclical sector investments, a basic
matenals sector investment and an energy sector investment aggregating approximately $1 5 billion. The aggregate pertormance of investments with gamns
across various other sectors accounted for the additional positive performance of our Investment segment's long positions, offset in part by the aggregate
performance of investments with losses in the financial sector. Losses in short positions were attributable to the negative performance of broad market hedges
of approximately $2.1 billion and the negative performance of various other short positions across multiple sectors. Losses in short positions were offset in
part by the positive performance of three short positions in the consumer, cyclical sector aggregating $620 mullion.

For 2016, the Investment Funds' negative performance was dnven by net losses in their short positions, offset in part by
nct gains 1n their long positions, Losses 1n short positions were attributable to the negative performance of broad market hedges
ofapproximately $ 1.5 billion, as well as the negative performance of other short positions, pnmarily in the consumer, cyclical sector. The positive
performance of our Investment segment's long positions was driven by gains from a certain basic materials sector investment of 5561 mullion. The aggregate
performance of investments with gains across vanous other sectors were offset by the aggregate performance of investments with losses primarily in the
technology and consumer non-cyclical sectors.

Years Ended December 3 016 and 20135

For 2016, the Investment Funds' negative performance was dnven by net losses in their short positions, offset in part by
net gains in their long positions. Losses in short pasitions were attributable to the negative performance of broad market hedges
of approximately $1 5 billion, as well as the negative performance of other short positions, primarily in the consumer, cyclical sector The positive
performance of our Investment segment’s long positions was driven by gains from a certain basic materials sector investment of 8561 million. The aggregate
performance of investments with gains across vanous other sectors were offset by the aggregate performance of investments with losses primarily in the
technology and consumer non-cyclical sectors.

For 2015, the Investment Funds' negative performance was driven by net losses 1n their long positions. The negative performance of our Investment
segment's long positions was driven by losses from two energy sector investments and a certain basic matenals sector investment aggregating approximately
$2.0 billion. This was offset in part by the performance of investments with gains pnmarily i the communications and consumer, non-cyclical sectors
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Automeative

Cur Automotive segment's results of operations are generally driven by the manufactunng and distribution of automotive parts and are affected by the
relative strength of global vehicle production levels, global vehicle sales levels, automotive part replacement trends, geopolitical risk and foreign currencies,
among other factors. Acquisitions in recent years within our Automotive segment, including our acquisitions of IEH Auto Parts Holding LLC ("IEH Auto")
and TRW's vaivetrain business in 2015, The Pep Boys - Manny, Moe & Jack ("Pep Boys") in 2016, the franchise businesses of Precision Tune Auto Care
{"Precision Tune") and American Driveline Systems, the franchisor of AAMCO and Cotiman Transmission service centers ("American Dniveline™), in 2017
and vanous other businesses in recent years, provided operating synergies, added new product lines, strengthened distnbution channels and enhanced our
Automotive segment's ability to better service ils customers.

With our acquisition of Pep Boys 1n 2016, our Automotive segment's results of operations include automotive services operations, which has been
followed by additional acquisitions of automotive services businesses in 2016 and 2017 However, such automotive services operations did not matenially
impact our Automotive segment’s consolidated results of operations. For 2017 and 2016, automotive services revenues were $487 mullion and $422 million,
respectively. The following is a discussion of our Autemetive segment’s results of operations from its manufacturing and distribution operations

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
{1n milliens)
Net sales , B S L8 9957 8 9420 . § . 7.189
Cost of goods sold 8,110 7,658 6,577
Gross margin - . ' 3 . 1847 3 1,762 § 1,212

Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

Net sales for our Automotive segment for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased by $337 mullion (6%} as compared to the comparable prior year
period. The increase was due to organic sales volume increases of $300 mutlion and sales volume increases due to acquisitions aggregating $226 mullion.
Increases frem acquisitions was impacted pnmanly from the inclusion of the results of Pep Boys for the full twelve months 1n 2017 compared to eleven
maonths in the comparable prior year period, as well as from various acquisitions by Icahn Automotive during 2017. In addition, increases were impacted by a
$58 million favorable effect of foreign currency exchange. The increases in net sales were offset in part by other decreases, including from commercial actions
and customer pricing.

Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased by $452 million {6%) as compared to the comparabie prior year period The increase
was primanly due to volume increases of $363 mullion attnibutable to organic sales volume increases and acquisitions, as discussed above, $22 million of
additional cost from net performance and $67 mullion from the unfavorable effect of fore1gn currency exchange.

Gross margin on net sales for the year ended Decernber 31, 2017 increased by $85 miilion (5%) as compared to the comparable prior vear period. Gross
margin as a percentage of net sales was flat at 19% for the yearended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The inclusion of the results of Pep Boys,
whose product sales margins are higher than those of Federal-Mogul's, as well as the favorable effects ofhigher sales volumes, net of changes tn product mix,
had a positive impact on gtoss margin as a percentage of net sales. However, this positive impact was offset by unfavorable effects of net performance, foreign
currency exchange and other.

Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2013

Net sales for our Automotive segment for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by approximately $1.6 billion (21%) as compared to the
comparable pnor year pertod. Of the increase, approximately $1.5 billion was attributable to several acquisitions made dunng 2016, pnmarily the acquisition
of Pep Boys in February 2016, and $305 million pertained to other sales volume increascs that was primanly duc to the inclusion of [cahin Automotive for the
full year 2016 compared to only seven months in 2015 The sales volume increases were offset in part by $128 nullion decrease, primanly due to an
unfavorable effect of foreign currency exchange

Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by approximately $1.1 billion (16%) as compared to the comparable prior year
penod. The increase was primarily due to the inclusion of the results of Pep Boys and IEH Auto, which were acquired 1n February 2016 and June 2015,
respectively, as well as certain other acquisitions within our Automotive segment. These increases were offset in part by savings from improved efliciencies,
ncluding benefits of favorable matenal and service sourcing and productivity, as well as a tavorable effect of foreign currency exchange
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Gross margin on net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $550 million (45%) as compared to the comparable prior year penod.
Gross margin as a percentage of net sales was 19% and 16% for the yearended December 31,2016 and 20135, respectively. The increase over the respective
periods was due to the inclusion of the results of Pep Boys and LEH Auto, whose product sales margins are higher than those of Federal-Mogul's, as well as
savings from improved efficiencies, including benefits of favorable matenal and service sourcing and productivity

Energy

Our Energy segment is primarily engaged 1n the petroleum refining and nitrogen fertilizer manufacturing. The petroleum business accounted for
approximately 95%, 93% and 95% of our Energy segment's net sales for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

The tesults of operations of the petroleum business are primarily affected by the relationship between refined product prices and the prices for crude o1l
and other feedstocks that are processed and blended into refined products. The cost to acquire crude o1l and other feedstocks and the price for which refined
products are ultimatety sold depend on faciors beyond our Energy segment's control, including the supply of and demand for crude oil, as well as gasoline
and other refined products. This supply and demand depends on, among other factors, changes in domestic and foreign economies, weather conditions,
domestic and foreign political affars, production levels, the availability of imports, the marketing of competitive fuels and the extent of govemment
regulation. Because the petroleum business applies first-in, first-out accounting to value its mventory, crude oil price movements may impact gross margin in
the short term because of changes n the value of its unhedged on-hand inventory. The etfect of changes in crude oil prices on the petroleum business' results
of operations 1s influenced by the rate at which the pnices of refined products adjust to reflect these changes.

In addition to current matket conditions, there are long-term factors that may impact the demand for refined products. These factors include mandated
renewable fuels standards, proposed climate change laws and regulations, and increased mileage standards for vehicles. The petroleum business 1s also
subject to the Renewable Fuel Standard of the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA™), which requures it to cither blend “renewable fuels™ in
with its transportation fuels or purchase renewable fuel credits, known as renewable identification numbers (“RINs™), in licu of blending. The price of RINs
has been extremely volatile and the future cost of RINs for the petroleum business 1s difficult to estimate. Additionally, the cost of RINs 15 dependent upon a
variety of factors, which include EPA regulations, the availability of RINs for purchase, the price at which RINs can be purchased, transportation fuel
production levels, the mix of the petroleum business' petreleum products, as well as the fuel blending performed at uts refineries and downstream terminals, ali
of which can vary significantly from period to period. Refer 1o Note 17, "Commitments and Contingencies,” to the consolidated financial statements for
further discussion of RINs.

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
(1n millions)
Net sales $ 5988 § 4,782 8 5433
Cost of goods sold 5,727 4,618 4,949
Gross margin $ 261 & 164 § 484

Years E Dec er3l 207 and 2016

Net sales for our Energy segment increased by approximately $1 2 billion (25%) for the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable
prior ycar period. The increase was primarily duc to an increase in our petroleumn busincss as a result of higher sales prices for transportation fucls and
byproducts. The petroleum business’ average sales prices per gallon for the year ended December 31, 2017 of $1.59 for gasoline and $1.66 for disullate
increased by 19% and 22%, respectively, as compared to the comparable pror year period. This increase was offset in part by our nitrogen fertilizer business
primanly due to a decrease 1n sales prices forits products

Cost of goods sold for our Energy segment increased by approximately $1.1 billion (24%) for the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the
comparable pnor year penod. The increase was pnimarity due to our petroleum business as a result of higher cost of consumed crude o1l, due to higher prices,
as well as increased products purchased fot resale. This increase was offset in part by our nitrogen fertilizer business primarily due to higher costs in 2016
from inventory and deferred revenue fair value adjustments and decreased cutrent year distnbution costs due to the hming of regulatory railcar repairs and
maintenance.

Gross margin for our Energy segment increased by $97 million (59%) for the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable prior year
pentod. Gross margin as a percentage of net sales was 4% and 3% for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018, respectively, with such increase
attributable to our petroleum business, offset in part by a decrease
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attributable to our fertilizer business. The increase in gross margin as a percentage of net sales for our petroleum business was pnmarily due to higher margins
per barrel resulting from an tncrease in the sales pnce of gasohine and distillates. Cost of consumed o1l per barrel for the year ended December 31,2017
tncreased by 21% as compared to the prior year.

Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Net sales for our Energy segment decreased by $65 | mullion {12%) for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the comparable prior year
penod. The decrease was pnmanly due to a decrease in our petroleum business due to significantly lower sales prices. The petroleum business’ average sales
prices per gallon for the year ended December 31,2016 of $1.34 for gaseline and $1.36 for distillate decreased by 17% and 16%, respectively, as compared to
the prior penod. This decrease was offset 1n part by increased net sales in the nitrogen fertilizer business due to the acquisition ot its East Dubuque, IL facility
asof apnl 1, 2016.

Cost of goods sold for our Energy segment decreased by $331 mullion (7%) for the year ended December 31,2016 as compared to the comparable prior
year period. The decrease was primarily due to our petroleum business as a result of a decrease in the cost of consumed crude o1l as well as products purchased
for resale. This decrease was offset in part by our nitrogen fertilizer business due to its inclusion of the results from the acquisition of the East Dubuque
facility as of Apnil 1,2016.

Gross margin for our Energy segment increased by $320 million (66%) for the year ended December 31,2016 as compared to the comparable prior year
period. Gross margin as a percentage of net sales was 3% and 9% for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The decrease in gross margin
as a percentage of net sales was pnmarily due to significantly lower margin from the sale of gasoline for our petroleum business 1n 2016 compared to 2015.
Cost ot consumed oil per barrel for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by 12% as compared to the prioryear.

Ruailcar

Our Ratlcar segment's results of operations are gencrally dnven by the manufacturing and leasing of railcars. As discussed above and in Note 1,
"Description of Business," to the consolidated financial statements, we sold ARL and its fleet of' more than 34,000 railcars. Our remaining railcar lease fleet
consists primanly of rallcars owned by ARL

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

(in mallions)

Net Sales/Other Revemites From Operations

Manufacturing 3 65 % 430 ¥ 440
Railcar leasing 300 471 452
Railcar services 70 51 47
3 635 % 952 % 939
Cost of Goods Sold/Other Expenses From Operations:
Manufactunng b} 249§ 366 % 338
Raiicar leasing 84 195 176
Railcar services 50 28 25
$ 383 § 589 § 539
Gross Margin.
Manufactunng $ 6 . 8 64 8 - 102 |
Railcar leasing 216 276 276
Railcar services 20 23 : 22
$ 252§ 363 8 400
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Summarized shipments of ratlcars to leasing and non-leasing customers for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015
{number of raalcars)
Shipmients to leasing customers= = , o o - 1,804 799 . 5,063
Shipments to non-leasing customers 2418 3,922 3,840
o o ‘ o 4222, 4720 8,903,

As of December 31,2017, our Railcar segment had a backlog of 1,940 railcars, including 389 railcars for lease customers and 1,551 for non-lease
customers. In response to changes in customer demand, our Railcar segment continues to adjust production rates at 1ts railcar manufacturing facilities,

Years Ended December 3], 2017 and 201

Total manutacturing revenues for the year ended December31, 2017 decreased by $165 million (38%) as compared to the comparable prior year pertod.
The decrease was due to fower shipments to non-leasing customers and an overall decrease in average selling pnices dug to more competitive pricing for beth
hopper and tank railcars.

Gross margin from manufacturing operations for the year ended December 31, 2017 decreased by $48 million as compared to the comparable prior year
period. Gross margin from manufactunng operations as a percentage of manufacturing revenues decreased to 6% for the year ended December 31, 2017 from
15% for the comparable prior year period. The decrease 1n gross margin and gross margin as a percentage of revenue was due to higher costs associated with
lower production volumes and a more competitive market for both hopper and tank railcars.

Railcar leasing revenues decreased for the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable pnor year period due to a decrease in leased
railcars resulting trom the sale of ARL, and subsequent railcar sales, as well as a decrease in weighted average lease rates. The lease fleet decreased to 13,103
railcars at December 31, 2017 from 45,761 railcars at December 31,2014,

Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 i el -~

Total manufacturing revenues for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by $10 million (2%) as compared to the comparable pnior year penod.
The decrease was primarily due to a higher mix of hopper railears, which generally sell at lower prices than tank mailcars due to less matenal and labor
content, mere competitive pricing on both hopper and tank rilcars, partially offset by the higher volume of shipments to non-leasing customers.

Gross margin from manufacturing operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by $38 mullion as compared to the comparable prior year
period. Gross margin from manufacturing operations as a percentage of manufacturing revenues decreased to 15% for the year ended December 31, 2016 from
23% for the comparable prior year penod The decrease in gross margin and gross margin as a percentage of revenue was due to the lower gross margin
assoclated with the higher mix of hopper railcars, which generally scll at lower prices than tank railcars.

Railcar leasing revenues mncreased for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared 1o the comparable prnior year penod due to an increase in number
ofrailcars leased to customers and a slight increase in the average lease rate. The lease fleet grew to 45,761 railcars at December 31, 2016 from 45,052 railcarg
at December 31, 2015.

Gaming
Casino revenues represent the difference between wins and losses from gaming activities Casino revenues can vary because of table games hold

percentage and differences in the odds for different table games. In addition, high end play may lead to greater fluctuations in table games hold percentage
and, as a result, greater revenue fluctuation between reporting penods may occur.

Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 20146

Our consolidated gamuing revenues decreased by $46 million (5%) for the year ended December 31,2017 as compared to the comparable pnor year
penod due to the closing ofthe Trump Taj Mahal Casino Resort in October 2016, which accounted fora $100 mullion decrease in consolidated gaming
revenues Our existing gaming operations' revenues increased by $54 million over the comparable periods pnmarily duc to an increase 1n casino revenues.
The increase in casino revenues for the
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year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable prior year period was pnmanly due to inereased casino revenues at Tropicana Atlantic City.

Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 20135

Our consolidated gaming revenues increased by $133 million (16%) for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the comparable prior year
perod, primanly due to the inclusion of results from TER upon its emergence from bankruptcy on February 26, 2016, which accounted for $97 mullion
increased in consolidated gaming revenue. Our existing gaming operations' revenues increase by $36 muillion over the comparable prior year period due to an
increase 1n casino revenues. The increase 1n casino revenues for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the comparable pnor year penod was
primarily due to increased casino revenues at Tropicana Atlantic City.

Metals

The scrap metals business is highly cyclical and 15 substantially dependent upen the overall economic conditions in the United States and other global
markets. Ferrous and non-ferrous scrap has been historically vulnerable to significant declines in consumption and product pricing during prelonged pertods
of economic downtum or stagnation.

Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased by $142 million (53%}) as compared to the comparable prior year period primarily due to
higher ferrous, non-ferrous and non-ferrous auto residue shipment volumes and higher average selling pnices Ferrous shipment volumes mcreased due to
improved demand from domestic steel mills and improved flow of raw materials into the recycling yards driven by increased market pncing. Additionally,
dunng 2017, a major new steel mill came on line which 1ncreased demand for scrap metal. Domestic mull production has benefited from trade cases and
speculation regarding the recent probe 1nto steel imports. Improved consumer market pricing was also dnven primanly by the increased demand from
domestic steel mills. Non-ferrous shipment volumes increased 46% dunng the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable pnor year
period primarily due to utilization of the capital investment 1n aluminum processing capabilities at one of our facilities made 1n late 2016, while higher
pricing reflected higher terminal market prices in 2017 as compared to 2016,

Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased by $105 mullion {37%} as compared to the comparable prior year period. The
increase was primarily due to higher shipment volumes, as discussed above, and to increased material costs due to higher market prices. Gross margin as a
percentage of net sales was 5% for the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to a loss of 6% 1n the comparable prior year perted. The margin percentage
improvement was driven by an increased material margin attnbuted to a continued focus on disciplined buying, higher pricing for non-ferrous auto residue,
and by continued efforts to bning processing costs in line with volume and market pricing.

Years Ended December 31 2016 and 2015

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by $94 mullion (26%) compared to the comparable pnior year penod. The decrease was
primarily due to lower ferrous and non-ferrous shipment volumes and lower average selling prices. The lower shipment volumes were due in part to certain
1dled facilities dunng much of 2016 as a result of certain environmental remediations at these facilities. Ferrous shipment volumes decreased by 22% and the
average selling price decreased by 10% duning the year ended December 31,2016 as compared to the comparable prior year period. Ferrous shipment
volumes decreased due to reduced demand from domestic steel mills and the slow flow of raw matenals 1nto the recycling yards while low prniced 1ron ore,
direct-reduced iron pellets, and reduced demand from steel mulls held market prices down throughout 2016. Non-ferrous shipment volumes decreased by 10%
and the average selling price decreased by 3% dunng the year ended December 31,2016 as compared to the comparable pnor year penod, reflecting lower
market pncing and its unfavorable impact on raw material availability.

Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by $122 million (30%) as compared to the comparable prior year period. The
decrease was primarily due to lower shipment volumes, lower matenal costs and lower processing costs. Gross margin as a percentage of net sales was a loss of
6% and 1 2% for the year ended December 31,2016 and 2015, respectively. The material margin component of gross margin, as a percentage ofnet sales,
improved during 2016 as compared to the comparable prtor year penod, reflecting a continued focus on disciplined buying in the face of strong compctition
for shredder feedstock and lower pricing for non-ferrous auto shredder residue. PSC Metals continues to expead considerable effort to bring costs in line with
volumes and market pricing. PSC Metals closed nine feeder yards during 2015 and one feeder yard during 2016 1n order to better align its cost structure to
the current market environment.
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Mining

Our Mining segment’s performance is driven by global iron ore prices and demand for raw materials from Chinese steelmakers Since acquinng Ferrous
Resources Ltd 1n 2015, our Mining segment has been concentrating on sales in 1ts domestic market, Brazil.

Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

Net sales for the year ended December31, 2017 increased by $23 million as compared to the comparable pnor year period primarily due to iron ore
price 1increases, offset 10 pant by volume decreases. Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 201 7 increased by 54 mullion as compared to the
comparable prior year period.

Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Net sales tor the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $41 mullion as compared to the comparmable prior year peniod. Cost of goods sold for the
year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $18 million as compated to the comparable prior year period. As a result of our acquisition of Ferrous Resources
in the second guarter of 2015, the comparable prior penod results only include results in conselidation for the seven months ended December 31, 2015,

Food Packaging

Our Food packaging scgment's results of operations are primarnly driven by the production and sale of cellulosic, fibtous and plastic casings for the
processed meat and poultry industry and derives a majority of its total net sales from customers located autside the United States.

Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased by $63 million (19%) as compared to the corresponding pnor year period. The increase was
primarily due to higher sales volume, primarily from acquisitions, offset in part by unfavorable price and product mix and foreign currency exchange. Cost of
goods sold for the year ended December 31,2017 increased by $48 million (19%) as compared to the corresponding prior year penod. Gross margin as a
percentage of net sales was flat at 24% for the year ended December 31,2017 and 2016,

Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 20{5

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by $15 million (4%) as compared to the comparable prior year period. The decrease was
primanly due to lower sales volume. unfavorable price and product mix and unfavorable foreign currency translation. Cost of goods sold for the year ended
December 31, 2016 decreased by $14 mellion (5% as compared to the comparable pror year pernod Gross margin as a percentage of net sales was tlat at 24%
for the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the comparable prior year penod.

Real Estate

Real Estate revenues and expenses include sales of residential units, results from club operations and rental income and expenses, including income
from financing leases. Sales of residentia! units are included in net sales 1n our consohidated financial statements. Results from club and rental operations,
ncluding financing lease income, are included in other revenues from operations in our consolidated financial statements, Revenue from out real estate
operations for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015 were substantially derived trom income from club and rentat operations During 2015, our
Real Estate segment sold certain assets, primarily within 1ts rental operations, contnbuting to a decrease tn other revenues from operations dunng 2016

Home Fashion

Our Home Fashion segment is significantly influenced by the overall economic environment, including consumer spending, at the retail level, for home
textile products.,

Years Ended December 31, 2007 aud 2016

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2017 decreased by $12 million (6%) as compared to the comparable prior year period. The decrease was
primarily due to a decrease 1n sales volume. Cost of goods sold for the year ended December31, 2017 decreased by $6 milhion (4%) as compared to the
comparable prior year period, and was primarily due to sales mux. Gross margin as a percentage of net sales was 1 1% for the year ended December 31,2017
compared to 14% for the comparable prior year period, with the decrease primarily due to sales mix and inventery obsolescence.

Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Net sales forthe year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $2 million (1%} as compared to the comparable prior year period The increase was
primarily due to an increase in sales volume. Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31,
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2016 increased by $5 million (3%) as compared to the comparable prior year period, and was primarily due to sales mix Gross margin as a percentage of net
sales was 14% for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to 16% for the comparable prior year penod, with the decrease primanly due to sales mix.

Holding Company

Our Holding Company's results of operations pnmanly reflect the interest expense on uts sentor unsecured notes. We discuss interest expense in
consolidation below.

Other Consolidated Results of Operations
Gain On Disposition of Assets, Net

As discussed in Note 1, "Description of Business.” to the consolidated financial statements, we sold ARL during 2017, resulting in an aggregate pretax
gain on disposition of assets of approxumately $1 7 billion recorded by our Railcar segment for the year ended December 31,2017, In August 2017, our Real
Estate segment sold a development property in Las Vegas Nevada for $600 million, resulting 1n a pretax gain on disposition of assets of $456 million for the
year ended December 31, 2017, Our Real Estate segment also sold additional properties during 2017, primarily within its rental operations, resulting in an
additional pretax gamn on disposition of asscts aggregating $40 mullion.

Selling, General and Administrative

Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

Our consolidated selling, general and administrative for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased by $223 million {10%) as compared to the
comparable prior year period. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase from our Automotive segment of $281 million, primarily due to the
inclusion of the full year impact of Pep Boys 1in 2017, which was acquired 1n Febmary 2016, and the acquisitions of Precision Tune, American Driveline and
various other acquisitions 1n 2017, as well as personnel costs associated with integration and 1ncreased customer services. This increase was offsct in part by a
decrease of $61 million from our Gaming segment primarify due to the closing and subsequent sale ofthe Trump Taj Casino Resort in October 2016 and a
decrease of $21 million from our Investment segment due to a decrease of compensation expense

Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Qur consolidated selling, general and admnistrative for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $434 million (23%) as compared to the
comparable prior year period. The increase was primanly attributable to an increase from our Automotive segment of $520 mellion prnimarily due to the
inclusion of the acquisitions of Pep Boys in February 2016 and IEH Auto in the second quarter of 2015 and an increase of $102 mullion from our Gaming
segment primarily due 1o the inclusion of TER upon its emergence from bankruptey on February 26, 2016, oftset in part by a decrease of $203 million from
our [nvestment segment due to a decrease of compensation expense related to a certain fund performance over the respective periods.

Restructuring

Our consolidated restructurning costs, net is primanly atinbutable to our Autemotive segment and consists pnmanly of employee severance and
termination benefits as well as factlity closures and other costs. Our Automotive segment's restructunng activities are undertaken as necessary to execute
management’s strategy and streamline operations, consolidate and take advantage of available capacity and resources, and ultimately achicve net cost
reductions. Restructuring activities include efforts to integrate and rationalize businesses and to relocate manufacturing operations to best cost

manufacturing locations. Restructuring, net decreased for the year December 31, 2017 compared to the comparable prior year periods due to lower severance
and other charges incurmred.

Impairment

Refer to Note §, "Fair Value Measurements," and Note 8, "Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net," to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion
of impairments of assets,

Interest Expense

Years Ended December 31 2017 and 2016

Our consolidated interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 decreased by $35 million (4%) as compared to the comparable prior year
pertod The decrease was primanly due to lower interest expense from our Investment segment attributable to a decrease 1n due to broker balances over the
respective penods, as well as lower interest expense from our Ratlcar segment due to the sale of ARL in the second quarter 0f 2017 These decreases were
otfsct 1n part by higher interest expensc from our Encrgy scgment duc to a certain debt offening 1n the second quarter of 2016, as well as higher interest
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expense from our Holding Company due to our senior unsecured notes refinancing in the first quarter of 2017, which is subject to higher interest rates. Qur
Automotive segment's interest expense increased due to higher bormowings and interest rates under its revolver and European notes 1ssued in 2417,

Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2013

Our consolidated interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by $276 mullion (24%) as compared to the comparable pnor year
period. The decrease was primarily due to lower interest expense from our [nvestment segment attnibutable to a decrease in due to broker balances over the
respective periods, offset in part by higher interest expense from our Automotive segment due to higher interest rates on borrowings under revolving credit
faciltties over the respective periods and the inclusion of interest from the acquisitions of Pep Boys in February 2016 and IEH Auto 1n the second quarter of
2015 and higher interest from our Energy segment due to a certain debt offering during the second quarter 0£2016.

Income Tax Expense

Certain of our subsidiaries are partnerships not subject to taxation in our consolidated financial statements and certain other subsidiaries are
cotporations, or subsidiaries of corporations, subject to taxation 1n our consolidated financial statements. Therefore, our consolhidated effective tax rate
generally differs from the statutory federal tax rate. Refer to Note 14, "Income Taxes," to the consclidated financial statements for a discussion of income
taxcs.

In addition, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes, we analyze all positive and negative evidence and maintain a valuation allowance
on deferred tax assets that are not considered more likely than not to be realized. Based on current analysis, including increased level of income and ability to
use losses previously linuted, we have determmned that it is more likely than not that a significant portion of our U.S. tax loss carryforwards and credits will be
realized and have released the valuation allowance on these deferred tax assets.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Holding Company Liguidity

We are a holding company. Our cash flow and our ability to meet our debt service obligations and make distributions with respect to depositary units
tikely wili depend on the cash flow resulting from divestitures, equity and debt financings, mterest income, returns on our interests wn the Investment Funds
and the payment of funds to us by our subsidiaries in the form of loans, dividends and distributions. We may pursue various means (o mise cash from pur
subsidiaries. To date, such means include receipt of dividends and distributions from subsidiaries, obtaining loans or other financings based on the asset
values of subsidianes or selling debt or equity secunties of subsidianes through capital market transactions. To the degree any distnbutions and transfers are
mmpaired or prohibited, our ability to make payments on our debt or distnbutions on our depositary units could be limited. The operating results of our
subsidiaries may not be sufficient for them to make distributions 1o us Tn addution, our subsidiaries are not obligated to make funds available to us and
distributions and intercompany transfers from our subsidiaries to us may be restricted by applicable Jaw or covenants contained in debt agreements and other
agreements.

As of December 31, 2017, our Holding Company had cash and cash equivalents of $526 million and total debt of approximately §35 5 biliion. Dunng
2017, our Holding Company invested an additional $1.3 billion in the Investment Funds, net of redemptions. As of December 31,2017, our Holding
Company had investments in the Investment Funds with a total fair market value of approximately $3.0 billion. We may redeem our direet investment in the
Investment Funds upon notice. See "Investment Segment Liquidity” below for additional information with respect to our Investment segment liquidity.

Sule of ARL

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we closed on the sale ARL. After repaying, or assigning to SMBC Rail Services LLC, applicable
indebtedness of ARL, we received cash consideration of approximately $1.8 billion.

IDuseributions From/investinents In Subsidiarvies

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we received $148 mullion tn aggregate dividends and distributions from CVR Energy and CVR Refiming.
Subscquent to December 31,2017, CVR Energy and CVR Refiming declared a quarterly dividend and distnbution, respectively, which will result in an
additional aggregate $38 mullion in dividends and distrnibutions paid to us in the first quanter of 2018

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we received $66 mullion 1n aggregate dividends and distributions from our Railcar segment. Subsequent to
December 31,2017, ARI declared a quarterly dividend, which will result in an additional $5 million in dividends paid to us in the first quarter of 2018,

Dunng the year ended December 31, 2017, we received $335 milhon in net distnbutions from our Real Estate segment.

42



During the year ended December 31,2017, we invested $504 mullion in our Automotive segment, a portion of which was used to acquire certain
businesses.
Purchase of Additional Interests in Consoltdated Subsidiaries

Dunng January 2017, we increased our ownership 1n Federal-Mogul from 82 0% to 100% through a tender offer for the remaining shares of Federal-
Mogul common stock not already owned by us and a subsequent short form merger for an aggregate purchase pnce of $3035 million

During August 2017, we increased cur ownership in Tropicana from 72.5% to 83.9% through a tender offer for additional shares of Tropicana common
stock not alrcady owned by us, for an aggregate purchase price of $95 mallion, excluding ¢ash paid by Tropicana to repurchase shares in connection with the
tender offer and in accordance with Tropicana's stock repurchase program
Holdig Company Borrowings and Avadability

December 31,
2017 2016

{1in mulions}

3.300% seniorunsecured notes due 2017 . . S . 1,174
4.875% senior unsecured notes due 2019 — 1,271
6.000% senicrunsecured notes due 2020 - . ‘ . U 1,703 1,705 .
5.875% semor unsecured notes due 2022 1,342 1,340
6.250% senior unsecured notes due 2022 - ' . 1,218 e
6 750% senior unsecured notes due 2024 498 —
6.375% senior unsecured notes due 2025 : . 748 b —
h 5507 3§ 5490

Holding Company debt consists of vartous issues of fixed-rate senior unsecured notes 1ssued by Icahn Enterprises and lcahn Enterprises Finance Corp. -
and guaranteed by Icahn Enterprises Holdings. Interest on each of the senior unsecured notes are payable semi-annually

The indentures governing our senior unsecured notes described above restrict the payment of cash distributions, the purchase of equity interests or the
purchase, redemption, defeasance or acquisition of debt subordinated to the senior unsecured notes. The indentures also restrict the incurrence of debt or the
1ssuance ot disqualified stock, as defined 1n the indentures. with certain cxceptions. In addition, the indentures requuire that on cach quarterly determination
date we and the guarantor of the notes (currently only Icahn Enterprises Holdings) maintain certain mimimum financial ratios, as defined therein. The
indentures also restrict the creation of liens, mergers, consolidations and sales of substantially all of our assets, and transactions with affiliates. Additionally,
each of the senior unsecured notes outstanding as of December 31, 2017 are subject to optional redemption prermums in the event we redeem any of the notes
prior to certain dates as described 1n the indentures.

As of December 31,2017 and 2016, we were 1n compliance with all covenants, including maintaining certain sunimum financial ratios, as defined in
the indentures Additionally, as of December 31, 2017, based on covenants in the indentures governing our sentor unsecured notes, we are permitted to incur
approximately $346 nullion of additional indebtedness

Refinancing of Semior Unsecured Notes

On January 18, 2017, we issued $695 nullion in aggregate principal amount of 6.250% senior notes due 2022 and $500 million 1n aggregate principal
amount of 6.750% sentor notes due 2024, The procceds trom the issuance of these notes were used to redeem all of our 3.50% senior unsccured notes duc
2017 and to pay related accrued and unpaid interest.

On December 6, 2017, we 1ssued $750 mullion 1n aggregate principal amount of 6.375% senior unsecured notes due 2025 and an additional $510
million 1n aggregate pnincipal amount of cur existing 6.250% senior unsecured notes due 2022. The proceeds from these notes, together with cash on hand,
were used to redeem all of the outstanding semor unsecured notes due 2019 and to pay accrued interest, related fees and expenses.

feahin Enterprises Reghts Offering

In January 2017, kcahn Enterprises commenced a rights offering entitling holders of the rights to acquire newly issued depositary units of Ieahn
Enterprnises The purposes of the nghts offenng were to (1) enhance Icahn Enterpnises' depositary unit holder equity, (11} endeavor to improve Icahn
Enterprses' credit ratings, and (i11) raise equity capital to be used for general partnership purposes Aggregate proceeds from the rights o ffering was $600
million.
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Distributions on Depositary Units

On February 27, 2018, the Board of Directors of the general pariner of lcahn Enterpnses declared a quartery distnbution in the amount of $1 75 per
depositary unit. The quarterly distribution is payable in either cash or additional depositary units, at the election of each depositary unit holder and will be
paid on or about April 16,2018 to depositary unitholders of record at the ¢lose ot business on March 12,2018,

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we declared four quarterly distributions aggregating $6.00 per depositary unit, Mr. lcahn and his affiliates
elected to receive thetr proportionate share of these distributions in depositary units. Mr. Icahn and his affiliates owned approximately 91.0% of leahn
Enterprises' outstanding depositary units as of December 31, 2017. In connection with these distrnibutions, aggregate cash distributions to all depositary
unitholders was $79 million.

The declaration and payment of distributions is reviewed quarterly by lcahn Enterprises GP's board of directors based upon a review of cur balance sheet
and cash flow, our expected capital and liquidity requirements, the provisions of our partnership agreement and provisions in our financing arrangements
goveming distnbutions, and keeping in mind that limited partners subject to U S. federal income tax have recognized income on our carmings even if they do
not receive distributions that could be used to satisfy any resulting tax obligations. The payment of future distributions will be determined by the board of
directors quarterly, based upon the factors desenbed above and other factors that it deems relevant at the time that declaration of a distnbution is considered.
Payments of distibutions are subject to certain restrictions, including certain restnctions on our subsidiaries which himit their ability to distnbute dividends
to us. There ¢can be no assurance as to whether or 1n what amounts any futyre distributions nught be paid.

Investment Segment Liquidity

During the year ended December 31,2017, we invested $1.3 billion m the Investment Funds, net of redemptions. and affiliates of Mr Icahn (excluding
us and gur subsidiaries) invested $600 million in the Investment Funds. In addition to tnvestments by us and Mr. Icahn, the Investment Funds histoncally
have access to significant amounts of cash available from pnime brokerage lines of credit, subject to customary terms and market conditions.

Additionally, our Investment segment liquidity is driven by the investment activities and performance of the Investment Funds. As of Dececmber 31,
2017. the Investment Funds' had a net long notional exposure of 14%. The Investment Funds'leng exposure was 132% (130% long equity and 2% long
credit and other) and 115 short exposure was 118% (103% short equity and 15% short credit and other). The notional exposure represents the ratio of the
notional exposure of the Investment Funds' invested capital to the net asset value of the Investment Funds at December 31, 2017.

-Of the Investment Funds' 132% long exposure. 129%-was compnsed of ths fair value of its long positions (with ceriain adjustments) and 3% was - - .o o

comprsed of single name equity forward ¢ontracts and credit contracts. Ofthe Investment Funds’ { 18% short exposure, 14% was comprised of the fair vaiue
of our short positions and 104% was comprised of short credit default swap contracts and short broad market index swap denvative contracts,

With respect to both our long positions that are not notienalized (129% long exposure) and our short positions that are not notionahized (14% short),
each 1% change 1n exposure as a result of purchases or sales (assuming no change in value) would have a 1% impact on our cash and cash equivalents (as a
percentage of net asset value). Changes in exposure as a result of purchases and sales as well as adverse changes in market value would also have an effect on
funds available to us pursuant to prime brokerage hines of credut.

With respect to the notional value of our other short positions (104% short exposure), our liquidity would decrease by the balance sheet unrealized loss
if we were 10 close the positions at quarter end prices This would be offset by a release of restncted cash balances collateralizing these positions as well as an
increase 1n funds available to us pursuant to certain prime brokerage lines of credit, [t we were to increase our short exposure by adding to these short
positions, we would be required to provide cash collateral equal to a small percentage of the initial notional value at counterparties that require cash as
collateral and then post additional collateral equal to 100% of the mark to market on adverse changes in fair value. For our counterparties who de not require
cash collateral, funds available from lines of credit would decrease. Refer to Note 6. “Financial Instruments,” to the consolidated financial statements for
turther discussion.
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Other Segment Liquidity
Segment Cash and Cash Equivalents

Segment cash and cash equivalents {excluding our Investment segment) consists of the following:

December 31,

2017 2016
(in mallions)

Automotive . $ : 367§ 353

Energy 482 736

Railcar . } . ) S 100 L1719

Gaming 105 244

Metals . - R , Co 24 4

Mining 15 14

Food Packaging ( , ‘ - : 16 Co 39"

Real Estate 30 24

Home Fashion " ’ - . L ) R— 2

$ 1,139 &% 1,595
Segment Borrowings and Availability
Segment debt consists of the following.
December 31,
2017 2016
{in millons)
Automotive 5 3470 3% 32359
Energy 1,166 1,165
Railear ‘ 546 s
Gaming 137 287
Metals 1 2
Mining 58 55
Food Packaging 273 265
Real Estate 22 25
Home Fashion 5 ’ T
$ 5,678 % 5,629

As of December 31, 2017, all of our subsidianes were in compliance with alf debt covenants

Our segments have addinonal bormowing availability under certatn revolving credit facilities as summanzed below:

December 31,2017
(m millons)

Automotive $ 461
Energy 382
Railcar 200
Food Packaging 8
Home Fashion 25
h 1,076

The above outstanding debt and borrewing availability with respect to each of our segments reflects third-panty obligations See Note 10, "Debt," to the
consolidated financial statements for further discussion regarding our segment debt, including information relating to maturnties, interest rates and borrowing
availabilities.
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Subsidiary Pavinents to Acquire Bustnesses

During the yearended December 31, 2017, our Automotive segment acquired several automotive services businesses, including the franchise
businesses of Precision Tune Auto Care ("Precision Tune") and Amernican Driveline Systems, the franchisor of AAMCO and Cottman Transmission service
centers ("American Dnveline"), for an aggregate purchase price of $226 million, net of cash acquired. Additionally, during 2017, our Foed Packaging
segment acquired two businesses for an aggregate purchase price of $3 1 mullion, net of cash acquired.

Subsidiary Dividends and Distributions to Non-Controlling Interests

During the yearended December 31, 2017, our Energy, Railcar and Automotive scgments had dividends and distributions to non-controiling intercsts
of $75 million, $12 million and $5 million, respectively.

Subsidiary Stock Repurchases

On July 28, 2015, ARI's board of directors authonzed the repurchasc ofup to $250 million of its outstanding common stock (the "ARI Stock
Repurchase Program™). AR1 did not repurchase shares of its common stock during the year ended December 31,2017, Pnor to 2017, an aggregate of $86
million was repurchased under the ARI Stock Repurchase Program.

On July 31,2015, Tropicana's board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $50 million of'its outstanding common stock and on February 22,
2017, an additional $50 mullion was authonzed for repurchase (the "Tropicana Stock Repurchase Program™). Duning the year ended December 31,2017,
Tropicana repurchased shares of its common stock aggregating $36 million in connection with a tender offer commenced by lcahn Enterpnises and Tropicana.
Priorto 2017, an aggregate of $43 million was repurchascd under the Tropicana Stock Repurchase Program.

Accounts Receivable Fuctoring

Federal-Mogul's subsidiaries in Brazil, Canada, France, Germany, Italy and the United States are party to accounts receivable factonng and
secuntization facilities. Refer to Note 2, "Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” to the consolidated financial statements for
further information.

Consolidated Cash Flows

Our Holding Company’s cash tlows are generally dnven by payments and proceeds associated with our senior unsecured debt obligations and payments
and proceeds associated with equity transactions with [cahn Enterpnses' depositary umtholders. Additionally, our Holding Company's cash tlows may
include vanous investment transactions. including acquisitions and dispositions of businesses, including proceeds ffom the sale of ARL. Qur Investment
segment's cash flows are primarnily driven by investment transactions, which are included in net cash flows from operating activities due to the nature of its
business, as well as contnibutions and distributions from Mr. Icahn and his affiliates (including Icahn Enterprises and Icahn Enterpriscs Holdings), which are
in¢luded 1n net cash flow from financing activities. Our other operating segments' cash flows are dnven by the activities and performance of each business,
which is included in the discussion below.
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The following table summarizes cash flow information for the year ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 for Icahn Enterprises' reporting segments
and our Holding Company:

Year Ended December 31, 2017 Year Ended December 31, 2016 Year Ended December 31, 2015
Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Net Cash Provided By {Used In) Net Cash Provided By {Used In)
Opcrating Investing Financing Operating Investing Financing Operating Investing Financing
Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities
(in mullions)
Holding Company $ @3 S 26§ a2 § o9y $- 245§ (:‘ “ﬁ“g

Investment {1.896) — 1,900 555 -—_

Other Operanng Segments.

Automotive: ; 104 672 514 Cosaz (398 1028
Encrgy 167 {195) (226) 268 {202) (95) 537 {151 (375)
Railcar: ° . 226 (143} 279 . - 400 (254) . AT 382 . - (506 139
Gaming 177 (56) (260) 78 (56 5 105 (83) (N
Metals 17 2%  3b U, & . s 4- - @ 4
Mining 8 (38) 31 — (223 22 (29) (175) 218
Pood Packaging % iY)) ] ( 28 Coen (4 25 22 4y
Real Estate 76 269 (339) 11 2 (%) 34 64 (103}
Home Fashion 2) (5} 5 [z ) (8} — 7 (4} —
Other operating segments 797 (926) (455) 1.309 {1,959 476 I,135 (2,030) 1,033
Total before eliminations - 1436y - (710} 1,867 1,655 (LTI - 53 748 - -(2,616) ' -+ 1,057
Elrmmations — 1.124 (1,124) — (140) 140 — 231 (231}
Consolidated $ (143 § 414§ 743 $ 1635 § (1854 8§ 37 % 748§ (2385 § 826
Elimynations

Elimunations 1n the table above relate to our Holding Company's transactions with our Investment and other operating segments. Our Holding
Company's net {investments in) distributions from the Investments Funds were $(1,300) million, $1.050 million and $100 million for the years ended
December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, which are included in cash flows from investing activities for our Holding Company and cash flows from financing
activities for our Investment segment. Qur Holding Company's net distributions from (investments 1n) our other operating segments were $56 million, $(785)
mullion and $(331) million for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, which are included in cash flows from investing activities for our Holding
Company and cash flows from financing activities for our other operating segments. In addition, our Holding Company repaid a loan from our Railcar
segment of $120 million 1n 2017 and received loan proceeds of $125 million in 2016, which were classified as cash flows from financing activities for our
Holding Company and cash flows from investing activities for our Railcar segment.

Holding Company

Our Holding Company's cash flows from operating activities for each of the years ended December 31,2017,2016 and 2015 were attnbutable to our
semi-annual interest payments on our sentior unsecured notes and certain cperating expenses of our Holding Company. Our Holding Company cash used in
operating activities in 2017 was higher compared to 2016 and 2015 due to higher debt payments resulting from certain debt refinancings 1n 2017 as well as
due to net tax payments in 2017 compared to net tax receipts in 2016 and 2015,

Our Holding Company's cash flows from investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 were due to proceeds of approximately $1.8 billion
from the sale of ARL and dividends and distributions from our operating segments aggregating $588 million, offset in part by nct investments in the
Investment Funds of $1.3 billion, payments to acquire additional outstanding commeon stock of Federal-Mogul and Tropicana aggregating $349 million and
investments in our Automotive segment 0f $504 million and other operating segments aggregating $28 million. Forthe year ended December 31, 2016, our
Hoelding Company had distnbutions from our Investment segment of approximately $1.0 billion and dividends and distnbutions from our operating
scgments aggregating $340 million, offset in part by an investment 1n our Automotive scgment of approximately $1.0 billion and our other operating
segments of $81 mullion Forthe year ended December 31, 2015, our Holding Company had distributions from our Investment segment of $100 million and
dividends and distributions from our other operating segments of $434 mullion. This was more than offset by purchases of investments aggregating $345
million and 1nvestments 1n our Automotive and Mining segments of $556 mullion and $209 mullion, respectively.



Qur Holding Company's cash flows from financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 were due to aggregate proceeds from ournghts
offing of $612 mullion {(which includes a contnbution of $12 miilion from our general partner in order to maintain 1ts aggregate 1.99% general partner
terest 1n us) and net proceeds from our senior unsecured debt refinancings of $20 mullion, offset in part by repayment of an intercompany loan due to our
Railear segment of $120 million and by cash distributions on our depositary units of $8 1 mullion (including $2 mullion to our general partner) for the year
ended December3t, 2017 Forthe year ended December 31, 20186, our Holding Company received §125 million in proceeds from its intercompany loan from
our Railcar segment, which was offset in part by cash distributions on our depositary unitholders 0f$103 million (including $2 nulhion to our general
partner). For the year ended December 31, 2015, our Holding Company had net cash used in financing activities due to distributions on our depositary units
of $116 mullion (including $2 mullion to our general partner).

Investment Segment
Our Investiment segment's cash flows from operating activities for the comparable periods were attributable to its net investment transactioss. i

Our Investment segment’s cash flows from financing activities for the comparable periods were due to contributions from, and distnbutions to, our
Holding Company and Mr. Icatin and his affiliates. Our Investment segment had net cash provided by financing activities of $1 9 billion for the year ended
December 31,2017, which included our $1.3 billion net investment in the Investment Funds as well as $600 million received from Mr. lcahn and his
affiliates {excluding us). For the year ended December 31, 2016, our [nvestment segment had net cash used 1n financing activities of $552 mullion due to
distnbutions paid to our Holding Company of approximately $1.1 billion, offset in part by net contnbutions from Mr. lcahn and his affiliates (excluding us)
of $498 million For the year ended December 31,2015, our [nvestment segment had net cash provided by financing activities of $140 million due to $240
million in net contributions received from Mr. Icahn and his affiliates (excluding us) offset in part by distnbutions to our Holding Company of $100 million.

Other Operating Segments

Qur other operating segments' cash flows fiom operating activities were primanly attnbutable to net income before non-cash charges of approximately
$1.2 billion, $1.1 billion and $1.3 billion for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 20135, Net income before non-cash charges represents net cash
flows from operating activities before changes 1n operating assets and liabilities. The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities from gur other
operating segments 1n 2017 compared to 2016 was primarily attnbutable to changes 1n operating assets and habilities, particularly from our Automotive and
Energy segments. Changes in operating asscts and liabilities tn 2017 compared to 2016 for our Automotive and Energy scgments were primarily due to
purchases of inventory and decreases in biofuel blending obligations, respectively.

Our other operating segments cash flows from investing activities for the years ended December 31,2017,2016 and 2015 were pnmanly due to capital
expenditures and acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired. For the year ended December 31, 261 7, our Automotive segment's capital expenditures
were $479 million, primanly related to investing 1in new factlities, upgrading existing products, continuing new product launches and other infrastructure and
equipment costs. Our Railcar segment's capital expenditures were $173 million, primarily for railcars for lease and our Energy and Gaming segments had
capital expenditures 6 $119 million and $112 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2016 our Automotive and Energy segments had
capital expenditures 0f$418 million and $133 mtllion, respectively and our Railcar segment had capital expenditures 0£3133 million, primanily for railcars
for lease. For the year ended December 31, 2015, our Railcar segment had capntal expendrtures of $522 million. of which $484 million was for railcars for
lease, and our Automotive and Energy segments had capital expenditures of $449 rmlhion and $219 mullion, respectively

Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired, for the years ended December31,2017,2016 and 2015 were pnmanly within our Automotive segment.
Our Automotive segment’s acquisitions included Preciston Tune, Amencan Dnivehine and varous other businesses aggregating $226 million m 2017, 1ts
acquisitions of Pep Boys and certain other businesses agpregating approximately $1.0 billion 1n 2016 and its acquisitions of IEH Auto, TRW's valvetmin
business and certain othet businesses aggregating $694 mullion in 2015, In addition, our Food Packagmg segment acquired a casings manufacturer for $31
millien in 2017, our Energy segment acquired CVR Nitrogen, LP for common units and $64 million of net cash consideration in 2016 and Fetrous Resources
was acquired in 2015 for 161 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, our Ratlcar segment recerved $120 million from our Holding Company for the repayment of an
intercompany loan and dunng the year ended December 31, 2016 our Railcar segment pard 5125 million to our Holding Company for the 1ssuance of the
mtercompany loan.

Our other operating scgments cash flows from financing activities for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015 were primarily due to
contnbutions from us, dividends and distnibutions to us and non-controlling interests and net debt transactions. For 2017, 2016 and 2015, our other
operating segments had net cash (distributions to) contributions from our Holding Company of $(56) million, $785 million and $331 million, respectively, as
described above. Distdbutions to non- !
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controlling interests were $92 million, $86 million and $252 million for the years ended December 31,2017,2016 and 2015, respectively, pnmarily from our
Energy and Railcar segments. In 2015, our Energy segment's distnbutions to non-controlling interests included $200 million paid by CVR Partners. In
addition, for 2017, 2016 and 2015, our other operating segments had net cash (repayments) proceeds from debt transactions of $(283) mullion, $(153) mullion
and approximately $1 O billion, respectively Net proceeds in 2015 are primarily due to refinancing of debt wathin our Autometive and Railcar segments.

In addition to the above, Federal-Mogul's rights offenng in 2015 resulted in $250 million 1n additional proceeds for cur Automotive segment,
including $230 million received from us, and Tropicana and ART had repurchases of treasury stock for the years ended December 31,2017,2016 and 2015
aggregating $36 mullion, $72 million and $57 million, respectively.

Consolidated Capital Expenditures

Refer to Note 13, "Segment and Geographic Reporting,” for a reconciliation of our segments’ capital expend:tures to consclidated capital expenditures
foreach ofthe years ended December 31, 2017,2016 and 2015.

We estimate that our consolidated capital expenditures for our continuing operating businesses to be approximately $950 million to $1.0 billion in
2018. Our Automotive segment estimates 1ts 2018 capital expenditures to be approximately $500 rmullion, prmanly for strategic prionties and growth. Our
Energy segment estimates its 2018 capital expenditures to be approximately $231 miltlion, a majority of which 1s planned for maintenance Our Railcar
segment estimates its 2018 capital expenditures to be approximately $100 million, with a majority for 1ts railcar lease fleet. Our Gaming segment estimates 1ts
2018 capital expenditures to be approximately 368 mullion, primarily for maintenance

Consolidated Contractual Commitments and Contingencies

The following table reflects, at December 31, 2017, our contractual cash obligations, subject to certain conditions, due over the indicated penods:

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Thereafter Total
(in muilions)

Debt obligations $ 191 8 - 52 % 1,897 § ) 2072 % 3606 % 3370 , & 11,188
Capital lease obligations g 7 4 3 2 21 45
Interest payments . - 650 643 642 r - BESemos 343 [ 664 - . 3A57 .
Pension and other post-retirernent benefit

plans 90 87 81 75 81 650 1,064
Operating lease obligations 237 222 ’ i9% 17¢ 142 388 L1387
Purchase obligations 199 129 103 92 85 543 1,151
Letters of credit 99 e e s — — 99
Total $ 1474 ¢ 1,140 § 2925 % 2,927 % 4259 % 5636 3 18,361

Certain of Federal-Mogul's, CVR Energy's and PSC Metals' facilities are environmentally impaired. As of December 31, 2017, Federal-Mogul, CVR
Encrgy and PSC Metals have recorded environmental liabilities of $16 million, $4 million and $28 mullion, respectively Additionally, our Automotive
segment has identified sites with contractual obligations and sites that are closed or expected to be closed and sold in connection with its restructuring
activities and has accrued $15 million as of December 31, 2017, pnimarily related to removing hazardous matenals in buildings. For further discussion
regarding these commitments, among others, see Note 17, “Commitments and Contingencies,” to the consclidated financial statements.

As discussed 1n Note 4, “Investments and Related Matters.” to the consolidated financial statements, we have contractual habilities of approximately
$1.0 billion related to secunties sold, not yet purchased as of December 31,2017 This amount has not been included 1n the table above as maturity is not
subject to a contract and cannot be properly estimated.

Consolidated Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have ofI-balance sheet risk related to investment activities associated with certain financial instruments, wncluding futures, options, credit default
swaps and securities sold, not yer purchased. For additional information regarding these arrangements, refer to Note 8, “Financial [nstruments,” to the
consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this Report.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2, “Basts of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” to the
consolidated financial statements. Qur consolidated financial statements have been prepared 1n accordance with accounting pnnciples generally accepted in
the United States {“U.S. GAAP”). The preparation of financial statements 1n conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of asscts, habihities, revenues and cxpenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitics. Among others,
estumates are used when accounting for valuation of investments and pension expense. Estimates used in determiming fair value measurements meclude, but
are not limited to, expected future cash flow assumptions, market rate assumptions for contractual obligations, actuarial assumptions for benefit plans,
settlement plans for litigation and contingencies, and appropnate discount rates, Estimates and assumptions are evaluated on an ongoing basis and are based
on historical and other factors believed to be rezsonable under the circumstances. The results of these estimates may form the basis of the camrying value of
certain assets and liabilities and may not be readily apparent from other sources. Actual results, under conditions and circumstances different from those i
assumed, may differ from estimates.

We belicve the following accounting policies are cntical to our business operations and the understanding of results of operations and affect the more
significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Income Taxes

Except as described below, no provision has been made for federal, state, local or foreign income taxes on the results of operations generated by
partnershap activities as such taxes are the responsibility ofthe partners. Qur corporate subsidiaries account for their income taxes under the asset and liability |
method.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attnbutable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and habilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable 1ncome in the years 1n which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in mncome in the
period that includes the enactment date.

On December 22, 2017, The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Legislation”) was ¢nacted 1n the United Stares, significantly revising certain U S. corporate
income tax provisions; including, among other iterns, a reduction of the U.S corporate rate from 35% to 21 %, effective for tax yeac beginnung after December
31,2017; the transition of U.S. interational taxation from a worldwide tax system to a territorial system, and a one-time transition tax on the mandatory
deemed repatnation of cumulative forergn eamings as of December 31, 2017, (or. 1f greater, November 2, 2017} of a “specified foreign corporation” which
includes controlled foreign cotporations and other foreign corporations which have at least one U.S corporate shareholder that owns 18% or more of the
value or voting power of such foreign corporation. We estimated the impact of the Tax Legislation on our income tax provision for the year ended December '
31,2017 in accordance with our understanding of the Tax Legislation and guidance available at the date of this filing and as a result have recorded
adjustments to the various tax balances, current, long-term and deferred tax assets and liabilities, all during the fourth quarter of 2017, the period in which the
Tax Legislation was enacted. The provisional amount related to the remeasurement of certain deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the rates at which
they are expected to reverse in the future was $496 million, representing an income tax benefit recorded during the current penod. The provisional amount
related to the one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of foreign earmings was $2 mullion.

On December 22, 2017, Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 ("SAB 1 18") was 1ssued to address the application of U.S GAAP 1n situations when a
registrant does not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed (including computations) in reasonable detail to complete the accounting
for certain income tax effects of the Tax Legislation In accordance with SAB 118, we have determuned that the $496 million of income tax benefit recorded
in conhection with the remeasurement of certain deferred tax assets and lLiabilities and the $2 mullion of current tax expense recorded in connection with the
transition tax on mandatory deemed repatriation of foreign eamings were each a provisional amount and a reasonable estimate as of the date of this filing
The accounting for these provisional amounts may be adjusted as we gain a better understanding of the new tax laws due to additional guidance and analysis !
of these estimates, including but net limited to, guitdance on application of the one-time transition tax to 10% U.S. sharcholders of a specified foreign
corporation, state tax treatments and finalizing our foreign affiliate analysis. Any subsequent adjustment to these amounts will be recorded to tax expense 1n
the quarter of 2018 when the analysis 1s complete and additional guidance and Internal Revenue Service interpretations are 1ssued.

Federal Mogul, Viskase and ARI have not provided taxes on $784 million, $46 mtilion and $6 mullion, respecuvely of undisinbuted earmings in foreign
subsidiaries which are deemed to be indefinitely reinvested. {f at some future date these !
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eamings cease to be permanently reinvested, we may be subject to foreign income and withholding taxes upon repatnation of such amounts. Determining the
unrecogmized deferred tax liabihity on the potential distnbution of these eamnings 1s not practicable as such liability, ifany, is dependent on circumstances
existing when remittance occurs,

Management periodically cvaluates all evidence, both positive and negative, in detenmining whether a valuation allowance to reduce the camrying value
of deferred tax assets is still needed. For each ofthe three years ended December 31, 2017, we concluded, based on the projections of taxable income, that
certain of our corporate subsidiaries more likely than not will realize a partial benefit from their deferred tax assets and loss camy forwards. Ultimate
realization of the deferred tax assets 13 dependent upon, among other factors, our corporate subsidianes' ability to generate sufficient taxable income wathin
the carryforward periods and is subject to change depending on the tax laws in effect in the years m which the carryforwards are used.

See Note 14, "Income Taxes," to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion regarding our incomes taxes.
Valuation of Investments

The fair value of our investments, including secuntics sold, not yet purchased, is based on observable market prices when available. Secunties owned by
the Investment Funds that are listed on a secunties exchange are valued at their last sales price on the primary secunties exchange on which such secunties
are traded on such date. Secunties that are not listed on any exchange but are traded over-the-counter are valued at the mean between the last “bid” and “ask”
price for such security on such date. Securities and other instruments for which market quotes are not readily available are valued at fair value as determined
in good faith by the applicable general partner. For some investments little market activity may exist; management's determination of fair value 1s then based
on the best information available 1n the circumstances and may incorporate management's own assumptions and invelves a significant degree of judgment.

Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill

We calculate depreciation and amortization on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the vanous definite-lived assets When assets are
placed 1n service, we make estimates of what we believe are their reasonable useful lives.

Long-lived assets held and used by our vanous operating segments and long-lived assets to be disposed of are reviewed for impaimment whenever events
or changes in circumstances, such as vacancies and rejected leases and reduced preduction capacity, indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable In perforting the review for recoverability, we estimate the future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual
disposition. If the sum of the expected future cash flows, undiscounted and withont mnterest charges, is less than the camrying amount of the asset an
impairment loss 18 recognized. Measurement of an impairment loss forTong-lived assets that we expect to hold and use 13 based on the fair value of the asset
Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. Defimite-lrved assets held by our vanous
segments are penodically reviewed for impairment indicators. If impaimment indicators ex1st, we perform the required anakysis and an impairment loss 1s
recognized 1n accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, such as goodwill and trademarks, held by our vanous segments are reviewed for impainment annually, or more
frequently if impairment indicators exist. Goodwill impairment testing involves comparing the fair value of our reponting units to their carrying values. If the
fair value of the reporting unit exceeds 1ts carrying value, no impairment 15 necessary. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an
impaiment loss, equal to the difference (Ilumited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the tested reporting unit), 1s recognized in accordance with U.S.
GAAP. As of Deccmber 31, 2017, five reporting units were allocated goodwill across three reporting segments aggregating $1.275 million. Our Automotive
segment's goodwill accounts for $1,261 million of our consolhidated goodwill and is allocated to three separate reporting units, Powertrain, Motorparts and
Pep Boys, in the amounts 0f $592 million, $349 million and $320 nullion, respectively. These reporting units are tested for impairment annually on October
1. As a result of our annual goodwill impairment analysis for our Automotive segment, the fair value of our Automotive segment's Powertrain, Motorparts and
Pep Boys reporting units exceeded their carrying values by 25%, 6% and 16%, respectively.

We base the fair value of our reporting units on consideration of vanous valuatien methodelogies, including projecting future cash flows discounted at
rates commensurate with the nsks involved ("DCF"). Assumptions used 1n a DCF require the exercise of significant judgment, including judgment about
appropnate discount rates and terminal values, growth rates, and the amount and ttiming of expected future cash flows. The forecasted cash flows are based on
current plans and for years beyond that plan, the estimates are based on assumed growth rates. We believe that our assumptions are consistent with the plans
and estimates used to manage the underlying businesses. The discount rates, which are intended to retlect the nsks inherent 1n future cash flow projections,
used in a DCF are based on estimates of the weighted-average cost of capital of a market participant. Such cstimates are denved from our analysis of peer
companies and consider the industry weighted average retumn on debt and equity from a market participant perspective. The inputs used to determine the fair
values of our reporting units, including future cash flows, discount rates and growth rates and other assumptions involves a significant degree of judgment.
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See Note 5, "Fair Value Measurements,” and Note 8, "Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net," to the consolidated financial statements for further
discusston regarding the fair value measurements of our long-live assets as well as goodwill and intangible assets.

Pension Plans and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

Federal-Mogul sponsors defined benefit pension plans and post-tetirement plans for certain employees and retirees around the world Federal-Mogul's
defined benefit plans are accounted for on an actuarial basis, which requires the selection of vanous assumptions, including an expected long-term rate of
return, discount rate, mortahity rates of participants, and expectation of mortality improvement.

Differcnces in actual expericnce or changes in assumptions may matenally affect the pension and post-retirement plan obligations. Actual results that
differ from assumptions are accumulated in unamortized net actuarial gains and losses which are subject to amortization and expensed over future periods
The unamortized pre-tax actuarial loss on Federal-Mogul's pension plans was $491 million and $544 million at December 31,2017 and 2016, respectively
Federal-Mogul expects to recognize amortization expense of §18 million 1n 2018.

Assumptions used to calculate benefit obligations as of the end ofa fiscal year directly affect the expense to be recognized 1n future periods. The
primary assumpttons affecting our accounting for employee benefits as of December 31, 2017 are as follows:

»  Long-term rate of return on plan assets: In December 2017, an investment policy study was completed for Federal-Mogul's U.S. pension plans. The
study resulted in changes to the expected long-term rate of retum on asscts and 1s designed to approximate a long-term prospective rate. The long-
term rate of return on assets decreased from 5 55% at December 31,2016 te 5.50% at December 31, 201 7. The expected [ong-term rate of return on
plan assets used in determining pension expense for non-U S. plans is determined in a similar manner to the U.S. plans and the weighted average
return on assets increased from 3.05% at December 31, 2016 to 3.26% at December 31,2017

*  Discount rate: The discount rate assumption 1s established at the measurement date In the U.S,, Federal-Mogul uses a cash flow matching approach
that uses projected cash flows matched to spot rates along a high quality corperate yield curve to detenmine the present value of cash flows to
calculate a singie cquivalent discount rate. The benefit obligation for pension plans i Belgium, France, and Gernnany represents 90% of the non-
U.S. pension benefit obligation at December 31,2017 The discount rates for these plans are determined using a cash flow matching approach simlar
to the U.S. approach.

The weighted-average discount rate used to calculate net periodic pension cost 15 3.90% for U.S. pension plans, a weighted average of 2.03% for
non-U.S. pension-plans and 3.98% for its-other post-reurement-benefits. In calculating 1ts benefit-obligations, Federal-Mogul-used a weighted-
average discount rate of 3.50% for 1ts .S, pension plans, a weighted average discount rate 0f2.26% forits non-U 8. pension plans and a discount
rate of 3.68% for its other post-retirement benefits,

= Mortahty Assumptions- Federal-Mogul has reviewed the mortality improvement tables published by the Society of Actuaries in the year ended
December 31, 2017 and determined that the current assumptions are appropriate to measute its December 31, 2017 U S. pension plans' obligations.

*  Health care cost trend: We review cxternal data and our historical trends for health care costs to determine the health care cost trend rate. The
assumed health care cost trend rate used to measure next year’s post-retirement health care benefits 1s 6 4 1% for health care and drug costs, both
declining to an ultimate trend rate of 5.00% 1n 2022,




The following table 1llustrates the sensitivity to a change in certain assumptions for the pension and post-retirement plans. The changes in these
assumptions have no impact on Federal-Mogul's funding requirements.

Pension Benefits Other Post-Retirement
United States Plans Non-U.S. Plans Benefits
Change Change Change
Change in in Change in 2018 in Change in in
2018 expense PBO expense PBO 2018 expense PBO
(1n millions)
25 bp decrease in discount rate. $ {ay & 29 % 1 $ 2 8 0 - § 6
25 bp increase 1n discount rate 1 (28) (1) (19) — (6)
25 bp decrease in return on assets mte ) S w/a — n/a n/a ) n/a
25 bp increase 1n retum on assets rate (2) n/a — n/a n/a n/a

The assumed health care trend rate has a sigruficant impact on the ameunts reported for the post-retirement benefit pian obligations. The following table
illustrates the sensitivity to a change in the assumed health care trend rate:

Total Service and
Interest Cost APBO

{1n millions)

100 bp increase in health care trend rate- § | 23
100 bp decrease in kealth care trend rate n 20)
Derivatives

Our Energy segment's petroleum business uses futures contracts, options, and forward contracts pnmanly to teduce exposure to changes in crude oil
prices and finished goods product prices to provide economic hedges of inventory positions. Although CVR Energy's management considers these
denrvatives economic hedges, these denvative instruments do not qualify as hedges for hedge accounting purposes under ASC Topic 815, Dervatives and
Hedging. and accordingly are recorded at fair value in the consohidated balance sheets. Changes in the fair value ofthese denvative msiruments are recorded
into earnings as a component of other income, net 1n the period of change The estimated fair values of forward and swap contracts are based on quoted
market prices and assumptions for the estimated forward yield curves of related commodities in pertods when quoted market prices are unavailable

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

See Note 2. "Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies," to the consclidated financial statements for a discussion of recent
accounting pronouncements applicable to us.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Our consolidated balance sheets include substantial amounts of assets and liabilitics whose fair values are subject to market nsks. Our significant market
nsks are primarily associated with equity prices, interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity pnces, as discussed below.

Egquity Price Risk

Our predominant exposure to equity price nsk 1s related to our [nvestment segment and the sensitivities to movements in the fair value of' the Investment
Funds' investments.
hivestment

The fair value of the financial asscts and liabilitics of the Investment Funds primarily fluctuates 1n responsc to changes in the value of sccuntics The
net effect of these fair value changes impacts the net gains from investment activities in our consolidated statements of operations. The Investment Funds' nsk
15 regularly evaiuated and is managed on a position basis as well as on a portfolio basis. Senior members of our investment team meet on a regular basis to
assess and review certain risks, including concentration nisk, correlation risk and credit nisk for significant positions Certain nisk metrics and other analytical
tools are used in the normal course of business by the Investment segment.
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The Investment Funds hold investments that arc reported at fair value as of the reporting date, which include securities owned, securities sold, not yet
purchased and denvatives as reported on our conseolidated balance sheets, Based on their respective balances as of December 31, 2017, we estimate that 1n the
event of a 10% adverse change in the fair value of these investments, the fair values of securities owned, securities sold, not yet purchased and detrivatives
would decrease by approximately $953 mllion, $102 million and $1.0 billion, respectively. However, as of December 31, 2017, we estimate that the impact
to our shatre of'the net gain (loss) from investment activities reported in our censolidated statement of operations would be less than the change in fair value
since we have an investment of approximately 41% wn the Investment Funds, and the non-controlling interests in income would correspondingly offset
approximately $9% of'the change 1n fair value. As of December 31, 20186, we estimated that in the event of'a 10% adverse change in the fair value of these
investments, the fair vaiues of securities owned, securities sold, not yet purchased and derivatives would decrease by approximately $921 nullion, $114
million and $1 8 billton, respectively and as of December 31, 2016, cur investntent n the [nvestment Funds was 36%.

Holding Company

The carrying values of investments subject to equity price risks are based on quoted market prices or management's estimates of fair value as of the
balance sheet dates. Market prices are subject to fluctuation and, consequently, the amount realized in the subsequent sale of an investment may significantly
differ from the reported market value. Fluctuation in the market price of a security may result from perceived changes in the underlying econonuc
charactenstics of the investee, the relative price of altemative investments and general market conditions Furthermore, amounts realized in the sale ofa
particular security may be affected by the relative quantity of the security being sold.

Based on sensitivity analysis for our equity price risks as of December31, 2017, the effect of a hypothetical 10% adverse change in market prices would
result 1n loss of approximately $38 million for our Holding Company. As of December 31, 2016, such hypothetical loss was approximately $32 million, with
the difference primarily reflecting a pesitive change 11 the historical price of'the investments held by our Holding Company during 2017 The selected

hypothetical change does not reflect what could be considered the best or worst case scenarnoes. Indeed, results could be far worse due to the nature of equity
markcts.

Interest Rate Risk
Holding Company

The fair values of our long-term debt and other borrowings will fluctuate 1n response to changes tn market interest rates. Increases and decreases in
prevailing interest rates generally translate into decreases and increases in fair values of those instruments. Additionally, fair values of interest rate sensitive
instruments may be affected by the creditwonthiness of the 1ssuer, relative values of altemative investments, the liguidity ef the instrument and other general
market conditions Historically, our Holding Company does not invest in derivative financial instruments, interest rate swaps or other investments that alter
ntérest rate exposure. Qur Holding Company has predominately long-term fixed interest rate ¢ebt. Generally. the fair market value of debt secunties with a
fixed interest rate will increase as interest rates fall, and the fair market value will decrease as interest rates nse. At December 31,2017, all of our Holding
Company's debt had fixed rates and therefore would not be subject to fluctuations in interest rates.

Automotive

Federal-Mogul's exposure to market risk associated with changes in interest mtes relate pnmarily to its debt obligations. At December 31, 2017, Federal-
Mogul had approximately $3 1 billion of debt, of which $2 2 billion bear variable interest rates. Based on Federal-Mogul's borrowings as of December 31,
2017, an adverse market change in interest rates of 10% would have a $3 million impact on Federal-Mogul's cash flows.

At December 31, 2016, Federal-Mogul had approximately $3.0 billion of debt, pnmarily beanng vanable interest rates. At December 31,2016, Federal-
Mogul's term loans, which represent approximately $2.5 billion, were not sensitive to changes in market interest rates because the market rate was below the
interest rate floor within its credit agreement. Therefore, an adverse market change on interest rates of ten percent would have had no effect on cash flows.
Federal-Mogul's revolving lines of credit also have vanable market interest rates and the effect on cash tlow from a 10% adverse change in market rates would
be de minimis for the year ended December 31, 2016. Federal-Mogul's remaining debt consists of foreign debt with primanly vanable interest rates. An
adverse market change in interest rates of 10% with respect to these foreign debts would not matenally affect our Automotive segment'’s consolidated
financial position, results of cperations or cash flows.

Railcar

As of December 31,2017, ARl has no variable rate debt outstanding and borowing availability of 8200 rmllion under a revolving loan with variable
interest rates. In the event ARI were to draw down on this revolving loan, its financial results could be affected by changes in interest rates. If the full $200
million were drawn down, a one percentage point mncrease 13 the rate would have an additional 32 mullion impact on AR[I's interest expense.
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Gaming

Tropicana’s prumary exposure to market risk 1s interest rate risk assoctated with its term loan facility that bears interest based on vanable rates, but shall
not be less than 4.0%. Based on Tropicana's borrowings as of December 31, 2017, assuming a one percentage point increase in the interest rate, which was in
cxecess of the 4 0% floor as of December 31, 2017, Tropicana's annual interest expense would increase by $1 million.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Certain of our subsidiarnes operate in foreign junsdictions and we transact business i foreign currencies. In addition, we may hold investments in
common stocks of major multinational companies whoe have significant foreign business and forcign currency risk of their own Qur net assets subject o
financial statement translation into U.S. Dollars are primarily in our Automotive, Mining and Food Packaging segments.

Automotive

Federal-Mogul has forcign currency cxposures related to buying, selling, and financing tn cumrencies other than the local currencies in which they
operate, As of December 31, 2017, Federal-Mogui's most significant foreign currency exposures were Brazilian real, British pound, Canadian dollar, Chinese
yuan, Czech koruna, euro, Indian rupee, Mexican peso, Polish zloty, Romanian leu, Russian ruble, South Kotean won, and Thai baht. Historically, Federal-
Mogul has reduced 1uts exposure through financial instruments (hedges) that provide offscts or Limits to its exposures, which are opposite to the underlying
transactions. Federal-Mogul did not hold any foreign cummency pnce hedge contracts at December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Federal-Mogul is exposed to foreign currency nsk due to the translation and remeasurement of the results of certain intemational operations into U.S,
Dollars as part of the consolidation process. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates can therefore create volatility in the results of operations and
may adversely affect Federal-Mogul's financial condition.

Federal-Mogul recorded translation gains {losses} in accumulated other comprehensive loss of $116 million and $(145) mtlion for the years ended
December 31,2017 and 2016, respectively. and recorded translation (losses) gains in earnings of $(12) mullion and $2 millien for the year ended December
31,2017 and 2016, respectively.

Federal-Mogul 1ssued notes in the amount €1,065 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. Federal-Mogul has designated €736 million of
these notes as a net nvestment hedge 1n certain foreign subsidiaries and affiliates of Federal-Mogul. As such, an adverse change 1n foreign cumrency exchange
rates will have no cffcct on camings For the portion of the debt not designated as a net investment hedge, Federal-Mogul has other natural hedges 1in place
that will offset any adverse change in foretgn cumency exchange rates A 10% adverse change 1n foreign currency exchange rates between the Euro and U.S.
Dollar as of December 31, 2017 would increase the amount of cash required to settle the Euro Notes by approximately $128 milhion.

Mining

Femrous Resources’ principal objective 15 to produce iron ore which 1s typreally priced in U S. dollars The majonty of 1ts funding and cash balancges are
also denominated in U 8. dollars. A proportion of Ferrous Resources’ costs are incurred in Brazilian reals while significant capital expenditures are expected
to be incurred 1n U.S. dollars Accordingly. our Mining segment’s financial results may be impacted by exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and
the Brazilian real Our Mining segment estimates that a hypothetical 10% adverse movement of the Brazilian real against the U.S dollar during the year
ended December 31, 2017 would have increased net income attributable to Icahn Enterpnises for cur Mining segment by $6 million

Food Packaging

Viskase has foreign currency exposures related to buying, selling, and financing in currencies other than the local currencies in which they operate At
December 31, 2017, Viskase's most significant foreign currency exposures were Euro, Mexican peso. Polish zloty, Brazilian real and Philippine peso.

Viskasc 13 exposcd to foreign cumrency nsk due to the translation and remcasurcment of the results of certain international operations imto US Dollars
as part of the conselidation process. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates can therefore create volatility in the results of operations and may
adversely affect Viskase's financial condition.

Viskase recorded translation gains (losses) in accumulated other comprehensive loss of $9 mullion and $(5) million for the years ended December 31,
2017 and 2016, respectively, and recorded translation gains in earnings of $2 mullion and 34 muilion for the year ended December 31,2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Commodity Price Risk

Certain of our subsidiaries use commodities in varnious ways 1n production and as such, are subject to pnice risks related to vanous commodites.
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Automortive

Commodity rate price forward contracts are executed to offset a portion of our exposure to the potential change in prices mzinly for various non-ferrous
metals used in the manufactunng of automotive components The net fair value of Federal-Mogul's contracts was a net asset of $1 million and $4 million at
December31,2017 and 2016, respectively At Decomber 31,2017, Federal-Mogul performed a sensitivity analysts to assess the cffects of a 10% adverse
change in commodity prices. Based upon the analysis performed, such changes would not be expected to materially affect cur Automotive segment's
consplidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows

Energy

CVR Refining, as a manufacturer of refined petroleum products, and CVR Partners, as a manufacturer of nitrogen fertilizer products, all of which are
commedities, have exposure to market pricing for products sold in the future. In order to realize value from our Energy segment's processing capacity, a
positive spread between the cost of raw matenals and the value of finished products must be achieved (1 e., gross margin or crack spread). The physical
commodities that compnse our raw materials and finished goods are typically bought and sold at a spot or index price that can be highly vanable,

Our Energy segment's petroleum business uses a crude oil purchasing intermediary, Vitol, to purchase the majority of its non-gathered crude oil
inventory for the refineries, which allows 1t to take title to and price 1ts crude oil at locations in close proximity to the refineres, as opposed to the crude o1l
onigination point, reducing 1ts risk associated with volatile commodity prices by shortening the commodity conversion cycle time. The commodity
conversion cycle time refers to the time elapsed between raw material acquisition and the sale of finished goods. In addition, the petroleum business seeks to
reduce the variability of commaodity price exposure by engaging in hedging strategies and transactions that will serve to protect gross margins as forecasted
in the annual operating plan. Accordingly, the petroleum business uses commodity derivative contracts 10 economically hedge future cash flows (1.c., gross
margin or crack spreads) and product inventones. With regard to its hedging acuvities, the petroteum business may enter into, or has entered into, denvative
instrumnents which setve to:

« lock in or fix a percentage of the anticipated or planned gross margin in future periods when the denvative market offers commodity spreads that
generate positive cash flows;

» hedge the value of inventories in excess of minimum required inventones; and
+  manage existing derivative positions related to change in anticipated operations and market conditions

Further, CVR Energy's petroleum business intends to engage only 1n risk-mitigating activities directly related to its businesses The mitrogen ferulizer
business has not historically hedged for commodity prices.

Basis Risk

The effectiveness of our Energy segment's derivative strategies is dependent upon the comrelation of the pnce index utilized for the hedging activity and
the cash or spot price of the physical commodity for which pnice risk is being mitigated Basis risk 1s a term our Energy segment uses to define that
relationship Basis risk can exist due to severai factors including fime or location differences between the derivative instrument and the underlying physical
commodity. The selection ot the appropnate index to utilize 1n a hedging strategy 13 a ptime consideration 1 our Energy segment's basis nisk exposure.

Examples of CVR Energy's basis nsk exposure are as follows:

« Time Basis - In entenng over-the-counter swap agreements, the settlement price ofthe swap s typically the average price ofthe underlying
commodity fora designated calendar penod. This settlement price is based on the assumption that the underlying physical commodity will price
ratably over the swap period If the commodity does not move ratably over the penods, then weighted-average physical prices will be weighted
differently than the swap price as the result of timing.

»  Location Basts - In hedging New York Mercantile Exchange ("NYMEX") crack spreads, CVR Energy may be subject to location basis as the
settlement oF NYMEX refined products {related more to New York Harbor cash markets) may differ from the prices of refined products in CVR
Energy's Group 3 pricing area.

Price and Basis Risk Management Activities

In the event CVR Energy's inventories exceed 1ts petroleum business' target base level of inventories, CVR Energy may enter into commodity derivative
contracts to manage price exposure to its inventory positions that are 1n excess of its base level. Excess inventories typically result from plant operations,
such as a turnaround or other plant maintenance.

To reduce the basis nisk between the price of products for Group 3 and that of the NYMEX associated with selling forward denvative contracts for
NYMEX crack spreads, the petroleum business may enter into basis swap positions to lock the price difference. If the difference between the pnce of products
on the NYMEX and Group 3 (or some other pnce benchmark as
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specified 1n the swap) 1s dufferent than the value contracted in the swap, then it will receive from or owe to the counterparty the difference on each unit of
product contracted in the swap, thereby completing the locking of its margin. An example of the petreleum business' use of a basis swap is 1n the winter
heating 01l season. The risk associated with not hedging the basis when using NYMEX forward contracts to fix future marguns is if the crack spread increases
based on pnces traded on NYMEX while Group 3 pricing remains flat or decreases then our petreleum business would be in a position to lose money on the
denivative position while not earning an offsetting additional margin on the physical position based on the Group 3 pricing.

From time to time, the petroleum business also holds vanous NYMEX positions through a third-party clearing house. At December 31,2017, CVR
Refining had no open commodity positions. At December 31,2017, CVR Refining's account balance maintained at the third-party cleanng house totaled $1
million, which 15 reflected on the consolidated balance sheets in cash and cash equivalents, NYMEX transactions conducted for the year ended December 31,
2017 resulted in loss on denvatives, net of less than $1 mmllion.

CVR Refining enters into commodity swap contracts in order to fix the margin on a portion of future production. Additionally, CVR Refining may enter
into pnce and basis swaps in order to fix the price on a portion of its commodity purchases and produet sales. The physical volumes are not exchanged and
these contracts are net settled with cash. The contract fair value of the commodity swaps 1s reflected on the consolidated balance sheets with changes in fair
value currently recognized 1n the consclidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2017, CVR Refining had open commodity swap instruments
consisting of 7.1 million barrels ot 2-1-1 crack spreads, 3.6 million barrels of distiilate crack spreads and 3.6 million barrels of gasoline crack spreads.
Additionally, as of December 31, 2017, CVR Refining had open forward purchase and sale commitments for 5 8 million barrels of Canadian crude cil priced
at fixed differentials that are not considered probable of physical settlement and are accounted for as denvatives at December 31, 2017. A change of $1.00 per
barrel 1n the fair value ofthe benchmark would result 1n an increase or decrease in the related fair values of commodity instruments of $18 mullion. The fair
value of the outstanding contracts as of December 31, 2017 was a net unrealized loss of $64 million,

Credit Risk
We and the Investment Funds are subject to certain inherent risks through our investments.

Our entities typically invest excess cash 1n large money market funds. The money market funds pnmarily invest in government securities and other
short-term, highly liquid instruments with a low risk of loss. The Investment Funds also maintain free credit balances with their prime brokers and in interest
beanng accounts at major banking institutions. We scck to diversify our cash investments across scveral accounts and 1nstitutions and monstor performance
and counterparty risk.

The [nvestment Funds and, to a lesser extent, other entities hold derivative instruments that are subject to credit nsk in the event that the counterparties
are unable to meet the terms of such agreements. When the Investment Funds make such investments, or enter into other arrangements where they might suffer
a significant loss through the default or insolvency of a counterparty, we menitor the credit quality of such counterparty and seck to do business with
creditworthy counterparties. Counterparty nsk is monitored by obtaining and reviewing pubiic information filed by the counterparties and others.

Compliance Program Price Risk

As a producer of transportation fuels from petroleum, CVR Refining is required to blend biofuels into the product it produces or to purchase RINs in the
open market 1n lieu of blending to meet the mandates established by the EPA. CVR Refining 1s exposed to market nsk related to volathlity 1n the pnice of
RINs needed to comply with the Renewable Fuel Standards ("RFS"). To mitigatc the impact of this nsk on our Encrgy segment's results of operations and cash
flows, CVR Refining purchased RINs when prices are deemed favorable See Note 17, "Commitments and Contingencies,” to the consolidated firancial
statements for further discussion about compliance with the RFS
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Partners
Icahn Enterprises L.P.

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Icahn Enterprises L.P. (a Delaware limited partnership) and subsidianes {the
“Partnershup”) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the penod ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes and schedule {collectively referred to as the “financial
statements”). In our opinton, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Partnership as of December 31,2017
and 2016, and the results of its operations and 1ts cash flows for each of the three years in the penod ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with
accounting pnnciples generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAQB™), the Partnership’s
internal contrel over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on critera established n the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework 1ssued by
the Commuttee of Sponscoring Organizations of the Treadway Commussion (“COSQ™), and our report dated March 1, 2018 expressed an unmedified opinion.

Bass for opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Cur responsibility 1s to express an opinion on the Partnerships financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Partnership
in accordance with the US federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error ar fraud. Our audits included performing procedures
to assess the rsks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud. and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our oprition.

/s/{GRANT THORNTON LLP

We have served as the Partnership’s auditor since 2004.

New York, New York
March 1, 2018
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REFPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Partners
[cahn Enterprises Holdings L.P.

Opinion on the tinancial statements

We have auditcd the accompanying conselidated balance sheets of Icahn Enterpnses Holdings L.P. (a Delaware limited partnership) and subsidiaries (the
“Partnership”} as of December 31, 2017 and 20186, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes 1n equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes and schedule (collectively referred to as the “financial
statements™). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Partnership as of December 31, 2017
and 2016, and the results of 1ts operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the penod ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with
accounting pnnciples generally accepted 1n the United States of America.

Basis for opmion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Partnership’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB™}
and are required to be independent with respect 1o the Partnership 1n accerdance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of'the Secunties and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits 1n accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to emor or fraud. The Partnership 1s not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its intemal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of
nternal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Partnership’s intemal control over
financial reporting Accordingly, we express no such opimon.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of matenal misstaternent of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basts, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 1n
the financial statements. Our audits also 1ncluded evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the tinancial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for cur opinion.

/s/GRANT THORNTON LLP
We have served as the Partnership’s auditor since 2004

New York, New York
March 1,2018



ICAHN ENTERPRISES L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except unit amounts}

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalenis™ ‘ S o P
Cash held at consolidated affiliated parinerships and. restricted cash
Tnvestments ’ C X i
Due trom brokers
Actounts receivable; net
Inventorics, net
Property, phant and equipment,net. - L ) ‘ .
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net:
Agsets held for sale
Otherassets - -~
Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Unrealized loss on derivative contracts
Secunties seld, not yet purchased. at fair value
Due to brokers
Postemployment benefit Liabilsty
Liabilities held forsale
Debt
Total liabiliries

Coemmitments and contingencies (Note 17

Equity:
Limited partners: Depositary units 173,564 307 and 144,741,149 units 1ssued and outstanding at
December 31,2017 and 2016, respectively

General partner |
Equity attributable to Icahn Enterprises
Equity attributable to non-controifing interests
Total equity
Total Liabilities and Equity-

See notes to consolidated finascial statements.
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December 31,

2017 2016

§ » o 1682° % 1,833
186 304

10369 9381

506 1,482

1805 1.669.

3261 2,983

T 901 - 10,122

1,275 1,136

1,135 1,116

17 1,366
1264 1039

3 31,801 $ 33371
¥ 2064 3 1,765
1,743 1,895

924 1,613

1275 1,139

1,023 1,139

1.057 3725

1.159 1,180

3 1,779

11,185 11,119

20,433 25,354

5341 2,448

235) 294)
5.106 2,121__

6262 5,863

11,368 8,017

3 31801 § 33371




ICAHN ENTERPRISES L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In millions, except per unit amounts)

Revenues:
Net sales
Other revenues from operations
Net gain (loss) from investment activities
Interest and dividend income
Gain on dispesition of assets, net
Other income, net

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold
Other expenses from operations
Selling, general and administrative
Restructuring
Impairment
Interest expense
Income (loss) before income tax benefit (expense)
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net income (loss)
Less: net income {loss) attributable to non-controiling interests

Net income (loss) attributable to Icahn Enterprises

Net income (loss) attnbutable to lcahn Enterprises allocable to:
Limited partners
General partner

Basic and dituted income (loss) per LP unit
Basic and diluted weighted average LP units outstanding

Cash distributions declared per LP unit

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015

17,303 15,511 % 14,604
1,827 1,958 1,386
304 (1373 987}
136 131 194
2,166 ‘14 40
g 107 35
21,744 16,348 15,272
15,005 13,412 12,741
1,041 1,159 643
2,565 2,342 1,908
25 32 97
112 709 788
843 878 1,154
19,591 18,532 17334
2,153 2,184) (2,059)
438 (36) (68)
2.591 (2.220) 2,127)
161 £1,092) (933}
2430 (1.,128) % ¢1.194)
2,382 (1,106) % (1,170}
48 (22) (24)
2,430 {1,128) 3% (1,194)
14.80 B.07 $ 9.29)
161 137 126
6.00 600 § 6.00

See notes to consalidated financial statements.

61



1CAHN ENTERPRISES L.P, AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOQLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

{In millions)
Year Ended December 31,
2017 06 2015

Netincamg (loss). . o Co s 2598 @220 % @127Y
Other comprchenswe income (loss), net of tax:

Post:employment benefits o ” " ( A 50 A - 0 -

Hedge instruments (1} 3 1

Transtation adjustmbnts and other. . - o T 124 o ass) T 2%
Other comprehensive income (loss) net of'tax 173 (127 (164)
Comprehensive income (oss) L : Y 2764 - (2,347) (2,291
Less: Comprehenswe sncome (loss) attributable to non—ccmtro]hng interests 177 (1,112) 973)
Compmhenswe ingome (oss) stributable to foahn Enterprises © s - 2587 . % 1235) § (1318)
Comprehénsive income (foss) attributable to fcahn Enterprises allocable to!

Limited partners $ 2536 8 (12100 3 (1,292}

Goneral partaer st 25) " (26)

$ 2587 % (1,235) 8 (1318)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss was 51,411 million and §1,584 million at December 31, 2017 and 20186, respectively

See notes fo consolidated financial statemen!s.
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Balance, Becember 31, 2014 -

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Partmership distnbutions

Investment segment contributions

[nvestment segment distnbutions

Dividends and distributions t¢ nen-controlling.
interests. in subsidiaries

Proceeds from subsidiary equity offerings

Changes in subsidiary equity and other

Balance, December 31, 2015

Net loss ’

Other comprehensive loss

Parinership distributions

Parmership contributions

Investment segment contributions

Investment segment distrrbutions

Dividends and distributions fo non-cenirolling.
mterests in subsidiaries

LP unit issuance

Changes in subsidiary equity and other
Balance, December 31, 2016

Net income

Other comprehensive income
Partnership distributions

Partnership contnbutions

Investment segment contributions

Drvidends and dismbunons to non-conwrolhng
interests m subsidiarics

Cumulative cffect adjustinent from adoption of
ageounting principal

Changes m subsidiary equity and other

Balance, December 31, 2017

ICAHN ENTERPRISES L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(In miilions)

Equity Attributable to Icahn Enterprises

General Partner's Limited Total Partners' Non-controlling
{Deficit) Equity Partners' Equity Equity Interests Total Equity

$ 229 $. EX 772 T ‘5443 8 . 6947 & 12,390
24 (1.17¢) (1,194) (933) 2,127
o 4 Tgm C 124y 40y (164)°

(2} (114) (116} — (116)

— - B 1276 " 276

— — — (36) (36)

—_ — — 252) (252)

— — — 3l 31

—_ - 22 N 53 31

(257) 4,244 3,987 6,046 10,033

2y {1,106y (1,128) {1.092) (2.220)

3 (104) (107 (20) (127)
2 (101) {103y — (183),

1 — 1 — 1
' - - ' — s08 7 T s08
— — — (N (7)
— —_ — (26} (86)-

— 35 35 — 35

(i (520) {531} 517 (14)

(294) 2,448 2,154 5.863 3.017

48 2,382 2,430. 161 . 2,501

3 154 157 16 173

@ a9 (81} — (81)

12 600 612 — 612
s - — 600 600

— — — 92 (92)

E)] 46} a7 —_— 47

(1 (118) (119) (286) (405)

b 235 & 534§ 5108 8 6262 & 11,368

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ICayy ENTERPRISES LP anp SUBS!D!ARIES
CONSOLIDATE DSTATE MENTS

OF casg FLOwg
{In miﬂions)

Net 1606 (1, — » i @iz, y sy
Ady Usteacnty gy, feconcife nop mcbmcn‘ass) 0 het ey Proviged by Bpesating acttvites
Nt (gain} fogq Fom securitjog D actians : . ) a5 Lo . ey Lz
Purchaseg o Isecucsteg 731} (2.59) . {6,552,
Procoods fhomg st OFsocusipiey ( o 2413 . T30, o 4231
Punchases 10 cover SeCuny, g S0, pgg e Purchaged torg) (361 15775
1002044 fomm sy g SO, 50 et oo ’ 1 set a5z
Changes p, feuen ab g and Payabiey Telating g, Secintyeg transacrong 117043 (4,823 ) 2,085
Oxm O Aty u;‘ﬂme;. nei T ‘ » . ' (2,166} il . . ’ {403,
Deprecmx’en ang MmOTtzatiap Loy ) 1934 . 863
pairmamy | - ’ ' . . iy 100 R,
Eyuiry curmingy ﬁnmnnn—cunsehdacﬂ A filrates {3y (o) 62)
Defor oy ey w92 o0 o0
Crther, neg 43 &6 2
Changes i, CPermting aprery and tiabifitjeg: ‘
Changes ™ sty o)y g Censolidasog atlil gy pann:rshxps angd Testtiered cdih 23 447 108
Actoupry Tetivalile, ey 67y 7 45
rmenlorm, ace {regy &2 71 174y
Otlter angge, (LE3) 2B (200
Accouary Payahle 184 is i32)
Unrvq!w 1055 op dettvative oDty 138 §ED3 593
Aceryeq exPenseg ang Dzhefhahnlmcs (134) {372, a4
Net caspy {0t ju) pnv‘d«!"ly"m«ll Actv igiey tE.434] [ X311 743
Cash Tows fram invemng Activigipy,
Copitas X Penditymn, 991y 826) (1,159
!\Cqulsllmn of busme.rses. D ofcach 2qusad {2573 (Losoy {355}
Purchagy ofadditiogat Bterpsty iy, SRS idnay Subsidliggies, 149} . 2 _
Procesgy fmmdxsuuutmn Fassag 2,064 43 9n
Porchisey Finvestmgne 82y {1043 . (3451
! >rher, net

Investmens Segmeny dulnbuuons fiom nun-cualmiilng HItCes )y

F&m‘m&ip “ontribation,

K4
(2.385)

} , s0 sas o

78
~— [V {365
e - ‘ . -
(81) thesy g
" e C o k1)
82) {¥8) (253,
2470 . — -
(2.450) — —_
‘isye ' 29 - R Lyvr
(3,015; (2353 {972)
R Qg . 723 5%
3 2 20 .
743 . & 816
la a1 71
e ey <, {1y
sty (2455 (83p)



ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.P. AND) SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
{In millions)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents Lo o T e - ; et
Cash held at consalidated affiliated partnershups and restricted cash
Investinents
Due from brokers
Accounis receivable, net. .

[nventories, net
Property; plant and equipment, net.” -
Goodwill
Intangible agsets, net
Assets held for sale
Other assets
Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Accouitts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Deferred tax hiability
Unrealized loss on derivative contracts
Seccurities sold, not yet purchased, at fair value
Due to brokers )
Post-employment benefit liability
Liabilities held for sale
Debt
Total labilities.

Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)

Equity:

Limited partner

Gengeral partner
Equity attributable to Icahn Enterprises Holdings
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total Liabilities and Equity.

See nofex fo vonsolidated financial statements.
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December 31,
2017 2016
$ooovorm 0 1,682 % 1,833
786 804
10,369 9,881
506 1,482
‘1,805 1,608
3,261 2,983
9,701 10,122 ¢
1,275 1,136
1,138 1,116
17 1,366
1.296 1,067 -
$ 31,833 & 33,399
$ 2,064 3% 1,765
1,743 1,895 .
924 1,613
1,275 1,139
1,023 1,139
1,057 3,725 -
1,159 1,180
3 - 1,779
11,190 11,122
20,438 25357
5,420 2,496
287y 317y
5,133 2.179
6,262 5,863
11,395 8,042
$ 31,833 § 33,399




ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In millions)

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2018
Revenues:
Net sales - $ 17363 % 15511 % 14,604 -
Other revenues from operations 1,827 1,958 1,386
Net gain (foss) from investment activities - 304 - 1373} (987)
Interest and dividend income 136 131 194
Gain on disposition of assets, net . 2,166 14 40
Other income, net 9 107 35
21,745 16,348 15272
Expenses:
Cost of gaods sald 15,005 13,412 12,741 °
Other expenses from operations 1,041 1,159 643
Selling, general and adminisfrative 2,565 2,342 1,908 °
Restructunng 25 32 97
Impairment 12 709 788
[nterest expense 842 877 1,153
19,556 18,531 17,330
Income (loss) before income tax benefit (expense) 2,155 (2,183) (2,058)
Income tax benefit (expense) 438 (36) (68)
Net income (loss) 2,593 (2,219) (2,126)
Less: net income (loss) attributable to non-controiling interests 161 {1,092} {933}
Net income (loss) attributable to Icahn Enterprises Holdings $ 2432 % (1,127) % (1,193)
Net income (loss) attributable to [cahn Enterprises Heldings allocable to:
Limited partner % 2408 3 {1.116y 3% (1,181)
General partner 24 an {12)
£ 2432 § {L,i27y % (1,193}

See notes to consolidated financiul statements.
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ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In miilions)

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 215

Net income (loss) - L A B < - e s - eae
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of'tax:

Post-emplaymmbégeﬁme R ' o EI ) ’ j,' 56 - R 1 L -

Hedge instruments 48] 3 1

Translation adjustments and other .~ . . . e ’ 7 Coa48y © @28y
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 173 {127} {164}
Comprehensive income (loss) - ©. e 2766 - . (2346F - (2250}
Less, Comprehensive income {loss) attributable to non—controlling interests 177 (1,112) {973)
Comprehensive incomé (loss) attributable to loahn Enterprises Holdings - . . 8 2589 8 . (1234) 3- T (a7
Comprehensive income (foss) attributable to Icahn Enterprises Holdings allocable

ta .

Linuted partner 3 2,563 § 1,222y $ (1,304}

General partner . ., | e e . . I ¢ v R (13},

3 2,589 3 1,234y 3 (1,317}

Accumulated other comprehensive [oss was 31,411 million and $1,584 mllion at December 31, 2017 und 2016, respectively

See nores 1o consohdared financial starements,
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Balance, December 31, 2014

Net loss

Other comprehensive foss

Partnership disiributions

Investment segment conirtbutions

Investment segment distributions

Dividends and distributions to non-controdling
interests in subsidiaties .

Proceeds from subsidiary equity offerings

Changes in subsidiary equity and other

Balance, December 31, 2015

Net loss

Other comprehensive [oss

Parmership distributions

Partnership contribution

Investment Segment contributions

Investment segment distribuhions

Dividends and distubutions to non-controlling
interesis in subsidiaries

LP urut 1ssuance

Changes i subsidiary equity and other
Balance, December 31, 2016

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Partnership distributions

Partnership contributions

Investment segment contributions

Duvidends and distributions to non-controlling
interests in subsidiaries

Curnmalative effect adjustment from adoption of
accounting principal

Changes in subsidiary equity and other

Balance, December 31, 2017

ICAHN ENTERFRISES HOLDINGS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES INEQUITY
(In millions)

Equity Attributable to Icahn Enterprises Holdings

General Partner's Limited Tatal Partners’ Non-contrelling
Equity (Deficit) Partner's Equity Equity Interests Total Equity
$ (285) % 5951 8 5466 & 6947 § 12.413
12y {1,181} (1,193) (933) (2,126)
(1) (123) (124y {40y {163y
(1} (115) (116) — {116}
— — — 276 276
— — — (36) {36)
— — — {252) {252}
— — — 31 31
—_ an’ o2 53 . 31
(299) 4,310 4,011 6.046 10,057
(11} {1,116) (5,127} (1,092 (2,219%-
(1y (106) (107) 20) (127N
(¢35 (102) {103} — {103}
1 — 1 — 1
— — ’ . 505 503
— — — 7 M
— — — (86) (36)
—— 35 35 — 35
(6) (525) {530 517 14y’
317y 2,496 2.179 5,863 3.042
24 2,08 2,432 16l 2,593
2 155 157 16 173
) (80) (81) - 81y
6 606 612 — 612
—_— —_ — 600 60¢
— — — {92) {92)
—_ (47) 1) - @7
) (118) 1y (286) (405)
$ (287). § 3420 % 5133 % 6262 % 11,395

See notes to consolidated financial statemenls.
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ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows (rom operating activities:

MNat incorte (loss) - : L . ' : i ‘e e

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operatng activities®
Net (gain} 1698 fromk Sccurities trmsactions, : K T .

Purchases of secunities

Proceods from salés of securities

Purchases 1o caver secunities sold, not yet purchased

” ds fro iti. enh‘:ﬁnfyn' ...
Changes 1n recery ables and payables relating to secunties transactions
Gain on disposition ofsssets, set 7 |
Depreciation and amonization
Irtpoirment
Equity carnings from nua~consaoitdated sffiliates
Deferned taxes
Other, net
Changes 1 opernting swsots and lubifities:
Changes 1 cash held at consolidared atfiliated partnerships and restricted cash
Accounts recorvable, et
fnvctifones, net
Other assety

Assounts payable

U d joss on dersvety !
Accrued expenses and other habiliues
Netcash (vaed ju) pravided by aprruting activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Acquisttion of businesses. net of cash acquired

Purchase ofadditional i " 1ot arabe el s

Proceeds from disposition of assets

Purchasex of investments

{ther, net

Netcush pravided by fused iu)klnvminguﬂvmu

Cash flows from financiog activiries:

1 3w butions from \}m—«mtmllinx futerests
Iy es? ¢ segment distribut, [ront non-contrallthg mterests
Partuership cantnbutions ’ ) ’ . e '

Pannership distrtbutions

Proceeds from subsidiary oquicy offecingy

Dividends and distribulions to hon-cenirolling interests in subsidianes
Proceeds from Holding Company semiprunsecured nofes

Repayments ot Holding Company senior unsécured nokes

Praceeds from subsidlary bomowings

Repayments of subsudiary borrowings

Subsidiacy repurchase o ftreagucy siook”
{ther, net

Netoash prw}dod by finagiing actvitics
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cush cquivalents
Net chanﬁe in casﬁ ofassess held forsale .

Netdecrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivatents beginnmg efp}nnﬂ

Cash and cash cquivalents, end of period

(In millions)

Year Ended December 31,
017 016 2015
8 29 Cpaw s a8y
@y, ) e 157
(781) (Z059} (6,552)
’ 2415, - 1530 4
(1.078) 361 5
T2 . . 516 952,
(1.704) (4.828) 2085
' Aiedy {14 ) . (4&{"
1816 1033 862
1z 708 233
{7t} {64} {61}
392 iy (03
47 113 49
23 447 168
167} Tz 437
(198) 3% {74y
a1 261 on’
181 13 an
136 1,103 (593)
(134) (372) 59
(1,436) 1,683 748
90 (326) €359
@257 (1.050) (855)
(349) @ —
2.064 43 90
@2F {E00) (3435)
9 81 74
414 (1.354) 2.345)
) 500 505 276
— 144 1363
! : 82 1 -
B (Lu3) (1186)
— i 1.
[tha) (863 (252
2470 - —
@450 — —
2757 2198 . 1372
(1035) 2,352) 972}
36) an L en
3 2 (20)
743 37 856 .
n 31 (Y]
T8 (o) Un
sty (245) ®30)
1833 . 2078 2,908 7
s 1,682 $ 15713 $ 2078

See notes ta cansolidated financial statements.



ICAHN ENTERPRISES L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business.

Overview

Tcahn Enterprises L.P. (“Icahn Enterprises™) is a master limited partnership formed in Delaware on February 17, 1987. Icahn Enterpnses Holdings L.P

[*“Icabn’ Enterprises Holdings™) is a limited partnership formed in Delaware on February 17, 1987 References to "we;" "our” or "us" herein include both Icahn
Enierprises and Icahn Enterprises Holdings and their subsidianes, unless the context otherwise requires,

Icahn Enterprises owns a 99% limited partner interest in Icahn Enterprises Holdings. leahn Enterprises G.P Inc. ("lcahn Enterpnises GP™), which 1s owned
and controlled by Mr. Carl C. Icahn, owns a 1% general partner interest 1n each of [cahn Enterprises and {cahn Enterprises Holdings as of December 31, 2017,
Icahn Enterprises Holdings and its subsidiaries own substantially all of our asscts and habilities and conduct substantially all of cur operations. Therefore,
the financial results of Icabn Enterprises and lcahn Enterprises Holdings are substantially the same, with differences relating primarily to debt, as discussed
further in Note 10, "Debt,” the allocation of the general partner interest, which is reflected as an aggregate 1 99% general partner interest in the financial
statements of [cahn Enterprises. In addition to the above, Mr. [cahn and his affiliates owned approximately 91.0% of Icahn Enterpnses’ outstanding
depositary units as of December 31,2017.

Description of Operating Businesses

We are a diversified holding company owning subsidianes currently engaged in the following continuing operating businesses: Investment,
Automotive, Energy, Railcar, Gaming, Metals, Mining, Food Packaging, Real Estate and Home Fashion. We also report the results of our Holding Company,
which includes the results of certain subsidianies of Icahn Enterprises and Icahn Enterprises Holdings {unless otherwise noted), and investment activaty and
expenses associated with our Holding Company. See Note 13, "Segment and Geographic Reporting,” for a reconciliation of each of our reporting segment's
results of operations to our conselidated results. Certain additional information with respect to our segments are discussed below.

.i'n vesiment

Our Investment segment is comprised of various private investment funds (the "Investment Funds") in which we have general partner interests and
through which we invest our proprietary capital. We and certain of Mr Icahn's whelly owned affiliates are the only investors in the Investment Funds As
general partner, we provide investment advisory and certain administrative and back office services to the Investment Funds but do not provide such services
to any othcr entitics. individuals or accounts Intcrests in the Investment Funds are not offered to outside investors. We had interests in the Investment Funds
with a fair value of approximately $3.0 billion and $1 7 billion as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Auromotive

We conduct our Automotive segment through our wholly owned subsidhanes Federal-Mogul LLC ("Federal-Mogul”) and lcahn Automotive Group LLC
("Icahn Automotive™). Icahn Automotive is the parent company of IEH Auto Parts Holding LLC ("IEH Auto"), The Pep Boys - Manny, Moe & Jack ("Pep
Boys") and the franchise businesses of Precision Tune Autc Care (“Precision Tune") and Amencan Driveline Systems, the franchisor of AAMCO and Cottman
Transmission service centers ("Amernican Driveline"), among various other businesses. Precision Tune and American Driveline were acquired 1n 2017 for an
aggregate purchasc price of $162 million. Pep Boys was acquired in 2016 for aggregate consuderation of approximately $1.2 billion. The allocation ofthe
purchase pnice of Pep Boys was finalized 1n 2017 and did not change significantly from the amounts reported in our balance sheet as of December 31, 2016.
[EH Auto and TRW's valvetrain business were acquired in 2015 for a purchase price 0f$325 millien and $374 mullion, respectively.

Federal-Mogul 1s engaged in the manufacture and distibution of automotive parts. lcahn Automotive is engaged in the distributton of automotive parts
ih the aftermarket as well as providing automotive services to its customers.

On March 26, 2015, Federal-Mogul received $250 million n connection with 1ts previcusly announced common stock registered nghts offering (the
“Federal-Mogul Rights Offering”). In connection with the Federal-Mogul Rights Offening, we tully exercised our subscription rights under our basic and over
subscription privileges to purchase additional shares of Federal-Mogul common stock, thereby mcreasing our ownership of Federal-Mogul, for an aggregate
additional investment of $230 million.
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Durning January 2017, we increased our ownership 1n Federal-Mogul from 82% to 100% through a tender otfer for the remaining shares of Federal-Mogul
commeon stock not alrcady owned by us and a subsequent short form merger for an aggregate purchase price of $305 mullion

Energy

We conduct our Energy segment through our majonty ownership in CVR Energy, Inc. ("CVR Energy™) CVR Energy 1s a diversified holding company
primarily engaged in the petrolcum refining and nitrogen fertilizer manufacturing industries through its holdings in CVR Refining L.P. ("CVR Refining") and
CVR Partners L. P. ("CVR Partners"}, respectively. CVR Refining is an independent petroleum refiner and matketer of high value transportation fuels. CVR
Partners produces and markets nitrogen fertilizers in the fonm of urea ammonium nitrate and ammonia. As of December 31,2017, CVR Energy owned 100%
of'each of the general partners of CVR Refining and CVR Partners and approximately 66% and 34% of the commen units of CVR Refining and CVR
Partners, respectively.

As of December 31, 2017, we owned approximately 82.0% of'the total outstanding common stock of CVR Energy. In addition, as of December 31,
2017, we directly owned approximately 3 9% of'the total outstanding common units of CVR Retining

Dunng 2016, CVR Partners acquired a nitrogen fertilizer business for total purchase price consideration which included the 1ssuance of common units
of CVR Partners with a fair value of $336 nullion, cash paid of $99 million and debt assumed with a fair value of $368 nullion.

Railcar

We conduct our Railcar segment through our majonty ownership in Amencan Railcar Industnes, Inc. ("ARI"Y and, pnior to June 1, 2017, our wholly
owned subsidiary Amencan Railcar Leastng, ELC ("ARL"). As of December 31, 2017, we owned approximately 62.2% ofthe total outstanding common stock
of ARL As discussed below, we sold ARL during 2017,

ARIis a North Amernican designer and manufacturer of hopper and tank railcars. ARI provides its raiicar customers with integrated solutions through a
comprehenstve set of high-quality products and related services through its manufactunng, leasing and railcar services operations. ARY's manufacturing
consists of railcar manufactuning and railcar and industrial component manufactuning. ARI's railcar leasing business consists of railcars built by ARI leased to
third parties under operating leases. ARI's railcar services consist of railcar repair, engineering and field services.

Durimg 2017, we sold ARL and 1ts fleet of more than 34,000 rarlcars to SMBC Rail Services, LLC ("SMBC Rail") for cash based on a value of
approximately 33.3 billion (subject to certain adjustments) After repaying, or assigning to SMBC Rail, applicable indebtedness ot ARL, we received cash
consideration of approximately $1.8 billion in connection with the sale of ARL and recorded an aggregate pretax gain on disposition of assets for our Raiicar
segment of approximately $1.7 billion duning the year ended December 31, 2017,

Gaming

We conduct our Gaming segment through our majority ownership in Tropicana Entertainment Inc. ("Tropicana”) and our wholly owned subsidiary
Trump Entertainment Resorts Inc. ("TER"}, which we acquired out of bankruptey 1n 2016 Dunng August 2017, we increased our ownership 1n Tropicana
from 72.5% to 83.9% through a tender otter for additional shares ot Tropicana common stock not already owned by us for an aggregate purchase price of$95
million. In addition. Tropicana repurchased and retired shares of 1ts common stock 1n connection with this tender offer for an aggregate purchase price 0£ 336
miullion.

Tropicana 1s an owner and operator of regional casino and entertainment properties located in the United States and one hotel, timeshare and casino
resort located on the 1sland of Aruba TER ewned the Trump Ta) Mahal Casino Resort, which closed and ceased 1ts casino and hotel operations in October
2016, and was subsequently soid on March 31,2017 TER also owns Trumnp Plaza Hotel and Casino, which ceased operations in September 2014, prior to our
obtaining a controlling interest in TER.

Metals

We conduct our Metals segment through our indirect wholly owned subsidiary, PSC Metals, Inc {*PSC Metals™) PSC Metals s principally engaged in
the business of collecting, processing and selling ferrous and non-ferrous metals, as well as the processing and disttibution of steel pipe and plate products.
PSC Mectals collects industnial and obsolete scrap metal, processes it into reusable forms and supplies the recycled metals to its customers.
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Mining

We conduct our Mining segment through our majority ownership 1n Ferrous Resources Lid. ("Ferrous Resources"). As of December 31,2017, we owned
approximately 77 2% of the total outstanding common stock of Fermous Resources. Ferrous Resources acquired certain rights to iron ore mincral resources in
Brazil and develops mining eperations and related 1infrastructure to produce and sell 1ron ore products to the global steel industry Ferrous Resources was
acquired 1n 2015 for $180 million.

Food Packaging

We conduct our Food Packaging segment through our majority ownership in Viskase Companies, Inc ("Viskase"). As of December 31,2017, we owned
approximately 74.6% of the total outstanding common stock of Viskase. Viskase is a producer of cellulosic, fibrous and plastic casings used to prepare and
package processed meat products. Subsequent to December 31, 2017, Viskase recerved $50 million 1n connection with common stock rights offenng In
connection with this rights offering, we fully exercised our subscription rights under our basic and over subscnption privileges to purchase additional shares
of Viskase common stock, thereby increasing our ownership of Viskase to 78.6%, for an aggregate additional investment of $44 mullion.

Real Estate

Our Real Estate operations consist of rental real estate, property development and associated club activities. Our rental real estate operations consist
primanly of office and industrial properties leased to single corporate tenants. Our property development operations are run primarily through a real estate
mvestment, management and development subsidiary that focuses primarily on the construction and sale of single-family and multi-family homes, lots in
subdivisions and planned communities and raw land for residential development. Our property development locations also operate golfand club operations
as well,

In August 2017, our Real Estate segment sold a development property 1n Las Vegas, Nevada for $600 million, resulting in a pretax gain on disposition
of assets of $456 million. The transaction included cash proceeds from the sale 0f $225 million and two tranches of seller financing totaling $375 million
(including a $345 million first-lien mortgage and a $30 million second-lien mongage). which are included 1n other assets in our conselidated balance sheet
as of December 31,2017 In addition, our Real Estate segment also sold additional properties during 2017, primanly within its rental operations, resulting 1n
an additional pretax gain on disposition of assets aggregating $40 muillion.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016. $21 million and $24 million, respectively. of the net investment in financing leases and net real estate leased to
others which is included 1n property, plant and equipment, net, were pledged to collateralize the payment of nonrecourse mortgages payable.

Home Fashion

We conduct our Home Fashion segment through our indirect wholly owned subsidiary, WestPoint Home LLC (*WPH™) WPH's business consists of
manufactuning, sourcing, marketing, distnbuting and seiling home fashion consumer products.

Filing Status of Subsidiaries

CVR Energy, ARl and Tropicana each file annual, quarterly and current reports and proxy and information statements with the Securities and Exchange
Commission ("SEC"). Each of these reports 15 publicly available at wavw sec gov.
2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

The audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared 1n accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 1n the United States
(“U S. GAAP”).

We conduct and plan to continue to conduct our activities in such a manner as not to be deemed an investment company under the Investment
Company Act of 1944, as amended (the *'40 Act”). Therefore, no more than 40% of our total assets can be invested in investment securities, as such term is
defined in the '40 Act. In addition, we do not invest or intend to 1nvest in securities as our pnmary business We intend to structure our investments to
contmnue to be taxed as a partnership rather than as a corporation under the applicable publicly traded partnesship rules of the Intemal Revenue Code, as
amended.

Principles af Consolidation

As of December 31, 2017, our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of (i) [cahn Enterprises and Icahn Enterprises Holdiogs and (1) the
wholly and majority owned subsidiaries of Icahn Enterpnises and Icahn Enterprises Holdings, in addition to varable interest entities ("VIEs") in which we are
the primary benefictary. In evaluating whether we have a
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controlling financial interest 1n entities that we consolidate, we consider the following. (1) for voting interest entities. including hinuted partnerships and
similar entities that are not VIEs, we conselidate these entities in which we own a majority of the voting intercsts, and (2) tor VIEs, we consolidate these
entities in which we are the primary beneficiary See below for a discussion of our VIEs. Kick-out rights, which are the rights underlying the limited partners'
ability to dissolve the imited partnership or otherwise remove the general partners, held through voting interests of partnerships and simular entities that are
not VIEs are considered the equivalent of the equity interests of corporations that are not VIEs.

Except for our Investment segment, for those investments in which we own 50% or less but greater than 20%, we generally account for such investments
using the equity methed, while investments in affiliates of 20% or less are accounted for under the cost method.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications from the prior year presentation have been made to conform to the current year presentation.
Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the period
Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results may differ from the estimates and assumptions used 1n preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

Variable Interest Entities
leahn Enterprises Holdings

We determuned that [cahn Enterpnises Holdings 1s a VIE because it lacks both substantive kick-out and participating nghts. Icahn Enterpnises 1s the
primary beneficiary of Icahn Enterpniscs Holdings principally based on 1ts 99% limited partner interest 1n Icahn Enterprises Holdings and therefore continues
to consolidate Icahn Enterprises Holdings. The consolidated financial statements of Icahn Enterpnses Holdings are included in this Report, The balances
with respect to [cahn Enterprises Holdings' consolidated VIEs are discussed below, compnsing the Investment Funds, CVR Refining, CVR Partners and
Viskase.

Investment

We determined that each of the Investment Funds are considered V1Es because these limited partnerships lack both substantive kick-out and
participating nghts. Because we have a general partner interest in each of the Investment Funds and have significant limited partner interests in each of the
Investment Funds, coupled with our significant exposure to losses and benefits 1n each of the Investment Funds, we are the pnmary beneficiary ot each of the
Investment Funds and therefore continue to consolidate each of the Investment Funds.

Energy

CVR Refining and CVR Partners are each considered VIEs because each of these limited partnerships lack both substantive kick-out and participating
nghts. In addition, CVR Energy also concluded that, based upon its general partner's roles and nghts in CVR Refining and CVR Partners as afforded by their
respective partnership agreements, coupled with its exposure to losses and benefits in each of CVR Refining and CVR Partners through its sigmificant limited
partner interests, intercompany credit facilities and services agreements, it 18 the primary beneficiary of both CVR Refining and CVR Partners Based upon
this evaluation, CVR Energy continues to consolidate both CVR Refining and CVR Partners

Food Packaging

Beginning in 2017, Viskase holds a variable mnterest 1n a joint venture for which Viskase 1s the primary beneficiary Viskase's interest in the joint
venture includes a 50% equity interest and also relates to the sales, operations, administrative and financial suppert to the joint venture through providing
many of the assets used 1n its business.
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The tollowing table includes balances ot assets and liabilities of VIE's included in Icahn Enterpnises Holdings' consolidated balance sheets.

December 31,

2017 2016
(in millons)
Cash and cash equivalents - ‘ T e T $ - - 23 % 370
Cash held at consolidated affiliated partnerships and restricted cash 734 752
Investmenits: - . o ’ T . .. 9615 ST 9219
Due from brokers 506 1482
Property, plant and equipment, net.~ : . T ‘ . - 3,191 B I & § B
Inventones 385 349
Intangible agsets, net . L C o s B : 298 - 318
Other assets 48 110
Accounts pavable, accrued exponses and other ligbilities ) <o o 1,816 1,769
Securities sold, not yet purchased, at fair value 1.023 1,139
Due to brokers. 1,057 - 3,725
Debt 1,166 1,165

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The camrying values of cash and cash equivalents, cash held at consolidated affiliated partnerships and restricted cash, accounts receivable, due from
brokers, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities and due to brokers are deemed to be reasonable estimates of their fair values because of their
short-term nature. See Note 4, “Investments and Related Matters,” and Note 3, “Fair Value Measurements,” tor a detailed discussion of our investments and
other non-financial assets and/or habalities.

The fair value of our long-term debt 15 based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues or on the current rates offered to us for debt of the
sarne remaining matunties. The carrying value and estumated fair value ofour debt as of December 31, 2017 was approximately $11.2 billion and $1i 5
billion, respectively. The carrying value and estimated fair value of our debt as of December 31, 2016 was approximately $11.1 billion and 311 2 btllion,
respectively.

Acquisitions of Businesses

We account for business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting (other than acquisitions ofbusinesses under common control), which
requires us to recogmze separately from goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at their acquisition date fair values. While we use our best
cstimates and assumptions 1o accuratcly value assets acquired and habilities assumed at the acquisition date as well as contingent consideration, where
applicable, our estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement.

Accounting for business combinations requires us to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially at the acquisition date including our
estimates for intangible assets, contractual obligations assumed, pre-acquisition contingencies, and contingent consideratien, where applicable. In valuing
our acquisitions, we estimate fair values based on industry data and trends and by reference to relevant market rates and transactions, and discounted cash
flow valuation methods, among other factors. The discount rates used were commensurate with the inherent risks associated with each type of asset and the
level and timing of cash flows appropnatcly reficct market participant assumptions. The primary items that gencrate goodwll include the value of the
synergies between the acquired company and our existing businesses and the value of the acquired assembled workforce, neither of which qualifies for
recognition as an intangible asset.

Acquisition, Investments and Disposition of Entities under Common Control

Acquisitions or investments of entities under common control are reflected in a manner similar to pooling of interests. The general partner's capital
account or nen<ontrolling interests, as applicable, are charged or credited for the difference between the consideration we pay for the entity and the related
entity's basis prior to our acquisttion or investment. Net gains or losses of an acquired entity prior to 1ts acquisition or investment date are allocated to the
general partner's capital account or non-controlling interests, as applicable. In allocating gains and losses upon the sale of'a previously acquired common
centrol entity,
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we allocate a gain or loss for financial reporting purposes by first restonng the general partner'’s capital account or non-controlling interests, as applicable, for
the cumulative charges or credits relating to pnor pertods recorded at the time of our acquisition or investment and then allocating the remaining gain or loss
{"Common Control Gains or Losses")among our general partner, limited partners and non-controlling interests, as apphicable, 1n accordance with their
respective ownership percentages. In the case of acquisitions of entities under common control, such Common Control Gains or Losses are allocated in
accordance with their respective partnership percentages under the Amended and Restaied Agreement of Linuted Partnership dated as of May 12, 1987, as
amended from time to time {togecther with the partnership agreement of Icahn Enterpnises Holdings, the “Partnership Agreement”) (1 e., 98 01% to the limited
partners and 1 99% to the general partner).

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We constder short-term mnvestments, which are highly liquid with original maturities of three months or less at date of purchase, to be cash equivalents.
Cash Held at Consolidated Affiliated Partnerships and Restricted Cash

Cash held at consolidated affiltated partnerships primarily consists of cash and cash equivalents held by our Investment Funds (as defined herein) that,
although not legally restricted, is not available to fund the general hiquidity needs of the Investment segment or Icahn Enterprises Restricted cash pnmanly
relates 1o cash pledged and held for margin requirements on derivative transactions.

Our restncted cash balance was $594 million and $686 millien as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Investments and Related Transactions
Investment

Investment Transactions and Related Investment Income (Loss). Investment transactions of the Investment Funds are recorded on a trade date basis.
Realized gains or losses on sales of investments arc bascd on the first-in, first-out or the specific identification method. Realized and unrealized gains or
losses on investments are recorded 1t the consolidated statements of operations Interest income and expenses are recorded on an accrual basis and dividends
are recorded on the ex-dividend date. Premiums and discounts on fixed income securities are amortized using the effective yield method

Investments held by the Investment segment are accounted for as trading securities. Our Investment segment applies the fair value option to those
investments that are otherwise subject to the equity method.

Valuation of Investments. Securities of the Investment Funds that are tisted on a securities exchange are valued at their last sales price on the pnmary
securities exchange on which such securities are traded on such date. Securnities that are not listed on any exchange but are traded over-the-counter are valued
at the mean between the last “bid” and “ask” price for such security on such date. Securities and other instruments for which market quotes are not readily
available are valued at fair value as determined 1n good faith by the applicable General Partner

Forergn Currency Transactions. The books and records of the Investment Funds are maintained in U.S dollars Assets and hiabihities denominated in
cumrencies other than U.S. dollars are translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange 1n effect at the balance sheet date. Transactions during the period
denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars are translated at the rate of exchange applicable on the date of the transaction. Foreign cumency translation
gains and losses are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations. The Investment Funds do not 1solate that portion of the results of operations
resulting from changes 1n foreign exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations ansing from changes in the market prices of securities. Such
fluctuations are reflected in net gain (loss} from investment activities in the consolidated statement of operations

Fatr Values of Financial Instruments, The fair values of the Investment Funds’ assets and liabilities that qualify as financial instruments under
applicable U.S. GAAP approximate the camrying amounts presented in the consolidated balance sheets.

Securities Sold. Not Yet Purchused. The Investment Funds may seil an investment they do not own 1n anticipation of a decline in the fair value of that
investment. When the Investment Funds sell an investment short, they must borrow the investment sold short and deliver it to the broker-dealer through
which they made the short sale. A gain, limited to the pnce at which the Investment Funds sold the investment shont, or a loss, unlimited 1n amount, wiil be
recognized upon the cover of the short sale.
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Due From Brokers Due from brokers represents cash balances with the Investment Funds' cleanng brokers. These funds as well as tully-paid for and
marginable securitics arc cssentially restricted to the extent that they serve as collateral against secunties sold, not yet purchased. Due from brokets may also
include unrestricted balances with derivative counterparties.

Due To Brokers Due to brokers represents margin debit balances collateralized by certain of the Investment Funds' investments 1n secunties.
Other Segments and Holding Company ¥ . -

Investments in equity and debt securities are ¢lassified as either trading or available-for-sale based upon whether we 1ntend to hold the investment for
the foreseeable future. Trading securities are valued at quoted market value at each balance sheet date with the unrealized gains or losses reflected in the
consolidated statements of operations. Available-for-sale securnties are carried at fair value on our balance sheet. Unrealized holding gains and losses on
available-for-sale secunties are excluded from eamings and reported as a separate component of partners' equity and when sold are reclassified out of partners’
equity to the consolidated statements of operations, For purposes of determining gains and losses, the ¢ost of securities 15 based on specific identification,

A decline 1n the market value of any available-for-sale secunty below cost that is deemed to be other than temporary results in an impairment that 15
charged to carnings and the ¢stablishment of a new cost basts for the investment. Dividend income 15 tecorded when declared and interest income 15 !
recognized when eamed.

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The fair value option gives entitics the option to measure ¢ligible financial assets, financial liabihties and firm commitments at fair value (i.c.. the fawr
value option}, on an insttument-by-instrument basis, that are otherwise not permitted to be accounted for at fair value pursuant to the provisions of FASB
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC™) Topic 825, Financial Instruments The election to use the fair value option is available when an entity first
recognizes a financial assef or financial liability or upon entering 1nto a firm commitment. Subsequent changes 1n fair value must be recorded 1n earnings. In
astimating the fair value for financial instruments for which the fair value optien has been elected, we use the valuation methodologies in accordance to
where the financial instruments are classified within the fair value hierarchy as discussed in Note 5, “Fair Value Measurements.” For our Investment segment,
we apply the fair value option to our investments that would otherwise be accounted under the equity method.

Derivatives

From time to time, our subsidiaries enter into denvative contracts, including purchased and wrntten option contracts, swap contracts, futures contracts
and forward contracts. U.S. GAAP requires recognition of all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at their fair value. The accounting
for changes in fair value depends on the intended use of the denvative and its resulting designation Forthose denvative instruments that are designated and
qualify as hedging instruments, a company must designate the hedging instrument, based upon the exposure being hedged, as a fair value hedge, cash flow
hedge ora hedge of a net investment in a forcign operation. Gains and losscs related to a hedge are erther recognized in income immediately to offset the gain
or loss on the hedged item or are deferred and reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss and subsequently recognized in eamings
when the hedged item affects eamings. The change in fair value of the ineffective portion of a financral instrument, determined using the hypothetical
denvative method, 1s recogmized in earnings immediately. The gain or loss related to financial instruments that are not designated as hedpges are recognized
immediately in eamnings. Cash flows related to hedging activitics are included in the operating section of the consolidated statements of cash tlows. For
further information regarding our derivative contracts, see Note 6, “Financial Instruments,” to the consolidated financial statements.

Accounts Receivable, Net

An allowance for doubtful accounts is determined through analysis of the aging of accounts receivable at the date of the consolidated financial
statements, assessments of collectability based ot an evaluation of historic and anticipated trends, the financial condition of our customers, and an
¢valuation of the impact of economic conditions. Our allowance for doubtful accounts is an estimate based on specifically identified accounts as well as
general reserves based on histoncal experience.

dccounts Receivable Factoring

Accounts receivable factoring relates pnmarily to our Automotive segment. Federal-Mogul's subsidiaries in Brazil, Canada, France, Getmany, [taly and
the United States are party to accounts receivable factoring and securitization facilities Gross accounts recervable transferred under these facilities were $641
million and 3487 million as of December 31,2017 and
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2016, respectively. Of those gross amounts, $635 million and $485 million, respectively, qualify as sales in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The remaining
transferred receivables were pledged as collateral and accounted for as secured borrowings and recorded in the consolidated balance shects within accounts
receivable, net and debt. Under the terms of these facilities, Federal-Mogul 1s not obligated to draw cash immediately upon the transfer of accounts
receivable. As of December 31,2017 and 2016, Federal-Mogul did not have any undrawn cash related to such transferred recervables.

Proceeds from the transfers of accounts receivable qualifying as sales were approximately $1.8 billion, $1.6 billion and $1 6 billion for the years ended
December3t,2017,2016 and 2015, respectively. For the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, expenses associated with transfers of receivables
were $15 million, $12 million and $9 million, respectively. Such expenses were recorded in the consolidated statements of operations within other income,
net. Where Federal-Mogul receives a fee 1o service and monitor these transferred receivables, such fees are sufficient to offset the costs and as such, a
servicing asset or liability 1s not incurred as a result of such activities.

Inventaries, Net

Automotive, Ratlear, Food Packaging, and Home Fashion Segment Inventories. Qur Automotive, Railcar, Food Packaging and Home Fashion segment
inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by using the first-in, first-out basis method ("FIFO"), except for TEH Auto which
utilizes wetghted-average cost and Pep Boys which utilizes the last-in, first-out method Inventory recorded using the last-in, first-out method was $900
mullion and $735 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, all of which relates to finished goods. The cost of manufactured goods includes
the cost of dircet matenals, labor and manufacturing overhead Qur Automotive, Railcar, Food Packagmg and Home Fashion segments reserve for estimated
excess, slow-moving and obsolete inventory as well as inventory whose camrying value is in excess of net realizable value.

Energy Segment Inventories Our Energy segment inventories consist pnmanly of domestic and foreign crude o1l, blending stock and components, work
in progress, fertilizer products, and refined fuels and by-products. Inventones are valued at the lower of FIFO cost, or net realizable value for fertilizer
products, refined fuels and by-products for all penods presented Refinery unfinished and finished products inventory values were determined using the
ability-io-bear process, whereby raw matenals and production costs are allocated to work-in-process and finished goods based on their relative fair values.
Other inventones, including other mw materials, sparc parts and supplics, are valued at the lower of moving-average cost, which approximates FIFO, or net
realizable value. The cost of inventones includes inbound frerght costs.

Metals Segment Inventories. Inventories at our Metals segment are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the average cost
method. The production and accounting process utilized by our Metals segment to record recycled metals inventory quantities relies on significant estimates.
Our Metals segment relies upon perpetual inventory records that utthze estimated recovenes and yields that are based upon historical trends and penedic
tests for certain unprocessed metal commodities. Over time, these estimates are reasonably good indicators of what 1s ulumately produced, however, actual
recovenes and yields can vary depending on product quality, meisture content and source of the unprocessed metal To assist in vahidating the
reasonableness of the estimates, our Metals segment performs periodic physical inventornies which involve the use of estimation techmques Physical
inventories may detect significant variations in volume, but because of variations in product density and production processes utilized to manufacture the
product, phystcal inventories will not generally detect smaller vanations. To help mutigate this nsk, our Metals segment adjusts its physical inventones when
the volume ofa commodity is low and a physical inventory can more accurately estimate the remaining volume.

Mining Segment Inventortes Qur Mining sepment’s inventones are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost includes all costs incurred in the nommal
course of business in bnnging each product to its present location and condition, including direct materials and direct labor costs, and an allocation of
production overheads based on normal production capacity Cost is calculated using weighted average unit cost.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets such as property, plant, and equipment, and defimte-lived intangible assets are recorded at cost or fair value established at
acquisition, less accumulated depreciation or amortization, unless the expected future use of the assets indicate a lower value is appropriate Long-lived asset
groups are evaluated for impairment when impairment indicators exist. [f the carrying value of a long-lived asset group is impaired, an impairment charge 18
recorded for the amount by which the carrying value of the long-lived asset group exceeds is fair value, Depreciation and amortization are computed
principally by the straight-line method for financial reperting purposes.
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Land and construction in progress are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value Interest is capitalized on expenditures for long-term projects
until a salable or ready-for-use condition 1s reached. The interest capitalization rate is based on the interest rate on specific bommowings to tund the projects.

Energy

The direct-expense method of accounting 1s used for planned major maintenance activittes. Maintenance costs are recognized as expense when
maintenance services are performed. Planned major maintenance achvities for CVR Energy's nitrogen plant generally occur every two to three years, The
required frequency of planned major maintenance activities varies by unit for the refineries, but generally is every four to five years.

For the years ended December 31,2017, 2016, and 2015, our Energy segment recorded an aggregate of $83 million, $38 million and $109 million,
respectively, in tumaround expenses related to its refineries and nitrogen fertilizer plants.

Mining

The costs of acquiring mineral reserves and resources for our Mining segment are capitalized on the consolidated balance sheets as incurred
Capitalized mineral reserves and mine development expenditures are, upon commencement of commercial production, depreciated using a unit of production
method based on the estimated economically recoverable reserves to which they relate, or are written oft if abandoned.

Exploration and evaluation expenditures relate to costs incurred in the explomtion and evaluation of potenhal mimeral reserves and include costs such
as exploratory drilling, sample testing and the costs of feasibility studies. For our Mining segment, exploration and evaluation expenditures other than that
acquired through the purchase of another mining company, are expensed as incurred. Purchased exploration and cvaluation assets are recognized as assets at
their cost of acquisition or at fair value 1f purchased as part of a business combination.

Expenditures are transferred to mine development assets once the work completed supports the future development of the property, provided that
technical feasibility and commetrcial viability studies have been successfully completed.

Geoodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets primanly include trademarks and brand names acquired 1n acquisitions. For a complete discussion of the
impatrment of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets related to our various segments see Note 8, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net

Goodwill

Goodwill 1s determuned as the excess of fair value over amounts attnibutable to specific tangible and intangible assets Goodwall is reviewed for
impairment annually, or more frequently 1f impairment indicators exist An impairment ¢xists when a reporting unit’s camrymg value exceeds its fair value.
When performing the goodwill impairment testing, a reporting units’ fair value 1s based on valuation techniques using the best available information,
primarily discounted cash flows projections, guideline transaction muluples, and multiples of current and future eamings. The impairment charge, if any, 1s
the excess of the tested reporting unit's carrying value over its tair value, limuted to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the tested reporting unit

Indefinite-Lived Intungible Assets

Indefinite-hved intangible assets are stated at fair value established at acquisition or cost. These indefinite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for
impairment annually, or more frequently if impairment indicators exist An impairment exists when a trademark or brand names’ carrying value exceeds its
fair value. The fair values of these assets are based upon the prospective stream of hypothetical after-tax royalty cost savings discounted at rates that reflect
the rates of retum appropriate for these intangible assets. The impairment charge, if any, 1s the excess of the assets carrying value over its fair value.

Held For Sale

We classtfy assets and liabilities as held for sale when management, having the authonty to approve the action, commits to a plan to sell the disposal
group, the sale is probable within one year, and the disposal group 1s available for immediate sale in its present condition. We alse consider whether an active
program to locate a buyer has been initiated, whether the disposal group 1s marketed actively for sale at a price that 15 reasonable in relation to its current fair
value, and whether actions required to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely significant changes to the plan will be made or the plan will be withdrawn.
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As ot December 31,2017, assets held for sale were not material. As of December 3 1, 2016, assets held tor sale primarily consisted of property plant and
cquipment of approximately $1.2 billion and liabilitics hetd for sale primarily consisted of debt of approximately $1.7 billion. Such assets and liabilitics
held for sale related primarily to our pending sale of ARL. Dunng 2017, we closed on the sale of ARL and disposed of such assets and habilities previously
classified as held for sale.

Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plan Obligations

Pension and other post-employment benefit costs are dependent upon assumptions used 1n calculating such costs. These assumptions include discount
rates, health care cost trends, expected retums on plan assets and other factors. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, actual results that differ from the assumptions
used are accumulated and amortized over future penods and, accordingly, generally affect recognized expense and the recorded obligation in future periods.

Allocation of Net Profits and Losses in Conselidated Affiliated Partnerships

Net investment income and net realized and unrealized gains and losses on investments of the Investment Funds are allocated to the respective partners
of the Investment Funds based on their percentage ownership 1n such Investment Funds on a monthly basis. Except for our limited pariner interest, such
allocations made to the himited partners of the Investment Funds are represented as non-controlling interests in our consclidated statcments of operations.

General Partnership Interest of Icahn Enterprises and Icahn Enterprises Holdings

The general partner’s capital account generakly consists of its cumulative share of our net income less cash distributions plus capital contributions.
Additionally. 1n acquisitions of common control companics accounted for at historical cost similar to a pooling of intcrests, the gencral partner's capital
account would be charged (or credited) 1n a manner similar to a distnbution {or contnbution) for the excess (or deficit) of the fair value of consideration paid
over historical basis in the business acquired.

Capital Accounts, as defined under the Partnership Agreement, are maintained for our general partner and our limited partners. The capital account
provisions of our Partnership Agreement incorporate principles established for U.S. federal income tax purposes and are not comparable to the equity
accounts reflected under US GAAP in our consolidated financial statements. Under our Partnership Agreement, the general partner 1s required to make
additional capital contributions 1o us upon the issuance of any additional depositary units 1n order to mamtain a capital account balance equal to 1.99%
(1.00% in the case of Icahn Enterpnses Holdings) of'the total capital accounts of all partners.

Generally, net eamings for U.S. federal income tax purposes are allocated 1.99% (1.00% 1n the case of Icahn Enterpnses Holdings) and 98.01% (99.00%
in the case of [eahn Enterprises Holdings) between the general partner and the limited partners, respectively, in the same proportion as aggregate cash
distnbutions made to the general partner and the limited partners duning the period. This 1s generally consistent with the manner of allocating net income
under cur Partnership Agreement; however, 1t 15 not comparable to the allocation of net income reflected 1n our consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the Partnership Agreement, in the event of our dissolution, after satisfying our liabilities, our remaining assets would be divided among our
limited partners and the general partner in accordance with their respective percentage interests under the Partnership Agreement. It'a deficit balance still
remains 1n the general partner’s capital account after all ailocations are made between the partners, the general partner would not be required to make whole
any such deficit.

Income Per LP Unit

For [cahn Enterpnses, basic ncome {loss) per LP unit 1s based on net income or loss attnbutable to [cahn Enterpnises allocable to limited partners. Net
income or foss allocable to limited partners is divided by the weighted-average number of LP units outstanding. Diluted income (loss) per LP unit, when
applicable, 15 based on basic income (loss) adjusted for the potential effect of dilutive secunties as well as the related weighted-average number of units and
equivalent units outstanding.

For accounting purposes, when applicable, earnings pnor to dates of acquisitions or 1nvestments 10 joint ventures of entities under common control are
excluded from the computation of basic and diluted income per LP unit as sach carmings are ailocated to our general partner or non—controlling intcrests.

Income Taxes

Except as described below, no provision has been made for federal, state. local or foreign income taxes on the results of operations generated by
partnership activities, as such taxes are the responsibility of the partners, Provision has been made for federal, state, local or foreign income taxes on the
results of operations generated by our corporate subsidiartes and these are reflected within continumng and discontinued operations. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recogmized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement camrying amounts of existing assets and
lLiabilities and
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their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit camry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabihities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The etfect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in inicome in the period that includes the enactment date.

Deferred tax assets are limited to amounts considered to be realizable in future periods. A valuation allowance 1s recorded against deferred tax assets if
management does not believe that we have met the “more-likely-than-not™ standard to allow recognition of such an asset.

U S. GAAP provides that the tax effects from an uncentain tax position can be recognized in the financial statements only if the position is “more-likely-
than-not” to be sustained if the position were to be challenged by a taxing authonty. The assessment of the tax position 1s based solely on the technical
merits of the position, without regard to the likelihood that the tax position may be challenged. If an uncertain tax position meets the “more-likely-than-not”
threshold, the largest amount of tax benetit that is greater than 50 percent likely to be recogmzed upon ultimate settlement wath the taxing anthority 1s
recorded. See Note 14, “Income Taxes,” for additional information.

Revenue and Expense Recognition
Automotive

Revenite Recognition: Our Automotive segment records sales when products are shipped and the nsks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the
customer, the sales price is fixed and detemunable, and the coltectability of revenue 1s reasonably assured. Accruals for sales retums and other allowances are
provided at point of sale based upon past expenence. Adjustments to such retums and allowances are made as new information becomes available.
Automotive service revenues are recognized on completion of the service and consist of the labor charged for installing products or maintaining or repairing
vehicles. Automotive services revenues are in¢luded in other revenues from operations in our consolidated statements of operations however, the sale of any
installed parts or matenals related to automotive services are included in net sales.

Rebates. Our Automotive segment accrues for rebates pursuant to specific arrangements with certain of 1ts customers, primarily in the aftermarket.
Rebates generally provide for pnice reductions based upon the achievement of specitied purchase volumes and are recorded as a reduction of sales as carmed
by such customers.

Sales and Sales Related Taxes Our Automotive segment collects and remits taxes assessed by various governmental authorities that are both imposed
on and concumrent with revenue-producing transactions with its customers. These taxes may 1nclude, but are not limited to, sales, use, value-added, and some
excise taxes. The collection of these taxes is reported on a net basis (excluded from revenues).

Shipping and Handling Costs- Our Automotive segment recognizes shipping and handling costs as incurred as a component of cost of products sold 1n
the consolidated statements of operations.

Engtneering and Tooling Costs  Pre-production tooling and engineering costs that Federal-Mogul will not own and that will be used wn productng
products under long-termn supply arrangements are expensed as incumred unless the supply armangement provides 1t with the noncancelable right to use the
tools, or the reimbursement of such costs is agreed to by the customer. Pre-production tooling costs owned by Federal-Mogul are capitalized ag part of
machinery and equipment, and are depreciated over the shorter of the tool’s expected hfe orthe duration of the related program.

Research and Development: Federal-Mogul expenses research and development (“R&D™) costs as incurred. R&D expense, including product
engineering and validation costs, was $195 miilion, $192 million and $189 million for the year ended December 31,2017,2016 and 2015, respectively.

Restructuring: Federal-Mogul has restructuring costs compnised of two types: employee costs (cortractual termination benefits)and facility closure
costs. Termunation benefits are accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 712, Compensation - Nonretirement Postemplovment Benefits, and are
recorded when it 1s probable that employees will be entitled to benetits and the amounts can be reasonably estimated. Estimates of termination benefits are
based on the frequency of past termination benefits, the sirmilarity of benefits under the current plan and prior plans, and the existence of statutory required
minimum benefits. Termination benefits are also accounted for 1n accordance with FASB ASC Topic 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations, for one-time
termination benefits and are recorded dependent upon future service requiretments Facility closure and other costs are accounted for in accordance with
FASB ASC Topic 420 and are recorded when the Liability 1s incurred.
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Energy

Revenue recognitton For our Energy segment, revenues for products sold are recorded upon delivery of the products to customers. which 1s the point at
which title 1s transferred, the customer has assumed the nsk of loss, and when payment has been received or collection is reasonably assured. Deferred revenue
represents customer prepayments under contracts to guarantee a price and supply of mitrogen fertilizer in quantities expected to be delivered in the next
12 months in the normal course of business Excise and other taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are not included in
reported revenues.

Non-monetary product exchanges and certain buy/sell crude oil transactions which are entered 1nto 1n the normal course of business are included on a
net cost basis in cost of goods sold 1n the consolidated statement of operations.

Shipping Casts: For our Energy segment, pass-through finished goods delivery costs reimbursed by customers are reported in net sales, while an
offsetting expense 1s included in cost of goods sold.

Ratcar

Revenue recognition Revenues from manufactured raticar sales are recognized following completion of manufacturing, inspection, customer
acceptance and title transfer, which 1s when the sk for any damage or loss with respect to the railcars passes to the customer, in accordance with our Railcar
segment’s contractual terms. Revenues from railcar and industrial components are recorded at the time of product shipment, in accordance with our Ratlcar
segment's contractual terms.

Revenues from railcar leasing are generated from operating leases that are priced as an integrated service that includes amounts related to executory
costs, such as certain maintenance, 1insurance, and ad valorem taxes and are recognized on a straight-line basis per terms of the underlying lease. If ratlcars are
sold under a lcasc that 1s less than one year old, the proceceds from the railcars sold that were on lease will be shown on a gross basis in revenues and cost of
revenues at the time of sale Sales of leased railcars that have been on lease for more than one year are recognized as a net gain or loss from the disposal of the
iong-term asset as a component of eamings from operations.

Revenues from railcar maintenance services are recognized upon completion and shipment of railcars from our Railcar segment's plants. Our Railcar
segment does not currently bundle railcar service contracts with new railcar sales Revenues from engineenng and field services are recogmized as performed.

Amounts billed prior to meeting revenue recognition critena are accounted for as deferred revenue and included 1n accrued expenses and other
irabihties on our consolidated balance sheets.

Our Railcar segment records amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling as part of net sales and other revenues from operations in our
conseolidated statements of operations and records related costs in cost of goods seld and other expenses from operations.

Our Railcar segment presents any sales tax assessed by a governmental authonty that 15 directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a
seller and a customer on a net basis.

Ganung

Revenue Recognition and Promotional Allowances: Casino revenue represents the difference between wins and losses from gaming activities, and 1s
reported net of cash and free play 1ncentives redecmed by customers. Room, food and beverage and other operating revenues are recognized at the time the
goods or services are provided. Tropicana collects taxes from customers at the point of sale on transactions subject to sales and other taxes. Revenues are
recorded net of any taxes collected. The majerity of our casino revenue 1s counted in the form of cash and chips and, thercfore, 15 not subject to any
stgnificant or complex estimation, The retail value of rooms, food and beverage and other services provided to customers on a complimentary basis is
mcluded in gross revenues and then deducted as promotional allowances.

Metals

Revenue Recogiuition. PSC Metals' primary source of revenue 1s from the sale of precessed ferrous scrap metal, non-ferrous scrap metals, steel pipe and
steel plate. PSC Metals also generates revenues from sales of secondary plate and pipe, the brokenng of scrap metals and from services performed. All sales
are recognized when title passes to the customer. Revenues from services are recognized as the service 1s performed. Sales adjustments related to price and
weight difterences are retlected as a reduction of revenucs when scttied
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Mining

Revenue recognition- Our Mining segment recognizes revenue when title, ownership, and nsk of loss pass to the customer, all of which occurs upon
shipment or delivery of the product and is based on the applicable shipping terms. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, with any adjustments as a result of provisional prnicing recorded agamnst revenue.

Food Packaging

Revenue Recognition: Revenues are recognized at the time products are shipped to the customer, under F.O.B. shipping point or F OB port terms,
which is the point at which title 1s transferred, the customer has the assumed nsk of loss, and payment has been received or collection is reasonably assumed.
Revenues are net of discounts, rebates and allowances. Viskase records all labor, raw materials, in-bound freight, plant receiving and purchasing,
warehousing, handling and distnbution costs as a component of costs of goods sold.

Real Estate

Revenue Recognition: Revenue from real estate sales and related costs are recognized at the time of closing pnmarily by specific identification.
Substantially all of the property compnsing our net lease portfolio is leased to others under long-term net leases and we account for these leases in
accordance with applicable U.S. GAAP. We account for our leases as tollows. (i) under the tinancing method, (x) minimum lease payments to be received plus
the esttmated value ofthe property at the end of'the lease are considered the gross investment 1n the lease and (y) uneamed income, representing the
difference between gross investment and actual cost of the leased property, 1s amortized to mncome over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of return on the net investment in the lease: and (1i) under the operating method, revenue 1s recognized as rentals become due, and expenses (including
depreciation) are charged to operations as incurred. :

Home Fashion

- Revenue Recognition: WPH records revenue when-the foliewing criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an amangement exists; dehivery -has eceumed. . - :
the price to the customer 15 fixed and determinable and collectability is teasonably assured. Unless otherwise agreed 10 wniting, title and nsk of loss pass from
WPH to the customer when WPH delivers the merchandise to the designated point of delivery, to the designated point of destination or to the designated
carrier, free on board. Provisions for certain rebates, sales incentives, product retums and discounts to customers are recorded in the same peried the related
revenue is recorded.

Sales Incentives Customer incentives are provided to major WPH customers. These incentives begin to accrue when a commitment has been made to
the customer and are recorded as a reduction to sales

Environmental Liabilities

We recognize environmental liabilities when a loss 1s probable and reasonably estimable. Such accruals are estimated based on currently available
information, existing technology and enacted laws and regutations Such estimates are based pnmanly upon the estimated cost of investigation and
remediation required and the likelihood that other potentially responsible parties will be able to fulfilt their commitments at the sites where we may be
jointly and sevcrally liable with such partics We regularty evaluate and revise estimates for environmental obligations based on expenditures against
established reserves and the availability of additional information.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We rccord assct retirement obligations (“ARQ”) in accordance with applicable U.S. GAAP. As defined 1n applicable US GAAP, ARO refers 1o a legal
obligation to perfonn an assct retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event An entity is required to
recognize a liability for the estimated fair value of an ARO when incurred ifthe fair value can be reasonably estimated. Our Automotive segment's primary
asset retirement activities relate to the removal of hazardous butlding materials at 1ts facilities. Our Automotive segment records the ARO when habilities are
probably and the amount can be reasonably estimated,

Litigation

On an ongoeing basis, we assess the potential liabilities related to any lawsuits or claims brought against us. While 1t 1s typieally very difficult to
deternune the timing and ultimate outcome of such actions, we use our best judgment to determinc 1f it is probable that we wall incur an cxpensc related to
the settlement or final adjudication of such matters and whether a reasonable estimation of such probable loss, if any, can be made. In assessing probable
losses, we make estimates ofthe amount |
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of insurance recovenes, 1f any. We accrue a liability when we believe a loss 1s probable and the amount of loss can be reasonably esumated Due te the
inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome of litigation and potential insurance recovery, it 1s possible that certain matters may be resolved for
amounts materially different from any provisions or disclosures that we have previously made

Foreign Currency Translation

Exchange adjustments related to intemational currency transactions and transtation adjustments for intemational subsidiaries whose functional
cumency 15 the U.S. dollar (principally those located in highly nflationary economies) are reflected 1n the consolidated statements of operations. Translation
adjustments of intemational subsidianes for which the tocal currency 1s the tunctional currency are reflected in the consolidated balance sheets as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Deferred taxes are not provided on translation adjustments, other than for intercompany ioans not
designated as permanently reinvested, as the earnings of the subsidiaries arc considered to be permanently reinvested.

Concentrations of credit risk

Concentrations of credit nisk relate primanly to denvative mnstruments from our Investment segment. See Note 6, “Financial [nstruments,” to the
consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Adoption af New Accounting Standards

Tn July 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") 1ssued Accounting Standards Update ("TASU™) No. 2015-11, Simplifytng the
Measurement of Inventory, which amends FASB Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 330, faventery This ASU requires entitics to measure
inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable value and elirminates the option that currently exists for measunng imventoty at matket value. Net realizable
value 1s the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business. less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation This
ASU 1s effective beginning with our intenm penod beginning January 1,2017 The adoption of this guidance was applied prospectively and did not havea
material impact on our consolidated financial statements

In March 2016, the FASB 1ssued ASU No. 2016-07, Simplifiing the Transinion to the Equity Method of Accounting, which amends FASB ASC Topic
323, nvestments - Equity Method and Joint Ventures. This ASU eliminates the retroactive adjustment of an investment that qualifies for the equity method as
aresult of an increase in the level of ownership or degree of influence as if the equity method had been in effect during all previous periods that the
investment had been held This ASU 1s effective beginning with our intenm period beginning January 1. 2017, The adoption of'this guidance did not have a
matenal impact on our consohdated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB 1ssued ASU No. 201609, Improvements to Emplovee Share-Based Payment Accounting, which amends FASB ASC Topie
718, Compensation - Stock Compensation. This ASU simplifies several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income
tax consequcnces. classification of awards as either equity or ltabilinies, and classification on the statement of cash flows. This ASU 15 effective beginming
with our interim period begmning January 1, 2017. During the first quarter 6f 2017, the board of directors of the general partner of fcahn Enterprises
unanimously approved and adopted the lcahn Enterprises L.P. 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan (the "2017 Incentive Plan"), which became effective during
the first quarter of 2017 subject to the approval by holders of a majonty of Icahn Enterpnses depositary unuts. The 2017 Incentive Plan permits us to issue
depositary units and grant options, restricted units or other unit-based awards to all of our, and our affiliates', employeces, consultants, members and partners,
as well as the three non-employee directors of our general partner. One million of Icahn Enterprises’ depositary units were initially available under the 2017
Incentive Ptan. Prior to the adoption of the 2017 Incentive Plan, accounting for unit-based payments did not apply to us Therefore, the adoption of this
guidance in 2017 was the result of the adoption of the 2017 Incentive Plan and which did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements,

In October 2016, the FASB 1ssued ASUNo 2016-16, Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory, which amends FASB ASC Topic 740,
Income Taxes This ASU requires the recognition of income tax conscquences of an intra-cntity transfer of an asset other than mventory when the transfer
occurs Current U.S. GAAP prohibits the recognition of current and deferred mncomes taxes for an intra-entity asset transter until the asset has been sold to an
outside party This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,2017, and intenm periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is
pemutted. We have elected to early adopt this guidance 1n the first guarter of 2017 The impact of early adopting this guidance on our consolidated financial
statements is a cumulative effect adjustment to decrease our equity attributable to Icahn Enterpnses and Icahn Enterpnises Holdings as of January 1, 2017 by
$47 million to reverse previously deferred charges and recognize them in equuty.
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In Sanuary 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, Clarifytng the Definttion of a Business, which amends FASB ASC Topic 805, Business
Combrnations. This ASU provides gnidance on what constitutes a business for purposes of applying FASB ASC Topic 805. This ASU is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15,2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years, Early adoption 1s permitted. We have elected to carly adopt this
guidance in the first quarter of 2017 We did not have any matenal transactions affected by this guidance and therefore, the adoption of this gmdance did not
have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In Jatuary 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Simplifying the Test far Goodwtll Imparrment, which amends FASB ASC Topic 350, intangibles -
Goodwill and Other. This ASU simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating "Step 2" from the goodwill impairment test which, prior to
adoption of this ASU, requires comparing the implied fair value of goodwill with 1ts carrying value By eliminating "Step 2" from the goodwill impairment
test, the quantitative analysis of goodwill will result in an impairment loss for the amount that the cartying value of a reporting umit, including geodwill,
exceeds its fair value, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the tested reporting unit, While this ASU reduces the complexity and cost of our
goodwill impaimment tests, it may result in significant differences 1n the recognition of geodwill impairment. For example, should our reporting units fail
"Step 1" of the impairment tests but pass the current "Step 2™ impairment tests, we may have more impairments of goodwill under the new guidance. This ASU
15 effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted beginning for
interim and annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. We have elected to early adopt this guidance for our interim
and annual goodwil! tmpairment tests to be performed on testing dates begmning in 201 7. This ASU principally affecis our Automotive segment us
substantially all of our goodwill balance pertains 1o our Automotive segment as of December 31, 2017. The adoption of this guidance did not have a matenal
1impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB 1ssued ASU No, 201449, ¢creating a new topic, FASB ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, superseding
revenue recognition requirements in FASB ASC Topic 605, Revenue Recognition This ASU requures that an entity recognize revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods
or services. In addition, an entity s required to disclose sufficient information to enable users of financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows ansing from contracts with customers. This ASU was amended by ASU No. 2015-14, 1ssued 1n August 2015, which
deferred the orginal effective date by one year: the effective date of this ASU is for fiscal years, and intenim reporting penods within those years, beginming
after December 13, 2017, using one of two retrospective application methaods. In addition, the FASB issued other amendments during 2016 and 2017 to
FASB ASC Topic 606 that include implementation guidance to principal versus agent considerations, guidance to identifying performance obligations and
licensing guidance and other namow scope 1mprovements. We have developed an implementation plan to adopt this new ASU. We will adopt these new
standards effective January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective application method which will require a cumulative effect adjustment recognized in
equity at such date. We determuned this cumulative effect adjustment to be 1mmaterial. No adjustment to revenue for periods prior to adoption will be
required. To date, we have not identified any differences in our existing revenue recognition methods that would require material modification under the new
standards. Additionally, although we anticipate our intemal controls to be modified as necessary, we do not anticipate our intemal control framework to
materially change as a result of the adoption of these new standards.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments - Overall, which amends FASB ASC Topic 825, Financial Instruments. This
ASU requires that equity investments {(cxcept those accounted for under the equity method of accounting or those that tesult in the consolidation of'the
investee) to be measured at fair value wath changes recognized in earnings However, an entity may choose to measure equity investments that do not have
readily determinable fair values at cost minus impairment. In addition, there were other amendments to certain disclosure and presentation matters pertaining
to financial instruments, including the requirement of an entity to use the exit price notion when measuring the fair value of financial instruments for
disclosure purposes. This ASU is effective tor fiscal years beginning afier December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those tiscal years, The
amendments in this ASU should be applied by means of a cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption
The amendments related to equity securities without readily determinable fair values should be apphed prospectively to equity investments that exist as of
the date of adoption. Early application 1s permitted for certain matters only. We are currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on our consolidated
tinancial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB 1ssued ASU No. 201602, Leases (Topic 842}. which supersedes FASB ASC Topic 840, Leases. This ASU requuires the
recogmition of lease assets and lease ltabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating
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leases under previous guidance. In addition, among other changes to the accounting for leases, this ASU retains the distinction between tinance leases and
operating leases. The classification criteria for distinguishing between finance leases and operating leases are substantially simular to the classification
criteria for distinguishing between capital leases and operating leases in the previous gutdance. This ASU s effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2018, including intenim periods within those fiscal years The amendments 1n this ASU should be applied using a modified retrospective
approach Early application is permitted. We anticipate our assessment and implementation plan to be ongoing during the remainder of 2018 and are
currently unable to reasonably estimate the tmpact of this guidance on our conselidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which amends FASB ASC Topic 326,
Financial Instruments - Credit Losses. This ASU requires financial assets measured at amortized cost to be presented at the net amount to be collected and
broadens the information, includmng forecasted information incorporating more timely information, that an entity must consider in developmg 1ts expected
credit loss estimate for assets measured. This ASU 1s effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal
years Early application 1s pecimtted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. We are currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on our
consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No 2016-15, Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cuash Payments, which amends FASB ASC Topic 230,
Statement of Cash Flows This ASU seeks to reduce the diversity cumently in practice by providing guidance on the presentation of eight specific cash flow
1ssues in the statement of cash flows. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years.
We are currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on our consclidated statements of cash flows.

Tn November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Restricted Cash, which amends FASB ASC Topic 230, Statement of Cash Flows. This ASU
requires that the statement of cash flows explamn the change dunng the penod total cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally descnbed as restncted cash
or restricted cash equivalents. This ASU is effective for tiscal ycars beginning after December 13, 2017, and intenim peniods within those fiscal years. Early
adoption is permuitted. We are curmrently evaluating the impact of this guidance on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2017, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 201 707, Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodie Postretirement Benefit
Cost, which amends FASB ASC Topic 715, Compensation - Rettrement Benefits This ASU requires entities to present the service cost component of net
periodic benefit cost in the same line item or items in the financial statements as other compensation costs ansing from services rendered by the pertinent
employees during the period. This ASU 1s effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim penods within those fiscal years Early
adoption is permutted. We are currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on our consolidated tinancial statements.

In May 2017, the FASB 1ssued ASU No. 201709, Scape of Modification Accounting, which amends FASB ASC Topic 718, Compensatton - Stock
Compensation. This ASU provides updated guidance about which changes to the terms and conditions ot a share-based payment award require an entity to
apply modification accounting in Topic 718 This ASU 1s effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and intenim periods within those fiscal
years. Early adoption 1s permutted. We are curtently evaluating the impact of this guidance on our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, Targeted Improvements to Accounling for Hedging Activities, which amends FASB ASC Topic 815,
Derivatives and Hedging. This ASU mneludes amendments to existing guidance to better align an entity’s nsk management activities and financial reporting
tor hedging relanionships through changes to both the designation and measurement guidance for qualtfying hedging reianonships and the presentation of
hedge results, This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and intenim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is
permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2018, the FASB 1ssued ASU 2018-02, Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Aceumulated Other Comprehensive Income, which
amends FASB ASC Topic 220, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income. This ASU allows a reclassification out of accumulated other
comprehensive loss within equity for standard tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and consequently, elimunates the stranded tax effects
resuting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. This ASU 15 effective for fiscal years beginning afier December 15, 2018, and 1ntenim peniods within those fiscal
years, Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of this gmidance on our consolidated financial statements.
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3. Related Party Transactions.

Our se¢cond amended and restated agreement of limited partnership expressly pemits us to enter into transactions with our general partner or any of its
affiliates, mcluding, without Kmuitation, buying or selling properties from or to our general partner and any of its affiliates and borrowing and lending money
from or to our general partner and any of its affiliates, subject to limitations contained 1n our pacinership agreement and the Delaware Revised Uniform
Limited Partnerstup Act. The indentures goveming our indebiedness contain certain covenants applicable to transactions with affiliates.

Investment Funds

During the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, Mr. [cahn and his affiliates (exciuding us) invested $600 million, $498 miilion and $240
mullion, respectively, 1in the Investment Funds, net of redemptions. As of December 31,2017 and 2016, the total fair market value of investments in the
Investment Funds made by Mr. [cahn and his affiliates (excluding us) was approximately $4.4 billion and $3.7 billion, respectively, representing
approximately 59% and 69% of the Investment Funds' assets under management as of each respective date.

We pay for expenses pertaining to the operation, administration and investment activities of our Investment segment for the benefit of the Investment
Funds (including salaries, benefits and rent). Effective April 1, 2011, based on an expense-sharing arrangement, certain expenses bome by us are reimbursed
by the Investment Funds. For the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, 313 mullion, $34 mullton and 3235 million, respectively, was allocated to
the Investment Funds based on this expense-sharing arrangement,

Hertz Globul Holdings, Inc.

As discussad in Note 4, "Investments and Related Matters,” the Investment Funds have an imvestment in the common stock of Hertz Global Holdings,
Inc. ("Hertz"') measured at fair value that would have otherwise been subject to the equity method ofaccounting beginning n the fourth quarterof 2016. Pep
Boys provides services to Hertz in the ordinary course of business For the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016, revenue trom Hertz was $17 nmullion and
$3 million, respectively. Additionally, Federal-Mogul bad payments to Hertz in the ordinary course of business ot $2 million and $2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

IRL Holding, LLC

During the year ended December 31,2015, ARL distnbuted an aggregate of $25 million to IRL Helding, LLC ("IRL™), an affiliate of Mr Icahn, and also
made a non-resident withholding of $2 mullion on IRL's behalf.

American Railcar Leasing, LLC

On February 29, 2016, Icahn Enterprises entered into a contnibution agreement with an affiliate of Mr Icahn to acquire the remainuing 25% economic
interest in ARL not already owned by us. Pursuant to this contribution agreement, we contributed 685,367 newly issued depositary units of Icahn Enterprises
to such affiliate in exchange for the remaimng 25% economic interest in ARL. As a result of the transaction, we owned a 100% economic interest in
ARL This transaction was authenzed by the independent comunittec of the board of directors of the general pantner of leahn Enterpnses. The independent
committee was advised by independent counsel and retained an independent financial advisor which rendered a fairmess opinion.

ACF Industries, Inc.

Our Railcar segment has certain transactions with ACF Industries LLC ("ACF"). an affiliatc of Mr. Icahn, under various agreements. as well ason a
purchase order basis ACF s a manufacturer and fabricator of specialty railcar parts and miscellaneous steel products. Agreements and transactions with ACF
include the following:

» Railcar component purchases from ACF

+  Railcar parts purchases from and sales to ACF

= Railcar purchasing and engineering services agreement with ACF
+ Lease of certain intellectual property to ACF

*  Railcar repair services and support for ACF

= Railcar purchases from ACF (priorto June 1, 2017)
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Purchases from ACF were $6 mullion, $21 million and $86 mllion for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. For the years
ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, revenues from ACF were $1 million, $1 million and $10 million, respectively.

Insight Portfolio Group LLC

Insight Porifolio Group LLC ("Insight Portfolio Group”) 1s an entity formed and controlled by Mr. [cahn in order to maximize the potential buying
power of a group of entities with which Mr. [cahn has a relationship 1n negotiating with a wide range of supphiers of goods, services and tangible and
tangible property at negotiated rates, Icahn Enterprises Holdings has a minority equity interest 1n Insight Portfolio Group and agreed to pay a portion of
Insight Portfolio Group's operating expenses In addition to the minonty equity interest held by Icahn Enterpnises Holdings, certain subsidianes of ours,
including Federal-Mogul, CVR Energy, PSC Metals, ARI, ARL (prior to June 1, 2017), Tropicana, Viskase and WPH also acquired minority equity interests
1n Insight Portfolio Group and agreed to pay a portion of Insight Portfolio Group's operating expenses. A number of other entities with which Mr. Icahn has a
relationship also have minonty equity interests in Insight Portfolio Group and also agreed to pay certain of Insight Portfolio Group's operating cxpenscs. For
the years ended December 31,2017,2016 and 2015, we and certain of our subsidianes paid certain of the Insight Portfolio Group's operating expenses of $2
million, $2 million and $2 million, respectively.

4. Investments and Related Matters.

Investment

Investments and secunties sold, not yet purchased consist of equities, bonds, bank debt and other corporate obligations, all of which are reported at fair
value in our consolidated balance sheets These investments are considered trading securities. In addition, our Investment scgment has certain denvative
transactions which are discussed m Note 6, “Financial Instruments * The carrying value and detail by security type, including business sector for equity
secunties, with respect to investments and securities sold, not yet purchased held by our Investment segment consist of the following

December 31,

2017 2016
Assets (in millons)
[nvestments,

Equaty securnities:
Basic materials 3 t,17¢  § 963
Consumer, non-cyclical 2,551 2,677
Energy 1.489 1,27%
Financial 2,185 2,385
Technology 833 91l
Other 1,149 809
9,377 9,023
Corporate debt securtties 155 190

3 9532 § 9,213 -
Liabilities
Securities sold, not yet purchased, at fair value:

Equity securities
Consurmer, non-cyctical 3 B 141 .1 —
Consurner, cychcal 667 968
Enetgy . 10 19
[edustrial 110 100
. 988 1,087
Corporate debt securities 35 52
3 1,023 % £, 139
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The portion of trading gains {losses) that relates to trading securities still held by our Investment segment was $1,413 muilion, $340 pullion and
$(2,222) million for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

As of December 31, 2017, the Investment Funds owned approximately 28% of the outstanding common stock of Hertz. Beginning in the fourth quarter
of2016, this investment would have become subject to the equity method ofaccounting however, our Investment segment elected to continue to apply the
fair value option to this investment. Qur Investment segment recorded net gains (losses) of $13 mullion and $(389) million for the years ended December 31,
2¢17 and 2016, respectively, with respect to its investment 1n Hertz. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the aggregate fair value of our Investment segment's
investment 1n Hertz was $517 mullion and $505 million, respectively.

The Investment Funds also owned approximately 2 1% of the outstanding common stock of Herbalife Ltd. ("Herbalife") as of December 31, 2017.
Beginning tn the third quarter of 201 6, this investment would have become subject to the equity method of accounting, after considenng additional
ownership in Herbalife by an affiliate of Mr. [cahin as well as the collective representation on the board of directors of Herbalife, however, our Investment
segment elected to continue to apply the fatr value aption to this investment Our Investment segment recorded net gamns (losses} of $357 million and $(113}
million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, with respect to 1ts investment in Herbalife. As of December 31,2017 and 2016, the
aggregate fair value of our Investment segment's investment in Herbalife was approximately $1.2 billion and $867 million, respectively.

Herbalife and Hertz each file annyal, quarterly and cument reports and proxy and information statements with the SEC, which are publicly available.
Other Segments

With the exception of certain equity method investments at our operating subsidiaries disclosed 1n the table below, our investments are measured at fair
value in our consolidated balance sheets. The carrving value of investments held by our other segments and our Holding Company consist of the following.

December 31,
2017 2016
(in mifl1ons)
Equity method investments 5 430§ 302
Other investments (measured at fair value) 407 366
) 837 % 668

5, Fair Value Measurements.

U.8. GAAP requires enhanced disclosures about investments and non-recuiting non-financial assets and liabilities that are measured and reposted at fair
value and has established a hicrarchal disclosure framework that pnontizes and ranks the level of market price observability used 1in measuring investments
or non-financial assets and Labilities at faur value. Market price observability 1s umpacted by a number of factors, including the type of investment and the
characteristics specific to the investment. Investments with readily available active quoted prices or for which fair value can be measured from actively
quoted prices generally will have a higher degree of market price observabulity and a lesser degree of judgment used in measuring fair value.

Investments and non-financial assets and/or liabilities measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed 1n one of the following
categories.

Level | - Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical investments and non-financial assets andrsor liabilities as of the reporting date.

Level 2 - Pricing snputs are other than quoted prices in achive markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as ofthe reporting date, and fair
value 1s determined through the use of models or other valuation methodologies where all significant inputs are observable. The inputs and
assumptions of our Level 2 investments are denived from market observable sources including reponted trades, broker/dealer quotes and other pertinent
data.

Level 3 - Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment and non-financial asset and/or hability and include sitnations where there 1s little, 1if any,
market activity for the investment or non-financial asset and/or liability. The inputs into the determination of fair value require significant management
judgment or estimation Fair value is determined using
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comparable market transactions and other valuation methedologies, adjusted as appropnate for liquidity, credit, market and/or other nsk factors.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, investments', non-financial
assets' and/or habilities' level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that 15 significant to the fair value measurement. Qur
assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and consideration of factors specific to the
investment. Significant transfers, 1f any, between the levels wathin the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the beginning of the reporting period when
changes 1n circumstances require such transfers,

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table summarizes the valuation of our assets and liabilities by the above fair value hierarchy levels measured on a recurring basis as of
December 31,2017 and 2016:

December 31,2017 December 31,2016
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets {in millions)
Investmenis (Note 4) 3 9378 % 264 $ 279 $ 9921 % 9033 § 306 § 2238 9551
Derivative contracts, at fair value (Note 61 — 1 — 1 — 23 —_ 23

2 9378 % 265 % 279 $ 9922 § 9033 § 329 § 212 3 9574 -

Liabilities
Securities sofd, not yet purchased (Note 4)  § 988 % 35 % — $ 1023 3 1087 % 52 % — % 1,138
Other habilities ’ — 1 — l — 187 — 187
Derivative contracts, at fair value (Note 6) 36 1,239 — 1,275 — 1,139 —_ 1,139

$ 1,024 $ 1,27 § — § 2299 % 1087 $ 1,378 § — % 2465

t1} Amounts are classified within other assets in our consolidated batance sheets.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis for Which We Use Level 3 Inputs to Determine Fair Value

The changes 1n investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis for which we use Level 3 inputs to determine fair value are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016
(in mullions)
Balance at fanuary | 3 212 & 283
Net realized gains — 16
Net unrealized gains 47 3
Purchases 5 50
Transfers out {6) : (135}
Transfers in 1 4
Balance at December 31 3 279 % 212

Transfers out of Level 3 during the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily relates to our previously held corporate debt investment in TER of §126
mullion The investment was transferred out of Level 3 following TER's emergence from bankruptcy on February 26, 2016 and subsequently becoming a
wholly owned consolidated subsidiary of ours upon the extinguishment of their debt and its conversion to equity in TER. Purchases dunng the year ended
December 31, 2016 relates to an increase in a certain investment classitied as trading securities which 1s considered a Level 3 investment due to unobservable
market data and 1s measured at fair value on a recumng basts. We detenmuned the fair value of this investment based on recent market
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transactions. As of December 31,2017 and 20186, the fair valye of this investment was $274 million and $207 mullion, respectively.
Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis for Which We Lbse Level 3 Inputs to Determine Fair Value

Certain assets measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs on a nonrecurring basis have been impaired. During the years ended December 31,2017,2016
and 20135, we recorded impairment charges ot $31 million, $99 million and $201 million, respectively, relating to property, plant and equipment. We
determined the fair value of property, plant and equipment by applying probability weighted, expected present value techniques to the cstumated future cash
flows using assumptions a market participant would utilize. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2017, we recorded a loss of $8 mullion from
marking inventory down to net realizable value at our Autometive segment. Additionally, 1n connection with our reclassification of certain assets from held
and used to assets held for sale at our Railear, Automotive and Metals segments, we recorded aggregate impairment charges of $72 milljon, $17 nullion and
$ 14 million for the ycars ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, which represents the difference between the carrying value and fair value
less cost to sell of such assets,

Refer to Note 8, "Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net," for discussion of our goodwill and intangible asset impairments.
Refer to Note 13, "Segment and Geographic Reporting,” for total impaimment recorded by each of our scgments.
Defined Benefit Plans Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table presents our Automotive segment’s defined benefit plan assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31,2017
and 2016°

December 31,2017 December 31, 2016
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
{in mullions}
U S. Plans.
Cash b 315 3% — § -~ B 35 % 30 § — 8 — § 30
[nvestments with registered investment
companies:
Equity securities 393 — — 393 346 — — 346
Fixed income securities 163 — — 163 154 — — 154
Real estate and other 46 — — 46 41 — —_ 41
Equity securities 223 — — 223 204 — — 204
Debt secusities: )
Corporate and other — 22 — 22 — 21 — 21
Government 11 2 — 32 1l 17 e 28
Hedge funds — — 29 29 — — 32 32
$ 871 § 43 $ 29 3 943 § . 786 3 38 8 32 8 856
Non-U.S. Plans:
Insurance contracts $ .8 _— 3§ 54 3% 54 % — 8 —_ $ - 42 3 42 .
Investments with registered 1nvestment
companies:
Fixed income securities 25 — — 25 . 19 — —_ 19
Equity securities 2 — — 2 2 — — 2
Corpotate bonds — — — — — — -
5 27 % — 3 54 3 81 3 21 % — $ 42 % 63
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The changes 1n U.S. and Non-U.S. plan assets measured at fair value for which our Automotive segment hasused Level 3 input to determine fair value
are as follows,

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016

(1n muhons}

US Plans:

Hedge funds:
Balance at January 1 » » $ 32 0% 86
Net realhized and unrealized gains 3 —
Purchases and scitfements, net 12 . 48
Sales, net 18 (102)
Balancs at December 31 29 % 32

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016
(1n millions)

Non-U.S. Plans:
Insurance contracts:
Balance at January 1 42 3 40 .
Net realized and unrealized gains 2 2
Purchases and settiements, net 3] 3
Proceeds (2) 2)
Foreign currency exchange rate movernents 6 (1)
Balance at December 31 $ 54 % 42

The following table presents our Food Packaging and Railcar segment's defined benefit plan assets measured at fair value on a recumring basis as of
December 31,2017 and 2016.

December 31,2017 December 31, 2016
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(1n millions)
US and Non-U.S. Plans
Asset category”
Cash equivalents % 4 3 1 8 - § 5 % 4 8 I 3 — 3 5.
Equity secunties 79 3 — 82 77 3 — 80
Fixed income securitics 26 3 —_ 29 25 2 — 27
Ctherl 6 —— — 6 5 —_ — 3
% 115§ 7 % — ¥ 122 % 111 % 6 — . § 147

1 Excludes hedge fund plan assets measured at fair value using net asset value per share in the aniount of 39 million and 59 mullion asof December 31, 2017 and 2016. respectively
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6. Financial Instruments,
Overview
Investment

In the normal course of business, the [nvestment Funds may trade various financiai instruments and enter into certarn investment activities, which may
give rise to off-balance-sheet risks. with the objective of capital appreciation or as economic hedges against other sccurities or the market as a whole. The
Investment Funds' investments may include fitures, options, swaps and securities sold, not yet purchased. These financial instruments represent future
commitments to purchase or sell other financial instruments or to exchange an amount of cash based on the change in an underlying instrument at specific
terms at specified future dates. Risks arise with these finaneial instruments from potential counterparty non-performance and from changes in the market
values of underlying instruments.

Credit concentrations may arise from investment activities and may be impacted by changes in economuc, industry or political factors. The Investment
Funds routinely execute transactions with counterparties in the financial services industry, resalting n credit concentration with respect to the financial
services industry. In the ordinary course of business, the Investment Funds may also be subyect to a concentration of credit risk to a particular counterparty.
The Investment Funds seek to mitigate these risks by actively monitonng exposures, collateral requirements and the creditworthiness ofits counterparties

The Investment Funds have entered into various types of swap contracts with other counterparties. These agreements provide that they are entitled to
receive or are obligated to pay in cash an amount equal to the increase or decrease, respectively. in the value of the underlying shares, debt and other
instruments that are the subject of the contracts, dunng the period from inception of the applicable agreement to 1ts expiration. In addition, pursuant to the
terms of such agreements, they are entitled to receive or obligated to pay other amounts, including interest, dividends and other distributions made 1n respect
of the underlying shares, debt and other instruments during the specified ume frame. They are also required to pay to the counterparty a floating interest rate
equal to the product of the notional ameount multiplied by an agreed-upon rate, and they receive interest on any cash collateral that they post to the
counterparty at the tederal funds or LIBOR 1n effect for such penod.

The Investment Funds may trade futures contracts. A futures contract 18 a firm commutment to buy or sell a specified quantity of a standardized amount
of'a deliverable grade commodity, security. currency or cash at a specified price and specified future date unless the contract is closed before the delivery
date Payments (or variation margin) are made or received by the Investment Funds each day. depending on the daily fluctuations in the value of the contract,
and the whole value change is recorded as an unrealized gain or loss by the Investment Funds. When the contract is closed, the Investment Funds record a
realized gain or loss equal to the difference between the value of the contract at the time 1t was opened and the value at the time it was closed.

The [nvestment Funds may utilize forward contracis (o seek to protect their assets denominated i foreign curmreticies and precieus metals holdings from
losses due to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and spot rates, The Investment Funds’ exposure to credit nsk associated with non-performance of such
forward contracts is lamuted to the unrealized gains or losses inherent in such contracts, which are recogmzed in other asscts and accrucd expenses and other
liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets

The Investment Funds may alsc enter into foreign cumency contracts tor purposes other than hedging denominated securities. When entening into a
foreign currency forward contract, the Investment Funds agree to receive ordeliver a fixed quantity of foreign currency for an agreed-upon price on an
agreed-upon future date unless the contract is closed before such date The Investment Funds record unrealized gains or losses on the contracts as measured
by the difference between the forward foreign exchange rates at the dates of entry into such contracts and the forward rates at the reporting date.

The Investment Funds may also purchase and wnte option contracts. As @ writer of option contracts, the Investment Funds receive a premium at the
outset and then bear the market risk of unfavorable changes in the price of the underlying tinancial instrument. As a result of wnting option contracts. the
Investment Funds are obligated to purchase or sell, at the holder's option, the underlying financial instrument. Accordingly, these transactions result in off-
balance-sheet nsk, as the Investment Funds' satisfaction ofthe obligations may exceed the amount recognized in our consolidated balance sheets.

Certain terms of the Investment Funds’ contracts with derivative counterparties, which are standard and customary to such contracts, contain certain
triggering events that would give the counterparties the nght to terminate the derivative instruments, In such events, the counterparties to the derivative
instruments could request immediate payment on denvative instruments in net liability positions, The aggregate fair value of all of the Investment Funds'
derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that are 1n a liability position at December 31,2017 and 2016 was $17 rullton and $39
million, respectively.
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Automotive

Federal-Mogul 1s exposed to market nisk, such as fluctuations 1n foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and changes 1n interest rates, which
may result 1n cash flow risks. To manage the volanlity relaung to these exposures, Federal-Mogul aggregates the exposures on a censolidated basis to take
advantage of natural offsets For exposures not offset within its operations, Federal-Mogul enters into vanous denvative transactions pursuant to its risk
management policies, which prohibit holding or 1ssuing derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes, and designation of denvative instruments
1s performed on a transaction basis to support hedge accounting. The changes in fair value of these hedging instruments are offset 1n part or 1n whole by
comesponding changes 1n the fair value or cash fiows of the underlying exposures being hedged. Federal-Mogul assesses the initial and ongowng
effectiveness of its hedging relationships in accordance with its documented policy

Financial instruments including cash equivalents, denvative contracts, and accounts receivable, exposc Federal-Mogul to
counter-party credit risk for non-performance. Federal-Mogul’s counterparttes for cash equivalents and derivative contracts are
banks and financial institutions that meet its requirement of high credit standing. Federal-Mogul's counterparties for denvative
contracts are substantial investment and commercial banks with significant experience using such derivatives, Federal-Mogul
manages 1ts credit sk threugh policies requirning nunimum credit standing and himiting credit exposure to any one counterparty
and through momtonng counter-party credit nsks. Federal-Mogul's concentration of credit risk related to derivative
contracts at December 31, 2017 and 2016 was not material.

Energy

CVR Refining enters into commodity swap contracts in order to fix the margin on a portion of future production. Additionally, CVR Refining may enter
into price and basis swaps in order to fix the price on a portion of its commodity purchases and product sales. The physical volumes are not exchanged and
these contracts are net settled with cash The contract fair value of the commodity swaps 1s reflected on the consolhidated balance sheets with changes in fair
value currently recognized 1n the consolidated statements of operations. Quoted prices for simular assets or habalities in active markets (Level 2) are
considered to determuine the fair values for the purpose of marking to market the hedging instruments at each period end At December 31, 2017 and 2016,
CVR Refining had open commodity swap instruments consisting of 14 3 mullion and 4.0 mullion barmels of crack spreads, respectively, pnmanly to fix the
margin on a portion of its future gasoline and distillate production. Additienally, as of December 31, 2017, CVR Refining had open forward purchase and
sale commitments for 5.8 million barrels of Canadian crude ol priced at fixed differentials that are not considered probable of physical settlement and are
accounted for as denvatives.

Consolidated Derivative Information

Certain dertvative contracts executed by the Investment Funds with a single counterparty, by our Automotive segment with a single counterparty orby
our Energy segment with a single counterparty are reported on a net-by-counterparty basis where a legal nght of offset exists under an enforceable netting
agreement Values for the denvative financial instruments, principally swaps, forwards, over-the-counter options and other conditional and exchange
contracts, are reported on a net-by-counterparty basts. As a result, the net exposure to counterparties 1s reported in either other assets or accrued expenses and
other liabilities 1n our consehdated balance sheets.

The following table presents the consolidated fair values of our derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments 1n accordance with U8
GAAP

Asset Derivatives(l) Liability Derivatives
December 31, December 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016
(12 milliens)

Equity contracts 3 -— 3 15 3 1,159 % 1,104 7

Credit contracts — 17 17 39

Commodity contracts 7 2 106 11

Sub-total 7 34 1,282 1.154
Netting across contract typest? )] (15 D 15)

5 — 3 19 3 1,275 % 1,139

1) Net asset derivatives are located within other assets in our consohdated balance sheets,
21 Excludes netung of cash collateral received and posted  The total collateral posted at December 31, 2017 and 2016 was 5542 muillion and $634 midhion, respectively, across all
counterparties.
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The following table presents the amount of gamn floss) recognized in the consolidated siatements of operations for our denvatives not designated as
hedging instruments:

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Incometl)

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015
(in millions)
Equity contraets’ | o SRTE S8 s s (169 8 (ay
Foreign exchange contracts —- 35 160
Credit contracts -~ = I » S {73 S @ ase
Interest rate contracts — 28) —
Commodity contracts .- S : sy oy - Bk
3 (2,039) § (1,659) 8§ 705

' Gains (losses) recognized on dertvatives are classified in net gain from investment activitics in our consolidated statements of operations for our Investment segment and arc ancluded
in other ncome, net for all other segments.

The volume of our derivative activities based on their notional exposure, categonzed by primary underlying nsk, is as follows:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Short Notional Short Notional
Long Notional Exposure Exposure Long Notional Exposure Exposure
Pnmary underlying risk. {in mdlions)
Equity contracts $ 243 % ) 6,660 § 112§ 14,094
Credit contractst!) — 391 202 472
Commodity contracts 20 911 16 754

' The short notional amount on our credit default swap positons 1s approximately 52.5 billion and $2.6 billon as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, However, because
credit spreads cannot compress below zero. our downside short notional exposare to loss 1 approximately $391 million and $472 mllion as of December 31, 2017 and 20185,
respectively

Non-Derivative Instruments Designated as Hedging Instruments

As of December 31, 2017, Federal-Mogul has foreign currency denomunated debt, of which $884 million is designated as a net investment hedge n
certain foreign subsidianes and affiliates of Federal-Mogul Changes to its carrying valug are ihcluded in other comprehensive loss as translation adjustments
and other. These debt instruments are discussed further in Note 10, “Debt.” The amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss for the year
ended December 31, 2017 was a loss of $85 mullion.

7. Imventories, Net

Inventones, net consists of the following:

December 31,
2017 20156
{m millions)
Raw materiais : B . o : $ 530 ¢ - - 483
Work in process 338 299
Finishied goods i 2,392 . 2,201
b 3,261 % 2,983

Inventones in the table above 15 presented net of reserves of $200 million and $136 millyon as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respecnively
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8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net.

Goodwill consists of the following.

Gross carrying amount, Janﬁmy 1

Acquisitions
Foreign ¢xchange

Gross carrying amount, December

31

Accumulated impairment, January 1

Impairment

Accumulated impairment, December

31

Net carrying value. December 31

Gross cattying amount, January |

Acquisitions

Gross carrying amount, December
31

Accumulated impairment, January 1

Impamment

Accumulated impaimment, December

31

Net carrying value, December 31

December 31, 2017

Automotive Energy Railcar Gaming Food Packaging Consolidated
{n millions)
3 1662 - 3 ‘930 % T8 3 ’ 4 2,606 -
121 — — — 3 124
15 — — — — Cas
1,798 930 7 3 7 2,745
(537 (930) — 3) — (1,470)
(537) (930) — 3) — (1,470)
S 1,261 S — S 7 8 — 7 1275
December 31, 2016
Automotive Energy Railear Gaming Food Packaging Consolidated
(1n mullions)
5 1457 3% 93¢ 3% 7 % — 3 2,397
205 — — 3 1 209
1.662 930 7 3 4 2,606
¢537) {356} —_— —_— — (893)
— (574) — ) —_ (577)
(537) (930) — )} - {1,470}
3 1125 % — 5 7 % — 4 1,136
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Intangible assets, net consists of the following:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Net Gross Net
Gross Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Value Amount Amortization Value
{1 milhons)
Definite-lived intangible assets.
Customer relationships, ‘ s CLOg4 " % G N S 546§ ©OLOSE 8 o oMy 8 0 388
Developed technology 143 [$8%)) 26 142 (104) 38
In-place feases B . |73 S o) . - .29 21 (833 ‘ - 38
Gasification technology heense 60 (14) a6 60 (11 49
Other ‘ 162 @n 138 - 78 ) (17y 61
3 1,570 § (788) $ 782 % 1460 % (686) § 774
Indefinite-fived intangible assets:
Trademarks and brand names $ 316 S 305
Ciaming Jicenses 37 ’ 37
333 342
Intangible assets, net . . . s BI3S e e .- 3 i 1,116

We recorded amortization expense associated with definite-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31,2017,2016 and 2015 of$101
million, $91 mullion and $92 million, respectively. We utilize the straight-line method of amortization, recognized over the estimated useful lives of the
asscts Additionally, we impaired intangible assets of $1 million, $16 million and $2 million for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, The impairment of intangible assets in 2016 was pnmarily in connection with the closing of the Trump Taj Mahal Casino Reson in October
2016.

The estimated future amortization expense for our definite-lived intangible assets 1s as follows:

Year Amount
(1in mithons)

2018 3 97
2019 96
2020 94
2021 85
2022 63
Thereafter 347

. $ 782
Acgquisitions

Acquisitions during the yearended December 31, 2017 were not material individually or in the aggregate. As a result of certain acquisitions, our
Automotive and Food Packaging segments allocated $121 million and $3 million, respectively, to goodwill during the year ended December 31,2017 In
addition, our Automotive scgment allocated $77 million to definite-lived intangible asscts amortized over a weighted average of 3 to 16 yearsand $12
million to trademarks and brand names. Our Food Packaging segment allocated $28 million to definite-lived mtangible assets amortized over a weighted
average of 12 to 20 years. The purchase price allocations for the above acquisitions are not all final and are subject to change.

Impairment of Goodwill

Prior to 2017, with respect to our reporting units that are allocated goodwill, the first step of the goodwill impairment analysis ("Step 1") involved
comparing the fair value of each of cur reporting units' assets to their respective camying values to determine the potential for goodwill impanument. The
second step ofthe goodwill impairment test ("Step 2"), (f necessary, involved quantifying the level of goodwill impairment after performing a recoverability
analysis ot other long-lived assets for impairment first. Beginning with our goodwill impaimment analysis in 2617, Step 2 of the goodwll impairment test was
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eliminated and the determination and quantification of goodwill impairment, 1f any, was the result of applying Step 1 ofthe goodwill impairment analysis.

We base the fair value of our reperting units on constderation of vanous valuation methodologies, including projecting future cash flows discounted at
rates commensurate with the nisks involved ("DCF™). Assumptions used in a DCF require the exercise of' significant judgment, including judgment about
appropnate discount rates and terminal values, growth rates, and the amount and timing of expected future cash flows The forecasted cash flows are based on
current plans and for years beyond that plan, the estimates are based on assumed growth rates. We believe that our assumptions are consistent with the plans
and estimates used to manage the underlying businesses The discount rates, which are intended to reflect the nsks inherent in future cash flow projections,
used in a DCF are based on estimates of the weighted-average cost of capital of a market participant. Such estimates are derived from our analysis of peer
companies and consider the industry weighted average retum on debt and equity from a market participant perspective.

Autemotive

We perform the annual goodwill impaimment test for our Automotive segment as of October | of cach year, or more frequently 1f impairment indicators
exist.

Duning 2017, based on our Automotive segment's annual goodwill impairment analysis, the fair values of all of our reporting units within our
Automotive segment were 1n excess of their carrying values. Our Automotive segment's Motorparts reporting unit's fair value exceeded 1ts carrying value by
6%. As of December 31, 2017, our Motorparts reporting unit had $349 mullion of goodwill allocated to it.

During 2016, based on Step | of our Automotive segment's annual goodwill impairment analysis, the fair values of all of our reporting units within our
Automotive segment were 1n excess of their carrying values. Our Motorparts reporting unit's fair value exceeded 1ts carrying value by approximately 7%. As
of December 31, 2016. our Motorparts reporting unit had $349 million of goodwill allocated to 1t.

Dunng 2015, our Automotive segment's Motorparts reporting unit failed Step | of the annual goodwill impairment analysis. Based on this analysis, our
Autometive segment recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $312 mullion for the year ended December 31. 2015,

Energy
We perform the annual goodwill impaiment test tor our Energy segment as of April 30 of each year, or more frequently 1f impairment indicators exist

During the first quarter of 2016, due to worsening sales trends for our Energy segment's petreleum reporting unit, we performed an intenm goodwill
impairment analysis. Based on this analysis, our Energy segment recogmized a goodwill impairment charge of 3574 nullion, which represented the full
amount of the remaining goodwill allocated to the petroleum reporting unit.

Dunng the fourth quarter of 2015, due to worsening sales trends for our Energy segment's fertilizer reporting unit, we performed an intenim goodwill
impairment analysts. Based on this analysis, our Energy segment recogmzed a goodwill impairment charge of $253 mullion, which represented the fill
amount of the remaining goodwill allocated to the fertilizer reporting unit.

Gaming

In connection with the closing of the Trump Taj Mahal, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $3 million in 2016, which represented the full
amount of goodwill allocated to TER
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net,

Property, plant and equipment, net congists of the following:

December 31,

Useful Life 2017 2016

(o, years) ¢ mullions)
Land = - , o ) L R 876 §. .. - 944
Buildings and improvements 1-40 31,249 3,050
Machinery, equipment and fumiture e R Soeza 3324 7538
Assets leased to others 15-39 1,529 1,939
Construction in progress. © . . - o R 503 T 5AY

14,481 14,012

Less: Accumulated deprectation and smortization ' o S {8180} - (3.890)
Property. plant and equipment, net $ 9701 % 10,122

Assets leased to others are related to our Railcar and Real Estate segments. Included m assets leased to others in the table above are our Railear
segment's railcars for lease in the amount of approximately $1.1 billion and $1.5 billion as of December 31,2017 and 2016, respectively. Additionally,
included 1n assets leased to others 10 the table above are our Real Estate segment's properties on lease in the amount of $§387 mullion and $415 nulhon as ot
December 31,2017 and 2016. respectively Aggregate accumulated depreciation pertaining 1o assets leased to others1s approximately $201 millionand

5224 million as of December 31,2017 and 2016, respectively.

Depreciation and amottizatlon expense related to property, plant and equipment for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015 was 5898
million, $217 million and $752 million, respectively.

see Note 5, "Fair Value Measurements," for discussion regarding certain impairments to our property, plant and equipment.
Consolidated Anticipated Future Receipts

The following is a summary of the consolidated sngicipated future receipts of the minimum lease payments receivable nnder the financing and operating
method on a consolidated basis at December 31,2017.

Year Amount
{in milltons)

2018 3 184
2019 160
2020 118
2021 66
2022 42
Thereafter 92

’ [ 662
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10. Debt.
Debt consists of the following:

December 31,
2017 2016

(in mul:ons)

Holding Company:
3.500% senior unsecured notes due 2017 3 -— 3 ’ 1,174
4.875% senior unsecured notes due 2019 —_ 1,271
6.000% senior unsecured notes due 2020 t,70'3 ' 1,705
5.875% semor unsecuied notes due 2022 1,342 1,340
6.250% senior unsecured notes due 2022 . ' . 1216 —
6.750% senior unsecured notes due 2024 498 —
6.375% senior unsecured notes due 2025 o ‘ ‘ 748 —
5.507 5.490
Reporting Segments:
Automotive 3,470 3,259
Energy 1,166 1,165
Railcar 546 571
Gaming 137 287
Metals 1 2
Mining 58 55
Food Packaging 273 265
Reat Estate 22 25
Home Fashion 5 —
5,678 5,629
Total Debt s i1.185 % 11,119
Holding Company

Our Holding Company debt consists of various 1ssues of fixed-rate senior unsecured notes 1ssued by Icahn Enterprises and Icahn Enterprises Finance
Corp {the "Issuers"} and guaranteed by Icahn Enterprises Holdings (the “Guarantor”). Interest on each of the sentor unsecured notcs arc payable sermi-
annually

On January 18,2017, the Issuers 1ssued $500 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.750% senior unsecured notes due 2024 and $695 mullion in

aggregate principal amount of 6 250% senior unsecured notes due 2022 The proceeds from these notes were used to redeem all of the outstanding senior
unsecured notes due 2011 7 and to pay accrued interest, related fees and expenses.

On December 6, 2017, the Issuers issued $750 million in aggregate principal amount of 6 375% semor unsecured notes due 2025 and an additional
$510 mllion 1n aggregate pnacipal amount of its existing 6.250% scnior unsecuted notes due 2022, The proceeds from these notes, together with cash on
hand, were used to redeem all of the outstanding senior unsecured notes due 2019 and to pay accrued interest, related fees and expenses

Icahn Enterprises recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt 0f$12 million in connection with the debt transactions discussed above.

Each of our sentor unsecured notes and the related guaraniees are the senior unsecured oblhigattons of the Issuers and rank equally with all of the Issuers’
and the Guarantor’s existing and tuture senior unsecured indebtedness and senior to all of the Issuers’ and the Guarantor’s existing and future subordinated
indebtedness All of our senior unsecured notes and the related guarantees are effectively subordinated to the Issuers’ and the Guarantor’s existing and future
secured indebtedness to the extent
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of the collateral securing such indebtedness. All of our senior unsecured notes and the related guarantees are also effectively subordinated to all indebtedness
and other hhabilities of the Issuers’ subsidianes other than the Guarantor,

The indentures governing our senior unsecured notes described above restrict the payment of cash distnbutions, the purchase of equity interests or the
purchase, redemption, defeasance er acquisition of debt subordinated to the senior unsecured notes. The indentures also restrict the incurrence of debt orthe
1ssuance of disqualified stock, as defined in the indentures, with certain exceptions. In addition. the indentures require that on each quarterly determination
date we and the guarantor of the notes (currently only lcahn Enterprises Holdings) maintain certain minimum financial ratios, as defined theren. The
indentures also restrict the creation of liens, mergers, consolidations and sales of substantially all of our assets, and transactions with affiliates.

As of December 31,2017 and 2016, we were 1n compliance with all covenants, including maintaining certain mimimum financial ratios, as defined n
the indentures. Additionally, as of December 31, 2017, based on covenants in the indentures governing our senter unsecured notes, we are permutted to incur
approximately $346 million of additional indebtedness.

Reporting Segments
Avwtomotive
Federai-Mogul

Federal-Mogul's debt pnmanly consists of two term loans (one of which was repaid in full 1n 2017) and a revelving line of credit issued 1n 2014 with
outstanding balances aggregating approximately $1.7 billion and $2.9 bullion as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Additionally, as of December
31,2017, Federal-Mogul had approximately $1.3 billion of additional debt outstanding issued dunng 2017, which 1s discussed further below. A portion of
the proceeds from the notes issued in 2017 were used to repay an existing term loan in full and partiatly repay the remaining term loan The remaining
revolving line of credit and term loan have maturity dates of 2018 and 2021, respectively.

The revolving line of credit and termn loan are guaranteed by substantially all of the domestic subsidiaties and cortain foreign subsidianies of Federal-
Mogul, and are secured by substantially all personal property and certain real property of Federal-Mogul and such guarantors, subject to certain limitations.
The hiens granted to secure these obligations and certain cash management and hedging obligations have first priority. As such, Federal-Mogul's availability
18 limited by borrowing base conditions The term loan facilities contain certain atfirmative and negative covenants and events of default, including, subject
to certain exceptions, restrictions on incuming additional indebtedness, mandatory prepayment provisions associated with specified asset sales and
dispositions, and limitations on: 1) investments; 1) certain acquisitions, mergers or consolidations, iii) sale and leaseback transactions; iv) certain
transactions with affiliates; and v) dividends and other payments in respect of capital stock.

On March 30, 2017, Federal-Mogut issued €415 million in aggregate pnncipal amount of 4.875% senior secured notes due 2022 and €300 mullion in
aggregate principal amount of vanable rate senior secured notes due 2024, Interest on the vanable rate notes will accrue at the three-month EURIBOR, with
0% floor, plus 4 875% per annum. Procceds on the issuange of'these notes was $776 muliion. On June 29, 2017, Federal-Mogul 1ssued €350 mitlion in
aggregate principal amount of 5.000% senior secured notes due 2024, Proceeds on the 1ssuance of these notes was $395 million. These notes issued during
2017 are collectively referred to as the "Federal-Mogul Euro Notes."

The Federal-Mogul Euro Notes were 1ssued without a discount and will rank equally in right of payment to all existing and future senior secured
indebtedness of Federal-Mogul. The proceeds from the issuances of the Federal-Mogul Euro Notes were used to completely repay an existing term loan and
partially repay the remaining term loan, as discussed above A portion of the Federal-Mogul Euro Notes were designated as a net investment hedge of
Federal-Mogul's European operations. See Note 6, “Financial Instruments,” to the consolidated financial statements, for additional information. The Federal-
Mogul Euro Notes were issued under indentures, which contain customaty events of defaults and covenants relaung to, among other things, the incumrence of
debt, affiliate transactions, liens and restncted payments.

Interest on Federa{-Mogul's debt is accrued and paid based on contractual terms, with weighted average interest rates of 4.96% and 4.34% as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, total availability under Federal-Mogul credit facilihies was $386 million and
$273 million, respectively. Federal-Mogul also had $38 million and $45 nullicn of letters of credit outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.
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Ifeahn Automotive

Icahn Automotive's debt primanly consists of an asset-based revolving credit facility and a first in-last out revolving credit tacility each with vanable
interest rates. [cahn Automotive debt outstanding under these credit facilities was $337 million and $232 mullion as of December 31,2017 and 2016,
respectively, with maturity dates ranging trom 2018 and 2022, Interest for each of these notes are accrued and paid based on contractual terms. The weighted
average interest rate on these notes was 3.58% and 2.93% as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. In addition, as of December 31,2017 and 2016,
there was availability under revolving credit facilities of $75 mullion and $132 million, respectively Icahn Automotive also had $33 mithion and $48 million
of letters of credit outstanding as of December 31,2017 and 2016.

Energy

CVR Energy's debt primanly consists of a $500 million second lien semior unsecured note {(issued by CVR Refining) and a $645 million senior secured
note {issued by CVR Partners) maturing in 2022 and 2023, respectively, and with interest rates o1 6.50% and 9.25%, respectively. Interest for each of these
notes are acerued and paid based on contractual terms

The second lien senior unsccured notes are tully and unconditionally guaranteed by CVR Refining and each of its’ finance subsidiaries' existing
domestic subsidianes on a joint and several basis. The senior secured notes are guaranteed on a senior secured basis by all of CVR Partner's existing
subsidiaries. CVR Erergy is not a guarantor of these notes. The indentures govemning these notes contain certain covenants that restrict the ability ofthe
1ssuers and sabsidiary guarantors to issue debt, incur or otherwise cause liens to exist on any of their property or assets, declare or pay dividends, repurchase
equity, make payments on subordinated or unsecured debt, make certain investments, sell certain assets, merge, consolidate with or into another entity, or sell
all or substantially all of their agsets or enter into certain transactions with atfiliates.

AsofDecember 31, 2017 and 2016, total avalability under CVR Refining and CVR Partners vanable rate assct based revolving credit facilities
aggregated $382 mulhon and $361 mullion, respectively. CVR Refining also had $28 million and $28 mullion of letters of credit outstanding as of December
31,2017 and 2016.

Railcar

ARTs debt pnmarily consists of notes 1ssued 1n 2015 to refinance its lease fleet financing faculities and 10 increase borrowings Such notes have a legal
maturity date n 2045 and an expected pnncipal repayment date in 2025. Interest for each of these notes are accrued and paid based on contractual terms. The
weighted average Interest rate on these notes was 3.72% and 3.68% as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. In addition, as of December 31, 2017
and 2016, ARI had borrowing availability to draw an additional $200 million and 3200 million, respectively, under a credit agreement entered 1nto in 26015,
As of December 31,2017 and 2016, the net book value of the railcars that were pledged as collateral as part of ARI's lease fleet financing was $524 million
and $544 million, respectively.

Gaming

Tropicana's debt prumarily consists of a semior secured first lien term loan facility 1ssued 1n 2053 and maturing in 2020. Interest for this note 1s accrued
and paid based on contractual terms. The interest rate on this note was 4.57% and 4 00% as of December 31,2017 and 2016, respectively.

Food Packaging

Viskase's debt primanly consists of a credit agreement providing for a senior sceured term lean facility issued in 2014 and maturing in 2021. Interest for
this note 1s accrued and paid based on contractual terms. The interest rate on this note was 4.88% and 4.38% as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Covenants

All of our subsidianes are currently in compltance with all covenants and restrictions as described 1n the vanous executed agreements and contracts
with respect to each debt instrument. These covenants include hmitations on indebtedness, liens, investments, acquisitions, asset sales, dividends and other
restricted payments and affiliate and extraordinary transactions.
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Consolidated Maturities

The following is a summary of the matunties of our debt:

Year
{1 nullions)

2018 o ' o : 8 . 199
2019 ’ 59
2020 o o : 1,901
2021 2.075
022 ) o I ) : o 3.608 '
Thereafter 330

o ‘ N L ’ ’ 11,233
Unamortized discounts, premiums and deferred financing fees (48)
Total Debt ( S B 11,185

11, Pension, Other Post-Retirement Benefits and Employee Benefit Plans.

Federal-Mogul, ARI and Viskase each spensor several defined benefit pension plans (the "Pension Benefits”) (and, in the case of Federal-Mogul and
Viskase, its pension plans include defined contribution plans). Additionally, Federal-Mogul and Vishase cach sponsors health care and hife insurance beaefits
{"Other Post-Retirement Benefits") for certain employees and retirees around the world. The Pension Benefits are funded based on the funding requirements of
federal and intemational laws and regulations, as applicable, in advance ot bencfit payments and the other benefits as benefits are provided to participating
employees. As prescnbed by U.S. GAAP, Federal-Mogu!, ARI and Viskase each uses, as applicable, appropnate actuarial methods and assumptions in
accounting for its defined benefit pension plans, non-pension post-retirement benefits, and disability, early retirement and other post-retirement benefits. The
measutement date for all defined benefit plans is December 31 of each year.

Components of net penodic benefit cost (credit) for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

Pension Benefity Other Post-Retirement Benefits
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015
(1 mullions)

Service cost 3 18 3 I8 $ 19 3 — % — —_
Interest cost 63 70 66 12 14 13
Expected retum on plan assets (58) (59) (71} — —_ —
Amortization ofactuanal losses 26 22 26 — 2 5
Amortization of prior service credit —_— e — ) {4) [C)] '
Curtailment gain — — 2) — —_ —

$ 49 § 5t $ 38 § 8§ % 12§ 14
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Automotive
Defined Benefit Plans
The following provides disclosures for our Automotive segment’s benefit obligations, plan assets, funded status, recogmition in the consolidated balance
sheets and inputs and valuation asswmptions
Pension Benefits Other
United States Plans Non-U.5. Plans Post-Retirement Benetits
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

{in millions)

Change in benefit obligation.

Benefit obligasion, beginning of year - . LI67T 8 1,22t % 510 % 487 ' § . 295 % 323
Service cost 2 3 15 14 — -
Interestcost : 4. S 1 ) 13 12 14
Benefits paid 73 {98) (22) {21) (23) (24)
Medicare subsidies received e o — — ‘ 2 2
Curtailments — — — {1) — —
Settlements — _ {1y ) — —_
Actuanal losses (gams) 41 (3 (17) 39 () {21)
‘m«‘h&iness mmbill&ﬁdﬂﬂ tow PRameran e o b EAREML L pIeaemty W gasmaon mee faamw ann e PE— H - PO o I e
Currency translation — —_ 48 {17y 1 1
Benefit obligation, end of year 1.181 1,167 565 510 286 293
Change in plan assefs:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 856 370 63 57 — —
Actual return on plan assets 116 45 3 3 —_ —
Settlements — — (1} (4) — —
Company contributions 44 39 30 30 21 22
Benefits pad (73 (98) (22} @2 23) (24)
Business combinations —— -_— — 1 — —
Medicare subsidies received — — — — 2 2
Currency translation —_ — 8 3) s —
Fair value of plan assets, end of year 943 856 81 63 — —
Funded status of the plan and amounts recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets 5 (238) $ (311) % 484y % (#M7 § (286) $ (295)

Amounts recognized in aceumnulated other comprehensive
loss, inclusive of tax impacts:

Net actuarial loss b3 393 $ 435 3 87 % 93 S 32 3 34
Prior servics cost {credit) - — 1 I v (6)
$ 393 5 435 3 88 h 94 S 3 3 28
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation as of December31,2017, 2016 and 2015.

Pension Benefits Other
United States Plans Non-U.S. Plans Post-Retirement Benefits
} December 31, December 31,
o 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015
{1n millions)
Discount rate 3.50% . 3%0% | 4.15% .  2.26% 2.03% 2.72% 3.68% 3.98% 4.18%.
Rate of compensation ncrease a'a o/a nfé 2.97% 2.96% 3.19% n/a nla n/a

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net peniodic benefit cost (credit) for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015:

Pension Benefits Other
United States Plans Non-U.S. Plans Post-Retirement Benefits
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015
(in mhons)
Discount rate o 3.90% 4.15% I85% 2.03% 2.72% 1.77% 3.98% 4.18% 3.84%
Expected return on plan assets 5.55% 5.65% 6.55% 105% 0 322% 352% n/a nfa n/a
Rate of compensation increase n/a n/a w/a 2.96% 3.19% 3.16% a/a n/a n/a

Long-term Rate of Return

Federal-Mogul's expected return on assets is established annually through analysis of anticipated future long-term investment performance for the plan
based upon the asset allocation strategy and 1s pnmarnly a long-term prospective rate.

An analysis was performed in December 2017 resulting 1n changes to the expected long-term rate of return on assets. The weighted-average long-term
rate of return on assets for the United States pension plans decreased from 5.55% at December 31, 2016 10 5.50% at December 31, 2017. The expected long-
term rate of return on plan assets used in determining pension expense for non-U.S. plans 1s determined in a sirmiar manner to the US plans and decteased
from 3.05% at December 31, 2016 to 3.26% at December 31,2017

Information for defined benefit plans with projected benetir obligations in excess of plan assets:

Pe¢nsion Benefits Other
United States Plans Non-U.S, Plans Post-Retirement Benefits
December 31, December 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
{mn milhons)
Projected benefit obligation $ 1181 § t,167 % 565 § 509 % 286 § 2958
Fair value of plan assets 943 856 81 62 —-— —
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[nformation for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets:

Pension Benefits

E/nited States Plans Non-U.S, Plans
December 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016
(n millions)
Projected benefit obligation - > ‘ . $ 1,88 8 1,167 3 548 8 494 .
Accumulated benetit obligation 1,181 1,167 510 459
Fair vatue of plan assets. - 943 856 . - 66 50

The accumulated benefit obligation for all pension plans was approximately $1.7 billion and $1.6 billion as of December 31,2017 and 20186,
respectively.

Health Care Trend

The assumed health care and drug cost trend rates used to measure next year's post-employment healthcare benefits are as follows:

Other Post-Retirement Benefits

2017 2016
Initial health care cost trend mate. . ‘ 641% 6.69%
Ultimate health care cost trend rate ’ ' ‘ 5.00% 5.00%
Year ultimate health care cost trend rate reached . 2022 c 2022

The assumed health care cost trend rate has a significant impact on the amounts reported tor OPEB plans. The following table 1llustrates the sensitivity
to a change 1n the assumed health care cost trend rate:

Total Service and
Interest Cost APBO

(tn miil:ons}
100 basis point (“bp"} increase in health care cost trend rate b3 t $ 23
100 bp decrease 1n health carc cost trend rate (1) (20)

Estimated amounts to be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net period benefit cost for 2018 based on 2017 plan measurements
are $14 million, consisting primarily of amortization of net actuanal loss 1n the U.S. pension plans.

Federal-Mogul's projected benefit payments from the plans are estimated as follows:

Pension Benefits Other Post-Retirement
United States Plans Non-U.S, Plans Benefits
{in milltons)
2018 $ 85 % 25 % 23
2019 85 27 22
2020 86 27 22
2021 87 27 22
2022 87 29 21
2023-2027 379 151 96

Federal-Mogul expects to contribute approximately $75 million to 1ts pension plans 1n 2018,
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Plan Assets

Certain pension plans sponsored by Federal-Mogul invest 11 a diversified portfolio consisting of an amay of asset classes that attempts to maximize
returns while minimizing volatility. These asset classes include developed market equitics, emerging market cquities, private equity. global high quality and
high yield fixed mcame, real estate, and absolute retum strategies.

As of December 31, 2017, plan assets were comprised of 65% equity investments, 23% fixed income investments, and 1 2% in other investments which
mnclude hedge funds. Approximately 57% ofthe U.S. plan assets were invested in actively managed investment funds Federal-Mogul’s investment strategy
includes a target asset allocation of 50% equity investments, 25% fixed income investments and 25% in other investment types including hedge funds.

The U.S. investment strategy mutigates sk by incorporating diversification across appropnate asset classes to meet the plan’s abjectives. It is intended
to reduce risk, provide long-term financial stability for the plan, and maintain funded levels that meet long-term plan obligations while preserving sufficient
liquidity for near-term benetit payments. Risk assumed is considered appropnate for the retum anticipated and consistent with the diversification of plan
assets.

For Non-U.S. plans, the insurance contracts guarantce a minimum rate of retum. Federal-Mogul has no input into the investment strategy ot the assets
underlying the contracts, but they are typically heavily invested in active bond markets and are highly regulated by local law. The majonty of the assets of
the non-U.S. plans are invested through insurance contracts. The target asset allocation for the non-U.S. pension plans is 67% insurance contracts, 3 1% debt
investments and 2% equity mnvestments.

Refer to Note 3, "Fair Value Measurements,” for discussion of the fair value of each major category of plan assets, including the inputs and valuation
techniques used to develop the fair value measurements of the plans' assets, at December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Defined Contribution Pension Plans

Federal-Mogul atso maintains certain detined contribution pension plans for ciigible employees. Effective January 1, 2013, Federal-Mogul amended 18 -
U.S. defined contribution plan to allow for an enhanced company match and company provided age-based contributions for eligible U.S. salarted and non-
union hourly employees. The total expenses attributable to Federal-Mogui's defined contribution savings plan were $46 miilion, $43 miliion and $45
million for the years ended December 31, 2017,2016 and 2015, respectively.

Orther Benefits

Federal-Mogul accounts for benetits to former or inactive employces paid after employment but before retirement. The habilities for such U.S. and
European post-employment benefits were 367 million and $60 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Railcar and Food Packaging

AR11s the sponsor of three defined benefit pension plans, two of which cover certain employees at designated repair facilities. All three of ARI's defined
benefit pension plans are frozen and no additional benefits are aceruing thereunder Viskase and its subsidiaries have defined contribution and defined
benefit plans varying by country and subsidiary Viskase's operations in the United States, France, Germany and Canada have histoncally offered defined
. benefit retirement plans and post-retirement health care and life insurance benefits to their empioyees. Most of these benefits have been termunated, resulting
in reductions 1n vanous liabilities

The following table provides disclosures for ARI's and Viskase's benefit obtigations, plan assets, funded status, and recognition in the consolidated
balance sheets. As pension costs for ARI and Viskase are not matenal to our consolidated financial position and results of operations, we do not provide
information regarding their inputs and valuation assumptions.

Pension Benefits

2017 2016

{1n millions)

Change in benefit obligation-

Benefit obligation, beginning of year o k3 189§ 19t

Service cost 1 1

Interest cost ‘ 8

Benefits pard [H10)] (15)

Actuapal gain =~ p . . - 9 4

Adjustment to benefits 5 —

Currency translation i —_—
Benefit obligation, end of year 213 189
Change ih plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets. beginning of year 126 133

Actual return on plan assets 16 8

Benefits paid [41L)] (15}
Fatr value of plan assets, end of year 132 126
Funded status of the plan 3 (81) $ (63)
Arounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:

Net hiabihity recognized $ 81 8§ (63)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss, inclusive oftax impacts:

Net actuanal loss $ 81y 8 (63)
Total 3 81y 3 (63)
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12. Netlocome Per LP Unit.

The following table sets forth the allocation of net (loss) incame attributable to Icahn Enterprises allecable to limited partners and the computation of
basic and diluted (loss) income per LP unit of lcahn Enterpnses for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

- 2017 2016 2015
{m mlﬂ!.()[lh. excepl per unit data) )
Net loss attributable to Icalin Enterprises - S . : a0 8 - a2y 8 0 1,194y
Net loss attributable to [cahn Enterprises allocablc to hmlted partners (98.01%
allocation) 3 2382 % (1,106) § (1,170)
Basic and diluted loss per LP unit ) ( 5 1480 § (8.07) % 9.29)
Basic and diluted v}ei‘ght‘cdhavmge LP units oattstanding ) c 161 . 137 126

Icahn Enterprises Rights Offering

[n January 2017, Icahn Enterpnses commenced a nghts offenng entitiing holders of the rights to acquire newly 1ssued depositary umits of lcahn
Enterprises. The rights offening, which expired on February 22, 2017, was fully subscnibed with total basic subscription nghts and over-subscription rights
being exercised resulting in a total of 1,171,104 depositary units issued on March , 2017 and for aggregate proceeds of $600 muiilion. Atfiliates of Mr.
Icahn fully exercised all of the basic subscription nghts and over-subscription rights ailocated to them in the rights offering aggregating 10,525,105
addrtional depositary units.

Unir Distributions

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we declared four quarterly distnbutions aggregating $6.00 per depositary unit. Depositary unitholders were
given the option to make an election to receive the distnbutions in etther cash er additional depositary units; :f a holder did not make an election, 1t was
automatically deemed to have elected to recerve the distributions in cash. Ieahn Enterprises depositary units outstanding during 2017 increased as a result of
the four quarterly distributions in which we distributed an aggregate 17,644,152 of [cahn Enterpnises’ depositary units to those depositary unitholders who
elected 1o receive such distributions in additional depositary umits, of which an aggregate of 17,374,427 depositary units were distnbuted to Mr. keahn and
his affihates.

2017 Incentive Plan

During the year ended December 31, 2017, Icahn Enterprises distributed 7,902 depositary units, net of payroll withholdings, with respect to certain
restricted depositary units that vested duning the peniod tn connection with the 2017 Incentive Plan. The aggregate impact of the 2017 Incentive Plan 1s not
material with respect to our consolidated financial statements, including the calculation of potentially dilutive units.

13. Segment and Geographic Reporting.

We report segment (nformation based on the vanous industties in which our businesses operate and how we manage those businesses in accordance
with our investment strategies, which may include: identifying and acquiring undervalued assets and businesses, often through the purchase of distressed
securties; increasing value through management, financial or other operational changes; and managing complex legal, regulatory or financial i1ssues, which
may melude bankruptcy or msolvency, environmental, zomng, penmitting and licensing issues Therefore, although many of our businesses are operated
under separate local management, certain of our businesses are grouped together when they operate within a simlar industry, compnsing similarities in
products, customers, production processes and regulatory environments, and when such businesses, when considered together, may be managed in
accerdance with one or more investment sirategies specific to those businesses. Among other measures, we assess and measure segment operating results
based on net income from continuing operations attributable to leahn Enterpnses and Icahn Enterprises Holdings. Certain tetms of financings for certain of
our businesses impose restnctions on the business' ability to transfer funds to us, mcluding restnictions on dividends, distributions, loans and other
transactions.
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[cahn Enterpnses' condensed statements of operations by reporting segment for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015 are presented below.
Ieahn Enterprises Holdmgs' condensed statements of operations are substantiaily the same, with immatenal ditferences relating to eur Holding Company's
interest expense.

¥ear Ended December 31, 2017

- . Food Real Heme Huldimg
Investment Autemotive Energy Ratlear Gaming Metalk Mining Packaging Estate Fashion Company Consolidated
{1 mullions}
Revenues
Neisaded, 3 —_ -3 9,957 3 5938 5 265 ¥ e § 09 § 94 $. 352 L 3 $ 1 3 - ] 17.363
Othef I8 venuEs {rom operauens — 487 — 370 598 — — -— 72 — — 1827
Kot incoms from invegtment activitis . p221 P — - z - — P v - — .8l 04
[ntarest and dividend meome 106 & 1 2 1 - 1 — 7 — 12 136
Grin {3oms) on disposion of #sse, et Lo- 2! 3. 1s6t @ - - - 296 - o 1166
Other {loss) ncomms net 150y b6 (08) 1 65 o} 12) 1 — — (5) ]
297 10,32% 5008 1,506 4608 408 93 183 590 183 68 21,744
Fxpanses
Cost of goods sold- —_ 8,018 5,317 243 —_ 389 60 57 i 162 e ’ L5065
Other expenses trom operations - 136 — 134 425 — — - 46 — - 1041
SLners g WET R el Lt e 0t atva g M be o Tas ge e Tiedazem e chew & s o el - S . P PR Cer
Selling, generat and admmsradve &3 1802 144 47 379 1% 14 65 o 39 33 2568
Restructuring, net — 20 — — —_ 1 — 2 — 1 — 25
Irgarweat - 49 — 48 — — - 1 2 1 —_ ’ 112
{nterest expense 166 167 1o 45 u — § 1} 2 — Lk 241
179 10.576 S.981 £33 815 49 80 378 7i 203 356 125891

Lncamu { knss) betore eome tax benchit

{expense ) 118 (48) (63) t 763 45 Q)] 13 15 319 (200 $288) 2,153
[ncome tax benefit (expense} — LIS kxi (496} {93y 1433 13} 1) e — a2 438
Netmncome (loss) 15 626 275 1.267 32 134y U] (6) 519 {20y £ 206) 2,591
Less net ncome {lose) attribstabie to nou-

vontrollng mizrests 38 n 46 53 13 — [ {1) — — — 181
Netuwome (losy) atmbutable to [cahn Emerprises § a0 s als 5 229 5 1214 3 19 s M 3 9 s [#3] 5 s19 5 20y 8 (206) s 2430
Supplemental mtarmaton

Capitak ¢xpendices 5 — 5 479 5 35 5 in s hz2 s h b ] 18 ¥ 26 5 9 3 5 5 — ¥ L2

Peprecton and amortirationil ) 3 — 13 508 5 278 < (33 5 3 < 20 g 5 < 5 £ 20 5 B 5 — 5 1 002
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Year Ended December 31, 2016

Foad Real Llome Hokding
Tovestiment Automotive Foergy Radcar Gaming Metsh Miniog Packaging Estute Fasloon Compary Consglidated
{1 millions)
Revenues . . . L N X .
Netgales , H D e % A . § 4TR2, 3 4G 0§ . 5 HFe F TH, § .39 0§ (T 5 195 % - 5 IS.5EF
Other revenugs from opersuons ) — 422 — 522 4 = - — kL - — 1,95%
Netgosygein frmmvmnami‘nﬁviﬁu‘ ) (1388 . [ s R - - i -— L i ¢ LA ' p
Intceest and clmdc{nd incume 12 4 ) 1 7.5 1 - 2 - — — 9 131
Gain o disgoution o agsets, aet i \ - 5 LTy P e e — T
Other (loss) weoms. net 53 73 124) 5 3 L (415 3 — 1 2 7
TR 9,928 784, 54z 948 s - a 332 18 - t9g i1 L6348
Expen~es
Costofgoodssold, ., . - 1658 4618 %6 - 284 56 . Tw 1 168 e 13412
Other expenses leom opetauons — 430 — 3 460 — — — 45 — — 1.15%
Selliog, genetat and sdmumntrative 1 1521 B3 8 a0 1 22 sz 10 38 2t 2342
Restructunng net — 27 — —_ — 2 -_ 3 - —_ — 3
Tt —_ 1 374 — 106 ] - o 3 b3 3 09
Titerest cxpense 230 157 8% 8% 13 — 7 12 x — 289 278
264 o8l 5413 ) Lo19 305 85 316 % 208 w0 18.532
{Loss} ncome betore come ax {expense)
beneht {1487y 17 1649) 240 (TI} 361 2n 16 12 t12) 1292) {1.184)
Inxome WX {expenss) bonefit — {4D) 45 (5T} £24 15 [#)] {8y — — 34 (36)
Net(loss) income (1 487} 77 (604) 181 {95} (20) 124) B 12 {12 1258) {22203
Less, oot (low) income atribuabie 1 none -
conktotug imnetests. (383) 24 @m 13 14 — ] 2 — e — (1.092).
Net{loss) Income atributable to Teatn Fberprses § (6040 S 51 3 (327 5 s L T T L T 4 S 125 (1§ (158) % 11,128)
Supplemeatal wformauon
Captat expendiurer 3 —_ H 418 3 1 b ] 3% E] R3 5 13 3 p-A 3 Ia H 1 3 H s —_ 3 826
Deprecianon and amorz auonll ) b — H 473 3 258 H 134 3 T 3 22 5 L} 3 20 5 2 $ % 3 _ 3 1014
Year Ended December 31, 2015
Food Real Home Holding
lavestment Altomative boergy Rullear Gaming Vetals Vinlng Fackagzing Estate Fashion Compeny Conpalicated
{m milhons}
Eevenues
Net sakey . $ - % T O%F 543 -5 40 5 -~ ¥ M $ W ¥ 5 4 8 93 g - 5 4,684
Qther revenues trom operanons — —_ — 499 #11 — -_ — % — — L, 386
Met (lnsh gain from investiment acticities {1,881y - e 16 e R— — - e — T wen
Interest and dividend income 178 3 2 2 L — 1 — — — 4 194
Cinah on digposidon of pers, nit - - RN S w - —_ W 4w - - W
Other (loss) income, net 12y 48 [l 3 _ 4 h (f) ] 1 [ 35
{568} 1543 $442 948 8l - 368 28 133 131 194 8 X 15272
[xpenses
Costal gouds 3044 -~ 651t sses - w W 26 T W - .
Oyther expenses from vperanans — —_ — 201 396 — — — :16 — — 643
w .
Selting, gerrat &nd sdminitutye P B PN 7 ‘A8 338 o 1 R 34 3 . 1908,
Reatruetuning - &% — — — 4 - 5 -_ { - 97
Jrem— » ’ = 4 e . - . - 2 - L e
Taterest expense 563 144 47 12 12 — 3 1z 2 — 289 1154
) . 200 18 5w w6 s s ) s mp . 17391
{Lo=3) mcome before meonie x (¢xpense)
beaetd (1 665) 302) 66 252 [ (33) (194) T 61 14 o8 2,059)
1ncome tax (¢xpensc} benefit ’ — L a0y (5%) )me)‘ on 32, gy - (16 — .= 16 58
Net (loss) mcome (1.665) (152) 7 213 18 (51} {195) ) 61 ) (178) 2120

Less net (loss) income adtibutable o non. . .
corlolug imetess . {83 537 (L] 76 iz —_— (453 — — — — {9333




“Setnerme {lossh atribulable to Jcahn Lnerpriscs § {76l 1 {399) 3 25 1 137 H 26 3 (51 3 (150} 5 (3 5 61 s 4 5 (176 5 {Lien

Supglemental mformanien
Capitalexpenditures H - % 349 3 219 $§ 502§ 93 5 L I 1 26 $ b £ 3 3 [ $ 8§ i35%

Depreciation 4nd ameruzauon2) 1 — b 346 b3 219 3 127 $ 0l 5 pid $ 8 3 19 & 2 s 7 $ — 5 81y

1 Excludes amounts related to the amortizaton of deferred financing costs and debt discounts and premiums included in interest expense in the consolidated amounts of $15 mulhon,
320 million and $14 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 20135, respecuvely
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condensed balance sheets are substantiall

to [eahn Enterpnises Holdings.

ASSETS
Canh and cashoquivaiens «

Cash held at consoludated affiiated partncrships
and resiricled cash

lavestnents:

Avoums regcrvable, ret
Inventaewss, et .

FPraperty, plant and cqumpment, not
Coodwill td mtangibls sssts, net
Other assety

Tous! asedts

LXABILITIES AND EGUITY

Accounts payable, accrued sxpenscs nud other
{flabitiney

Sevunilies ~olf nul yet purchased at fur value
Do s brokers

Post-emplayment benefit habiiny

Debt

Total hubimes

Equity atmibutable to Leahn Enterprises
Equity acrdrinbig (o son-controting mmcresty
Total e quay

Totak liubibstizs and equdy

ASSETS

Cashand cash equivalents

Cash beld at wonvoldated affiliated partoerships.
and resrwred wash

Insesments
Acwounts recevable, net
1m:emm, net
Property, plant and equipment. ney
Guedwili 20d meungible pssets, nes
Other gssets

Torak smets

LIABLLITIES AND EQUITY

Accouts payuble, accmuet expenses and other
Latulities.

Sceuripes sold, not yet purchased. at fas value
Dut 10 brikers:

Post-employment benetit fiahihty

Debt

Tota] habiines

Equity amnibutable 1o Tcahn balerprises
Exuity attabinsble o non—controlling ieress

Total cquity
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December 31,2017

y reporting segment as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are presented below.
y the same, with immaterial differences relating to our Holding Company's ather asset

Icahn Enterprises Holdings'
s, debt and equity attributabie

Food Renl Home Holding
Investment Autemotve Energy Radear G aniing Metals Mauning Packaging Estake Fashon Company Consoldared
(n tillong)
LI 1 57 42 % we s 105 4§ I 1% L 526 1682
734 4 —_ ] 13 3 —_ z 2 4 —_ 1
9538, 354 s b1] 3 — — —_ - —_ 334 BRIt
- 1306 178 44 1n 40 W ) 3 k] — 1,808
- 2601 185 4 — EH 0 02 v 66 — . et
— 3,503 3213 LI1YS Bty 1o I8 L7 438 72 —_ 9.70)
_ 1,963 8 7 kCY 3 — 36 p] s — 2,410 ’
516 541 61 41 0 n 2 93 390 6 4 1,747
3 10,798 10,709 4700 S E487 S L3S 26 S 268 487 897 s 183 % 914 IO
5 [543 2170 L4258 2 3 e LI " | 9§ 4 5 34 8 190 5009
o — —_ - - _ _ — — — — 1,023
Los7 - —_ - - - - - -~ e — EOST
—_ 1075 —_ ® —_ 2 —_ 2l -_— _ — 115%
— 1470 1,166 546 i37 | L 21 22 3 5,507 11,185
13Kz s .29 KO8 241 44 1n3 443 o8 39 5,697 20,433
ins2 3734 1 4% 7 182 138 b3 24 |44 {4,750 3 106
4,385 160 1331 5t 137 — 24 14 — — — 6.202
7417 1194 2.469 679 HIS 182 162 42 24 144 (4783 L1 3ok
s 10,799 L,709 AHB 5 a8 5 L 226§ 68 457 82 5 183§ 94 11,801
December 31, 2015
Food Real Home Holding
Imestment Autemutive Emergy Radear Gamong Metals Mg Packagung Estate Fashion Company Cunsolwated
10 miliinns)
s 13 383 f: LN ST I T 4 % mu 3 5 5 PR ] =5 T
752 a — » t5 5 — H 2 4 3 Hoa
5213 270, [ 3 35 E) — —_ - —_ —_ 149 9881
— L1270 152 40 12 20 5 63 3 KH — 1,608
- 2,353 149 75 - k] a5 72 "o n - 2983
— 3302 3358 1,567 814 100 152 152 602 75 — 10,122
. 1,801 L3t T 78 3 - ] 38 ' - 5
1.518 504 2 1410 209 13 23 o2 18 5 i 3,887
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The following table presents our segments' geographic net sales from external customers, other revenues flom operations and property, plant and

cquipment, net for the periods indicated:

Property, Plant and
Net Sales Other Revenues From Operations Equipment, Net
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, December 31,
2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 20158 2017 2016
{1m mlliens)
United States b 11,878, & 10489 § 9672 % 1,759  § 1,886 §& 1,304 § 7399 $- 8,063 -
Germany 1,531 1,455 1,480 — — — 529 458
Other 3,894 3,567 3452 68 72 - 82 1773 1,601 -
$ 17303 8 15,511 § 14,604 3 1,827 § 1,958 § 1386 § 9,701 § 10,122

Geographic locations for net sales and other revenues from operations arc based on locations of the customers and geographic locations for property,
plant, and equipment are based on the locations of the assets

14. fncome Taxes.

The difference between the book basis and the tax basis of our net assets, not directly subject to income taxes, 15 as follows:

Book basis of net assets
Book/tax basis difference
Tax basis of net assets

Icahn Enterprises

[cahn Enterprises Holdings

Income (loss) from continuing cperations before income tax expense {benefit)1s as follows:

Domestic
Intemational

Income tax benefit (expense) attnbutable to continuing operations 1s as follows

Current.
Domestic
[ntemational

Total current

Deferred:
Domestic
Intemational

Total defetred

December 31, December 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016
(10 millions) (in mulions)
$ 5,106 3 2,154 % 5133 8 2,179
“450) 1 888 (450} 1,888
3 4,656 $ 4042 § 4683 § 4067
Year Ended December 31,
207 2016 2015
{in miilions)
s 1933 % (2,370) $ {1,870)
220 186 (189}
5 2,153 (2,184) § (2,059)
Year Ended December 33,
2017 2016 2015
(mn mullions)
g 21y $ (40) § {17y
(52) (el (55)
(73) (141) (72)
525 ‘ 73 (15}
{14} 32 19
Sit 168 . .
3 438 % (36) % {68)
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A reconciliation of the income tax benefit (expense) calculated at the federal statutory rate to income fax benelit (expense) on continuing operations as
shown 1n the consolidated statcments of operations 15 as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
{in mulbions)
Income tax benefit (cxpense) at U.S, statutory rate $ 754 8 ’ 764 5§ 721
Tax effect trom-
Foreign opemtions . 42 © 39 29
Valuation allowance 499 (46} (113)
Non-controlling interest A 6] ' 2 T 41
Goodwill — (225) (196)
Uncertain tax positions and assessments . ( <o .23 ) 4
[ncome not subject to taxation 172 (511) (523)
Enactment of U.S. tax legislation, net of valuation allowance 498 — —
Other (26) 41y (31)
Income tax benefit (expense) 5 438 § (36) $ (68)

The tax effect of significant ditferences representing deferred tax assets (liakilities) (the difference between financial statement camrying valuc and the
tax basis of assets and Labilities) is as follows:

December 31,
2017 2016

{in mitlions)

Deferred tax assets:

Property, plant and equipment 5 261 % 312
Net operating loss 1,158 1,981
Tax credits 141 139
Postemployment benefits, including pensions 263 334
Reorganization costs 3 7
Other 393 430
Total deferred tax assets 2.224 3,203
Less: Valuation allowance (1,293) (1,821
Net deferred tax assets $ : 931§ 1,382 -

Defermred tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment $ 467y 3 (592)
Intangible assets (I57) (195)-
Investment in partnerships (775) (1,495)
Investment in U, 8. subsidiaries {184) (307}
Other (138) (101)
Total deferred tax liabilities (1,721) (2,690)
$ (790 § {1,308)

We recorded deferred tax assets and deferred tax habilities 0f 5134 mitlion and $924 million, respectively, as of December 31,2017 and $305 muillion
and 31,613 mullion, respectively, as of December 31, 2016. Deferred tax assets are included in other assets 1n our consolidated balance sheets.
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We analyze all positive and negative evidence to consider whether 1t is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. Projected
future income, tax planning strategies and the cxpected reversal of deferred tax liabilities are considered in making this asscssment. As of December 31, 2017
we had a valuation allowance of approximately $1.3 billion pnmarily related to tax loss and credit carryforwards, post-retirement benefits and other deferred
tax assets. The current and future provisions for income taxes may be significantly impacted by changes to valuation allowances These allowances will be
maintained until it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized. For the year ended December 31, 2017, the valuation allowance on
deferred tax assets decreased by $528 mullion. The decrease was pnmanly attnbutable to a 3491 nullion release of valuation allowance on all of the Federal-
Mogul federal net operating loss carry forward and a portion of state loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets. The remaining decrease was attnbutable
to a $77 mithon decrease in the valuation allowance of our Gaming segment and a $13 million decrease 1n our Mining segment, offset in part by mcreases of
$53 mullion recorded by the Automotive segment and Holding Company.

At December 31, 2017, Amencan Entertainment Properties Corp., 2 wholly owned corporate subsidiary of lkcahn Enterpnses and [cahn Enterprises
Holdings, which includes all or parts of our Automotive, Energy, Railcar, Metals, Gaming, Home Fashion and Real Estate segments had a deferred tax asset
before valuation allowance of approximately $1.0 billion related to tax loss carryforwards including: $684 million 1n the U.S, with expiration dates from
2027 through 2037; $47 million in the United Kingdom with no expiration dates; and $287 million in other junsdictions with various expiration dates.

At December 31,2017, CVR Energy had Kansas state income tax credits of $9 million, which are available to reduce future Kansas state income taxes.
These credits, if not used, will expire beginning in 2032. Additionally, CVR Energy has Oklahoma state income tax credits of $30 mullion which are
available to reduce future Oklahoma state regular income taxes. These credits have an indefinite life.

At December 31,2017, Viskase had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of $86 million which will begin expinng in the year 2024 and forward,
and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $13 mullion with unlimuted carryforward penod and $9 mullion with a five-year camry forward penod.

At December 31,2017, ARI had a federal net operating loss of $54 million that will be carnied back to tax years 2015 and 2016 and will be fully
absorbed. In addition, AR] had state net operating carryforwards of $31 million, which have varying expiration dates that extend into 2037.

Enactment of US. Tax Legistation

On December 22,2017, The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Legislation") was enacted in the United States, sigmificantly revising certain U.S. corporate
income tax provisions; including, among other 1tems, a reduction of the U.S. corporate rate from 35% to 21%, effective for tax year beginnung after December
31,2017; the transition of U S. intcrnational taxation from a worldwide tax system to a termtorial system; and a one-time transition tax on the mandatory
deemed repatnation of cumulative foreign earings as of December 31,2017, (or, if greater, November 2, 2017) of a “specified foreign corporation™ which
includes controlled foreign corporations and other foreign corporations which have at least one U.S. corporate shareholder that owns 10% or more of the
value or voting power of such foreign corporation. We estimated the impact of the Tax Legislation on our income tax provision for the year ended December
31,2017 in accordance with our understanding of the Tax Legislation and guidance available at the date of this filing and as a result have recorded
adjustments to the various tax balances, current, long-term and deferred tax assets and liabilities, all dunng the fourth quarter 0f2017. the penod 1n which the
Tax Legislation was enacted. The provisional amount related to the remeasurement of certain deferred tax assets and habilities based on the rates at which
they are expected to reverse in the future was $496 mullion, representing an income tax benefit recorded dunng the cument peniod. The provisional amount
related to the one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatnation of foteign earnings was $2 million.

On December 22,2017, Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 {"SAB 1 18") was 1ssued to address the application of U.S. GAAP in situations when a
registrant does not have the nccessary information available, prepared. or analyzed (including computations) tn reasonable detail to complete the accounting
for centain income tax effects of the Tax Legislation. In accordance with SAB 118, we have determined that the $496 million of income tax benefit recorded
in connection with the remeasurement of certain deferred tax assets and liabilities and the $2 million of curent tax expense recorded in connection with the
transition tax on mandatory deemed repatnation of foreign eamings were each a provisional amount and a reasonable estimate as of the date of this filing.
The accounting for these provisional amounts may be adjusted as we gain a better understanding of the new tax laws due to additional guidance and analysis
ofthese estimates, including but not limited to, gmdance on application of the one-time transition tax to 10% U.S shareholders ofa specified foreign
corporation, state tax treatments and finalizing our foreign affiliate analysis. Any subsequent adjustment to these amounts will be recorded to tax
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expense (n the quarter ¢f 2018 when the analysis 1s complete and additional guidance and Intemal Revenue Service interpretations are issued.

The Tax Legislation requires a U.S. shareholder of a foreign corporation to include 1n income its global intangible low-taxed income ("GILTI"). The
computation for the GILTI s stll subject to interpretation and additional clanfying gundance is expected 1n 2018. We are continuing to evaluate this
requirement and its application under FASB ASC Topic 740, lncome Tuxes. Accordingly, we have not made any adjustments in our current year financial
statements and have not made a policy decision regarding whether to record deferred taxes on GILT I or to record it as a penod cost adjustment.

Under the Tax Legislation, an entity must pay a Base Frosion Anti-Abuse Tax (*"BEAT") 1f the BEAT is greater than its regular tax hability Based upon
the FASB’s guidance in this area, any incremental effect of BEAT tax should be recognized in the year the BEAT s incurred. This tax applies to future years
and therefore there are no 1mpacts or estimates 1n the current year financial statements.

As of December 31,2017, Federal Mogul, Viskase and AR have not provided taxes on $784 mullion, $46 mullion and $6 mullion, respectively, of
undistnibuted earnings 1n foreign subsidiaries which are deemed to be indefinitely reinvested. If at some future date these eamings cease to be permanently
reinvested, we may be subject te foreign income and withholding taxes upon repatriation of such amounts.

Accoanting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

A summary ofthe changes in the gross amounts of unrecogmized tax benefits for the years ended December31,2017,2016 and 20135 are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015
{mn maillons}

Balance at January | $ 101§ %4 8 113
Addition based on tax positiens related to the current year 7 7 19
Increase fortax positions of prior years 39 8 6
Decrease for tax positions of prior years {15) n (10)
Decrease for statute of limitation expiration {16) {6) @1y
Settlements (1) — (8)
Tmpact of currency translation and other 4 {1} (5)

Balance at December 31 $ 129 % 101 3% 94

At December 31,2017,2016 and 2015, we had unrecognized tax benefits of $129 million, $101 million and $94 milhon, respectively. Of these totals,
$29 mullion, $68 mllion and $76 million represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized, would affect the annual effective tax rate in
the respective peniods The total unrecognized tax benefits differ from the amount which would affect the effective tax rate pnmanly due to the impact of
valuation allowances.

Dunng the next 12 moenths, Federal-Mogul believes that 1t 15 reasonably possible that unrecognized tax benefits of Federal-Mogul may decrease by
approximately $5 oullion due to audit settlements or statute expirations, of which approximately $2 mullion, if recognized, could impact the effective tax
rate. We do not anticipate any significant changes to the amount of our unrecognized tax benefits in our other busmess segments during the next 12 months.

We recogmze interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense We recorded $6 million, $15
million and $19 million as of December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, in habilities for tax related net interest and penalties in our consolidated
balance sheets. Income tax (benefit) related to interest and penalties were $(9) mullion, $(4) million and $(1 1) million for the years December 31,2017, 2016
and 2015, respectively. We or certain of our subsidiaries file income tax returns 1n the U 8 federal jurisdiction, vaneus state junsdictions and various non-
US junsdictions We and cur subsidianies are no longer subject to U.S. federal tax examinations for years betfore 2013 or state and local examinations for
years before 2009, with limnted exceptions. We, or our subsidiarnies, are currently under vanous income tax examinations in several states and foreign
junsdictions, but are no longer subject to 1ncome tax examinations in major foreign jurisdictions for years prior to 2005,
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15. Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss.

Changes 1n accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of the following:

Translation
Post-Employment Hedge Instruments, Net Adjustments and
Benefits, Net of Tax of Tax Other, Net of Tax Total
) {1n millions)

Balance, December 31,2016 ’ - J O (1 2 T R 74 T 1 . 948y 5§ © (1,584)
Other comprehensive income before reclassitications,

net of tax 30 2 124 156
Reclassifications from accumulated other SR ’ o o

comprehiensive income {loss}to earningy .- - . 26 (3 o 17
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 50 (1) 124 173
Baianc'e; December 31,2017 i 3 (564) $ - - 23) - § ‘ {824y § (LAL1)

16. Other Income, Net.
Other income, net consists of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
{n millions)

Gain on acquisition ) $ ’ — & — ¥ 5
Realized and unrealized loss on derivatives, net {Note 6) (70) {19) 29)
Other detivative (loss) income {41) 66 .
Dividend expense (10) (14) —
Loss on extinguishment of debt {16} 5) 2y
Equity eamnings from non-~consolidated affiliates 71 64 62
Foreign currency fransaction loss an 1} (10}
Tax settlement gain 61 — —
Predecessor claim settiement . — 3 —_
Other 24 13 9

3 8 3 107 8 35

17. Commitments and Contingencies.

Environmental Matters

Due to the nature of our business, certain of our subsidiaries' operations are subject to numerous existing and proposed laws and govemmental
regulations designed to protect the environment, particularly regarding plant wastes and emissions and solid waste disposal. Our consolidated environmental
liabilities were $50 million and $50 million as of December 31,2017 and 2016, respectively. pnmanly within our Automotive, Energy and Metals segments
and which are included 1n accrued expenses and other liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. We do not believe that environmental matters will have a
material adverse impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition

Automotive

Federal-Mogul is a defendant in lawsuits filed, or the recipient of admunistrative orders 1ssued or demand letters recerved, in various Jurisdictions
pursuant to the Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (“CERCLA”) or other sumilar national, provincial
or state environmental remedial laws. These laws provide that responsible parties may be liable to pay for remediating contamination resulting from
hazardous substances that were discharged into the environment by them, by prior owners or occupants of property they currently own or operate, or by
others
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to whom they sent such substances for treatment or other disposition at third party locations. Federal-Mogul has been notified by the EPA, other national
environmental agencies and various provincial and state agencics that it may be a potentially responsible party (“PRP”) under such laws for the cost of
remediating hazardous substances pursuant to CERCLA and other national and state or provincial environmental laws. PRP designation often results in the
funding of site investigations and subsequent remedial activities.

Many of the sites that are likely to be the costliest to remediate are often current or former commercial waste disposal facilities to which numerous
cempanies sent wastes. Despite the potential joint and several liability which might be imposed on Federal-Mogul under CERCLA and some of the other
laws pertaining to these sites, 1ts share of the total waste sent to these sites has generally been small, Federnl-Mogul believes its exposure for liability at these
sites 15 limited.

Federal-Mogul has also identified certain other present and former properties at which 1t may be responsible for cleaning up or addressing
environmentai contamination, in some cases as a result of contractual commitments and/or federal or state environmental laws, Federal-Mogul is actively
seeking to resolve these actual and potential statutory, regulatory and contractual obligations. Although difficult to quantify based on the complexity of the
1ssues, Federal-Mogul has accrued amounts comresponding to its best estimate of the costs associated with such regulatory and contractual obligations on the
basis of available information from siie investigations and the professienal judgment of consultants.

Our Automotive segment's total environmental liabilities, determuned on an undiscounted basis, were $16 mullion and $16 million as of December 3 1,
2017 and 2016, respectively. Federal-Mogul belicves that recorded environmental hiabilities will be adequate to cover 1ts estimated liabality for its exposure
n respect to such matters. In the event that such liabilities were to significantly exceed the amounts recorded by Federal-Mogul, our Automotive segment's
results of operations could be materially affected. At December 31, 2017, Federal-Mogul estimates additional losses above and beyond its best estimate of
required remediation costs could range up to $24 milhien.

Energy

I'he petroleum and nitrogen fertilizer businesses are subject to various stringent federal, state, and local Environmental Health and Safety ("EHS") rules
and regulations. Liabilities related to EHS matters are recognized when the related costs are probable and can be reasonably estimated. Estimates of these
costs are based upon currently available facts, existing technology, site-specific costs, and currently enacted laws and regulations In reporting EHS
liabilities, no offset is made for potential recovenies,

On August 1,2016, a subsidiary of CVR Energy ("CRCT"yrecerved a Notice of Probably Vielation, Proposcd Civil Penalty and Proposed Compliance
Order (the "NOPV") from the U.S Department of Transportation's Pipeline and Hazardous Matenals Safety Admumistration (the "PHMSA™). The NOPV alleges
violations of the Pipeline Safety Regulations, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations. The alleged violations include alleged fzilures (during various time
penods) to (1) conduct quarterly notification drills, (11) maintain certain required records, (1) utihize certain required safety equipment (including line
markers), (iv) take certain pipeline integrity management activities, {v) conduct certain cathodic protection testing, and (vi) make certain atmospheric
comosion inspections The preliminary assessed civil penalty 1s less than 31 million and the NOPV contained a compliance order outlining remedial
compliance steps to be undertaken by CRCT. CRCT paid a portion of the penaity and contested and requested mitigation of the remainder, and also
requested reconsideration of the proposed compliance order. In November 2017, CRCT received a final order from PHMSA assessing a revised civil penalty
ofless than $1 mlhion. CRCT paid the remainder of the penalty and has completed all 1items required by the compliance order.

Certain subsidianes of CVR Energy ("CRRM" and "CRT") have agreed to perform comrective actions at the Cotfeyville, Kansas refinery and the now-
closed Phillipsburg, Kansas terminal facility, pursuant to Administrative Orders on Consent issued under the Resources Conscrvation and Recovery Act
("RCRA"} to address histerical contamination by the pnor owners (RCRA Docket No. VII-94-H-20 and Docket No. VII-95 H-11, respectively). Wynnewood
Refining Company, LLC ("WRC") and the Oklahoma Department of Environmental Quality ("ODEQ") have entered into a Consent Order (Case No. 15056)
to resolve certain legacy environmental issues related to historical groundwater contamination and the operation of a wastewater conveyance.

As of December 31,2017 and 2016, our Energy segment had environmental accruals of $4 million and $5 million, respectively. CVR Energy's
management penodically reviews and, as appropriate, revises its environmental accruals. Based on current information and regulatory requirements, CVR
Encrgy's management believes that the accruals established for environmental expenditurcs arc adequate.

In January 2014, the EPA 1ssued an inspection report to the Wynnewood refinery related to a RCRA compliance evaleation mspection conducted 1n
March 2013. In Febmary 2014, ODEQ notified WRC that 1t concurred with the EPA's
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mspection findings and would be pursuing enforcement. WRC and ODEQ entered into a Consent Order in June 20135 resolving all alleged non-compliance
associated with thc RCRA compliance evaluation inspection, as well as issucs rclated to possible soil and groundwater contanunation associated with the
prior owner's operation of the refinery. The Consent Order requires WRC to take certain corective actions, including specified groundwater remediation and
monitering measures pursuant to a work plan and replacement of a wastewater conveyance to be approved by ODEQ ODEQ approved the work plan
submitted by WRC on February 1, 2016 and the replacement ot a wastewater conveyance on August 15, 2016. WRC is in the process of implementing the
specified groundwater remediation and monitonng measures. The costs of complying with the Coasent Order are estimated to be approximately $4 rllion.

Environmental expenditures are capitalized when such expenditures are expected to result in future economic benefits. Capital expenditures incurred
for environmental compliance and efficiency of the operations were $16 million, $17 miliion and $36 mullion fot the years ended December 31,2017, 2016
and 2015, respectively

Metals

PSC Metals has been designated as a PRP under U S. federal and state superfund laws with respect to certain sites with which PSC Metals may have had
adirect or indirect involvement. It 1s alleged that PSC Metals and its subsidiaries or their predecessors transported waste to the sites, disposed of waste at the
sites or operated the sites in question In addition, one of PSC Metals' Knoxville, Tennessee locations was the subject of investigations by the State of
Tennessee under the federal Superfund law. These investigations were performed by the State of Tennessee pursuant to a contract with the EPA. PSC Metals
has entered into Tennessee's Voluntary Clean-Up Oversight and Assistance Program ("VOAP") and expects to eater into a settlement with the Tennessee
Department of Environment and Conservation ("TDEC") in the future Currently, PSC Metals believes that it has adequately reserved for the cost of any
potential future remediation associated with 1ts Knoxville location, but cannot fully assess the impact of all costs or liabilities associated with TDEC's
investigations. With respect to all other matters in which PSC Metals has been designated as a PRP under U S. federal and state supertund laws, PSC Metals
has reviewed the nature and extent of the allegations, the number, connection and financial ability of other named and unnamed PRPs and the nature and
estimated cost of the likely remedy Based on reviewing the nature and extent of the allegations, PSC Metals has estimated 1ts liability to remediate these
‘ether sites to be immaterial as of both December 31, 2017 and 2016. Ifit is determuned that PSC Metals has liability to remediate.those sites and that more
expensive remediation approaches are required in the future, PSC Metals could incur additional obligations, which could be material te 1ts operations

In November and December of 2811, PSC Metals received three notices of violation ("NOV") from the Missoun Department of Natural Resources
(“MDNR") for hazardous waste and water violations related to its Festus, Missoun location PSC Metals has entered into a settlement with MDNR that
resolves these NOVs. Currently, PSC Metals believes that 1t has established adequate reserves for the cost of this settlement. In addition, PSC Metals
believes that it has a claim for indemnification against the pnior owner of the facility associated with the above-referenced notices of vielation. MDNR and
PSC Metals, as part of the resolution of MDNR's NOVs, have undertaken sampling for lead at residences near PSC Metals' Festus yard, Approximately 67
restdences were sampled and tested, and of those, approximately 15 tested above residential standards for lead contamination. PSC Metals has entered into a
settlement agreement with MDNR which resolves MDNR’s claims and required limited so1l remediation at the 15 residences. PSC Metals has complied with
the terms of'the settlement agreement and expects its obligations under the settlement agreement to terminate in the near future. PSC Metals believes that 1t
has adequately reserved for the cost of compliance with the settlement agreement. Additionally, PSC Metals believes that habilaty for offsite contammation
was retamned by the pner owner of the Festus yard and accordingly, it would have a claim forindemnification against the prior owner.

Certain of PSC Metals’ facilities are environmentally impaired 1n part as a result of operating practices at the sites pnor to their acquisition by PSC
Metals and as a result of PSC Metals' operations. PSC Metals has established procedures to periodically evaluate these sites, giving consideration to the
nature and extent of the contamination. PSC Metals has provided for the remediation of these sites based upon 1ts management’s judgment and pnor
experience. PSC Metals has estimated the liability to remediate these sites to be $28 rmullion and $28 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectuvely
PSC Metals believes, based on past expenence, that the vast majonty of these environmental liabilities and costs will be assessed and paid over an extended
period of time. PSC Metals beligves that it will be able to fund such costs in the ordinary course of business Estimates of PSC Metals' liability for
remediation of a particular site and the method and ultimate cost of remediation require a number of assumptions that are inherently difficult to make, and the
ultimate outcome may be materially different from current estimates. Moreover, because PSC Metals has disposed ot waste materials at numerous third-party
disposal facilities, 1t 1s possible that PSC Metals will be 1dentified as a PRP at additional sites. The impact of such future events cannot be estimated at the
current time.
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Asset Retirement Obligations

Our Automotive segment has identified sites with contractual obligations and several sites that are closed or expected to be closed and sold. In
connection with these sites, our Automotive scgment has accrued $15 mullion and $15 mullion as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, for asset
retirement obligations ("ARO"), primanly rclated to anticipated costs of removing hazardous building materials at 1ts facilities, and has considered
impairment 1ssues that may result from capitalization of these ARQ amounts,

Renewable Fuel Standards

CVR Refining s subject to the Renewable Fuel Standard which requizes refiners to either blend "renewable fuels" with therr transportation fuels or
purchase renewable fuel credits, known as renewable identificatton numbers (*RINs™}, in licu of blending.

In December 2015, 2016, and 2017, the EPA published in the Federal Regster final rules establishing the renewabie fuel volume mandates for 2016,
2017, and 2018, and the biomass-based diesel volume mandates for 2017, 2018, and 2019, respectively The velumes included in the EPA's final rules
increased each year, but were lower, with the exception of the velumes for biomass-based diesel, than the volumes required by the Clean Air Act. The EPA
used i1ts warver authotities to lower the velwmes, but its decision to do so for the 2014-2016 compliance years was challenged in the U.S. Court of Appeals for
the District of Columbia Circuit. In July 2017, the court vacated the EPA’s decision to reduce the renewable volume obligation for 2016 under one of1its
waiver authonties, and remanded the rule to the EPA for further reconsideration. The EPA has not yet reproposed the 2016 renewable volume cbligations.
The EPA also has articulated a policy that high RINs prices incentivize additional investments in renewable fuel blending and distnbutien infrastructure.

RINs expense was $249 mullion, $206 mullion and $124 million for years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively RINs expense
includes the impact of recogmzing the petroleum business’ uncommitted biofuel blending obligation at fair value based on market prices at each reporting
date Asof December 31, 2017 and 2016, the petroleum business' biofuel blending obhigation was $28 mullion and $186 mullion, respectively, which is
included 1n accrued expenses and other liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets.

Litigation
From nume to time, we and our subsidiaries are involved in various lawsuits arising in the normal course of business. We do not believe that such normal
routine litigation will have a material effect on our financial condition orresults of operations.

Automotive

On March 3, 2017, certain purported former stockholders of Federal-Mogul Holdings Corporation filed a petition in the Delaware Court of Chancery
seeking an appraisal of the value of common stock they claum to have held at the time of the January 23, 2017 merger of IEH FM Holdings, LLC into Federal-
Moygul Holdings Corporation, IEH FM Holdings, LLC was a wholly owned subsidiary of Icahn Enterpnses Federal-Mogul Holdings LLC filed an answer to
the petition on March 28, 2017, A second petation for appraisal was filed by purported former stockholders of Federal-Mogul Holdings Corporation on May
1,2017 The two cases were consohdated on May 10, 2017, captioned In re Appruisal of Federal-Mogul Holdings LLC, C A. No 201 7-0158-AGB. Discovery
1s ongoing and a tral date has not yet been set. Federal-Mogul believes that it has a meritonous defense and intends to vigorously defend the matter.

On September 29, 2016, September 30, 2016, October 12, 2016 and October 19, 2016, respectively, four putative class actions, captioned Skybo v
Ninivaggi et al., C A. No, 12790, Lemanchek v. Ninivaggi et al., C.A. No. 12791, Raul v. Nuuvaggi et al., C.A. No 12821 and Mercade v. Ninivaggr et al.,
C A No. 12837, were filed 1n the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware against the Board of Directors of Federal-Mogul {the "FM Board™) and Icahn
Enterpnses, Icahn Enterpnises Holdings, certain of their affiliates and Icahn Enterprises' Board of Directors (the "[cahn Defendants™), and, 1n the case of Rau!,
Federal-Mogul. The complaints allege that, amoeng other things, the FM Board breached its fiduciary duties by approving the proposed Merger Agrecement,
that the Ieahn Defendants breached their fiduciary duties to the minonty stockholders of Federal-Mogul and/or aided and abetted the FM Board’s breaches of
its fiductary duties, as wel!l as alleging certain material misstatements and omissions in the Schedule 14D-9 filed by Federal-Mogul (the "Schedule [4D-9").
The complamts allege that, among other things, the then-Offer Price was inadequate and, together with that the Merger Agreement, was the result of a flawed
and unfair sales process and conflicts of interest of the FM Board and the special committee of independent directors of Federal-Mogul (the "Spectal
Commuttee"), aileging that the Special Committee and Federal-Mogul’s management lacked independence from the Icahn Defendants In addition, the
complaints allege that the Merger Agreement contains certain allegedly preclusive deal protection provisions, including a no-solicitation provision, an
information nights proviston and a
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matching rights provision. Among other things, the complaints sought to enjoin the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, as well as award
costs and disbursements, including reasonable attorneys’ and cxperts’ fees The Rauf and Mercudo complaints further scek to rescind the transaction or
award rescissory damages, or (in the case of Rau/) award a quasi-appraisal remedy in the event that the transaction was consummated, as well as award money
damages. On October 28, 2016, all four actions were consolidated under the caption /n re Federal-Mogul Holdings, Inc. Stockholder Litigation, C.A. No
12790-CB (the "Delaware Action"). On March 6, 2017, plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended complaint that does not name Federal-Mogul as a defendant.
Among other things, the conseolidated amended complaint also adds allegations regarding the commencement and extension of the Ofter, the increase in the
Offer price, the closing of the transaction, Federal-Mogul's subsequent performance and public statements, Mr. Ninivaggi’s post-merger employment with
[cahn Enterprises and the independence of the chairman of the Special Commuttee The Icahn Defendants have moved to dismmss the amended complaint and
discovery was stayed pending determination of'that motion. In lieu of proceeding with the October 12, 2017 hearing on the Icahn Defendants' motion to
dismiss, the plaintiffs in the Delaware Action dismussed the Delaware Action, without prejudice as to the named plaintiffs.

On Cctober 5, 2016, a putative class action captioned Sanders v. Federal-Mogul Holdings Corporation et al ,C.A No. 16-155387 was filed 1n the
Circuit Court for Oakland County of the State of Michigan against Federal-Mogul, the FM Board and the kcahn Defendants (the "Michigan Action"). The
complaint alleges, among other things, that the FM Board breached 1ts fiduciary duties and that Federal-Mogul and the Icahn Defendants aided and abetted
the FM Board’s breaches ofits fiduciary duties, as well as alleging certain material misstatements and omisstons in the Schedule 14D-9. The complaint
alleges that, among other things, the then-Offer Price was unfair and the result of an unfair sales process that included conflicts of interest. In addition, the
complaint alleges that the Merger Agreement contains certain allegedly preclusive deal protection provisions, including a no-solicitation provision, an
information nghts provision and a matching rights provision. Among other things, the complaint sought to enjoin the transactions contemplated by the
Merger Agreement, or, 1n the event that the transactions were consummated, rescind the transactions or award rescissory damages, as well as award money
damages and costs, including reasonable attorneys” and expents” fees. On March 6, 2017, the plamntiffs filed an amended complamnt which, among other
things, dropped Federal-Mogul as a defendant. The amended complaint also: named certain additional Icahn-affiliated individuals and entities as
defendants; deleted various allcgations relating to process and purported disclosure deticiencies; added allegations regarding the commencement and

.cxtension of the Offer, the increase in the Offer.price, the closing pf'the transaction, Federal-Magul's subsequent performance.and public statements. Mr. .
Ninivaggi’'s post-merger employment with Icahn Enterprises, and the independence of certain directors, and eliminated the request for injunctive relief given
the consummation of the transaction. On Apnl 4, 2017, the Court entered a stipulated order staying the Michigan Action pending final determination of the
Delaware Action. On October 16,2017, the plaintitfs in the Michigan Action dismissed the Michigan Action, without prejudice as to the named plaintiffs

On Apnl 25,2014, a group of plaintiffs brought an action against Federal-Mogul Products, Inc. ("FM Products™), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Federal-
Mogul, alleging injuries and damages associated with the discharge of chlonnated hydrocarbons by the former owner of a facility located in Kentucky. Since
1998, when FM Products acquired the facility, it has been cooperating with the applicable regulatory agencies or remediating the pnor discharges pursuant
to an order entered into by the facility’s former owner. Federal-Mogul does not currently believe the outcome of this lingation will have a matenal impact on
1ts financial statements.
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Unconditional Purchase Obligations

The minimum required payments for CVR Energy's uncenditional purchase obligations are as follows:

Unconditional
Purchase
Obligations(!}

{in millions)

2018 ‘ o - ’ o o C $ L 165 -
2019 124
2020 ) 101
2021 90
2022 > : : , , : 85
Thereafter 542
‘ ) $ 1,107

UThis amount includes $69% million payable ratably over thirteen years pursuant to petroleum transportation service agreements between Coffeyville Resources Refimng Markeung,
LLC ("CRRM") and each of TransCanada Keystone Limiuted Partnership and TransCanada Keystone Pipeline, LP (together, "TransCanada”). The purchase obligaton reflects the
exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and the U 8§ dellar as of December 31, 2017, where applicable Under the agreements, CRRM receives transportation of at least 25,000
barrels per day of ¢crude oul with a delivery pont at Cushing, Oklahoma for a term of twenty years on ltansCanada's Keystone pipeline system,

Additiorally, in the noomal course of business, CVR Energy has long-tenm commitments to purchase oxygen, mtrogen, electnicity, storage capacity,
water and pipeline transportation services For the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2013, total expense of $209 million, $151 mullion and $136
nullion, respectively, was ineurred related to long-term commitments.

ther Matters
FRA Drrective

On September 30, 2016, the Federal Railroad Admunistration ("FRA"}1ssued Railworthiness Directive ("RWD"}No 2016-01 (the "Original Directive”).
The Original Directive addressed, among other things, certain welding practices in onc weld arca 1n specificd DOT 111 tank railcars manufactured between
2009 and 2015 by ARTand ACF Our Railcar segment met and corresponded with the FRA following the 1ssuance of the Onginal Directive to express its
concems with the Original Directive and its impact on our Railcar segment, as well as the industry as a whole.

On November 18, 2016 (the “Issnance Date"), the FRA {ssued RWD No. 201601 [Revised] (the "Revised Directive™). The Revised Directive changed
and superseded the Onginal Directive in several ways.,

The Revised Directive required owners to 1dentify their subject tank railcars and then from that population identify the 15% of subject tank railcars then
in hazardous matenals service with the highest mileage 1o each tank car owner’s fleet. Visual inspection of each of the subject tank railcars 1s required by the
car operator pnior to putting any railcar into service Owners must ensure appropriate inspection, testing and repairs, 1f needed, within twelve months of the
[ssuance Date for the 15% oftheir subject tank railcars 1dentified to be in hazardous materials service with the highest mileage. The FRA reserved the right to
impose additional test and inspection requirements for the remaining tank ratlcars subject to the Revised Directive.

The FRA also reserved the nght to seek civil penalties or to take any other appropriate enforcement action for violation of the Federal Hazardous
Materials Regulations that have occurred.

Although the Revised Directive addressed some of our Railcar segment's concems and clanfied certain requirements of the Onginal Directive, our
Ratlcar segment 1dentified significant issues with the Revised Directive. As a result, in December 2016, our Railcar segment sought judicial review of and
relief from the Revised Directive by filing a petition for review against the FRA in the United States Court of Appeals for the Distnict of Columbia Circuit.

On August 17, 2017, our Railear segment entered 1nto a seitlement agreement with the FRA, which covered the subject railcars owned by our Railcar
segment This agreement, among other things, extended the deadline for our Railcar scgment to complete the wnspection, testing and repairs, 1f needed, for the
15% identified railcars to December 31, 2017. Adding clarity regarding certain unknown requitements referenced in the Revised Directive, under the
scttlement agreement, our Railcar segment is required to inspect, test, and 1f necessary repair the remaining 85% subject tank railcars at the next tank railcar
qualification, scheduled routine or regular maintenance, shopping or repair event, but no later than December 31, 2025,
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However, the settlement agreement permits our Ratlcar segment to {1) 1fthe FRA does not impose a siomlar requirement by July 31, 2018 on other owners®
railcars subject to the Revised Directive, suspend compliance with this requirement until such time as the FRA imposes requirements on all 85% railcars
subject to the Revised Directive, and (11) elect to be govemed by any different requirements later imposed by the FRA on other owners’ railcars subject to the
Revised Directive. [n addition, the settlement agreement also provides that railcars owned by our Railcar segment are no longer required to have a surface
inspection performed when the railcars are being inspected pursuant to the Revised Directive. The description above includes a summary of the terms of the
settlement agreement, Finally, as part of the-settlement agreement, our Railcar segment distissed its lawsuit agamnst.the FRA.

Our Ratlcar segment has evaluated its potential exposure related to the Revised Directive and has a remaining loss contingency reserve ot $9 million, as
of December 31, 2017, to cover its probable and estimablc habilities with respect to our Railcar segment's response to the Revised Directive, The loss
contingency reserve takes into account information available as of December 31, 2017 and our Railcar segment's contractual obligations in its capacity as
both a manufacturer and owner of railcars subject to the Revised Directive. This amount is included in accrued expenses and other liabilities on the
consolidated batance sheets. This amount will continue to be evaluated as our Railcar segment's and its customers' compliance with the Revised Directive
and the settlement agreement progress. Actual results could differ from this estimate.

it 1s reasonably possible that a loss exists in excess of the amount accrued by our Railcar segment. However, the amount of potential costs and expenses
expected to be incurred for comphance with the Revised Directive in excess of the 103s contingency reserve of $9 million cannot be reasonably estimated at
this time.

Penston Obligations

Mr. Icahn, through certain affiliates, owns 100% of [cahn Enterpnises GP and approximately 91.0% of [cahn Enterprises' outstanding depositary units as
of December 31,2017 Applicable pension and tax laws make each member of a “controtled group™ of entities, generally defined as entities in which there is
at least an 80% common ownership interest, jointly and severally liable for certain pension plan obligations of any member of the controlled group. These
pension obligations in¢lude ongoing contributions to tund the plan, as well as hability for any unfunded liabilities that may exist at the ume the ptan is
terminated. In addition, the failure to pay these pension obligations when due may result in the crcation of liens in favor of the penston plan or the Pension
Benefit Guaranty Corperation ("PBGC") against the assets of each member of the controlled group.

As a result of the more than 80% owncrship interest m us by Mr. Icahn’s affiliates and our ownership of more than 80% 1n certain of our subsidiaries, we
and certain of our subsidiaries are subject to the pension habilities of entities in which Mr. Ieahn has a direct or indirect ownership interest of at least 80%.
ACF and Federal-Mogul, are the sponsors of several penston plans. All the minimum tunding requirements of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended, and
the Employee Retirement Income Securnity Act of 1974, as amended by the Pension Protection Act of 2006, for these plans have been met as of December 31,
2017 and 2016, If the plans were voluntarily terminated, they would be underfunded by approximately $424 million and $613 rllion as of December 31,
2017 and 2016, respectively These results are based on the most recent information provided by the plans’ actuaries. These habilities could increase or
decrease, depending on a number of factors, including future changes in benefits, investment retums, and the assumptions used to calculate the liability. As
metmbers of the controlled group, we would be liable for any failure of ACF and Federmal-Mogul to make ongoing pension contnburions or to pay the
unfunded liabilitics upon a termination of the pension plans of ACF and Federal-Mogul, In addition, other entitics now or in the future within the controlled
group in which we are included may have pension plan obligations that are, or may become, underfunded and we would be liable for any failure of such
entities to make ongoing pension contributions or te pay the unfunded hahlities upon termination of such plans.

The current underfunded status of the pension plans of ACF and Federat-Mogul requires them to notify the PBGC of certain “reportable events,” such as
1f we cease to be a member of'the ACF and Federal-Mogut controlled group, or if we make certain extraordinary dividends or stock redemptions The
obligation to report could cause us to seck to delay or reconsider the occumence of such reportable events.

Starfire Holding Corporation ("Starfire") which 1s 99 4% owned by Mr. Icahn, has undertaken to indemmfy us and our subsidiaties from losses resulting
from any 1mposition of certain pension funding or termination liabilities that may be imposed on us and our subsidianes or our asséts as a result of being a
member of the Icahn controlled group. The Starfirc indemmity (which does not extend to pension liabilitics of our subsidianies that would be imposed on us as
a result of our interest 1n these subsidianes and not as a result of Mr. Tcahn and his affiliates holding more than an 80% ownership nterest in us, and as such
would not extend to the unfunded pension termination liability for Federal-Mogul) provides, among othet things, that so long as such contingent liabilities
ex1st and could be imposed on us, Startire will not make any distnbutions to its stockholders that
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would reduce 1ts net worth to below $250 million. Nonetheless, Starfire may not be able to fund its indemnification obligations to us.
Other

The U S, Attomey’s office for the Southem District of New Yotk contacted Icahn Entetprises L.P. (n September 2017 seeking production of information
pertaining to our and Mr. Icahn’s activities relating to the Renewable Fuels Standard and Mr. Icahn’s role as an advisor to the President. We are cooperating
with the request and are providing informmation in responsc to the subpoena. The U.S. Attorney’s office has not made any claims or allegations against us or
Mr. Icahn. We maintain a strong compliance program and, while no assurances can be made, we do not believe this inquiry will have a matenal impact on our
business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Consolidated Leases

Consolidated future minimum lease payments under operating leases with initial terns of one or more years consist of the following at December 31,
2017

Year Amount

(in mulhons)

2018 ’ < b3 237
2019 222
2620 : ) . 198
2021 170
Thereafter 388

$ 1,357

Rent expense under operating leases for the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015 was $264 mullion, $237 million and $145 million,
respectively

18. Supplemental Cash Flow Information.

Supplemental cash flow information consists of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015
(in muilions)

Cash payments for interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 658 § 662 §$ 602
Net cash payments (refunds) for income taxes 150 87 )
Acquisition of subsidiary commeon stock included in accrued expenses and other

habikities 51 — —
Seller finaneing secured mortgages resulting from disposition of assets 375 — —
Investment in subsidiaries prior to acquiring a controiling interest — 286 36
LP unit 1ssuance tor remaining 25% interest in ARL — 35 —_—
Fair value of subsidiary common units issued in an acquisition of business — 336 e
Farr value of debt assumed 1n an acquisition of business — 368 —
Capital expenditures included in aceounts payable, accrued expenses and other

liabilities 80 89 88
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19, Subsequent Events.
Icahn Enterprises
Distrbution

On February 27, 2018, the Board of Directors of the general partner of leahn Enterpnises declared a quarterly distnbution in the amount of $1.75 per
- depositary unit, which will be paid on or about April 16,2018 to depositary-unitholders of record at the close of business-on March 12, 2018 Depositars

unithelders will have until April 5, 2018 to make an election to receive erther cash or additional depositary units; if a holder does not make an election, it
will automatically be deemed to have elected to recerve the dividend n cash. Depositary unitholders who elect to recerve additional depositary units will
receive units valued at the volume weighted average trading price of the units on NASDAQ dunng the 5 consecutive trading days ending April 12,2018. No
fractional depositary units will be 1ssued pursuant to the distibution payment. Icahn Enterprises will make a cash payment in lieu of issuing fractional
depositary units to any holders electing to receive depositary umts. Any holders that would only be eligible to receive a fraction of a depositary unit based
on the above calculation will receive a cash payment.

20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited).

Quarterly financial data for Icahn Enterprises is presented below:

For the Three Months Endedt)

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
(in mullions, except per unit datay

Net sales - . s 4319 % 3,548 8. 4282 % 4,094....8. .. 4292 % 3504 5. 4410 3 3,965
Gross margin on net sales 627 423 359 646 613 526 499 502
Total revenues - 4,677 3,127 6,654 4,350 5,680 4,899 4,733 3972
Net (loss) tncome (160) (1,609) 1,725 (285) 829 238 197 (564)
Net loss {income) attributable to

pon-controlling interesis {142) " (172) 172 (216) 232 254 (101) (358)
Net (loss} income attributable to

Icahn Enterprises (18) (837) 1,553 (L4 597 (16) 298 (206)

Basic (loss) income per LP unit $ t0.12) 8 621) % 851 % 050 § 353 % ©.12) 3 172 3 (1.42)
Diluted (loss) income per LP
unit $ 012y §% 621) % 951 % 050y 3 353 % 0iz2) $ 172§ (1.42)

"' The comparability of our quarterly financial data 1s atfected by, among other thmngs, (1) the performance of the Investment Funds, (1) vatious acquisitions, primatily the acquisition
of Pep Boys during the first quarter of 2016, (11} certan dispositions of assets, primarily during the second and fourth quarters of 2017, (1v) impairment charges and (v) the
enactment of U S tax law changes in the fourth quarter of 201 7.
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Itemm 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure,

Neone.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2017, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design
and operation of [cahn Enterprises’ and Icahn Enterprises Holdings' and subsidiaries' disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to the Rule 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(¢) promulgated under the Secunties Exchange Act 0f 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
us n reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act 1s recorded, processed. summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules
and forms, and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in such reports 1s accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropnate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Contrel Over Financial Reporting

Qur management 1s responsible for establishing and maintaiming adequate internal control over financial reporting and for an assessment of'the
effectiveness of intemnal control over financial reporting, as such items are defined in Rule 13a-15funder the Exchange Act.

Our internal control over financial reporting 1s designed to provide reasonable assurance that our financial reporting and preparation of financial
statements 1s rehable and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Our policies and procedures are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded and records maimtained 1n reasonable detail as necessary to accurately and fairly reflect transactions and that all
transactions are properly authorized by management in order to prevent or timely detect unauthonzed transactions or misappropnation of assets that could
have a matenal effect on cur financial staternents

Management 1s required to base 1ts assessment on the effectiveness of our tnternal control over financial reporting on a suitable, recognized control
framework Management has utilized the critena established 1n the 2013 faternal Controi-Integrated Frameworkssued by the Commuttee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO™) to evaluate the effectiveness of intemal contrel over financial reporting.

Our management has performed an assessment according te the gmidelines established by COSO Based on the assessment, management has concluded
that our system of intemal control over financial reporting, as of December 31, 2017, 15 effective.

Because ofits inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Projections ofany evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may detenorate.

Grant Thomton LLP, cur independent registered public accounting firm, has audited and 1ssued their reports on Icahn Enterprises’ intemal control over
financial reporting, which appears below

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes 1n our intenal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2017 that have matenally affected, orare
reasonably likely to materially affect, our intemal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Partners
Icahn Enterpnses L.P.

Opinion on internal control over financial reponing

We have audited the intemal control over financial reporting of Icahn Enterprises L P. (a Delaware limited partnership) and subsidianes (the “Partnership™) as
of December 31,2017, based on criteria established 1n the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgamizations
of the Treadway Commission (“CQSQ”} In our opinion, the Partnership maintained, in all matenal respects, effective intemal control over financial reporung
as of December 31,2017, based on criteria established in the 2013 Intermal Control-Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, 1n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB™), the consolidated
financial statements of the Partnership as of'and tor the yearended December 31, 2017, and our report dated March 1, 2018 expressed an unqualified opimion
on those financial statements.

Basis for opinion

The Partnership’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for 1ts assessment of the effectiveness of
intemal control over financial reporting, mncluded 1n the accompanying Managements Report on Intemal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Partnership’s intemal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are requited to be independent with respect to the Partnership in accordance with the US. federal secunties laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Secuntics and Exchange Commussion and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintamned 1n all matenal respects. Our audst included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the nsk that a matenal weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of intemnal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis forour opinion.

Definition and limitations of internal control over financial reporting

A company’s intermnal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external pumposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting prnciples. A company's internal contrel
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting pnnciples, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authenzations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use. or disposition ot the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of ils inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future penods are subject to the nisk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 1n conditions, or that the degree of compliance

with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/GRANT THORNTONLLP

New York, New York
March 1, 2018
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Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART 111
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corperate Governance.

The names, offices held and ages of the directors and executive officers of Icahn Enterprises G.P., Inc. (“[cahn Enterprises GP") as of March 1, 2018 are as
follows.

Name Age Position

Cad C.Jcahy - . - . 82 Chaionan ofthe Boand -

Keith Cozza 39 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
SupgHwen Che - . .. 43.. . ChiefFinencial Officer and Directos.. ..o . ..
Peter Reck 51 Chief Accounting Officer

William A. Leidesdorf - , .. .72 Direstes. ..

James L. Nelson 68 Director

lack . Wasserman, R ; .. 8 Director:.

Our directors are selected by Carl C. Icahn, as the controlling stockholder of [cahn Enterprises GP, and are not elected by our limited partners.
Individuals who possess characteristics that include integnty, business expenence, financial acumen and teadership abilities are qualified to serve on our
board of dirgctors. Listed below are our directors and executive officets with their biographies. In addition, we have summarized for each director why such
director has been chosen to serve on our board of'directors.

Carl C, Icahn has served as chairman of the board and a director of Starfire Holding Corporation, a pnvately-held holding company, and chaimman of
the board and a director of various subsidiaries of Starfire, since 1984. Since August 2007, through his position as Chief Executive Officer of Icahn Capatal
LP, a wholly owned subsidiary of Icahn Enterpnses L.P ("lcahn Enterpnses") and certain related entities, Mr [cahn’s principal occupation 1s managing
private investment funds, including Icahn Partners LP and Icahn Partners Master Fund LP. Since November 1990, Mr. lcahn has been chairman of the board of
Icahn Enterprises GP, the general partner of Icahn Enterpnses and Icahn Enterpnses Holdings Mr, Ieahn has been; chaiman of the board of CVR Refining, LP
since January 2013, chairman of the board of CVR Energy, Inc. since June 201 2; chairman of the board of Tropicana Entertainment Inc. since March 20(0,
and President and a member of the executive commitres of X0 Holdings. a competitive provider of telecommumication gervices, since September 2011, and
chairman of the board and a director of its predecessors since January 2003 Mr. lcahn was previously: director of Federal-Mogul Holdings Corperation from
December 2007 to May 2015, and the non-executive chairman of the board of Federal-Mogul Holdings Corporation from January 2008 to May 2015;
chairman ofthe board and a director of Amencan Railcar Industries, Inc. from 1994 10 July 2014, a director of American Railear Leasing LLC from June 2004
to November 2013; a director of WestPoint Home LLC from October 2005 until December 2011; and a director of Cadus Corporation, a company engaged in
the acquisition of real estate for renovation or constiuction and resale, from July 1993 ta July 2010.

Mr Icahn brings to his role as the chairman of the board his significant business experience in leadership reles as director in various companies as
discussed above, including certain of our subsidiaries. In addition, Mz Icahn is umquely qualified based on his historical background for creating value in
companies across multiple industries. Mr. Icahn has proven to be a successful investor over the past 40 years.

Keith Cozza has been the President and Chief Executive Officer of Icahn Enterpnses since February 2014 In addition, Mr. Cozza has served as Chief
Operating Officer of Icahn Capital LP, the subsidiary of lcahn Enterpnses through which Carl C. Icahn manages investment funds, since February 2013. From
February 2013 to February 2014, Mr. Cozza served as Executive Vice President of Icahn Enterpnses. Mr. Cozza 15 also the Chief Financial Officer of [cahn
Associates Holding LLC, a peosition he has held since 2006, Mr Coxzza has been a director of: Tropicana Entertainment Inc since February 2014, Herbalife
Ltd., a nutritton company, since April 2013, and Icahn Enterprises since September 2012. In addition, Mr Cozza serves as a director of certain wholly-owned
subsidianies ot Icahn Enterprises, including: Federal-Mogul Holdings LLC (formerly known as Federal-Mogul Holdings Corporation); Icahn Automotive
Group LLC; and PSC Metals Inc. Mr. Cozza was previously: a member of the Executive Commtiee of American Railcar Leasing LLC from June 2014 to June
2017; a director of FCX Oil & Gas Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Freeport-McMoRan Inc., from October 2015 to Apnl 2016; a director of CVR Refining,
LP from January 2013 to February 2014; and a director of MGM Holdings Inc , an entertainment company focused on the production and distribution of film
and television content, from Apnl 2012 to August 2012. Mr. Icahn has or previously had non-controlling mterests in Freeport-McMoRan, Herbalife and
MGM Holdings through the ownership of securities.

Mr. Cozza brings to his service as a director his significant experience in leadership roles as director of vanous companies as discussed above, In
particular, his experience as Chief Financial Officer of Icahn Associates Holding LLC enables hum to understand the complex business and financial 1ssues
that we may face.
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SungHwan Cho has served as Chief Financial Officer of Icahn Enterprises since March 2012. Prior to that time. he was Senior Vice President and
previously Portfolic Company Associate at [cahn Enterprises since October 2006, Mr Cho has been a director of Hertz Global Holdings, Inc., a company
engaged in the car rental business, since May 2017; Ferrous Resources Limuted since June 2015; CVR Refining, LP since January 2013; Icahn Enterpnises
since September 2012; CVR Energy, Inc. since May 2012; and Amencan Railcar Industnies, Inc since June 2011 {and has been Chaimman of the Board of
American Railcar Industries since July 2014} In addition, Mr. Cho serves as a director of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of Icahn Enterprises, including:
Federal-Mogul Holdings LLC (formerly known as Federal-Mogul Holdings Corporation). Icahn Automotive Group LLC; PSC Metals Inc.; and WestPoint
Home LLC. Mr. Cho was previously: a member of the Executive Committee of American Railcar Leasing LEC from September 2013 to June 2017; a director
of CVR Partners LP from May 2012 to Apnl 2017, a director of Viskase Companies, Inc. from November 2006 to April 2017, and a director of Take-Two
Interactive Software Inc, a publisher of interactive entertainment products, from April 2010 to November 2013, Mr. Icahn has or previously had a non-
controlling interest in each of Hertz Global Holdings and Take-Two Interactive Software through the ownership of securities.

Mr. Cho brings to his service as a director his significant experience 1n leadership roles as directer of various companies as discussed above. In particular,
his service as Chief Financial Officer of Icahn Enterpnses and Icahn Enterpnises Holdings enables hum to understand the complex business and financial
1ssues that we may face.

Peter Reck has served as Chief Accounting Officer of our general partner, Icahn Enterprises GP, since March 2012, and as its Secretary since April 2012
Mr. Reck was Controller of Icahn Enterprises and Icahn Enterprises Holdings from November 2005 to March 2012, Mr. Reck has served as director of. Icahn
Automotive Group LLC since 2017; The Pep Boys - Manny, Moe & Jack, since February 2016; and Viskase Companies, Inc. since March 2012, Previously,
Mr. Reck served as Controller of Family Office and Treasurer of Philanthropies for Bromor Management, the Family Office of Charies Bronfinan. Mr. Reck
also served as Controller for the Bank of Uruguay and worked at KPMG LLP in their audit practice.

William A. Leidesdorfhas served as a director of Icahn Enterprises’ general partner, Icahn Enterprises GP, since March 1991 and 1s a member of our audit
commuttee. Mr. Leidesderf has served Icahn Enterprises’ subsidiades as a director and member of the audit commttee of Troptcana Entertainment Ing, since
May 2014 and as a director of IEH Auto Parts LLC since June 2015. Mr. Leidesdorf previously served as. a director and member of the audit committee of
American Entertainment Properties Corp., a subsidiary of Icahn Enterprises, from December 2003 to March 201 3; a director of Renco Steel, dunng its
bankruptcy, its subsidiary, WCI Steel, Inc., a steel producer which filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection and Simpson Housing Limited Partnership, a
pnvately held real estate investment trust; an owner and 2 managing director of Renaissance Housing, LLC, and a company primartly engaged in the
acquisition of multifamily housing and, the owner and managing director of Renaissance Hamptons Mayfair, LLC, a company primanly engaged in
acqmiring multifamily residential properties from 2008 until April 2015; and a principal in Bedrock Investment Management Group, LLC, a company
engaged in the acquisition of troubled residential subdivisions, from 2008 until December 2014,

Mr Leidesdorfbrings to his service as a director his significant business experience and leadership role as a director in various companies including
certain of our subsidianes His expenence has enabled him to understand the complex business and financial issues that companties may face Mr. Leidesdorf
has also had expenence with large-scale real estate workouts and has been responstble for managing real estate portfolios for a number of institutions,
mcluding responsibility for audits and compliance with vanous federal and state regulatory authonties.

James L. Nelson has served as a director of Icahn Enterprises’ general partner, icahn Enterprises GP, since June 2001 and 1s a member of our audit
committee. Mr. Nelson has been a director of. IEH Auto Parts LLC since June 2015, an Icahn Enterprnises’ subsidiary; and Herbalife Ltd , a nuinition company
11 which Mr. Icahn holds a non-controlling interest through the ownership of securities, since Apnl 2014 Mr Nelson has served as Chief Executive Officer of
Global Net Lease Inc., a publicly traded real estate investment trust, since August 2017, as a director since March 2017, and from March 2017 to July 2017, as
chairman of the audit committee Mr Nelson previously served as: a director of New York REIT, Inc., a publicly traded real estate investment trust, from
November 2015 to June 2017, a director and member of the compensation, governance and strategic alternatives committees of Voltari Corporation, a
commercial real estate company controlled by Mr. Icahn, from June 2011 through September 2015 {(and. from January 2012 through September 2015, served
as chaiurman of its Board of Directors); a director of VI Peaks Co-Optivist Income BDC 11, Inc , an externally managed, closed-end management investment
company, from November 2013 through August 2014, a director of Ubiquity Broadcasting Corporation, a vertically integrated, technology-tfocused media
company, from April 2014 to August 2014 a director and member of the audit committee of Tropicana Entertainment Inc. from March 2010 to May 2014, a
director and member of the Gavermance and Nominating Commuttee of SITO Mobule, Ltd , a technology-based mobile solutions provider serving businesses,
advertisers and brands, from May 2013 to Apnl 2014, a director and member of the audit commuttee of Take Two Interactive Software, Inc , a publisher,
developer, and distributor of video games and video game penpherals in which Mr Icahn previcusly held an interest through the ownership ot secunties,
from Aprl 2010 through November 2013, a director and as chairman of the audit committee ot the board of directors of Cequel Communications, an owner
and operator of a large cable television system, from April 2008 to November 2012; and a director and chairman of the audit committee of Viskase
Companies, Inc. from Apnl 2003
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through Apnl 2010,

Mr Nelsen brings to his service as a director his significant expenence and leadership reles serving as chief executive officer, director and chairman of
the audit commiitee of various companies.

Jack G. Wasserman has scrved as a director of [cahn Enterprises’ general partner, leahn Enterprises GP, since December 1993 and is the Chaiman of our
audit commuttee, Mr. Wasserman has been a director of Cadus Corporation, a company engaged in the acquisition of real estate for renovation or construction
and resale, a company controlled by Mr. Icahn, since December 1998, Mr. Wasserman has served [cahn Enterprises’ subsidiaries as a director of IEH Auto
Pans LLC since June 2015 and as a director and member of'the audit committee of Trump Entertainment Resorts, Inc. since February 2016. Mr. Wasserman
has been engaged tn the practice of law as a sole practitioner, stnce September 2001. Mr. Wasserman previously served as. a director of Wendy's, a franchisor
ofthe Wendy's restaurant system, as the chairman ofthe ERISA committee of Wendy’s and as a member of the audit and compensation committees of
Wendy's, fromi March 2004 to June 2015; a director and chairman of the audit committee of American Entertainment Propertics Corp a subsidiary of leahn
Entetpnses, from December 2003 to March 2013, and a senior pariner of Wasserman, Schneider, Babb & Reed, a New York-based law firm, and 1ts
predecessors, from 1966 unt1l 2001. He is a current and past director of numerous not-for-profit organizations. Mr. Wasserman is an attomey and a member of
the Bars of New York, Florida and the Distnct of Columbia.

Mr. Wasserman brings to his service as a director his signiticant experience and leadership roles as a director of various pubiic companies, In addition,
Mr. Wasserman practiced law for aimost 40 years with the law firm of Wasserman, Schneider, Babb & Reed of which he was a senior partner; the firm
concentrated 1ts practice in intemational trade and related corporate matters, primarily for Fortune 500-type companies operating 1n a broad range of
industries, and he is famliar with financial statements and domestic and trans-border transactions,

Audit Committee

James L. Nelson, William A. Leidesdort and Jack G. Wassemman serve on our audit committee. We believe that the audit commitiee members are
*independent™ within the meaning of Rule 5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ Listing Rules ofthe NASDAQ Stock Market ("NASDAQ"). A copy of'the audit
committee charter is available on our website at www.relp.com/governance cfm or may be obtained without charge by writing to [cahn Enterprises L P., 767
Fifth Avenue, Suite 4700, New York, NY 10153, Attention’ Investor Relations.

Our audit commitice has twelve regularly scheduled meetings ¢ach year, and numerous other meetings when circumstances require. Eight meetings are
held in connection (a) with the audit comnuttee's review, together with our senior management, the senior management of our subsidianes, and
representatives of our independent auditor, of our quarterly reports on Form 10<Q and our annual report on Form 10-K and (b) telephone conferences with the
senior management of each of out subsidiaries. Four meetings are held with our Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer, and Chief Auditor, who
report to the audit committee on company-wide developing financial and related matters At the time of'the annual report on Form [0-K, the audit committee
meets in executive session, and also meets separately with our independent auditor and our senior management. Our audit committee holds two annual
executive sessions, When necessary, our audit committee holds informal meetings, meets with its independent counsel, and, when appropriate, with
mdependent financial advisers.

The functions of our audrt committee include, but are not limuted to: {1) the review of our financial and accounting pelicies and procedures, including |
oversight; {2) the selection of our independent auditor and the determination of the auditor’s fees for audit services, {3) the pre-approval of any non-audii
services and the fees 10 be paid to our independent auditor. (4) the obtammng, at least annnally, of a report from our independent auditor of the adequacy of
our intemal controls over financial reporting; (5) the review of the results of all audits of cur books and records performed by the independent auditor for,
among other reasons, to determine the integrity of our financial statements: (6} discussing our policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management,
and reporting such policies to the full board of ditectors; (1) the review of saignificant earnings press releases prior to release with respect to the types of
information disclosed and the manner in which the information 1s disclosed, and (8) the review and approval of related party transactions and conflicts of
interest in accordance with the terms of cur partnership agreement. Our andit committee is empowered, n its discretion, to engage such advisors as it might
deem necessary, including legal counsel and financial and accounting advisors.

QOur board of directors has determined that we do not have an “audit commuttee financial expert,” wathin the meaning of Item 407(d)5) of Regulation S-
K, serving on our audit committee. We believe that each member of the audit commiittee 15 financially literate and possesses sufficient experience. both
professionally and by virtue of his service as a director and member of the audit committee of Icahn Enterpnses GP, to be fully capable of discharging his
duties as a member of aur audit committee, However, none of the members of our audit committee has a professional background 1o accounting or prepanng,
auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements. If our audit committee determnes that 1t requires additienal financial expertise, it will esther engage
professional advisors or seek to recruit a member who would qualify as an “audit commuttee financial expert™ within the meaning of ltem 407(d}5) of
Regulation S-K.
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Jack G Wasserman has been chosen to preside and currently presides at executive sessions of ournon-management directors Interested parties may
directly communicate with the presiding director of the audit committee or with the non-management directors of the audit commuttee as a group by directing
all immquiries to our ethics hotline at (877) 888-0002.

Audit Committee Report

The audit commuttec has confirmed that: (1) the audit committee reviewed and discussed our audited financial statements for the year ended December
31,2617 with management; (2) the audit committee has discussed wath our independent auditors the matters required to be discussed by SAS 61
{Codification of Statements on Auditing Standards, AU§380): (3) the audit committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from the independent
accountants required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1; and (4) based on the review and discussions refemred to 1n clauses (1), {2) and (3)
above, the audit commttee recommended to the board of directors that our audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 be included 1n
this Report.

This report is provided by the following independent directors, who constitute the audit commuttee:
William A. Leidesdorf
James L. Nelson
Jack G Wasserman
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Icahn Enterprises GP's board of directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to all directors, officers and employees,
including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. A copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 1s
available on our website at www relp com/governance cfm and may be obtained without charge by wnting to Icahn Enterpnises L.P, 767 Fifth Avenue, Suite
4700, New York, NY 10153, Attention: Investor Relations

NASDAQ Corporate Governance Compliance

Pursuant to Rule 5615(a)4)(J} of the NASDAQ corporate govemance requirements, in the event that an executive officer of Icahn Enterpnses’ or icahn
Enterpnses Holdings', or a persen performmung an cquivalent role, becomes aware of any noncompliance with NASDAQ's corporate govemance requirements,
he or she 1s required to provide prompt notice to NASDAQ of such noncompliance. As of March 1, 2018, we believe that we are complhant with NASDAQ's
corporate governance requirements.

Board Leadership Structure

Our leadership structure includes the positions of chairman of the board ("Chairman”y and Chief Execuative Officer. Mr. [cahn serves as our Chairman
and Mr. Cozza serves as our Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman is responsible for organizing the board of directors and setting its agenda and prionties. The Chairman does not participate 1n the day-to-
day business operations of our business segments, other than our Investment segment. The Chief Executive Officer 1s accountable directly to the board of
directors, including the Chairman, and has day-te-day responsibility, in consultation with our Chairman, for general oversight of our business segments, Cur
business segments are operated through subsidiaries with their own management teams, including boards of directors, responsible for the day-to-day
operations of those businesses. We believe that our leadership structure is appropriate for our holding company structure as it enhances our corporate
govemance and company oversight by separating respensibihities between the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman.

Board of Directors Role in Risk Oversight

In connection with 1ts oversight responsibilities the Board, including the Audit Committee, pertodically reviews the significant risks that we face. These
nisks include strategic, financial, operational and compliance risks. The Board administers its nsk oversight responsibilities through 1ts Chief Executive
Officer and 1ts Chiet Financial Otficer, who, together with our chief auditor and management representatives of each of our operating subsidiarnies, review and
assess the operations of the businesses as well as each respective management's identification, assessment and mitigation of the material nsks affecting our
gperations.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™), requires our executive otficers and directors and persons who
own more than 10% of a registered class of our equity secunties, to file with the SEC inihal statements of beneficial ownership. reports of changes in
ownership and Annual Reports conceming their ownership, of common stock and other of our equity securtties on Forms 3, 4, and 5, respectively. Executive
officers, directors and greater
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than 10% stockholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file. Based solely on information available
to us in public filings, we believe that all reponts required by Section 16(a) were timely filed.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Company Structure and Reporting Requirements

Icahn Enterprises is a master limited partnership ("MLP"} and is not subject to the proxy solicitation rules as required by section 14A of the Exchange
Act or §240.14a-20 Furthermore, because lcahn Enterprises has not ever been a TARP recipient, as defined in section 111(a)3) of the Emergency Economuc
Stabilization Act of 2008, it 1s not subject to §240.14a-20. As a MLP, pursuant to Icahn Enterprises’ partnership agreement, the general partner, [cahn
Enterprses GP, has exclusive management powers over the business and atfairs of Icahn Enterprises That is, lcahn Enterprises GP’s stockholders have the
right to elect members of fcahn Enterprises GP's board of directors, who, in tum, elect the officers of Icahn Enterpnses. Accordingly, Tcahn Enterprises does
not held annual meetings to elect 1ts directors.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The following section provides an overview and analysis of our compensation programs, the compensation decisions we have made under those
programs, and the factors we considered in making those decisions. Later in this section, under the heading “Additional Information Regarding Executive
Compensation,” we provide a table containing specific information about the compensation eamed by the following individuals in 2017, whom we refer to
as our named executive officers:

+ Carl C. [cahn, Chairman of the Board™"

« Keith Cozza, President and Chief Executive Officer?
+  SungHwan Cho, Chief Frnancial Officer”’

« Peter Reck, Chief Accounting Officer

M n addiion, Mr [cahn serves as Chief Executive Officer of our subsidiary, fcahn Capital and of the General Partners,

v In addition, Mr CoZza also serves as the Chiet Operating Officer of kcahn Capital, serves as director of Icahn Enterprises and [cahn Enterprises Holdings and holds officer
and/or director positions at ¢certain of our other subsidiaries.

¢ In additon, Mr Cho scrves as a director of [cahin Enterpniscs and Icabn Enterprises Holdings

The discussion below 1s intended to help you understand the detailed infoermation provided in the table and put that intormation nto context within
our overall compensation program.

Overview of Compensation Program

Throughout this narmative discussion and in the accompanying table, we refer to our named exccutive officers. The key compensation package provided
to our named execunive officers consists of (1} base salary, (11) incentive compensation and (1) other benefits. The key compensation provided to our named
executive officers for 2017 consisted of salary and bonuses. See “Additional Information Regarding Executive Compensation - Summary Compensation
Table” for the compensation received by each of our named executive officers for 2017 Executive compensation levels and bonuses are established based
upon the recommendation of cur chairman, which are discussed with members of the board. The board of directers does not delegate the authonty to establish
executive officer compensation to any other person and has not retained any compensation consultants to determine or recommend the amount or form of
executive and director compensation,

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

Qur executive compensation philosophy is designed te support our key business objectives while maximizing value to our unitholders The objectives
of our compensation structure are to attract and retain valuable employees, assure fair and internally equitable pay levels and provide a mix of base salary and
variable bonuses that provides motivation and rewards performance. At the same time, we seek to optimize and manage compensation costs,

The pnmary components of our executive compensation are base salary and, except as otherwise indicated, annual bonus, payable 1n cash Base salary is
paid for ongoing performance throughout the year and 1s determined based on job function and each executive's contnbution to our performance and
achievement of our overall business objectives. Our annual bonuses are intended to reward particufar achievement dunng the year, motivate future
performance and attract and retain highly qualified key employzes.

Determination of Appropriate Pay Levels

We compete with many other companies for expenienced and tatented executives. Although we do not benchmark compensation against a specified peer
group of companies, we review and consider market information regarding pay practices
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in the real estate and finance industnies generally in assessing the reasonableness of compensation and ensunng that compensation levels remain competitive
1n the marketplace

Each element of compensation 1s reviewed so that the overall compensation package will attract, motivate and retain our key employees, including ocur
named executive officers, by rewarding superior performance. The following factors are considered to determine the amount of compensation paid to each
executive officer;

+ overali Jjob performance, including performance against corporate and individual objectives;
» job responsibilities, including unique skills necessary to support our long-term performance, including that of our subsidianes; and

+ teamwork, both contnbunions as a member of the executive management team and fostering an environment of personal and professional growth for
the entire work force

Allecation of Compensation

There 15 no pre-cstablished policy or target for the allocation of compensation As we are a limited pantnership and a controlled entity, under the
NASDAQ listing rules, our status as a MLP exempts vs from certain corporate govemance rules, including the requirement to maintain a compensation
committee. In 2017, the total compensation granted to named executive officers was in the form of cash compensation

Compensation Components
Base Salary
Base salares for executive officers are determined based on job performance, job responsibilities and teamwork.

Mr Icahn 1s currently an at will employce serving as Chairman of the Board of [cahn Enterpnscs GP and as Chaimman and Chict Exccutive Officer of
Tcahn Capital and Chief Executive Officer of the General Partners for which he receives an annual base salary of $1 per annum.

Generally, total compensation 15 used 1n determuning the amount of contributions permitted under our 40 1{k) Plan. In addition, base¢ salary may include
accrued but unused patd time off ("PTO") days that have been paid 1n accordance with the Company's PTO policy

See “Addinonal Information Regarding Executive Compensation - Summary Compensation Table” for detailed information on the compensation
received by ¢ach of our named executive officers for 2017,

Bonus

The Company believes that bonuses are an integral component of compensation that is an important way to motivate and reward performance of our
employees The Company does not have a formula or pre-established policy for determmining either salary levels orbonuses, bonuses are discretionary. In
addition, in order that we remain competitive in the marketplace, we may review market information regarding pay practices in the real estate and finance
dusines generally 1n determuning bonuses. Generally, bonuses are determined by vanous factors, including, but not imited to, the achievement ot financial
goals and other Company goals that are determined to be cntical to the success of the Company, overall job performance, including performance against
corporate and individual objectives, job responsibilities and teamwork for each individual

For 2017, Messrs. Cozza, Cho and Reck received discretionary bonuses of $4,000,000, $1,400,000 and $2 15,000, respectively.
401¢k) Plan and Other Benefits

For 2017, Messts. Cozza, Cho and Reck were our only named executive officers participating in our quahfied Icahn Enterprises Holdings 401(k) Plan
(the "401{k) Plan"), and thus received matching contributions for 2017. The matching contnbutions for the respective named executive officerin 2017 are
disclosed in our Summary Compensation Table under “All Other Compensation™ and in the related footnote. Mr. Icahn was our only named executive who
did not paticipate in the 401(k) Plan for 2017. Our401¢k) Plan helps employees save and prepare financially for retirement.

The 401(k) Plan allows employees to contnbute up to 50% of ther eligible compensation, up to the limits imposed by the Internal Revenue Code, as
amended, on a pre-tax basis. We currently match, within presenbed limuts, 50% of eligible employees’ contributions up to 6.25% of their eligible
compensation. Participants choose to invest their account balances from an array of investment options as selected by plan fiduciaries from time to time. The
401 (k) Plan provides distnbutions 1n a fump sum. Under certain circumstances, loans and withdrawals are permitted.
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All of cur named executive officers are entitled to receive medical, dental, Life insurance and PTO benefits that are offered to ail of our employees and
are designed to enable us to attract and retain our workforce 1n a competitive environment. Health and PTO benelits help ensure that we have a productive
and focused workforce.

Perguisites

The total value of all perquisites and personal benefits (exclusive of 401 {k) Plan matching contnbutions) provided to each of our named executive
officers for 2017, 2016 and 2015 was less than $10.000 per person, except for Mr. [cahn, for whom perqmsites and other benefits are 1dentified in the
Summary Compensation Table under the “All Other Compensation™ column and in related footnotes.

CEQ Pay Ratio

Our Chief Executive Officer to median employee pay ratio 15 caleulated 1n accordance with Regulation 8-K. Te determine our Chief Executive Officer
pay ratio and our median employee, we utilized data as of December 31, 2017 (the "Determunation Date™). As of the Determination Date, we and our
consolidated subsidianes employed approxumately 89,000 full-tume, part-time, temporary and seasonal employees, of which approximately 51% were
employed intemationally, From this population of employees, as permiited by Regulation S-K, we excluded a total of 543 employees of certain subsidiaries
acquired dunng 2017 as well as excluded all employces (totaling 2,746 employces) located in the following countries, which represented approximately
3.1% of our total employee population:

Country Number of Employees
Brazil o , ﬁ , ‘ ] - E 2,451
Philippines ‘ 205

Canada . . ’ 90

We identified the median employee by examuning the 2017 total cash compensanion tor all individuals, excluding our Chief Executive Officer, who
were employed by us on the Determination Date We believe the use oftotal cash compensation for all employees is a consistently applied compensation
measure because we do not widely distribute annual equity awards to employees or other forms of non-cash compensation We included all employees,
except as disclosed above, whetheremployed on a tuli-time, pari-time, temporary or seasonal basis. We did not utitize any sampling methods and we did not
make any assumptions, adjustments, or estimates with respect to total cagh corfipénsation, except to annualize full-time and part-time employees who were
hired during 2017 and to translate any compensation measured in a foreign currency to U S Dollars

After identifying the median employee based on total cash compensation, we calculated the total annual compensation for such employee using the
same methodology we use for our named executive officers as set forth in the Summary Compensation Table below. The median employee’s total annual
compensation for 2017 was $25,281 Qur Chief Executive Cfficer’s total annual compensation for 2017 was $5,522,144. The ratic of our Chief Executive
Officer's total annual compensation to our median employee's total annual compensation for 2017 was 218:1.

Compensation Committee Report

As stated above, pursuant to exemptions from the NASDAQ hsting rules, the board of directors 1s not required to have, and does not have, a standing
compensation cemmiliee. The board of directors has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Disclosure and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of
Regulation S-K with management. Based on that review and discussion, the board ofdirectors recommended that the Compensation Disclosure and Analysis
be included in this Report.

This report 1s provided by the board of directors:
Carl C. cahn
Sung Hwan Cho
Keith Cozza
William A Leidesdorf
James L. Nelson

Jack G. Wasserman




Compensatien Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During 2017, our entire board of directors, including Mr leahn, participated 1n deliberations conceming executive compensation. Dunng 2017, none of

our executive officers served on the compensation committee (or equivalent), or the board of directors of another entity whose executive officen(s) served on
our board of directors.

Additional Information Regarding Executive Compensation

The following table sets forth information 1n respect of the compensation earned for services to us and/or our subsidiaries by each of our named

executive officers for2017.

Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation(!)

All Other
Name and Salary Bonus Compensation Total
Principal Position Year %) ($) %) (%)
Carl C. Icahn® 2017 1 — 102,547 ® 102.548
Chairman of the Board 2016 1 — 104,910 © 104,911
2015 1 — 138,182 o 138,183
Keith Cozzal®) 2017 1,511,582 4,000,000 10,562 5,522,144
Prestdent and Chief Executive Otficer 2016 1,557,736 2,500,000 10,779 ® 4,068,515
2015 1,569,498 2,500,000 10,466 W 4079964
SungHwan Cho (53 2017 840,023 1,400,000 10,562 %) 2,250,585
Chicf Financial Officer 2016 822,616 1,200,000 10,779 & 2,033,395
2015 649,267 1,200,000 10,562 ) 1,859,829
Peter Reck ) 2017 316,395 215,000 9742 o 541,137
Chief Accounting Officer 2016 300,000 215,000 9774 © 524,774
2015 301,154 215,000 9801 o 525,955

(1)

)

3

Pursuant to applicable regulations, certain columas ofthe Summary Compensation Table have been omitted, as there has been no compensation
awarded to, camed by or paid to any of the named executive officers by us, any of our substdiaries or by lcahn Enterprises GP, which was subsequently
reimbursed by us, required to be reported 1n those columns.

The salary indicated above represents compensation paid to Mr. [eahn in each 02017, 2016 and 2015 for his services as ChiefExecutive Officer of our
subsidiary, Icahn Capital LP, and of the general partners of the Investment Funds. Mr. Icahn 15 currently an at will employee serving as Chairman of the
Board ot Icahn Enterprises GP and as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Icahn Capital LP and Chief Executive Officer of the Investment Funds
for which he currently receives an annual base salary of $1 perannum. Mr. Icahn does not receive director fees from us.

Represents other compensation paid to the following named executive efficers: (i) Carl C. Icahn, $20,107, $20,107 and $18,719, in medical and dental
benefits for 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively; $955 in life insurance paid by us for each of 2017, 2016 and 201 5; and 1n his capacity as the Chairman
of the board of directors of Federal-Mogul, $81,485, 83,848 and $118,508 representing the incremental cost of Mr. Icahn's personal use of Federal-
Mogul's corporate aircraft for 2017, 2016 and 201 5, respectively, Mr. [cahn received no fees or compensation trom Federal-Mogul for 2017, 2016 and
2015 other than the use of the corporate aircraft as discussed above. The calculation of incremental cost for the personal use of Federal-Mogul's
corporate aircraft includes the varable costs incurred as a result of personal flight activity, which are comprised of a portion of ongoing maintenance
and repairs, aircraft fuel, airport fees, catering, and fees and travel expenses for the flight crew. The use of the aircraft for personal use by Mr. Icahn was
approved by the board of directors and the Compensation Commttee of Federal-Mogul; (11) Mr. Cozza, $8.281, $8,438 and $8,125 in matching
contnbutions under our 401(k) Plan for 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively; $1,326, 51,386 and $1.386 1n medical and dental benefits paid by us for
2017,2016 and 2015, respectively; $955 1n hife insurance premiums paid by us for each of 2017,2016 and 2015; (iti) Mr. Cho, $8,281, 38 438 and
$8.221 in matching contributions under our 401(k) Plan for 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively; $1,326, 81,386 and $1,386 1n medical and dental
benefits paid by us for 2017,2016 and 2015, respectively; and 3955 1n life insurance premiums paid by us for each of 2017, 2016 and 2015, and (iv)
Mr Reck, $8.281.38.291 and $8,342 in matching contnibutions under our 401(k) Plan for 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, $742, $764 and $764 1n
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medical and dental bencfits paid by us for 2017, 2016 and 20135, respectively; and $719, 5719 and $695 in life mnsurance premiums paid by us tor 2017,
2016 and 2015, respectively. Mr. Icahn did not participate in the 401(k) pian during 2017, 2016 and 2015 and thus did not receive any matching
contributions for those fiscal years

(4} In addition to Mr. Cozza's role as President and Chief Executive Officer of [cahn Enterpnses and Icahn Enterprises Holdings, he serves as the Chief
Operating Officer of Icahn Capital and holds officer and/or director positions at certain of our other subsidianes. During 2017, Mr Cozza received a
salary 0£$1,511,582 and a bonus of $4,000,000, which was determined based on vanious factors, including, but not lirmted to, overall job performance,
including performance against corporate and individual objectives, job responsibilities and teamwork.

(5)During 2017, Mr. Cho received a salary of $840,023 and a bonus of $1,400,000, which was determined based on various factors, including, but not
limited to overall job performance, including performance against corporate and individual objectives, job responsibilities and teamwork.

(6) During 2017, Mr. Reck received a salary 0f$316,395 and a bonus of $215,00¢ which was determined based on various factors, in¢luding, but not limited
1o overall job performance, including performance against corporate and individual objectives, job responsibilities and teamwork.

Each of qur executive officers may perform services for affiliates of Mr. Icahn for which we receive reimbursement. See Itern 13, “Certain Relationships
and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.”

There are no family relationships between or among any of our directors and/or executive officers.
Employment Agreements

We currently do not have any employment agreements with our named executives.
Stock Award, Option and Non-Equity Incentive Plans

Our named executive officers are not granted any stock award or awards under the 2017 incentive Plan and do not participate in any non-equity
incentive plans,

Potential Payments Upon Termination er Chaage in Caatrol

We do not have any employment agreements or other arrangements pursuant to which any of our employees would have received potential payments
upon termination or change in control as of December 31, 2017.

Director Compensation

The following table provides compensation information for our directers in 2017, except for Messrs Icahn, Cho and Cozza. Compensation received by
Messrs. Ieahn, Cho and Cozza is included in the Summary Compensation Table. Messts Ieahn, Cho and Cozza did not receive compensation for serving as
director of the [cahn Enterprises and Icahn Enterprises Holdings

Fees Earned or All Other
Paid in Cash Compensation Total
Name %) (%) ($)
Witliam A, Leidesdorf 35,000 — 35,000
JTames L. Nelson 35,000 — 35,000
Jack G. Wasserman 40,000 —_ 40,000

Each dircctor will hold office until us successor ts clecied and qualified. During 2017, Messts Wasscrman, Leidesdort and Nelson cach reeeived
$35.000 in respect of their services rendered as members of our board of directors. In addition, Mr. Wasserman received an additional $5,000 for serving as
the charman of the audit committee.

Directors receive only cash compensation, if applicable, and currently are not granted any options, units or other equity-based awards
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Security Holder Matters,

As of March 1, 2018, affiliates of Mr. [cahn, owned 157,898,582 of Icahn Entcrpnses’ depositary untits, or approximately 91.0% of Icahn Enterprises’
outstanding depositary units. In accerdance with the listing rules of NASDAQ, Icahn Enterprises’ status as a limited partnership affords Icahn Enterprises an
exemption from certain corporate governance requirements which includes an exemption from the requirement to have compensation and nominating
committees consisting entirely of
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independent directors. [cahn Enterprses GP's board of directors presently consists of three independent directors and the audit committee consists entirely of
independent directors.

The affirmative vote of unitholders holding more than 75% of the total number of all depositary unuts then outstanding, including depositary units held
by Icahn Enterpnises GP and its affiliates, 1s required to remove [cahn Enterprises GP Thus, since Mr. [cahn, through affiliates, holds approximately 91.0% of
[cahn Enterprises’ outstanding depositary units as of March 1, 2018, Icahn Enterpnses GP will not be able to be removed pursuant to the terms of our
partnership agreement without Mr. leahn's consent. Moreover, under the partnership agreement, the affirnative vote of Icahn Enterpnises GP and unitholders
owning more than 50% of the total number of all outstanding depositary units then held by unitholders, including affihates of Mr Icahn, ts required to
approve, ameng other things, selling or otherwise disposing of all or substantially all of our assets 1n a single sale or in a related series of multiple sales, our
dissolution or electing to continue Icahn Enterprises in certain instances, electing a successor general partner, making certain amendments to the partnership
agreement or causing us, In our capacity as sole limited partner of Icahn Enterpnises Holdings, to consent to certain proposals submitted for the approval of
the limited partners of Icahn Enterprises Holdings. Accordingly, as affiliates of Mr Icahn hold in excess of 50% of the depositary units outstanding, Mr.
Icahn, through affiliates, will have effective control over such approval rights

The following table provides information, as of March 1, 201 8, as to the beneficial ownership of the depositary units for each director of Icahn
Enterprises GP and all directors and executive officers of Icahn Enterprises GP, as a group. Except for Mr. Icaha, nene of our named executive officers or
directors beneficially owns more than 5% of Icahn Enterprises’ depositary units.

Beneficial Ownership of Icahn

Name of Beneficial Owner Enterprises’ Depositary Units Percent of Class
Carl C. Icahn ’ 157,898,582 wer . 91.0%
Keith Cozza 2,000 *
SungHwan Cho . ) ' 1,100 *

Jack G. Wasserman 862 *

James L. Nelson 1,292 *

Peter Reck — —%
William A. Leidesdorf — %

All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group (seven persons} 157,903,836 91.0%

* Less than 1% of total outstanding depositary units of Ieahn Enterprises.

{a) The foregoing is exclusive ofa 1 99% ownership interest which Icahn Enterprises GP holds by virtue of 1its 1% general partner interest in each of us and
[cahn Enterprises Holdings
(b} The following footnotes descnbe Mr Icahn's beneficial ownership of Icahn Enterpnses’ depositary units:

(1} CCI Onshore LLC {"CCI Onshore") beneficially owns 36,756,475 Deposttary Unuts High Coast Limiuted Partnership {"High Caast™) 1s the sole member of CCI Onshore
Little Meadow Corp ("Little Meadow") 15 the general partner ef High Coast Carl C lcahn beneficially owns [ (H1% of Little Meadow Pursuant to Rule 1éa-1(a}2}
under the Exchange Act, cach of Mr 1cahn, Litle Meadow and High Coast (by virtue of their relationships to CCI Onshore) may be decmed 10 (ndirectly beneficially
own the Depositary Units which CCI Onshore owns Each of Mr. Ieahn, Little Meadow and High Coast disclaims beneficial ownership of such Depositary Unats except
to the cxtent of thewr pecuntary interest therem.

(2}  Gascon Partners ("Gascon') beneficially ewns 21,646,658 Depositary Units Little Meadow 1s the managing general partner of Gascon Carl C. Icakn beneficially owns
100% of Litile Meadow Pursnant to Rule 1 6a-1(a}2) under the Exchange Act, each of Mr [cahn and Little Meadow (by virtue of their relationsheps to Gascen) may
be deemed 1 mdirectly beneficially own the Depositary Unuts which Gascon owns Each of Mr Icahn and Little Meadow disclaims beneficial ewnership of such
Depositary Units except to the extent of their pecunasry interest therein

(3}  High Coast beneficially owns 75,949,701 Depostary Unuts. Little Meadow 1s the general partner of High Coast Carl C. Icahn beneficialty owns 100% of Little Meadow.
Pursuant to Rule 16a-1(2)(2) under the Exchange Act, cach of Mr Icahn and Little Meadow (by virtuc of therr refattonships to High Coast) may be deemed to indirectly
beneficially own the Depositary Umits which High Coast owns Each of Mr, leahin and Lutle Meadow disclaims benéticial ownership of such Deposttary Units except 1o
the extent of thew pecuniary ntercst therem,

(4}  Highcrest Investors LLC ("Highcrest") beneficially owns 17,667,329 Deposttary Units Starfire Holding Corporation ("Starfire™) beneficially owns [00% of Highorest.
Carl C lcahn beneficially cwns 100% of Starfire Pursuant to Rule | 6a-1(al(2} under the Exchange Act, each of Mr Icahn and Staifire (by virtue of thewr relationships
1o Higherest) may be deemed to mduectly heneficially own the Depositary Umits which Higherest owns Each of Mr Icahn and Starfire disclaims beneficial ownership
ot such Depositary Units except to the extent of thesr pecuniary interest theremn

(5) Thornwood Associates Limited Partnership ("Thormwood™) bencficially owns 5.878,419 Depositary Unus Barberry Corp ("Barberry™) 1s the gencral partner of
Thornwood Carl C Icahn beneficially owns 100% of Barberry Pursuant to Rule 16a-i{a){(2) under the Exchange Act, cach of Mr Icahn and Barberry {by virtue of
thetw relationships to Thornwood) may be deemed to mdirgetly beneficially own the Deposttary Units which Thornwood owns Each ef Mr Icahn and Barberry
disclaims beneficial ownership of such Depositary Unuts except to the extent of thewr pecumary mterest therein

(6)  Doesnot include 12,000 Deposttary Units owned by Gau Golden, the wife of Mr Icahn Mr fcahn, by virtue of his relationship to Ms Golden, may be deemed to
beneficially own such Depositary Units Mr [cahn disclaims beneficial ownership of such Depositary Unuts for all purposes
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding unit option awards, and depository units avatlable for future 1ssuance, under the Icahn
Enterprises L.P. 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan (the *2017 Incentive Plan”) as of December 31, 2017:

Number of Securities Remaining

Number of Securities to be Available for Future Issuance
Issved Upon Exercise of Weighted-Average Exercise Price Under Equity Compensation
Outstanding Options, Warrants of Qutstanding Optiens, Plans (Excluding Securities
and Rights ‘Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column (a))
Plan Category {2) (b) (©)
2017 Inceative Plan.. . ... . P 109925 % it e, 3108 . - . 882,173 .

During the first quarter of 2017, the board of directors of the general partner of Icahn Enterprises unanimously approved and adopted the 2017 Incentive
Plan, which became effective dunng the first quarter of 2017 subject to the approval by holders of'a majonty of Icahn Enterprises depositary umts. The 2017
Incentive Plan permits us to 1ssue depositary units and grant options, restricted units or other unit-based awards to all of our, and our affiliates’, employees,
consultants, members and partners, as well as the three non-employee directors of our general partner. One mullion of Icahn Enterprises’ depositary units were
initially available under the 2017 Incentive Plan, During the year ended December 31, 2017, Icahn Enterpnses distnbuted 7,902 depositary units with respect
to the 2017 Incentive Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Retated Transactions, and Director Independence,

Related Party Transaction Policy

Our second amended and restated agreement of limited pantnership expressly permits us to €nter into transactions with our general partner or any of its
affiliates, including, without imitation, buying or sclling properties from or to our general partner and any of its aftiliates and borrowing and lending money
from or to our gencral partner and any ofits affiliates, subject to the limitations contained 1n our partnership agreement and the Delaware Revised Uniform
Limited Partnership Act. The indentures governing our indebtedness contain certain covenants applicable to transactions with affiliates.

Related Party Transactions with Our General Partner and Its Affiliates

Mr. Icahn, in his capacity as majority unitholder, will not reccive any additional benefit with respect to distributions and allocations of profits and
losses not shared on a pro rata basis by all other unitholders. In addition, Mr Icahn has confirmed to us that neither he nor any of his affibiates will receive any
fees from us in consideration for services rendered 1n connection with non-real estate related investments by us other than as otherwise disclosed herein. We
have and n the future may determine to make investments in entities in which Mr Icahn orhis affiliates also have investments. We may enter into other
transactions with Mr. Icahn and his affiliates, including, without limitation, buying and selling assets from or to affiliates of Mr Icahn and participating 1n
joint venture investments tn assets with affiliates of Mr. Icahn, whether real estate or non-real estate related. Furthermore, it should be noted that our
partnership agreement provides that [cahn Enterprises GP and its affiliates are permitted to have other business interests and may engage in other business
ventures of any nature whatsoever, and may compete directly or indirectly with our business Mr. cahn and his affiliates currently 1nvest 1n assets that may be
similar to those 1n which we may invest and Mr. [cahn and his affiliates intend to continue to do so. Pursuant to the partnership agreement, however, we will
not have any nght to participate therein or receive or share 1n any income or profits derived therefrom.

Dunng 2017, we declared four quarterly distributions aggregatng $6 00 per depositary umit Depositary unitholders were given the eption to make an
election to receive the distnibutions in either cash or additional depositary units; 1f a holder did not make an election, it was automatically deemed to have
elected 1o receive the distnibutions in cash. As a result of the above declared distributions, duning 2017 we distributed an aggregate 17.644,152 of leahn
Enterpnses’ depositary units to those depositary unithelders who elected to receive such distnbutions in additional depositary units, of which an aggregate of
17,374,427 depositary units were distributed to Mr. Icahn and his affiliates. In addition, 1n connection with our nghts offening 1 2017, we distnbuted an
additional 10,525,105 depositary umts to Mr. lcahn and his affiliates during 2017. As a result, Mr Icahn and his affiliates owned approximately 91 6% of
Icahn Enterprises' outstanding depositary units as of December 31, 2017,

On February 27,2018, the Board of Directors of the general partner of Icahn Enterprises declared a quarterly distnbution in the amount of $1.75 per
depositary unit, which will be paid on or about April 16, 2018 to depositary umtholders of record at the close of business on March 12, 2018, Depositary
unitholders will have until April 5, 2018 to make an election to receive either cash or addinional depositary units, if a holder does not make an election, 1t
will automatically be deemed to have clected
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to receive the dividend 1n cash. Mr. Icahn and his affiliates have indicated that it is their intention to continue to elect to receive the distabution in
additional depositary units for the foreseeable future.

Pursuant to registration nghts agreerments, Mr. [cahn has certain registration rights with regard to the depositary units beneficially owned by him.

In 2017, eahn Enterprises GP was allocated $48 mullion of our net income attributable to leahn Enterprises as a result of its combined 1 99% general
partner interests in us and Ieahn Enterpnises Holdings.

We may, on occaston, 1nvest in secunities in which entities affiliated with Mr. Icahn are also investing. Additionally, Mr Icahn and his affiliated entities
may also invest in securities in which Icahn Enterprises and its consolidated subsidiaries invest. Mr. [cahn and his affiliates {(excluding Icahn Enterprises and
[cahn Enterprises Holdings), make investments in the Investment Funds During 2017, affiliates of Mr. lcahn invested $600 million in the Investment Funds.
As of December 31,2017, the total fair market value of investments in the Investment Funds made by Mr Icahn and his affiliates (excluding lcahn Enterprises
and Icahn Enterpnses Holdings) was approximately $4.4 billion, representing approximately 59% of the Investment Funds' assets under management.

Other Related Party Transactions

Icahn Capital L.P. ("Icahn Capital"}, a wholly owned subsidiary of ours, patd for salaries and benefits of certain employees who may also perform
various functions on behalf of certain other entities beneficially owned by Mr. Icahn (collectively, “lcahn Affiliates”), including administrative and
investment services. During 2017, under a separate expense-sharing agreement, we have charged [cahn Aftiliates $1 mullion for such services.

Icahn Capital pays for expenses pertaining to the operation, administration and 1nvestment activities of our Investment segment for the benefit of the
Investment Funds (including salanes, benefits and rent). Icahn Capital shall be allocated pro mta for such expenses tn accordance with cach investor's capital
accounts 1n the Investment Funds. Effective Apnl 1,2011, based on an expense-sharing arrangement, certain expenses bome by Icahn Capital are reimbursed
by the Invesiment Funds, generally when such expenses are paid. Dunng 20(7. $13 million was allocated to the Investment Funds based on this expense-
sharing arrangement.

Dunng 2017, we paid an affiliate less than $1 million for the non-exclustve use of office space
During 2017, we paid an affiliate $1 million for the allocation of shared office expenses.

Duning 2017, we paid less than $1 million to XO Holdings, inc. for telecommunication services prior to being divested by an affiliate of Icahn
Enterprises GP on February 1,2017.

During 2017, our Helding Company provided certain professional services to an Icahn affiliate for which we charged $3 million

We and affihiates of Mr. [cahn have or had a non-controlling ownership interest in each of Hertz Global Holdings, Inc. ("Hertz"), Xerox Cerporation
("Xerox"), Intemational Automotive Components Group (“LAC Group”}and Navistar, Inc. ("Navistar") dunng 2017

During 2017, we and our subsidiaries had revenue from Hertz in the ordinary course of business was $17 million. Additionally, we and our subsidiaries
had payments to Hertz 1n the ordinary course of business of' $2 mullion.

Dunng 2017, we and our subsidianes had payments to Xerox in the ordinary course of business of 34 milhion,
During 2017, we and our subsidiaries had sales to TAC Group in the ordinary cousse of business of $6 million
During 2017, we and our subsidiaries had sales to Navistar in the ordinary course of business of $14 million

In addition to cur transactions with Hentz disclosed above, i January 2018, a wholly owned subsidiary of ours entered into a Master Motor Vehicle
Lease and Management Agreement with The Hertz Corporation, a subsidiary of Hertz Global Holdings, Inc. (collectively, "Hertz"), pursuant to which Hertz
granted us the option to acquire certain vehicles from Heriz at rates aligned wath the rates at which Hertz sells vehicles to third parties. Under this agreement,
Hertz will lease the vehicles purchased by us from Hertz, or from third parties, under a mutually developed fleet plan and Hertz will manage, service, repair,
sell and maintain those leased vehicles on behalf of us. Additionally, Hertz will rent the leased vehicles to transportation network company dnivers from
rental counters within locations leased or owned by us. This agreement has an initial term of 18 months and is subject to automatic six month renewals
thereafter, unless terminated by either party (with or without cause) prior to the start of any such six-month renewal. Gur agreement with Herlz was
unanumously approved by the mndependent directors of Ieahn Enterprises’ audit committee.
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Our Railcar segment has certain transactions with ACF Industries LLC ("ACF"), an affiliate of Mr. [cahn, under vanious agreements, as wellason a
purchase order basis. ACF 1s a manufacturer and fabricator of specialty railcar parts and miscellaneous steel products. Agreements and transactions with ACF
include the following:

= Railcar component purchases from ACF

¢ Railear parts purchases from and sales to ACF

+  Railcar purchasing and engineering services agreement with ACF

»  Lease of certain intellectual property to ACF

+  Railcar repair services and support for ACF

«  Railcar purchases from ACF (priorto June 1,2017)

During 2017, purchases from ACF were $6 million and revenues from ACF were less than $1 nullion.

Insight Portfolio Group LLC {"Insight Portfolio Group”) 1s an entity formed and controlled by Mr. Icahn in order to maximze the potential buying
power of a group of entities with which Mr. Icahn has a relationship in negotiating with 2 wide range of suppliers of goods, services and tangible and
intangible property at negotiated rates. Icahn Enterprises Holdings has a minonty equity interest in Insight Portfolio Group and agreed to pay a portion of
Insight Portfolio Group's operating expenses In addition to the minonty equity mnterest held by Icahn Enterprises Holdings, certain subsidianes of ours,
including Federal-Mogul, CVR Energy, PSC Metats, ARI, ARL (prior to June 1, 2017), Tropicana, Viskase and WPH also acquired minonty equity interests
in Insight Portfolio Group and agreed to pay a portion of Insight Portfolio Group's operating expenses. A number of other entities with which Mr. Iecahn hasa
relationship alse have minority equity interests in Insight Portfolio Group and also agreed 10 pay certain of Insight Portfolio Group's operating
expenses. Duning 2017, we and certain of our subsidianes paid certain of the Insight Portfolio Group's operating expenses of $2 milhon.

We may also enter nto other trausactions with Icahn Enterpnses GP and 1its affilates, including, without lunitation, buying and selling properties and
borrowing and lending funds from or to [cahn Enterpriscs GP ot its affiliates, joint venture developments and 1ssuing secunties to cahn Enterpnses GP orits
affiliates in exchange for, among other things, assets that they now own or may acquire in the future. Icahn Enterprises GP 15 also entitled to reimbursement
by us for all allocable direct and indirect overhead expenses, including, but not limited to, salaries and rent, incurred in connection with the conduct of our
business.

Partnership Provisions Concerning Property Management

I[cahn Enterprises GP and its affiliates may receive fees in connection with the acquisition, sale, financing, devefopment, construction, marketing and
management of new properties acquired by us. As development and other new properties are acquired, developed, constructed, operated, leased and financed,
Icahn Enterprises GP or its aftiliates may perform acquisition functions, including the review, venfication and analysis of data and documentation with
respect to potential acquisitions, and perform development and construction oversight and other land development services, propenty management and
leasing services, either on a day-to-day basis or on an asset management basis, and may perform other services and be entitled to fees and reimbursement of
expenses relating thereto, provided the terms of such transactions are 1n accordance with our partnership agreement It 1s not possible to state precisely what
role, 1f any, lcahn Enterprises GP or any of its affiliates may have in the acquisition, development or management of any new investments, Consequently, 11 1s
not possible to state the amount of the income, fees or commissions [cahn Enterprises GP or its affiliates might be paid in connection therewith since the
amount thereof 1s dependent upon the specific circumstances of each investment, mncluding the nature of the services provided, the location of the investment
and the amount customarily paid in such locality for such services. Subject to the specific circumstances surrounding each transaction and the overall faimess
and reasonableness thereofto us, the fees charged by Icahn Enterpnses GP and its affiliates for the services descnbed below generally will be within the
rangcs sct forth below:

»  Property Management and Asset Management Services. To the extent that we acquire any properties requinng active management (¢.g , operaung
properties that are not net-leased) or asset management services, including on-site services, we may entet into fee-paying management or other
arrangements with Icahn Enterprises GP or its affiliates.

» Brokerage and Leasing Commissions. We also may pay affihates of Icahn Enterpnses GP real estate brokerage and leasing commissions (which
genenally may range from 2% to 6% of the purchase price or rentals depending on location, this range may be somewhat higher for problem
properties or lesser-valued properties).

v Lending Arrangements TIcahn Enterprises GP or its affiliates may lend money to, orarrange loans for, us. Fees payable to lcahn Enterprises GP or its
affiliates i connection with such activities include mortgage brokerage fees (generally 5% to 3% of the loan amount), mortgage ongination fees
(genenally .5% to 1.3% of the loan amount) and
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loan servicing fees (generally .10% to 12% ofthe loan amount), as well as interest on any amounts loaned by Icahn Enterpnises GP orits affiliates to
us.

v Development and Construction Services Icahn Enterprises GP orits affiliates may also receive fees for development services, generally 1% to 4% of
development costs, and general contracting services or construction management services, generally 4% to 6% of construction costs.

Dunng 2017, we did not pay any fees 1n respect of items as described above.
Affiliate Pension Obligations

Mr. Icahn, through certain affiliates, owns 100% of [cahn Enterprises GP and approximately 91 0% of Icahn Enterpnises' outstanding depositary units as
of December 31,2017, Applicable pension and tax laws make each member of a “controlled group™ of entities, generally defined as entities in which there is
at least an 80% common ownership interest, jointly and severally liable for certain pension plan obligations of any member of the controlled group. These
pension obligations include ongoing contnbutions to fund the plan, as well as hiability for any unfunded liabilities that may exist at the time the planis
terminated. In addition, the failure to pay these pension obligations when due may result in the creation of liens in favor of the pension plan or the Pension
Benefit Guaranty Corporation ("PBGC”) against the assets of each member of the controlled group

As a result of the more than 80% ownership interest in us by Mr. lcahn’s affiliates, we and our subsidiaries are subject to the pension liabilities of entities
in which Mr. Icahn has a direct or indirect ownership interest of at least 80% As a result of our ownership of more than 80% in our subsidiaries, we and our
subsidianes are subject to the pension liabilities of all entities 10 which Mr. Icahn has a direct or indirect ownership interest of at least 80% ACF and Federal-
Mogul, are the sponsors of several pension plans. All the mmnimum tunding requirements of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended and the Employee
Retirement Income Secunty Act of 1974, as amended by the Pension Protection Act of 2006, for these plans have been met as of December 31,2017 Ifthe
plans were voluntarily terminated, they would be underfunded by approximately $424 millien as of December 31,2017 These results are based on the most
recent information provided by the plans’ actuaries. These Liabilities could increase or decrease, depending on a number of factors, including future changes
i benefits, investment retums, and the assumpticns used to calculate the hability. As members of the controlled group, we would be liable tor any failure of
ACF and Federal-Mogul to make ongoing pension contributions or to pay the unfunded liabilitics upon a terminatien of the pension plans of ACF and
Federal-Mogul. In addition, other entities now or 1n the future within the controlled group in which we are tncluded may have pension plan obligations that
are, or may become, underfunded and we would be hiable for any failure of such entities to make ongoing pension contributions or to pay the unfunded
Liabilities upon temunation of such plans,

The current underfunded status ofthe pension plans of ACF and Federal-Mogul requires them to not1fy the PBGC of certain “reportable events,” such as
1f we cease to be a member of the ACF and Federal-Mogul conirolled group, or if we make certain extraordinary dividends or stock redemptions. The
obligation to report could cause us to seek to delay or reconsider the occurrence of such reportable events

Starfirc Holding Corporation {"Starfire”), which is 99 4% owned by Mr Icahn, has undertaken to indemnify us and our subsidiaries from losses resulting
from any 1mposition of certain pension funding or termination liabilities that may be imposed on us and cur subsidiaries or our assets as a result of being a
member of the Icahn controlled group The Starfire indemnity (which does not extend to pension liabilities of oursubsidiaries that would be imposed on us as
a result of our interest 1n these subsidiaries and not as a result ot Mr. Icahn and his affiliates holding more than an 80% ownership interest 1n us, and as such
would not extend to the unfunded pension termination hiability tor Federal-Mogul) provides, among other things, that so long as such contingent habilities
exist and could be imposed on us, Starfire will not make any distnbutions te its stockholders that would reduce its net worth to below $250 million
Nonetheless, Starfire may not be able to fund its indemnification obligations to us

Director Independence

The board of directors of [cahn Enterprises GP has determined that we are a “controlled company™ for the purposes of the NASDAQ's listing rules and
therefore are not requited to have a majonty of independent directors or to have compensation and nominating committees consisting entirely of
independent divectors. Nevertheless, we believe that Messss. Leidesdorf, Nelson and Wassemman are “independent” as defined in the currently applicable
Iisting rules of NASDAQ Messrs. Letdesdort, Nelson and Wasserman serve as members of our audit committee A majonity ofthe members of lcahn
Enterpnises GP's board of directors are independent and the audit commuittee consists entirely of these independent directors.




item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services,

We incurred $14,005 404 and $17,146,000 in audit fees and expenses from Grant Thomton LLP for 2017 and 2016, respectively, We include 1n the
category of audit fees such services related to the audits of annual consohdated financial statements and intemal controls, reviews of quarterly financial
statements, reviews of reports filed with the SEC and other services, mcluding services related to consents and registration statements filed with the SEC.

We mcwrred $668,325 and $583,000 1n audit-related fees and expenses from Grant Thomton LLP for 2017 and 2016, respectively, relating primanly to
services provided in connection with offering memorandums, potential acquisitions and dispositions and employee benefit plans. Additionally, we incumed
$20.000 and $266,000 1n tax-related fees and expenses from Grant Thomton LLP for 2017 and 2016, respectively.

In accordance with Icahn Enterprises’ and Icahn Enterpnses Holdings' Amended and Restated Audit Committee Charters adopted on March 12,2004,
the audit commuttee 15 required to approve in advance any and all audit services and permitted non-audit services provided to Icahn Enterprises, Icahn
Enterprises Holdings and their consolidated subsidiares by their independent auditors (subject to the de munimis exception of Section 10A (1) (1} (B) of the
'34 Act), all as required by applicable law or listing standards. All of the fees in 2017 and 2016 were pre-approved by the audit committee,
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules,
(a)1) Financial Statements:

The following financial statements of Icahn Enterpnses L.P., and subsidiaries, are included in Part II, Item 8 of this Report:

Page Number
Consolidated Balance Sheets 60
Consolidated Statgments of Onerations ol
Coasolidated Statements of Comphensive Ingoms ~ 62
Consolidated Statement of Changes i Equity &3
Consolidated St ash Flows ' 64
Notes to Consohdated Financial Statemients i}

The following financial statements of Icahn Enterpnises Holdings L.P., and subsidiaries, are included in Part I1, Item 8 of this Report:

Page Number

olé ted Balance Sheets o

- &3

LConsehdated Stitements of Operations 06
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income &7
LConsohdated Statement of Changes in Equity 68
ngolidated Statememts of Cash Flows &9
Notes to Cunsohdated Financial Statements 70

{a)}(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

Page Number

Schedule | - Condens i 1al Informatio arent {feahn Enterpnises L.P. 144
Schedule I - Condensed Financial Information of Parent (Jeahn Enterprices Holdings T P )

|

i
=

All other financial statement schedules have been omitted because the required financial information is not applicable, immaterial or the information 1s
shown n the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto

{a)(3) Exhibits:
The st of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and filed as part of this Report 15 set forth in the Exiubit Index.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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SCHEDULE I

ICAHN ENTERPRISES, L.P.
(Parent Company)

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2017 2016
(In mulhions, except unit amountsy
ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaies, net ‘ ’ .5 10737 § 7,750
Total Assets $ 10737 % 7,750
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Accrued expensés and other Habilities ~~ © . ‘ : - S 2 124§ 106
Debt 5.507 5,490
o : ’ 5,631 5,596
Commitments and contingencies (Note 3)
Equity: .
Limited pantners. Depositary units: 173,564,307 and 144,741,149 units issued and outstanding at
December 31,2017 and 2016, respectively 5341 2,448
General partner {23%) (294}
Total equity 5,106 2,154
Total Liabilities and Equity ‘ $ 10737 § 7,750

See notes ro condensed financial starements
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SCHEDULE I

ICAHN ENTERPRISES, L.P.
(Parent Company)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
{In milliens)
Interest expense ) ( : 3 .- (a23)- % ‘ @289)- § ‘ B (289)
Loss on extinguishment of debt (12} — —
Equity in eamings (loss) of subsidiaries o c : - 2,768 . . B39y (905}
Net income (loss) $ 2430 % (1,128 $ {1,194)
Net income (loss) allocable to; . ' . . . . , ) .
Limited partners 3 2,382 % (1,106 $ (1,170
General partner : ’ V - 48 L 24¥
3 2430 % (1.128y §$ {1,194)

See notes to condensed financial statements
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (lossf -

SCHEDULE I

ICAHN ENTERPRISES, L.P.
(Parent Comapany)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016

2015

(In milhions)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to aet cash used in operating activities:

Amortization of deferred financing costs.
Loss on extinguishment of debt
'Equity in (income} loss of subsidiary

Net cash used in operating activitics
Cash flows from investing activities:
Net investment in and advances from subsidiary
Net cash (used in} provided:by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Partnership distributions. e
Partnership contributions
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayments of borrowings
Debt issuance costs
Net cash provided by (used 1n) financing activities
Net change In cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$ . 2430 § ° (1,128) S. (1,194)
B 2 - -

2,765y < C 839 905 -

(332) (288) (288)

(204) 350 404

(204} 390 404

e e e .. 8D {1o3) . (116}
606 1 —

2,470 —_ —

(2,450) — _

82 — —

536 (102) (116)

3 — % — 3 —

See notes to condensed financial statements,
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[CAHN ENTERPRISES L.P. (Parent Company)
NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation.

Icahn Enterpnses, L.P. (“Icahn Enterprises™} is a master limited partnership formed in Delaware on February 17, 1987, We own a 99% linuted partner
interest in Icahn Enterprises Holdings L.P. ("Icahn Enterprises Holdings") Icahn Enterprises Holdings and its subsicharies own substantially all of our assets
and habilities and conduct substantially all of our operations. Icahn Enterpnses G.P. Inc. ("Icahn Enterpnses GP"), our sole general partner, which 1s owned
and controlled by Carl C. Icahn, owns a 1% general partner interest in both us and Icahn Enterprises Holdings, representing an aggregate 1.99% general
partner interest in us and Icahn Enterprises Holdings As of December 31, 2017, Icahn Enterprises Holdings 15 engaged m the following continuing operating
businesses: lnvestment, Automotn e, Energy. Railear. Gaming, Metals, Mining, Food Packaging, Real Estate and Home Fashion.

For the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, lcahn Enterprises (paid) received 3(204) mullion, $399 million and $404 million, respectively,
for (1Investments ) dividends and distributions from consolidated subsidianes.

The condensed financial statements of Icahn Enterpnises should be read 1n conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
included in Item 8 of this Report.

2. Debt.

See Note 10, “Debt,” to the consolidated financial statements located in Item 8 of this Report. Icahn Enterprises’ Parent company debt consists of the
following:

December 31,
2017 2016
{1n milhons)
1.500% senior unsecured notes due 2017 v e w B e § ’ 1,174
4 875% senior unsecured notes due 2019 — 1,271
6.000% senior unsecured notes due 2020 1,703 - 1,708
5.875% semor unsecured notes due 2022 1,342 1,340
6.250% senior unsecared notes due 2022 1,216 —_—
6 750% senior unsecured notes due 2024 498 —
6.375% senior unsecared notes due 2025 748 ——
Total debt $ 5507 % 5,490

3. Commitments and Contingencies.

Sce Note 17, “Commitments and Contingencies,” to the consolidated financial statements
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SCHEDULE 1

ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.p.
(Parent Company)

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2017 2016
S B - (m mlhionsy
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents o o 7 o $ C 24t 5 . 65
Other assets 85 94
Investraents in subsidiaties, net : ‘ o . 10467 o 7,642
Total Assets ] 10,793 3 7.801
S .. LIABILITIES AND EQUITY C

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities b 128 8§ {os
Debt ’ o o 5532 5517

5,660 5622
Commitments and contingencies (Note 3)
Equity
Limited pactner ' . 5420 2,496
General partner {(287) 317N
Total equity ) 5,133 2,179
Total Liabilities and Equity 3 10,793 3 7.801

See notes to condensed financial statements.
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Interest and dividend income

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Equity in eamnings (foss) of subsidiaries
Other income, net

Interest expense
Selling, general and administrative

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) allocable to:
Limited pattner
General partner

SCHEDULE 1

ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.P.
(Parent Company)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 20158
(in millions)
$ 2 % I8 -
(H — —
2,739 {818). 903y
41 g 28
2,781 (809) - (875}
324 290 291
25 28 27
349 318 318
$ 2432 % (1,127) . § (1,193}
3 2408 3 (1.116) & (1,181)
24 (11 (12}
$ 2432 % 1,121 % {1,193}

See notes to condensed financial statements.




SCHEDULE |

ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.p,
(Parent Company)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASHFLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2617 2016 2015
(in millions)

Cash flows trom operating activities;
Net income (loss) : . T O T ST 1127y § - T 93
Adjustments 10 recongile net income (loss) to net cash used 1n operating activities:

Equity in (income) loss of subsidiary C S L B A1) : Coo818. - . 903,

Loss on extinguishment of debe 1 —_ —

Débnéiétiogm@amorﬁzaﬁ‘un SR e U ey P B 2

Gther, net (39) £16)

Change in uperaving assets and habilides -~ . .. . IR . S 18 & 4)-
Net cash used in operating activitieg (324) (305) 308)
Cash flows from investing activities: N R (
Net investment in subsidianes 509 421 155
Purchase ofinvestments e — {96}
Other, net 53 — 28
Net'z-‘:;g!i'pm\}ided by investingr activities o . S 562 421 87
Cash flows from financing activities:
Partnership distributions ' B {103 (116)
Partner contnbutions 6 i —
Proceedy fiom borrowings 2,470 — —
Repayments ofborrowings (2,450) — —_
Debt issuance costs 7) - —
Net cash used in financing activities {62) {102} (116)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 176 4 (337)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of penad 65 51 388
Cash and cash equivatents, end of period 3 24r % 65 % 51

See nores o condensed financial statements
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ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.P. (Farent Company)
NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation.

Icahin Enterpnises Holdings L.P (“Icahn Enterprises Holdings™) is a limited partnership formed in Delaware on February 17, 1987. Our sole limited partner
15 Icahn Enterprises L.P. (“Icahn Enterprises™), a master limited partnership which owns a 99% interest in us. Icahn Enterprises G.P. Inc. {“Icahn Enterprises
GP"), our sole 1% general partner, 1s a Delaware corporation which 15 owned and controlled by Carl C Icahn. As of December 31, 2017, Icahn Enterprises
Holdings 1s engaged 1n the following continuing operating businesses: Investment, Automotive, Energy. Ratlcar. Gamung. Metals, Miming, Food Packaging,
Real Estate and Home Fashion,

For the years ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015, Icahn Enterprises Holdings received $50%9 million, $421 million and $155 mullion,
respectively, in dividends and distributions from conselidated subsidiaries.
The condensed financial statements of Icahn Enterprises Hoidings should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto included in Item 8 of this Report.
2. Debt.

See Note 10, “Debt,” to the consolidated financial statements located in Item 8 of this Report. Teahn Enterprises Holdings' Parent company debt consists
ofthe following:

December 31,
2017 2016
(a milhons)
3.500% senior unsecured votes due 2017 3 — 3 1,174
4.875% semor unsccurced notes due 2019 — 1,272
6.000% semor unsecured notes due 2020 ’ Coo : - Al 71 - S . 1,706
5 875% senior unsecured notes due 2022 1,343 1,341
6.250% senior unsecured notes due 2022 1217 ) o
6 750% semor unsecured notes due 2024 499 —
6.375% senior unsecured notes due 2025 749 —
Mortgages payable 20 23
Total debt 5 5532 % 5517

3. Commitments and Contingencies.
See Note 17, “Commitments and Contingencies,” to the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 1ts
behalf'by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Pate: March 1,2018

Icahn Enterprises L.P.

[cahn Enterpnises G.P. Inc, 1ts
By gencral partner

By:  /s/Keith Cozza

Keith Cozza

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secunities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities
indicated with respect to Teahn Enterprises G.P, Inc., the general partner of Icahn Enterprises L.P., and on behalf of the registrant and on the dates indicated
below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

Title

Date

/s/Keith Cozza

Keith Cozza

/s/SungHwan Cho

SungHwan Cho

/s/Peter Reck

Peter Reck

/s/Jack G. Wassenman

Jack G. Wasserman

/s/William A. Lerdesdort

William A Leidesdorf

/s/Tames L. Nelson

James L. Nelson

Carl C. Icahn

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Chuief Financial Officer and Director

Chief Accounting Officer

Director

Director

Director

Chairman of the Board

March 1,2018

March 1,2018

March 1,2018

March 1,2018

March 1,2018

March 1,2018

March 1,2018




Pursuant fo the requitements of Section 13 or 15{d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 1ts

SIGNATURES

behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 1,2018

Icahn Enterprises Holdings L.P.

By /s/Keith Cozza

Icahn Enterpnises G.P. Inc., its
By general partner

Keith Cozza

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Sceurities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities

indicated with respect to Icahn Enterprises G.P. Inc., the general partner of [cahn Enterprises Holdings L.P., and on behalf of the registrant and on the dates

indicated below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date
/s/Keith Cozza President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 1,2018
Keith Cozza
/s/SungHwan Cho Chief Financial Officer and Director March 1,2018

SungHwan Cho

/s/Peter Reck

Peter Reck

/s/Jack (. Wasserman

Jack G Wasserman

/s/William A, Leidesdorf

William A, Leidesdorf

/s/James L. Nelson

James L Nelson

Carl C Tcahn

Chief Accounting Officer

Director

Director

Director

Chairman of the Board

153

March 1, 2018

March 1, 2018

March 1,2018
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description

21 Agreement and Plan of Meroer, dated as of Degember 30, 204 5, by and among Ieahn Enterprises Holdings L P [EP Parts Acquisigen
LLC and The Pep Bovs - Mannv, Moe and Jack (incomorated bv reference to Exlubit 2 | to Ieahn Enterprises’ and Icahn Enterpriges
Holdings' joint Form 8-K {SEC File Nos. 129516 and 333-118021-01, respectively}, filed on December 30, 20153,

22 i 5 i Tce
Eutertainment Properties Comp. and [EH FM Hotdings LL (“ (ncorporsted by rulerenw wo Fxhibit 2.1 to leahn Enterpeises’ Fonp 8-K
(SEC File No, 1-9516) filed on Septembep 7. 20161,

23 3

. X . 5

mupectvely), filed gn December 19,2016,

31 Ceruficate of Limited Parinership ol feahn Entlerprises L P, 7k/a Amencan Real Estate Partpers. L P (“lcahn Enterprises”) dated
hbruarv 17 1%'7 as thcmaﬁurmmndgd homnmn to time (ncompotated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 1o Jeabn Eoterpriscs’ Form 8K

32
filed on May 16, 2004 as further amended pursyant to the Certiticate of Amendment therety, dated Sgpt\nmbcr 17,2007 (mwmur:md
by reference to Bxhibit 39 to Icahn Enterpnses' Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (SEC File No _1-9516), filed on March
17,2008).

33 Second Amended aud Restated Apreciment of Limited Partnership of leahn Cnterprises TP | dated Augnst 2, 2016 (incorporated by
lcfcrencc to F’(hlbll 31 !0 Icahn Ente nses and Imhn Fnte Lses Holdm s jo1nt Form 10-0 &

34 N 5 s
reference tg kxhibrt 3.5 to leahn hnterpriscs’ Form 0-0 for the guarter u’ldt,d Margh 31, 2004 l%l«C File No. 1-9316), filed on May 1¢
2004)

3.5

36

37 3
(m«.umomlcd by rctcruLe to Exbibit 2.2 to lcahn Enterpnses' Form 1040 for the quarter ended June 30_‘_‘{)0‘? (SEC File No. 1-9516),
filed on August 9, 2003).

38 2
“007 (mmmomxed by reference to Exlubit 3 i1 1o leahn Enterprses’ Form 10-K for the vear ended December 31, 2007 (SF(‘ File No I-
Y316). med on March 17 ’00‘5)

4.1 :

4.2
2014 (SEC File No 1-9416) filed on March 16, 2003),

43 Specimen Depositary Certificate (incorporated by reference 1o Ixlubit 4 1 to leahn Enterpnses' Form 10-Q forthe quartedy penod ended
June 30, 2016 {(SEC File No. [-9516), filed on August 4, 2016),

44 Specunen Certificate representing preferred unmls Oncorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 9 to Teahu Enterpinses' Foom $-3/A (8EC File
Np,33-54767), filed op Febrmary 22, 19953,

4.5 Reyistration Rights Agreement between ledhn Enterpnses and High Coast Limted Partnership (f7k/a X LP) (incomporated by reference 1o
Exhibit 10 2 to_lcahn Enterprises’ Form 10-K {or the vear ended December 31, 2004 (StC File No 1-9510), filed on March 16, 2003)

4.6 Registratuon Rights Agreement, dated June 30, 2005 berween Icahn Enterprises and Higherest Investors Corp . Amos Corp.. Cyprus

LLC and Gascon Partners (incorporated by relerence to Exiniba 10 6 to Ieahn Enterprises' Form 10-Q(SEC File No. | L)aifv) liled on
August 9. 2003). as amended by Ameadment No | thereto, dated as of August 8, 2007 (ingorporaied by reference te Eaxhibii 10 5 1o
fcahn Enterpiises Fomm 10-0Q for thye yusiter viaded Tune 30, 2007 (SEC Filg No 1-4516) filed on August 9, 20073
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4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

10.1

102

10.3

104

105

10.6

107

108

109

12.1
122
14.1

Amended and Restated Depositary Agreement amony [cabn Enterpriscs. Ieahn Enterprises GP and Registrar and Transter Company
dated as of Augyst 23. 2013 (incomporated by reference 10 Exhubit 10.1 to fcahn Enterptises' Form 8-K (SEC File No 1-9516) filed on

August 23 2013}

and Wilmungton Trust Company, as Trustee relating to the 6.000% Semor Notes Due 2020 (ncomuraied by reference to Fxhibit 4.1 to
[cahn Enterpnses’ and Ieahn Enterpnses Holdings' josnt Fonn 8-K (SEC File Nos. 19516 and 333-113021-01, respectively), filed on
August 1,20133

Indenture. dated as ¢f Januwary 29,2014, ampny fenhn Coterpnses, Icahn Entetprises Fipance, Jeahn Enterprises Heldings_as Guarantos,
and Wilmington 1rust Cempany, as Trustee retating to the 5.875% Senior Notes Due 2022 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Jcahn Enterprses’ and feahn Enterpuses Holdings' joinl Form #-K/A (SEC File Nos 1.9516 and 333-118021-0 (. respectively), liled on
January 30,2014,

Indeniure, dated as of January L8 2017, wnony Icahn Enterprises, lcahn Enlerprses Finanee, [eashn Enterpnses Holdings, as Guarintor
and Wilmsneton Trust Comy as Trustee relating to the 6,.250% Senpor Notes Due 2022 and 6 750% Scnior Notes Due 2024
{meorporated by reference to Exhibit4d 1 to fcahn Enterprises’ and Icahn Enterpnses Holdines' joint Fonn 8-K (SEC File Nus. 19516
and 333-11802 101, respectively), filed on January 18,2017,

and Wilmeneton Trust Company, as Trustee relating to the 6. 373" Senior Notes Due 2023 incoiporated by rctcn,ncc to Exhibir 4.} to

lcahn Enterprises’ and fcabin Enterpnses Holdengs' joint Form 8-K (SEC Firle Nos. 1-9516 and 333-1 1802101 respectivelv). filed on
December 6, 2017)

Amended and Restated Agency Agrcement {incorporated by reference to Lxhabat 10,12 to [cahn Enterpnses' Form 10-K for the vear
ended December 31, 1994 (SEC File No. 1-9516), filed on March 31, 1995),

Undertaking, dated November 20, 1998 by Starfire Holding Corpuoration, for the benefit of Ieahn Enterprises and it» subsidianes
{inecomporated by reference to Eahibit 10 42 to Icahn Enterprises’ Form 10-K forthe vear ended December 31, 2005 (SEC File Ne. |-
9516), Aled on March 16, 2006).

Covered f\ﬂllntc and Sharcd Liapenses Agreement by and among lmhn I:ntc rises Icahn Padners LP, Icuhn Fund Ltd lcahn Fund [

194) forthe quane: ended June 383007 (SEC File No, 19516}, filed on August 9, 2007,

Agreement dated as of March 31, 201 | among feahn Enterpnses L P, feahn Enterprises Holdipes L P and [calin Enterprises G P Ine.,
lcuhn Onshore LP, fcabn Offshore LP and Jealin Capital LP, leahn Partners LP, Jcahn Padners Master Fund LP, Icahn Partners Master
Fund [I LP. Icahn Partners Master Fund (1 LP, Cail C Icahn, Biett [cahn, Samugel Meiksamer. David Schechter, Vincent Intnen and
David Yim (ucorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 2 to {cahn Enterpnses’ Form 10-0 (SEC File No 1-9516), filed on Aucust 9. 201 1)
Contnibution Agreement, dated February 29, 2016 among Ieabp Enterpoises L P and IRL Holding LLC tincomporated by reference to
Exhibit | to Ieahn Enterprises’ Form 8-K{SEC Fiie No 1-9516), filed on March 1.2016}

Scmor Term Loan Credit Agrecment, dated Aprid 1. 2616, by and amwng CVR Partners, LP, as Borrower, and Amerean Entertamment
Properies Cormp_, as [Lender (incorporated by reference 1o ExInbit 0 1 to Icahn Enterprses' and lcahn Enterpnses Holdings jomt Form 8-
K(SEC File Nos. 19516 and 333-118021-01. respectively), filed on Apith 7. 2016).

Senior Term Loan Credit Agicement, dated Apnf 1, 2616, bv and ameng CVR Partners, LP, as Bogower, and Coffeyvilile Resources,
LLC, as Lender {incorpoiated by reference to Exhibit 10 2 to fcahn Enterposes' and [eahin Enterprises Holdings' joint Form 8-K (SEC
File Nos 1-9516.and 333-118021-01, respectively), filed on Apnl 7. 2016)

Registranion Rights Agreement, dated January 18, 2017, among Icahn Enterpnses, [cahn Enterprises Finance, Ieakn Enterpnses
Holdings, as Cuarantor, and Jefleries LIL.C. as the Tnitial Purchaser (incorporated by reference to Exhilbit 10 1 to Teuhn Enterprises' and
lcahn Enterprises Holdings' joint Form 8-KA{SEC File Nos. 1 9516 and 333-118021-01 respectively) filed on January 18 2017).

Reustration Rights Agrecment, dated December 6. 2017, among [cahn BEnterprises. [cahn Enterpnises Finance, Icalin Enie
Iloldimus, as Guarantor, and Jeffenes LLC. as the hutial Purchaser (incorpoerated by reference to Exlubit 10 1 to Icahn Enterprises' and
Icahn Enterpnses Holdinas' jomt Form §-K{SEC File Nos. 19516 and 333-118021 010, respectively), filed on December 6, 2017).

Ratio of carmings to fixed charges (Icahn Enterprises).

Ratio of eammys to fixed charges (leahn Enterprises Holdings)

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics incomerated by reference to Exhibit 14,1 to Ieghn Enterprises' Fonn 10-0 for the quarter ended
Sepiember 30, 2012 (SEC File No, 1-9516), lited on November 7. 20123,
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181 Preterability fettericeeived from Crant Thomton LLP, dated November 7, 2007 (ingorporated by reference to Lxhibit 18.1 to Icahn
Enterpnses' Fonm 10-Q forthe quarter ended September 36, 2007 (SEC File No 1-9516), filed on November Y, 2007}

214 Subsidiaries of the Registtants
23.1 Consent of Grant Thomton LLP,
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbunes-Ox

Secutitics Exchange Act 0f 1934

312 Certitication of Chuef Financial Officer pursuunt to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxlev Act of2002 and Rule 13a-14(a} of the
Secuntics Exchange Act 0of'1934

321 Cetification of Chief Execntive Officer and Chael Financial Officer pugsuant to Sectign 906 ofihe Satbanes-Oxlev Act ol 2002 (18
LS., 1350) and Rule 13a-14{b}otthe Secunties Exchange Actof 1934,
101 INS XBRL Instance Document.
101.8CH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.LAB XBRL Taxanomy Extension Label Linkbase Document,
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extenston Presentation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
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EXHIBIT 12.1

ICAHN ENTERPRISES L.P. AND SUBSIDIARES
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(in miilions, except ratio)

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Eamings:
Incoma (loss) from continging Qpetéﬁons before income taxes, icome . o

(toss) from ¢quity investees and non-controlling interests h 2082 % 2,248y § 2,121y § - (68 § 2,300
Fixed charges 933 958 1.203 885 595
Distributed income of equity investees - 39 77 11 25 33
Total Eamings 3 3054 % (1,213 $ {907 §$ 228 % 2,928
Fixed Charges:
Interest expense $§ @ 343 3 878 § I.i54 § 847 % 560
Estimated interest within rental expense S0 80 49 38 35
Total Fixed Chasges $ 933 § 958 § . 1203 % 885 § 595
Ratio of eamnings to fixed charges - 33 .. ma n/a n'a 49

Dollar shorttall na % 2,171 % 2,110 % 657 n/a




EXHIBIT 12.2

ICAHN ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARES
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(in millions, except ratio)

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2018 2014 2013

Eamings.
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes incomes’ 7 TS 0 e

(loss) from equity investees and non-controfling interests: .3 2,084 % %247y 8 . (2,120y % {681y $- 2,300
Fixed chasges 932 957 1,202 B84 595
Distributed income of equity investees . . .. . - -3 . 79737 " R s - =
Total Bamings 1) 3055 8 (1,213) § (907) 3 228 3 2928
Fixed Charges:
Interest expense * . ’ ‘ o ’ $ BT - 817§ L1538 846 % 560
Estimated intercst within rental expense 90 80 49 38 35
Total Fixed Charges: ' 8 932 § 957 § 1202 § 884 § 595
Ratio of camings to fixed charges n 33 n/a ] nfa ‘ nia 49

Dollar shortfall n/a § 2,170 % 2,109 % 656 n‘a




EXHIBIT 21.1
Subsidiaries of the Registrants

Entity Jurisdiction of Formation
Icahn Enterpnses Holdings L P (D Belaware
Amerncan Entertainment Properties Corp. Delaware
ACE Nevada Corp. Nevada
AEP Rail RemainCo LLC Delaware
AEP Rail Corp. Delaware
AEP Real Estate Holdings LLC Delaware
AEP Serafima Manager Holding LLC Delaware
AEPC RemainCo LL.C Delaware
AREH(RAY)LLC Delaware
AREH Concord Holdings LLC Delaware
AREH Hudson Street Managing Member Delaware
AREH Hudson Street LLC Delaware
AREH O1l & Gas LLC Delaware
AREH Windsor Locks LLC Delaware
AREP Debt HoldCo LLC Delaware
AREP Flonda Holdings LL.C Delaware
AREPKHLLC Delaware
AREP New York Holdings LLC Delaware
AREP Real Estate Holdings LLC Delaware
AREP Sands Holding LLC Delaware
Aretex LLC Delaware
Atlantic Couast Entertainment Holdings, Inc. Delaware
Bayswater Brokerage New York LLC Delaware
Bayswater Development LLC Delaware
Bayswater Falling Waters LLC Delaware
Bayswater Flat Pond LLC Delaware
Bayswater Hammond Ridge LLC Delaware
Bayswater Pondview LLC Delaware
Baywater Cottages at New Scabury LLC Delaware
Bayswater Seaside [ LLC Delaware
Bio-Investor LLC Delaware
Cloud Holding LLC Delaware
GH Vero Beach Development LLC Delaware
GH Vero Holdings LL.C Delaware
GHG Asset Management LLC Delaware
Grand Harbor Golf & Beach Club, Inc Florida
Grand Harbor Golf Club LLC Delaware
Grand Harbor North Land LLC Delaware
Greenville Holding LLC Delaware
[cahn Automotive Service LLC Delaware
Icahn Autometive Group LLC Delaware
767 Auto Leasing LLC Delaware
Icahn Building LLC Delaware
Icahn Enterpnises Onshore/Offshore Investors LLC Delaware
I[cahn Nevada Gaming Acquisition LLC Delaware

[cahn Nevada Management Corp. Delaware



Icahn Strategy 2 LLC

I¢ahn Strategy Holding Corp.
TICM GP Holdings LLC

TEH ARI Holdings LL.C

[EH Auto Parts Holding LLC
IEH BioPharma LLC

[EH Canton Ohio LLC

1EH Chalmette LLC

IEH Coraopolis LLC

TEH Gretna LLC

1IEH GH Management LLC
1EH Investment [ LLC

[EH lnvestment L LLC

IEH Loop Road LLC

1IEH Merger Sub LLC

1EH Portland LLC

IEH Sarafima GP Helding LLC
IEH Shenman Dnve LLC
TEHSPLLC

1EH Venture Investments [ LLC
[EH Viskase [loldings LLC
IEH Warwick LLC

IEP Dallas LLC

IEP Encrgy Holding LLC
IEP Energy LLC

IEP Ferrous Brazil LLC

1EP Ferrous Brazil Sub LLC
TEP Momis LL.C

[EP AC Holdings LP

TEP AC Plaza LL.C
TERHLP, Inc.

TMA LLC

TTM Assocciates

Trump Entertainment Resorts, Inc.

IEP Parts Acquisition LLC

IEP Peachtree LL.C

[EP Valley LLC

[EP VigaLLC

LY Fairfield Holdings LLC
Meadow Star LLC

New Seabury Development LLC
New Seabury Golf Club LLC

New Seabury Private Sewer Treatment Facility LLC

New Seabury Properties L.L.C .

New Seabury Real Estate Holdings LLC
New Seabury Residenuial Properties LLC

NS Beach Club LLC

VB Community Management LLC

Vero Beach Acquisition HLLC
Vero Beach Acqusition LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Declaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Detaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delawarc
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
New Jersey
Delawarc
New Jersey
New Jersey
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware




ICMGPLLC

IPHGP LLC

Icahn Capital Management LP

[cahn Capital LP

[cahn Onshore LP

Icahn Offshore LP

[cahn Partners LP

Icahn Agency Services LLC

[EH Investments I LLC

Icahn Partners Master Fund LP

Federal-Mogul LLC

Federal Mogul Argentina SA,

Federal-Mogul Plasticos Puntanos, S.A

Federai-Mogul Pty Ltd

Fedcral-Mogul Automotive Pty Lid.

FM Motorparts Pty Ltd.

Federal-Mogul S.A

Federal-Mogul EMEA Distribution Services, BVBA
Federal-Mogu! Global Aftermarket EMEA BVBA

Coventry Assurance, Ltd.

Federal Mogul Componentes de Motores Ltda.
Federal-Mogul Friction Products Sorocaba - Sistemas Automotivos Lida
Federal-Mogul Industna de Autopecas Lida.

Federal-Mogul Sistemas Automotivos Lida

Federal-Mogul Sistemas de Limpadores de Para-Brisas Ltda.
Federal-Mogul Sorocaba-Holding Ltda

FM Participacoes e Investimentos, LTDA

Federal-Mogul Canada Limited

Federal-Mogul (Changshu} Automotive Pants Co., Ltd
Federal-Mogul (China) Co., Ltd.

Federal-Mogul (Chongqing) Friction Materials Co.. Ltd.
Federai-Mogul (Langfang) Automotive Components Co., Ltd.
Federal-Mogul (Shanghai} Autemotive Parts Co |, Ltd,
Federal-Mogul (Tianjin) Surface Treatment Co., Ltd
Federal-Mogul ARN (Anqing) Powder Metallurgy Co , Ltd
Federal-Mogul Dongsuh (Chngdac) Pistons Co., Ltd.
Federal-Mogul Friction Products Co Ltd.

Federal-Mogul Dalian Co., Ltd.

Federal-Mogul Deva (Qingdaoc} Automotive Parts Co., Ltd.
Federal-Mogul Motorparts ((ingdao) Co., Ltd
Federal-Mogul Mototparts Management (Shanghai} Co , Ltd
Federal-Mogul Motorparts (Zhejiang) Limated
Federal-Mogul Qingdao Pistons Co. Ltd.

Federal-Mogul Sealing System (Nanchang) Co , Ltd
Federal-Mogul Shanghai Bearings Co., Ltd

Federal-Mogul Shanghai Compound Matenal Co., Ltd.
Federal-Mogul Zhengsheng (Changsha) Piston Ring Co., LTD
Federal-Mogul Motorparts Colombia S.AS

Federal-Mogul de Costa Rica, S.A

Sapav Marketing Ltd.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Dclaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Argenting
Argentina
Australia
Australia
Australia
Belgium
Belgium
Belgium
Bermuda
Brazil
Brazil
Brazil
Brazii
Brazil
Brazil
Brazil
Canada
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
Chima
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
Colombia
Costa Rica
Cyprus



Sibinca Energy Limted Cyprus

Federal-Mogul Friction Products A.S. Czech Rep.
Federal-Mogul Valvetrain s.r.o Czech Rep.
Federal-Mogul Aftermarket Egypt LTD Egypt
Ateliers Juliette Adam SAS France
Federal Mogul Aftermarket France SAS France
Federal-Mogu! Financial Services SAS France
Federal-Mogul Garennes SAS (fka Federal-Mogul Piston Rings SAS) France
Federal-Mogul [gnition Products SAS France
Federal Mogul Operations France SAS France
Federal-Mogul Services Sarl France
Federal-Mogul Systems Protection SAS France
Federal-Mogul SAS France
Federal-Mogul Valvetrain La Source SAS France
Federal-Mogul Valvetrain Schimmeck SAS France
Fonciere de Liberation SAS France
Saxid SAS France
Federal-Mogul Aftermarket GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Automotive GmbH & Co. KG Germany
Federal-Mogu!l Automotive Verwaltungs GmbH Gemany
Federal-Mogul Betriebsgrundstiicke Burscheid GmbH . Germany
Federal-Mogul Bremsbelag GmbH Gemany
Federal-Mogul Burscheid Beteiligungs GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Burscheid GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Deva GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Friction Products GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Friction Products International GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogu! Friedberg GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Germany Investments Holding GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Holding Deutschiand GmbH Gemany
Federal-Mogul Ignition GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Motorparts Holding GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Nurenberg GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Powertrain Russia GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul R&L Freidberg Casting GmbH & Co. KG Germany
Federai-Mogul Sealing Systems GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul TP Europe GmbH & Co. KG Germany
Federal-Mogul TP Piston Rings GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Valvetrain GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Vermogensverwaltungs GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Verwaltungs und Beteiligungs GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogul Wiesbaden GmbH Germany
Goetze Wohnungsbau GmbH . Germany
1SA Installations-,Steurerungs und Automatisierungs GmbH Germany
VTD Vakuumtecknik Dresden GmbH Germany
Federal-Mogu! de Guatemala, S.A. Guatemala
Federal-Mogul (T&N) Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong
Federal-Mogul World Trade (Asia) Limited Hong Kong
Federal-Mogu! Hungary Kft Hungary

Federal Mogul Wipers Hungary Kft Hungary




Federal-Mogul Systems Protection Hungary Kit.
Federal-Mogul Anand Beanngs India Limited
Federal-Mogul Anand Sealings India Linmited
Federal-Mogul Ignition Products India Limted
Federal-Mogul Goetze {India) Limted.

Federal-Mogul Motorparts (India) Limted

Federal-Mogul Powertrain Solutions India Private Limited
Federal-Mogul TPR (India} Limited.

Motocare [ndia Pnvate Limuted

Federal-Mogul Italy S.r.l

Federal-Mogul Powertrain Italy Sr.l

Saxid s.r.l.

Federal Mogul Japan KK

Federal-Mogul Asia Investments Holding Korea, Ltd.
Federal-Mogul Scjong Co., Ltd (tka KFM Bearing Co , Ltd).
Federal-Mogul Sejong Tech Ltd (fka KFM Innovative Technology Company Limited
Federal-Mogul Luxembourg S. a.r. 1.

Federal-Mogul Holdings, Lid.

F-M Holding Mexico,S.A de C V.

Federal-Mogul de Matamoros, S. de R.L. de C.V.
Federal-Mogul de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
Federal-Mogul Dustribution de Mextco, Sde RL deC V
Federal-Mogul FIL-P43, 8. deRL.deCV

Federal-Mogul FIL-843,8 deRL deCV

Federal-Mogul Lighting, S. de R.L.deCV

Federal-Mogul Juarez S de R.L de C.V.

Federal-Mogul S de RL de C.V.

Federal-Mogul SP Mexico,S. deR.L.de C V.
Federal-Mogul Powertrain Mexico Distribution S de RL de CV.
Federal-Mogul Valve Tram S.de RL.de C.V

Forjas y Maquinas. S.de RL.de C.V

McCord Payen de Mexico S de R.L.

Productos de Frenos Automotrices de Calidad S.A. de C.V.
Raimsa,S.de R L de C.v.

Servicios Administrativos [ndustniales, S deRL. de CV
Servicio de Componentes Automotrices, S.de R L de C.V.
Subensambles Intemacionales, S de RL de C.V,

T&N de Mexico SdeRL

Federal-Mogul Systems Protection Morocco SARL AU
Cooperatief Federal-Mogul Dutch Investments B A.
Federal-Mogul Investments B.V

Federal-Mogul Motorparts (Netherlands) B.V.
Federal-Mogul Motorpants Holding B.V

Federal-Mogul Motorpants Minonty Holding B.V.
Federal-Mogu! Powertrain (Netherlands) B.V.
Federal-Mogul Powertrain Eastern Europe B V.
Federal-Mogul VCS Holding BV,

Federal-Mogul Meotorparts Philippines, Inc

Federal-Mogul Bimet Spolka Akcyjna

Federal-Mogul Financial Services Poland Sp.z.0.0.

Hungary
India
India
India
India
India
[hdia
India
India
Italy
Italy
Italy
Japan
Korea
Korea
Korea

Luxembourg
Mauntius Is
Mexico
Mexico

- Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Mexico

Morocco

Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Philippines
Poland
Poland




Federal-Mogul Gorzyce S.A.

Federal-Mogul Motorparts Poland sp.z.o o.
Federal-Mogul Friction Products Plolesti s.r.i.
Federal-Mogul Friction Services s.r.l.

Federal-Mogul Motorparts Ploiesti s.r.l.
Federal-Mogul Dimittovgrad LLC

Federal-Mogul Naberezhyne Chelny LLC
Federal-Mogul Naberezhyne Chelny Metallurgy LLC
Federal-Mogul Powertrain Vostok GOO
Federal-Mogul VCS 00O

Federal-Mogul Motorparts (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
Federal-Mogul Singapore Investments Pte Ltd.
Federal-Mogul (Proprietary) Limited

Federal-Megul Aftermarket Southem Africa (Pty} Lirmuted
Federal-Mogul of South Africa (Pty) Ltd.
Federal-Mogul Powertrain Systems SA (Pty) Ltd
Federal-Mogul Aftermarket Espana S.A.
Federal-Mogul Friction Products Barcelona S.L.
Federal-Mogul Friction Products SA

Federal-Mogul Friction Spain S.L.

Federal-Mogul Tberica, S.L

F-M Holding Daros AB

Federal-Mogul Goteborg AB

Federal-Mogul Holding Sweden AB

Federal-Mogul GmbH

Taiwan Federal-Mogul Motorparts Co , Limited
Federal-Mogul (Thailand) Ltd.

Federal-Mogul Motorparts (Thailand) Linuted
Federal-Mogul Serina Co., Ltd.

Parts Zone (Thailand) Co , Ltd.

AE. Group Machincs Limited

AE International Limited

F-M Motorparts Linuted

F-M Trademarks Limuited

FDML Holdings Limited

Federal-Mogul ARtermarket United Kingdom Limited
Federal-Mogul Asia Investments Limited
Federal-Mogul Bradford Limited

Federal-Mogul Controlled Power Limited
Federal-Mogul Coventry Limited

Federal-Mogul Employee Trust Administration Limited
Federal-Mogul Engineering Limited

Federal-Mogul Friction Products Limited
Federal-Mogul Global Growth Limited
Federal-Mogul Limited

Federal-Mogul Technelogy Limited

Federal-Mogul Unmited Kingdom Investments Limted
Federal Mogul United Kingdom Powertrain Limited
Federal-Mogul Valvetrain Limited

Ferodo Limited

Poland
Poland
Romania
Romania
Romania
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Singapore
Singapore
South Affica
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
Spain
Spamn
Spain
Spain
Spain
Sweden
Sweden
Swedcn
Switzertand
Taiwan
Thailand
Thailand
Thailand
Thailand
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom




Leeds Piston Ring & Engineering Co. Lid.

Payen Intemnational Limited

Piston Rings (United Kingdom) Ltd

Saxid Limited

Sintration Limuted

Wellworthy Limited

Beck Amley Holdings LLC

Carter Automotive Company LLC

Federal-Mogul Chassis LLC

Federal-Mogul Filtration LLC

Federal-Meogul Finance 1, LLC

Federal-Mogul Finance 2, LLC

Federal-Mogul Financing Corporation

Federal-Megul Ignition Company

Federal-Mogul Piston Rings LLC

Federal-Mogul Powertrain [P, LLC

Federal-Meogul Risk Advisory Senvces LLC

Federal-Mogul Transaction LLC

Federal-Mogul Motorparts LLC

Federal-Mogul Valve Train [ntemational LLC

Ferodo Amernca LLC

F-M Motorpars TSC LLC

F-M TSC Real Estate Holdings LLC

Felt Products Mfe, Co LLC

FM Intemational, LL.C

Gasket Holdings LLC

Muzzy-Lyon Auto Parts LLC

T&N Industries LLC

Federal-Mogul Powentrain LLC

Federal-Mogul World Wide LLC

Speysidc Real Estate LLC

Federal-Mogul Products, Inc.

Federal-Mogul Sevierville LLC

Federal-Mogul de Venezuela, C A

Federal-Mogul (Vietnam}) Ltd

The Pep Boys Manny Moe & Jack (287 "Pep Boys" stores onutted)
Tire Stores Holding Corp.

Big 10 Tire Stores, LLC (80 "Big 10 Tires" stores omitted)

Pep Boys - Manny, Moe & Jack of Puerto Rico, Inc. (28 "Pep Boys" stores omitted)
Carrus Supply Corporation

PB Acquisition Company Florida LLC

PB Acquisition Company Indiana LLC (1 "Pep Boys" store omitted)
PB Acquisition Company North Carolina LLC {1 "Pep Boys™ store onutted)
PB Acquisition Company Tennessee LLC

Colchester Insurance Company

Pep Boys - Manny, Moe & Jack of Delaware, Inc. (196 "Pep Boys" stores omitted)
Car Sales USLLC

Car Sales of New York LLC

Car Sales of Cahiformia LLC

Car Sales of Georgia LLC

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Detaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Michigan
Michigan
Michigan
Missouri
Tennessee
Venezuala
Vietnam
Pennsylvania
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Vermont
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware




Car Sales of Penngylvania LLC

The Pep Boys - Manny, Moe & Jack of Califomia (236 "Pep Boys" stores omitted)

PB Acqusition Company San Diego LLC

PB Acquisition Company Arizona LLC (15 "Pep Boys" stores omitted)
PB Acquisition Company Alameda LLC (1 "Pep Boys" store omitted)
PB Acquisition Company [llinois LLC

PB Acquisition Company Hartford LLC (1 "Pep Boys" store omitted)
PB Acquisnition Company Massachusettes LLC

PB Acquisition Company Michigan LLC (1 "Pep Boys" store orutted)
PB Acquisition Company Nassau LLC (2 "Pep Boys" stores omutted)
PB Acqusition Company Washington LLC (10 "Pep Boys" stores omutted)
JBRE Holdings, LLC

JBRE,LLC

JBRE CTEXLLC {17 "Pep Boys" stores omitted)

JBRE CO LLC (14 "Pep Boys" stores omitted)

JBRE AZ LLC (9 "Pep Boys" stores omutted)

JBRE GA LLC (10 "Pep Boys" and 2 “Just Brakes" stores omitted)
JBRE NV LLC (11 "Pep Boys" and 2 "Just Brakes" stores omitted)
JBRE NTEXLLC (22 "Pep Boys" stores omitted)

JBRE FL LLC (25 "Pep Boys" and 1 "Just Brakes” stores omitted)
JBRE STEX LLC (i4 "Pep Boys" stores omitted)

Precision Auto Care, Inc. (48 "Precision Tune" stores omitted)
Precision Printing, Inc.

WE JAC Corporation

Precision Tune Auto Care, Inc.

PTAC Operating Centers, LLC

PTW, Inc.

Precision Franchising LLC

PT Auto Care Canada, Inc

ACC-U-TUNE

National 6G¢ Minute Tune, Inc

Colorado Tune, Inc

Muracle Industries, Inc

PAC Mexican Delaware Holding Company Inc.

Precision Auto Care Mexico I1, § de R.1

Precision Auto Care Mexico 1,5 de R

Promotora de Franquicas Praxis, S.A. de C.V.

Praxis Afinaciones Puerto Rico, Inc.

Sixar Afinaciones Puerto Rico, Inc.

Praxis Autopartes 5.5. de C.V.

Praxis Afinaciones S.A. de C.V.

Premier Accessories S.A. de C.V

Sixar Afinaciones S.A. de C.V.

Sixar Guadalajara § A. de C. V.

Sixar Occidente, S A.

Miracle Partners, Inc.

Precision Butlding Solutions, Inc.

IEH BALLC

IEH AIM LLC

Icahn Automotive Service Partners LLC

Delaware
California
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Detaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Virginia
Virginia
Delaware
Virginia
Virginia
Washington
Virginia
Canada
Califorma
Waslungton
Colorade
Chio
Delaware
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Mexico
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware




IEH Auto Parts LLC (312 "Auto Plus" stores omitted}
AP Acquusition Company Clark LLC

AP Acquisition Company Gordon LLC (1 "Auto Plus" store omitted}
AP Acquisition Company Missoun LLC (1 "Auto Plus" store omutted)
AP Acquisition Company Washington LEC (1 "Auto Plus” store omitted)

AP Acquisition Company New York LLC
AAMCO Transmissions, LLC

AAMCO Canada, Inc.

Amencan Driveline Technical Services, LLC
American Driveline Centers, LLC

Cottman Transmssion Systems, LLC

Ross Advertismmg, LLC

CVR Energy Inc.

Cofteyville Refining & Marketing Holdings, Inc
Coffeyville Refining & Marketing, Inc.
Coffeyville Nitrogen Fertilizers, Inc.
Coffeyville Crude Transportation, Inc
Coffeyville Terminal, [nc.

Coffeyville Pipeline, Inc.

CL JV Heldmngs, LLC

Coffeyville Resources, LLC

Cofteyville Resources Refining & Marketing, LLC
Coffeyviile Resources Crude Transportation, LLC
Coffeyvitle Resources Terminal, LLC
Coffeyville Resources Pipeline, LLC

CVR GP,LLC

CVR Partnters, LP

Coffeyville Resources Nitrogen Fertilizers, L1LC
Coffeyville Finance Inc.

Wynnewood Energy Company, LLC
Wynnewood Refining Company, LLC

CVR Refining Holdings, L1LC

CVR Refining Holdings Sub, LLC

CVR Refiming, LLC

Wynnewood Insurance Corporation

CVR Refining, LP

CVR Refining GP, LLC

CVR Nitrogen GP, LLC

CVR Nitrogen, LP

CVR Nitrogen Finance Corporation

East Dubuque Nitrogen Fertlizers, LLC
American Railcar Industries, Inc.

ARI Fleet Services of Canada, Inc.

ARI Component Venture L1.C

ARI Longtrain, Inc.

Longtrain Leasing [, LLC

Longtrain Leasing II, LLC

Longtrain Leasing III, LLC

Castings LLC

Blue Lagoon Realty, LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Dclaware
Pennsylvania
Canada
Pennsylvania
Pennsylvania
Delaware
Pennsylvania
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Hawaii
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Dclaware
Delaware
North Dakota
Canada
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware




ARI Railcar Services. LLC Delaware

Southwest Steel Casting Company, LLC Texas
ARI Property Bude, LLC Delaware
ARI Property Brookhaven, LLC Delaware
ARI Property Goodnch, LLC Delaware
ARI Longview, LLC Delaware
ARI Mobile Repair Services, LLC Delaware
ARI Property North Kansas, LLC Delaware
ARI Property Tenmlle, LLC Delaware
Southwest Steel Property, LLC Delaware
ARI Leasing, L1.C Delaware
Tropicana Entertainment, Inc Delaware
Tropicana Atlantic City Corp, New Jersey
Tropicana AC Sub Corp. New Jersey
New Tropicana Holdings, Inc. Delaware
New Tropicana OpCo, Inc. Delaware
Aztar Riverboat Holding Company, LLC Indiana
Aztar Indiana Gaming Company, LL.C Indiana
New Jazz Enterprises, LL.C. Nevada
Catfish Queen Partnership in Commendam Louisiana
Centroplex Centre Convention Hotel, L.L.C. T . Loulsiana
Columbia Properties Tahoe, LLC Nevada
MB Development, LLC Nevada
Tropicana Laughlin, LLC Nevada
Lighthouse Point, LLC Mississippi
Tropicana Ent. Cayman Holdings Co. Ltd Cayman [slands
Aruba Development Corp VBA Aruba
Tropicana Aruba Casino Operating Co. N.V. Aruba
Tropicana Aruba Resort Operating Comp. VBA Aruba
Tropicana St. Louis, LLC Delaware
TEI(STLH), LLC Delaware
TEI (ES), LLC Delaware
TEI (St Louis)RE,LLC Delaware
TLHLLC Delaware
SE Inlet Properties LLC Delaware
TropWorld Games LLC Nevada
TEIR7Y Investment LLC Delaware
TEI Management Services LLC Delaware
PSC Metals Inc. Ohio
M W Recycling, LLC (dba PSC Metals) Chio
TAPUSA, LLC Ohio
Carbon Plate Steel Products, LL.C OChio
PSC Metals - Akron, LLC Ohio
PSC Metals - Aliquippa, LLC Ohio
PSC Metals - Alliance, LLC OChio
PSC Metals - Beaver Falls, LLC Ohip
PSC Metals - Canton, LLC Ohio
PSC Metals - CAW, LLC Ohio
PSC Metals - Chattanooga, LLC Chie

PSC Metals - D&L, LLC Pennsylvana




PSC Metals - Elyna, LLC

PSC Metals - Garn, LL.C

PSC Metals - Joyce, LLC

PSC Metals - Knoxville, LLC

PSC Metals - Massillon, LLC

PSC Metals - Metallics, LLC

PSC Metals - Mitco, LLC

PSC Metals - New York, LLC

PSC Metals - Newark, LLC

PSC Metals - Rockwood, LLC

PSC Metals - South Knoxville, LLC
PSC Metals - St. Louis, LLC

PSC Metals - Wooster, LLC

CAPPCO Tubular Products Canada, Inc.
CAPPCO Tubular Products USA, LLC
Ferrous Limuted

Ferrous Resources Limited
Mediterranean Iron Limited

Atlantic Iron Sarl

Ferrous Resources Do Brasil S.A.
Empresa de Mineracao Esperanca S.A.
Mineracao Jacuipe Ltda

Viskase Companies, Inc

WSC Corp

Viskase Films, Inc.

Viskase del Norte, S A. de C.V
Servicos Viskase del Norte, SA. de C V
Viskase S A.S.

Viskase SpA

Viskase Gmbh

Viskase Polska SP Z0.0

Viskase Spain SL

Viskase Brasi] Embalagens Ltda
Viskase Asia Pacific Corp

Viskase Sales Philippines Inc.

Viskase Holdings, Inc.

Darmex Casings SP 720.0

Walsroder Casings GmbH

Walsroder Casings Polska Spzo o

CT Casings Beteitligungs GmbH
Westpoint Home LLC

WestPoint Home Netherlands Holding, L1L.C
WestPoint Home (Netherlands) Coopertief
WestPoint Home Asia Ltd.

WestPoint Pakistan LL.C

WPIP,LLC

WP Trademarks, LLC

WP Property Holdings 1, LLC

WP Property Holdings I, LLC
WestPoint Home Stores, LLC

Chio
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
New York
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Ohio
Canada
Georgla
Isle of Man
United Kingdom
Malta
Luxembourg
Brazil
Brazil
Brazil
Delaware
Delawarce
Delaware
Mexico
Mexico
France
Italy
Germany
Poland
Spain
Brazil
Philippines
Philippines
Delaware
Paland
Germany
Poland
Gertany
Delaware
Delaware
Nethetlands

Bntish Virgin [slands

Delaware
Nevada
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware




WP Sales, Inc. Delaware

WEPH - Nostalgia LLC Delaware

WP Properties Lanier/Carter, LLC Delaware

WP Properties Lumberton, LLC Delaware

WP Properties Wagram, LLC Delaware

WP Properties Clemson, LLC Delaware

WP Properties Wagram Facility, LLC Delaware
WestPoint Home (Netherlands) B.V. British Virgin Islands
WestPoint Home (Bahrain) W.L.L. Bahrain
WestPoint Home (Shangha) Inc. China

Mcahn Enterprises Holdings L P 15 2 99% owned subsidiary of leahn Enterprises L.P All other subsidiaries listed above are subsidianes of [cahn Enterprises Holdings L. P, and
therefore are also subsidiaries of Icabn Enterpinses L P,



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have 1ssued our reports dated March 1, 2018, with respect to the consolidated financial statements, schedule and intemnal control over financial reporting
of Icahn Enterprises L.P. and subsidianes included in the joint Annual Report of [cahn Enterprises L.P. and Icahn Enterpnses Holdings L.P. on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2017 We consent to the incorporation by reference of said reports in the Registration Statements of Icahn Enterprises L.P. and
subsidianes on Fonm $-3 (File No. 333-213563) and on Form S-8 (File No. 333-216934)

/s/GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
March 1, 2018



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 and
Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

I, Ketth Cozza, certify that:

1. [ have reviewed this joint annual report on Form 10-K of Tcahn Enterpnises L.P. and Icahn Enterprises Holdings L.P. for the year ended December 31,
2017,

2. Based on my knowledge, this rcport docs not contain any untrue statement of a matenal fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the pertod covered by this report;

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in alt matenal respects the
financiat condition, resulis of operations and cash flows ofthe registrants as of, and for, the periods presented 1n this report;

4, The registrants’ other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)} and intemal control over financial reporting as defined 1n Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the
registrants and we have.

a} designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that matenal information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, 1s made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the penod in which this report 1s being prepared;

b) designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such internai control over financial reporting to be designed under.our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting pninciples;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants’ disclosure controls and procedures and presented in the report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed 1n this report any change 1n the registrants’ intemal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrants’ most recent
fiscal quarter {the registrants' fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has matedially atfected, ot is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrants' internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrants’ other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over financial reporting, to the
registrants' auditors and the audit committee of the registrants’ board of durectors {or persons perforrmng the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation ofinternal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrants' ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud. whether or not matenal, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrants’ intemal control
over financial reporting.

/s/Keith Cozza
Keith Cozza

President and Chiet Executive Officer of [cahn Enterpnses G.P. Inc.,
the general partner of Icahn Enterprises L.P and Icahn Enterprises
Holdings L.P.

Date: March 1, 2018




EXHIEBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 and
Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f 1934

I, SungHwan Cho, certify that.

1 Thave reviewed this joint annual report on Form 10-K of Icahn Enterprises L.P. and [calin Enterprises Holdings L P. for the year ended December 31,
2017,

2 Based on my knowledge. this report does not contain any untruc statcment of a matenal fact or omit to state a matenal fact necessary to make the
staternents made, 1n light ofthe circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report,

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condiuion, resukts of operations and cash flows of the registrants as of, and for, the peneds presented 1n this report;

4. The registrants’ other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintamning disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(g}and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting as defined 1n Exchange Act Rules E3a-153(f) and 15d-15(f) for the
registrants and we have:

a}designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, 15 made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the pencd 1n which this report 1s being prepared;

b} designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reltability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal
purposes tn accordance with generally accepted accounting prninciples;

c}evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants’ disclosure contrals and procedures and presented in the report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the pened covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)disclosed 1n this report any change in the registranis' intemnal control over tinancial reperting that occumed dunng the registrants’ mest recent
fiscal quarter (the registrants’ fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report} that has matenaliy affected, oris reasonably likely to matenally affect,
the registrants' internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrants' other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over financial reporting, to the
registrants’ auditors and the audrt committee of the registrants’ board of directors {or persons performmg the equivalent functions)

a}all significant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely atfect the registrants' abulity to record. process, summarize and report financial information; and

b} any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 1n the registrants’ internal control
over finanesal reporting.

/s/SungHwan Che
SungHwan Cho

Chief Financial Officer of Icahn Enterprises G.P Inc., the gencral
partner of Icahn Enterprises L P and Icahn Enterpnises Holdings L.P.

Date. March 1,2018



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350) and
Rules 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

In connection with the joint annual report on Form 18-K of Icahn Enterpnses L.P. and Icahn Enterpnses Holdings L.P., for the year ended December 31,
2017, the undersigned certity that, to the best ofhis knowledge, based upon a review of the Icahn Enterprises L.P and lcahn Enterprises Holdings L P. joint
annual report on Form 1 0-K for the year ended December 31,2017:

(1} The report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the report faily presents, in all material respects, the financial condrtion and results of operations of the registrants.

/s/Keith Cozza
Keith Cozza

President and Chief Executive Officer of [cahn Enterprises G.P. Inc., the

general partner of [cahn Enterprises L.P. and Icahn Enterprises Holdings
L.P

Date: March 1,2018

ss-sungHwan Cho

SungHwan Cho

ChicfFinancial Officer of Icahn Enterprises G P. Inc., the general
partner of Icahn Enterprises L.P. and Icahn Enterprises Holdings L P

Date: March 1,2018



